Public Document Pack

" monmouthshire
W sir fynwy
Neuadd y Sir County Hall
Y Rhadyr Rhadyr
Brynbuga Usk
NP15 1GA NP15 1GA

Wednesday, 6 December 2017

Notice of meeting

County Council

Thursday, 14th December, 2017 at 10.00 am,
Council Chamber

AGENDA

Prayers will be said prior to the Council meeting at 1.55pm. All members are welcome to join the
Chairman for prayers should they wish to do.

Item No | Item Pages
1. Apologies for absence
2. Declarations of interest
3. Chairman's announcement and receipt of petitions 1-2
4. Public Open Forum
5. To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 9th November 2017 3-12
6. Reports of the Chief Officer for Social Care, Safeguarding and Health
6.1. Safeguarding Presentation Verbal

Report

6.2. Volunteering Policy 13-44
6.3. Safeguarding evaluation report 45 - 88
7. Report of the Monitoring Officer:
71. Update to constitution 89 - 440
8. Reports of the Head of Policy and Governance:




8.1.

9.1.

10.
10.1.

10.2.

11.

11.1.

12.

13.

13.1.

Bryn Y Cwm Area Committee Pilot

Reports of the Deputy Chief Executive:

City Deal

Notices of Motion:
Motion from County Councillor K. Williams

This council will look to invest in our operations department during the next
round of budget talks. We will look to invest around £250,000 in our street
scene and highways operations to increase the capacity to carry out highways
and grounds maintenance to the level expected of us by council tax payers.
The Labour group and Conservative administration will take part in meaningful
discussion to achieve this.

Motion from County Councillor D. Batrouni

Since raising the question about period poverty, the Labour group have
received anecdotal information that it is an issue in Monmouthshire. Therefore,
the Labour group requests that the Council works with local comprehensives
and foodbanks in order to ascertain the scale of the need in Monmouthshire
and to help, where appropriate, provide sanitary products for women and girls.
The council should also consider the current strategy of providing vending
machines for sanitary products at schools and the cost per unit that it charges.
. Additionally, we ask that the council considers the use of sustainable
products in the form of reusable and biodegradable products, as the UK
produces 200,000 tonnes of oil based waste in the form of discarded sanitary
products each year. Finally, that the Council resolutely determines, as a
matter of policy and on a cross-party basis, to eradicate period poverty in
Monmouthshire.

Members Questions:

From County Councillor S. Woodhouse to County Councillor R. John
What assessment has the Cabinet Member made of the implications for
schools in Monmouthshire of the Welsh Government’s cuts to the Education
Improvement Grant?

From County Councillor A. Webb to County Councillor S. Jones

Has the Cabinet Member received a response to the motion approved at the
September full Council meeting which supported Monmouthshire being
prioritised for broadband deployment in the next round of Welsh Government
funding?

Report of the Head of Operations:

To resolve to exclude the press and public from the meeting during

consideration of the following item of business in accordance with
Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the

441 - 446

447 - 450

451 - 452




13.2.

grounds that it involves the information as defined in Paragraph 14 of
Part 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act [Proper Officer’s view attached].

HoV Food Waste Procurement - Evaluation Of Invitation To Submit Initial
Tenders & Identification Of Preferred Bidder

453 - 482

Paul Matthews

Chief Executive / Prif Weithredwr




MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
CYNGOR SIR FYNWY

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMITTEE IS AS FOLLOWS:

County Councillors: D. Batrouni
D. Blakebrough
M. Powell
. Smith
. Clarke
. Dovey
. Easson
. Edwards
. Evans
P.A. Fox
R.J.W. Greenland
L. Guppy
R. Harris
J. Higginson
G. Howard
S. Howarth
D. Jones
P. Jones
S. Jones
S.B. Jones
P. Jordan
P. Murphy
B. Strong
F. Taylor
A. Watts
A. Webb
K. Williams
J.Becker
L.Brown
A.Davies
L.Dymock
M.Feakins
M.Groucutt
R.John
L.Jones
M.Lane
P.Pavia
J.Pratt
R.Roden
T.Thomas
J.Treharne
J.Watkins
S. Woodhouse

OOV >»0T0TL

Public Information



Access to paper copies of agendas and reports

A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public
attending a meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please
note that we must receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a hard
copy of this agenda.

Watch this meeting online
This meeting can be viewed online either live or following the meeting by visiting
www.monmouthshire.gov.uk or by visiting our Youtube page by searching MonmouthshireCC.

Welsh Language
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh or

English. We respectfully ask that you provide us with adequate notice to accommodate your
needs.


http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council

Sustainable and Resilient Communities

Qutcomes we are working towards

Nobody Is Left Behind
o Older people are able to live their good life

o People have access to appropriate and affordable housing
o People have good access and mobility
People Are Confident, Capable and Involved
o People’s lives are not affected by alcohol and drug misuse
e Families are supported
o People feel safe
Our County Thrives
e Business and enterprise
o People have access to practical and flexible learning

o People protect and enhance the environment

Our priorities
e Schools
e Protection of vulnerable people
e Supporting Business and Job Creation

¢ Maintaining locally accessible services

Our Values

e Openness: we aspire to be open and honest to develop trusting relationships.
o Fairness: we aspire to provide fair choice, opportunities and experiences and become an

organisation built on mutual respect.

o Flexibility: we aspire to be flexible in our thinking and action to become an effective and

efficient organisation.

e Teamwork: we aspire to work together to share our successes and failures by building on

our strengths and supporting one another to achieve our goals.






This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 3

Chairman’s Report

2"d November — 5" December 2017

Thursday 2" November
10 a.m.

Young Carers Rights Day
Hilston Park

Thursday 2" November
7p.m.

Junior Production of ‘Hairspray & Showcase’
Borough Theatre, Abergavenny

Thursday 9" November

South Wales Fire & Rescue Service — Presentation Evening
Fire Service Headquarters, Llantrisant

Friday 10" November
11 a.m.

Armistice Day Service
County Hall, Cwmbran

Friday 10" November
2.30 p.m.

Remembrance Day Service
Llanelly Hill Welfare Hall

Sunday 121" November
10.30 a.m.

Remembrance Sunday Parade
Abergavenny

Sunday 12" November
3p.m.

Remembrance Service
St Elli Parish Church, Abergavenny

Tuesday 14" November
7p.m.

Music for Youth Proms 2017
Royal Albert Hall, London

Saturday 18" November
7p.m.

Gwent Bach Choir’s Autumn Concert
St Mary’s Priory Church, Abergavenny

Tuesday 21% November
2.30 p.m.

Dedication Service
St Mary’s Priory Church, Abergavenny

Saturday 2" December
Sp.m.

Charity Screening of Love Actually
Savoy Theatre, Monmouth

Sunday 3™ December
7p.m.

Christmas Evening & Carols
Mansion House, Swansea

Monday 4" December
7 p.m.

St John’s Carol Service
St Mary’s Priory Church, Abergavenny

Tuesday 5™ December
7p.m.

Light up a Life Service 2017
Abergavenny Methodist Church

Page 1




This page is intentionally left blank



at the Council Chamber, County Hall, Usk on Thursday, 9th November, 2017 at 2.00 pm

PRESENT:

Public Document Pack Agenda Iltem 5

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held

County Councillor M. Powell (Chairman)
County Councillor P. Clarke (Vice Chairman)

County Councillors:  D. Batrouni, D. Blakebrough, V. Smith,
D. Dovey, A. Easson, R. Edwards, D.Evans, R.J.W. Greenland,
L. Guppy, R. Hatrris, J. Higginson, G. Howard, S. Howarth, D. Jones,
P.Jones, S.Jones, P.Jordan, P.Murphy, B. Strong, F. Taylor,
A. Watts, A. Webb, K. Williams, J.Becker, L.Dymock, M.Groucutt,
R.John, L.Jones, M.Lane, P.Pavia, J.Pratt, R.Roden, T.Thomas,
J.Treharne, J.Watkins and S. Woodhouse

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE:

Paul Matthews
Peter Davies
Roger Hoggins
Will McLean
Robert Tranter
Nicola Perry

APOLOGIES:

Chief Executive

Chief Officer, Resources

Head of Operations

Chief Officer for Children and Young People
Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer
Senior Democracy Officer

County Councillors P.A. Fox, S.B. Jones, L.Brown, A.Davies and M.Feakins

2. Public open forum

There were no matters for the public open forum.

3. Chairman's announcement and receipt of petitions

The Chairman expressed the condolences of Council for Welsh Labour Minister Carl Sargeant.
Also we heard of the sad loss of Monmouthshire County Council colleague, Mr. Gary Price. A
minute silence was held for both.

County Councillor R. Greenland presented a petition on behalf of residents of Devauden
relating to the extension of a 30mph speed limit. We recognised the number of petitions
Council receive regarding speeding issues, and agreed this must be addressed across the

County.

4. Declarations of interest

County Councillor L. Guppy declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest in relation to Iltem 8.2,
8.3, 8.4 as an employee of ABUHB.

County Councillor M. Powell declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest in relation to Item 8.4
as a Governor of King Henry VIl School.

5. To confirm the minutes of the meeting of County Council held on 21st September

2017

Page 3



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held
at the Council Chamber, County Hall, Usk on Thursday, 9th November, 2017 at 2.00 pm

The minutes of the meeting of Council held on 215 September were approved and signed by the
Chair,

In doing so Councillor Clarke noted that his time as a representative on Monmouthshire
Housing Association had lapsed. It was agreed Councillor Batrouni would take this position

temporarily.

6. To receive the minutes of Audit Committee

6.1.  6th July 2017
The minutes of the meeting of Audit Committee held on 6™ July 2017 were approved.

6.2.  19th September 2017
The minutes of the meeting of Audit Committee held on 19" September 2017 were approved.

7. To receive the minutes of Democratic Services Committee

7.1. 5th June 2017
The minutes of the meeting of Democratic Services Committee held on 5" June 2017 were
approved.

7.2. 11th September 2017
The minutes of the meeting of Democratic Services Committee held on 11" September 2017
were approved.
Councillor Howarth requested clarification regarding the issue of the new IT equipment to
Members. Chief Executive to respond in writing.

8. Notices of Motion

8.1. Motion from County Councillor M. Groucutt

Monmouthshire County Council congratulates and supports the current efforts of local people in
the Abergavenny area who are campaigning for full access to the platforms of Abergavenny
railway station. It believes that it is a disgrace that in 2017 people with a physical disability, the
elderly, parents with young children in pushchairs, or passengers with heavy luggage do not yet
have this. This Council calls upon Network Rail and Arriva Trains Wales to expedite such full
access as a matter of urgency. It calls on those responsible to ensure that sufficient funding is
set aside to create facilities that will enable all passengers to freely access all parts of the
station during opening hours as a matter of the highest priority.

Following debate the motion was carried.

8.2.  Motion from County Councillor A. Easson and County Councillor P. Pavia
The Chairman agreed to take Motion 8.2 and 8.3 together for debate:

Motion from County Councillor Easson:

The Aneurin Bevan University Health Board has started consultations regarding the future of
Adult Services across Gwent. The suggestion is to centralise dementia care to hospitals in
Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Newport and a unit in Torfaen; after the Grange Hospital is
commissioned in 2021

Page 4



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held
at the Council Chamber, County Hall, Usk on Thursday, 9th November, 2017 at 2.00 pm

This would suggest the closure of St Pierre Ward at Chepstow Hospital which is currently
employed for dementia care. Support for dementia care in the north of Monmouthshire would be
at Ysbyty Tri Cwm Hospital in Ebbw Vale and from the south at St Woolos in Newport. | move
that this Council works in conjunction with ABUHB and the ABCHC to find positive and futuristic
ways of removing this threat to Chepstow Hospital which has 10 years of the PFI initiative to
complete the contract, and that the use of this facility should be enhanced not reduced.”

Motion from County Councillor Pavia:

Monmouthshire County Council understands the demographic challenges the county faces over
the coming decades. It recognises that the increase in older people will inevitably place more
demands on our health and social care system, as an ageing population is more likely to have
at least one and often multiple chronic conditions like dementia. Therefore, it is concerned by
Aneurin Bevan University Health Board’s proposals to redesign older adult mental health
services, which could potentially mean the closure of the St. Pierre dementia ward in Chepstow
Hospital and the transfer of patients to Ysbyty Tri Chwm in Ebbw Vale and to St. Woolas in
Newport.

It calls upon Aneurin Bevan University Health Board to:

1. Enter into ‘robust’ and ‘meaningful’ engagement with patients, stakeholders and local
communities in Monmouthshire, regarding its redesign proposals and listen to appropriate
concerns that any transfer of care outside of the county will naturally generate;

2. Regularly meet with the Cabinet Member responsible for Social Care, Safeguarding and
Health and senior officers, to explore new, coproduced and sustainable models of care for older
adults with mental ill health, as part of the Council’s overarching strategic plan to deliver quality
integrated social care right across the county.

The motion was duly seconded.

The Cabinet Member for Social Care, Safeguarding and Health responded that the Council are
consultees on the three month consultation, and will engage fully and determinedly to make the
case for the best possible services for the people of Monmouthshire.

Following response debate ensued.

In terms of process we were informed that the report has been through Select Committee, as
well as Council. There is a Member Seminar on 16" November with ABUHB to discuss
proposals. Members were urged to attend.

The Cabinet Member for Enterprise suggested that minutes from PSB meetings be added to
future Council agendas to ensure Members are fully aware of the work of the Public Service
Board.

It was recognised that the previous Chair of Adult Select had interacted greatly with ABUHB,
and it was agreed that ABUHB should be invited to a future Adults Select meeting.

Upon being put to the vote the motion was carried.

8.4. Motion from County Councillor D. Batrouni
That this Council is concerned that the real terms cuts placed upon schools in Monmouthshire
for the past four years is unsustainable; that these cuts could result in staff reductions and
hinder the performance of those schools; and therefore makes a commitment to halt these

Page 5



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held
at the Council Chamber, County Hall, Usk on Thursday, 9th November, 2017 at 2.00 pm

ongoing cuts and to instead increase the overall education budget for 2018/19 by at least £1m
to help ease ongoing financial pressures. The Labour group will work with all elected members
to bring this proposal to fruition.

The motion was duly seconded.

The Cabinet Member for Children and Young People responded that the financial challenges
facing this authority are considerable and highlighted that Monmouthshire is the worse funded
authority in the Country. There was disappointment that the rural issues were still not
recognised in terms of funding.

During discussion:

Councillor Blakebrough expressed that we should go back to Welsh Government with regards to
funding, but should also consider what we can do as a Local Authority, such as investing money
to carry the schools through this challenging time. Can we raise the Council Tax for this year to
cover the schools extra funding.

Councillor Groucutt was pleased to second the motion and commended the teachers and staff
on the excellent results achieved. Looking at the statistical returns of the advisory service, it
was clear that standards are rising across the whole of South East Wales.

Councillor Becker left the meeting at 15:35
County Councillor Taylor proposed an amendment to the Motion:

That this Council is concerned that the real terms cuts placed upon schools in Monmouthshire
for the past four years is unsustainable. That this Council fully calibrates and assess any
risks to the educational experience of our children. In particular matters of access,
standards and outcomes for all learners and that this Council takes appropriate action as
necessary including, if necessary, budget recalibration.

Following debate of the amended motion, and being put to the vote, the motion was defeated.

Members continued to debate the substantive motion. Upon being put to the vote the motion
was defeated.

8.5.  Motion from County Councillor D. Batrouni
That this Council disapproves of the process whereby a decision on the future of two
Monmouthshire secondary schools was submitted to Welsh Government without any
consultation with full council, Cabinet or the CYP select committee; believes it sets a worrying
precedence where local members, particularly Chepstow members in this instance, are not
informed of big decisions affecting their residents; worries about the consequences for
Chepstow School; and believes not all options have been explored as a result.

The motion was duly seconded.

Page 6



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held
at the Council Chamber, County Hall, Usk on Thursday, 9th November, 2017 at 2.00 pm

The Chief Officer clarified that the mutual investment model (MIM) would require a significant
upscaling of investment and it was decided not to proceed with the MIM due to a number of
constraints.

It was noted that there had been opportunities to call in the decision, but this had not occurred.
In response to a question why this had not come to Council for full debate, the Monitoring
Officer advised that this was a decision taken under the Cabinet function.

Upon being put to vote the motion was defeated.

Councillor Blakebrough and Councillor Watts left the meeting at 17:10

9. Reports of the Chief Officer, Enterprise

9.1. Remote attendance at Council meetings
Council were presented with a report in order to consider changes to the constitution that would
allow Members to take part in meetings remotely.

Members discussed the positive aspects such as providing Members with other commitments
the ability to attend; MCC being a pioneering Council; remote attendance would likely only apply
to few Members, and attendance in person would continue to be the trend.

Negative points including technical issues; quorum of meetings were noted and would be
resolved.

Upon being put to the vote, Members resolved to agree the recommendations in the report:

To adopt the changes to rules 8 and 9 of Standing Orders in the council’s Constitution
as detailed in appendix 3 to the report so that the council will remote attendance of
meetings of the council, its committees, and any other meeting of the council where the
technology is available in the meeting room.

Paragraph 1.9 of the Executive Procedure Rules in the Constitution is amended to allow
remote attendance at meetings of the Cabinet

9.2.  Timing of Council meetings
Council were presented with a report to consider the recommendation from Democratic
Services Committee, in line with the Local Government Wales Measure, to review the
timing of Full Council meetings for the current term of Council.

The Cabinet Member added that 10am also be considered as an option. Upon being
put to the vote Members agreed that 10am, 2pm and 5pm be considered as times for
Council on rotation.

We noted the importance of establishing a time to best attract members of the public to
engage, and to promote flexibility.

Upon being put to vote, Members resolved to agree the recommendation:

Page 7



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held
at the Council Chamber, County Hall, Usk on Thursday, 9th November, 2017 at 2.00 pm

That future meetings of Full Council alternate start times between 10:00, 14:00 and
17:00 for a 12 month period, following which Democratic Services Committee will review
the impact of the change in times and report back to Council with further
recommendations.

10. Report of the Head of Operations

10.1. Recycling Review - Final Business Case, approval of capital expenditure
on vehicles and boxes
Council were presented with a report detailing the final business case for the Waste and
Recycling Review reported to Council on 9" March 2017, to advise Members of all revenue
implications of the new service and to seek approval for the creation of a capital budget for the
acquisition of vehicles in 2017/18.

During discussion points noted:

Nature of the industry and how they want the items delivered is changing, and therefore
changes how we deliver the service. Contaminated glass is now wanted as a clean product.

In response to a query regarding the size of vehicles and the problems they may present, we
heard that a vehicle had been purpose built for the trial and smaller vehicles would be used
where necessary. 95% of roads can be accessed with a standard chassis. Routes had been
established with drivers and officers are confident that the vehicles and routes are suitable for
the service.

Councillor Howarth expressed thanks to the residents of Monmouthshire for reaching the
recycling target. He questioned why the report had not been scrutinised by Select Committee.

In response to a comment regarding the increase of number of vehicles, the Head of Operations
added that the new vehicles would be needed regardless of the outcome of the debate.

Councillor M. Powell left the meeting at 17:50

Upon being put to the vote Council resolved to agree the recommendations:

That members receive and approve the final business case and summary of the Waste
and Recycling Review (appendix 1).

To seek approval for a capital budget of £4.27m to fund the acquisition of recycling
vehicles and boxes required to implement the Recycling Review as reported to Council
on 9t March 2017.

To seek approval for ‘invest to save funding’ for the mobilisation of the new service.

11. Members Questions

11.1. From County Councillor P. Pavia to County Councillor R. John
Will the Cabinet Member for Education provide an update regarding the activities of the External
Reference Group, which was established by the Council following Esytn’s Inspection of the
authority in 2015?

Page 8



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held
at the Council Chamber, County Hall, Usk on Thursday, 9th November, 2017 at 2.00 pm

The Cabinet Member responded:

The external reference group continues to provide advice and guidance to the Authority
following the intense scrutiny during the Estyn recovery. The board has an extended remit and
covers all areas of Children’s Services, Social Care and Education. A review of the Chief
Officers report for both SCH and CYP looked at the challenges surrounding self-evaluation,
offered support in how well we know our schools, and offered advice on steps to take going
forward. It also discussed progress in Children’s Services in terms of reforms and improvement.
The group is due to meet on 29" November where it will receive comprehensive updates in
social care and education covering Children’s Services. They will continue to advise on self-
evaluation, especially in light of the new local government education services framework, and
will be reviewing new arrangements around safeguarding. | will be happy to report back to Clir
Pavia following the next meeting.

As a supplementary Councillor Pavia expressed that the group should be meeting once a year,
and should be seen to meet periodically throughout the year. Can the Cabinet Member give
further commitment that there will be periodical meetings throughout the year, and would like to
know the process of recruiting the additional person.

11.2. From County Councillor A. Easson to County Councillor P. Murphy
With respect to the 2017/2018 budgeted Area Committee grants of £5000. It is half way through
the financial year ,yet the allocations have not been released for distribution. Local groups
benefit from these small grants. Would you release them as soon as possible?

The Cabinet Member responded:

Following a review of Community Governance in March 2017, Council agreed to pilot a review
of Area Committees in Bryn y Cwm. The pilot will take place over a twelve month period from
September 2017 and part of the review exercise will involve a consultation in relation to the
strategic coordination of Area Committee Grant funding, to be distributed equally amongst the
Areas. It is proposed that funding will be allocated on an annual basis, subject to evidence of
how it addresses local needs and priorities, maximises opportunities and impact eg. Use as
match funding and attributes to the county’s wellbeing objectives.

Further to the approval of the pilot, in October 2017, Cabinet approved the restructuring of the
Whole Place and Partnerships team to create a newly focussed Community Development and
Partnerships Team. As a result, given the Area Committee review and recent structure
approval, all Area Committee Grants were suspended, pending the development of new criteria
in line with the associated outcomes.

However, Members are anxious that access should continue so in the interim any Area
Committee Capital Grant applications should be sent to Andy Smith, our Strategic Investment
and Funding Manager, who will assess the applications and seek to find alternative sources of
funding, where appropriate. In the event that alternative funding cannot be found, then the Area
Committee Grant funding will be used. Applications in the first instance should be via the Area
Committee Chair. Then Members at Area Committees can decide whether they support the
application. At that point it goes to Andy Smith.

In response to a supplementary question, it was suggested any previous applicants who had

not received a response should re-submit their application.

11.3. From County Councillor A. Easson to County Councillor R. Greenland

Page 9



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held
at the Council Chamber, County Hall, Usk on Thursday, 9th November, 2017 at 2.00 pm

Since 2008:

1) How many houses have been built year on year in Monmouthshire?
2) How many year on year were affordable homes?

3) What were the waiting lists year on year over the same period?

The Cabinet Member provided the following information:

Year Total Affordable Dwelling Number of Households on
Dwelling Completions Combined Housing Register
Completions

2008/09 327 91 2,528

2009/10 158 14 3,301

2010/11 267 61 2,919

2011/12 254 78 2,721

2012/13 342 49 2,831

2013/14 230 36 3,732

2014/15 205 17 2,867

2015/16 234 63 2,619

2016/17 238 47 3,253 (3182 as at 01/11/17)

Total 2255 456

e 2015/16 Band 4 — 36%; Band 5 — 36% Total 72%

e 2016/17 Band 4 — 51%; Band 5 — 22% Total 73%

Households in Band 4 are considered to be adequately housed and most of the households in
Band 5 would be Home Owners. This leaves only 28% of the figure being in actual housing
need. If you apply that to today’s CHR figure that would be 3,182 x 28% = 891 households in
actual housing need.

In response to a supplementary question, the information would be distributed when collated.

11.4. From County Councillor D. Batrouni to County Councillor R. John
Can the Cabinet Member report if there any discrepancies between the notional and actual
spend on delegated SEN expenditure in (i) 2016/17 (ii)
2015/16 and (iii) 2014/15?

The Cabinet member responded:

We have a duty of care to meet the needs of every student and fully expect schools to spend
the 5% notional element of their funding supporting children with school action or schools action
plus levels of need. Where there is agreements that need is above these levels the local
authority will fund to support individual students. We delegate £3.3m per year to schools for
additional learning needs as a lump sum, and additional band funding. The local authority
retains £300k as in-year contingency, and this is the only volatility. In the three years in
guestion that funding has been above budgeted levels by the following amounts:

2014/15 £89,672; 2015/16 £105,404; 2016/17 £129,169. However in all years there has been
an underspend of county budget which has more than offset those figures.

11.5. From County Councillor D. Batrouni to County Councillor S. Jones

Page 10



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of County Council held
at the Council Chamber, County Hall, Usk on Thursday, 9th November, 2017 at 2.00 pm

What assessment, if any, has the Council made of the prevalence of ‘period poverty’ in the
county?

The Cabinet Member welcomed the question and responded:

The issue of period poverty per se hasn’t been raised with us through either the wellbeing
assessment or the population needs assessment.

However, we know that the problem does exist. Having spoken to our partners and agencies
such as those who sit on the FEDIP group (run by lan Bakewell), they have suggested they
have awareness of the issue but we don’t necessarily know the full scale. If we also apply the
data from the August Plan International survey then we know that this will be an issue in our
communities given the report suggested one in ten girls age 14-24 are unable to afford sanitary
products.

We will work with our Community and Partnership Development team, through our social justice
strategy, to identify partnership solutions and support, including looking at best practice such as
the Wings Project in Bridgend.

In response to a supplementary question the Cabinet Member appreciated that given the
perceived taboo nature of the subject that much of the issue is likely to under reported. We will
work with schools, building on the ‘growing up’ project that is in 21 of our 30 primary schools, as
well as through existence Welsh Government policy to explore this issue further and report back
to Clir Batrouni.

The meeting ended at 6.50 pm

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Agenda Item 6b

" monmouthshire
WO sir fynwy
SUBJECT: Volunteering Policy
MEETING: Council
DATE: 14 December 2017
DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All

1. PURPOSE:

The purpose of this report is to provide a robust Volunteering Policy position, to be accepted by
Council and therefore applicable to all service/business areas including schools.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:

That the Volunteering Policy be adopted by Council and circulated to all service/business areas
and commended to governing bodies for adoption as soon as possible.

3. KEY ISSUES:

Monmouthshire County Council recognises the important and valuable contribution made by
volunteers who give freely of their time to enhance the services provided by the paid workforce,
with the ultimate aim of improving services for residents.

This policy describes the role of volunteers in service delivery and sets out the terms governing
their engagement and ongoing relationship with the Council.

The Council acknowledges the significant role that volunteers play in supporting service delivery
and promoting community wellbeing. It offers a wide variety of volunteering opportunities across
numerous services for people with particular skills experience or interests.

This policy applies to all volunteers engaged in supporting the delivery of council services. This
includes services delivered by agents of the Council, including contractors and schools.

This policy does not apply to volunteers who are active within communities and not managed by
council services, work experience, apprenticeships and student placements or council employees
volunteering for other groups and organisations.

4. OPTIONS APPRAISAL
The other option to implementing a new clear policy position would be to rely on individual
departments managing volunteers in their own way with no clear direction. This has been

evidenced by internal audit and WAO as approach with many weaknesses. Whilst we have
provided a comprehensive volunteering toolkit, the nature of a toolkit implies that compliance is

Page 13



optional. A consistent and proportionate Volunteering Policy position is the preferred option
based on the evidence and data we hold.

5. EVALUATION CRITERIA
An evaluation assessment is provided at the end of this document.
6. REASONS:

Volunteering is an important expression of citizenship and an essential component of democracy.
It is the commitment of time and energy for the benefit of society and the community and can
take many forms. It is undertaken freely and by choice, without concern for financial gain.

At a very high level, we understand our governance and safeguarding arrangements for our
volunteering workforce needs to be:

. Enabling of our direction of aspiration.

. Proportionate and balanced against the risk we face.

. Simple to administer.

. Enabling so we can keep our volunteers and our organisation safe whilst supporting those

individuals who hold statutory accountabilities in this area (the safeguarding aspects).

Whilst much of the guidance and areas the policy covers are contained within the existing toolkit,
a toolkit implies compliance is optional. We therefore propose to set out relevant information into
a new volunteering policy position statement for the Council.

7. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS:

There are no direct resource implications but there are potential indirect resource implications for
those needing to adopt the policy and in ensuring that the necessary governance and
safeguarding arrangements are in place.

8. WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS (INCORPORATING
EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING):
The Equality Impact Assessment is attached.

9. CONSULTEES:

MCC Volunteer Network

Policy needs to be strengthened to adequately deal with partnership working.

Needs to be a link between the volunteering policy and the volunteer role profiles.

It is comprehensive, in plain English and clearly sets out who is responsible for what.

Audit

Gwent Association of Voluntary Organisations
All recognised trade unions.

Head-teachers

Page 14



WASCG 16th August

The committee welcomed the policy document and its structure for making it easier for volunteers
and colleagues to understand.

It was noted that the policy gives MCC a clear framework which is user friendly, and which sets
out the roles of volunteers, coordinator and managers.

People Board 25" August

The draft policy was presented. It was noted that guidance is already provided in the volunteer
toolkit but the draft policy consolidates this and formalises processes for persons both on and off
payroll. It picks up on some of the accountability weaknesses previously identified.

The draft policy is short, proportionate and deals effectively with the complexities of relationships
throughout our own and other organisations, and with our partners.

It was emphasised that the policy will apply to everyone, including volunteers in schools, and
noted that school governing bodies are urged to adopt the finalised policy in due

course. Currently, the draft policy is out for consultation and comments are welcomed from e.g.
Headteachers.

SLT
CM commented that the policy enables staff to plan when bringing volunteers into the workplace.

Strong Communities Select 28™" September 2017 —

The Policy was thought to be robust and thorough and hoped that it would cover every
eventuality.

The committee supported the Policy and recommended that it be accepted and circulated to all
service/business areas and commended to governing bodies for adoption as soon as possible.

JAG 16™ October

The Committee agreed with the recommendation that the Volunteering Policy be accepted and
circulated to all service/business areas and commended to Governing bodies for adoption as
soon as possible.

Cabinet 22" November
Decision - That the Volunteering Policy be accepted and circulated to all service business areas
and commended to governing bodies for adoption as soon as possible.

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS:
Audit Review Volunteering June 2017

11. AUTHOR:
Sally Thomas - HR Manager & Owen Wilce - Communities and Partnership Development Team

12. CONTACT DETAILS:
Tel: 07900 651564 - 07973 559323
E-mail: sallythomas@monmouthshire.gov.uk — owenwilce@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Page 15


mailto:sallythomas@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:owenwilce@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Evaluation Criteria — Cabinet, Individual Cabinet Member Decisions & Council

Title of Report: | Volunteering Policy

Date decision was made: | 14" December 2017

Report Author: | Sally Thomas

What will happen as a result of this decision being approved by Cabinet or Council?

The desired outcome of the Volunteering Policy being adopted is a clear policy position communicated to all areas of our organisation inclusive of
Governing Bodies for implementation. The implementation will be outlined in a Volunteering Policy action plan owned by People Services. Training,
support and guidance will be offered to colleagues and volunteers during the implementation period.

The decision should offer volunteers across the county an opportunity to engage consistently with our organisation. Volunteer coordinators and managers
will be aware of their responsibilities when engaging with volunteers in Monmouthshire. The policy brings a proportionate approach to volunteering which
helps to create the conditions for volunteering to flourish.

What benchmarks and/or criteria will you use to determine whether the decision has been successfully implemented?

e Consistent volunteer safe recruitment evidence is captured and represented in our Volunteer Kinetic digital management platform.
e Volunteers and colleagues demonstrate a greater understanding of their responsibility.

e Volunteers and colleagues evidence an improvement in the level of support received.

e Leaders have a greater level of confidence in the volunteering policy position.

e Volunteering policy position provides greater scope for partnership working.

9T abed

What is the estimate cost of implementing this decision or, if the decision is designed to save money, what is the proposed saving
that the decision will achieve?

There are no direct cost implications however, indirect costs may be picked up by individual volunteer supporting departments. For example volunteer
mileage expenses or the cost of a volunteers badge could be incurred.

Any other comments

Should the policy be adopted by Council we will develop an action plan for implementing the policy framework.




Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 ne i
P sir fynwy

VOLUNTEERING POLICY

Page 19 1



PAGE

Introduction

Policy statement

Scope

Definition of a volunteer

Volunteer Coordinators

Safeguarding

Recruitment & Selection

Equality & Diversity

Induction

Training

Support & supervision

Trial period

Rotation

Health & Safety

Insurance

Clothing and ID cards

Confidentiality

Social media

Reimbursement

Volunteer drivers

©| ©| ©| ©| ©| | O 0| | | 0| Nl N| g &~ | & W W W

Dealing with concerns

=
o

Whistleblowing

=
o

Alcohol and drugs

=
o

Consultation and engagement

=
o

Appendix One

Guidance on DBS checks and safeguarding

=
=

Page 20




1. Introduction

Monmouthshire County Council (the Council) recognises the important and valuable contribution
made by volunteers who give freely of their time to add value to the services provided by the
paid workforce, with the ultimate aim of improving services for residents.

This policy describes the role of volunteers in service delivery and sets out the terms governing
their engagement and ongoing relationship with the Council.

A volunteer is not an employee of the Council and there is no binding contractual relationship
between volunteers and the Council. Volunteers are not a replacement or substitute for paid
employees.

The role of volunteers is complementary, not supplementary, to the role of paid employees.
Volunteers will not undertake the work of paid employees nor will they cover vacant posts.
Volunteers will not be employed in times of industrial action to do the work of paid employees
but may continue with their regular complementary role should the appropriate support /
supervision be available.

2. Policy Statement

The Council acknowledges the significant role that volunteers play both in supporting service
delivery and in promoting community wellbeing. The Council offers a wide variety of volunteering
opportunities across humerous services for people with particular skills, experience or interests.

Volunteers are expected to comply with relevant Council policies whilst engaged in volunteering
with the Council. A supportive but comprehensive induction will be provided to all volunteers to
ensure they are aware of the Council’'s expectations in this respect.

This Policy should be read in conjunction with the Volunteer Toolkit. All directorates and schools
using the services of volunteers will be expected to comply with the procedures set out in the
Council’s Volunteer Toolkit.

3. Scope

This policy applies to all volunteers engaged in supporting the delivery of council services. This
includes services delivered on behalf of the Council, including contractors and schools.

This policy does not apply to volunteers who are active within communities and not managed by
council services, work experience, apprenticeships and student placements or council
employees volunteering for other groups and organisations.

Indirect voluntary groups are defined as groups of volunteers that the Council has not formally
inducted into a MCC volunteering role but who work with the Council to deliver shared priorities.
The Council’s responsibility for the group can differ depending on the level of control, location of
the activity taking place and whether the activity is the Council’s undertaking.

The Council is required to keep a record of the contact details of the indirect voluntary groups
and the activities they carry out. The Council should provide support with relevant information,
policies and guidelines however; it is the groups own responsibility to ensure relevant policies
and procedures are adhered to.

Page 21 3


http://corphub/initiatives/VolunteersToolkit/SitePages/Home.aspx

4. Definition of a Volunteer

Volunteering is an important expression of citizenship and an essential component of
democracy. It is the commitment of time and energy for the benefit of society and the community
and can take many forms. It is undertaken freely and by choice, without concern for financial
gain.

The volunteer relationship is binding in honour, trust and mutual understanding. No enforceable
obligation, contractual or otherwise will be imposed on volunteers to attend. Likewise, MCC does
not undertake to provide regular volunteering opportunities, payment or other benefit for any
activity undertaken.

5. Volunteer Coordinators

Service areas who engage volunteers must identify a Volunteer Co-ordinator, this could be the
service manager but does not have to be.

Despite the appointment of a Volunteer Coordinator within service areas, the Manager
responsible for the area the volunteer will work in has overall responsibility for the engagement
and support of volunteers. When asked to take on this role, the Volunteer Coordinator must
attend initial ‘Leading Volunteers’ training and thereafter attend regularly meetings of the
Council’s Volunteer Network. This ensures that they remain up to date with developments in the
Council’'s volunteering processes and have the opportunity to feedback on the experiences of
volunteers and of their service areas in helping to deliver Council services.

The role of the Volunteer Coordinator is to:

¢ Provide advice and assistance regarding the recruitment of volunteers

e Ensure consistent application of this policy and related procedures

e Serve as a single point of contact within the service/ directorate for the general
coordination of volunteering

¢ Coordinate ongoing supervision and support

¢ Resolve any issues arising in the course of volunteering relationship

¢ Provide an engaging and supportive environment for the volunteer

The Volunteer Coordinator will maintain an overview of the volunteer programme within their
service area / directorate and arrange regular meetings with volunteers to share information,
feedback progress and monitor and review the programme.

6. Safequarding

Safeguarding children and adults at risk from abuse is everybody’s responsibility.

The Council is committed to ensuring that people living in the County are safe and protected and
that its statutory duties to safeguard and protect children, young people and adults at risk are
discharged.

The Council’s workforce shares a responsibility, both collectively and individually, to ensure that
children and adults at risk are protected from harm. Council employees, County Councillors,

Page 22 4



volunteers and contractors who come into contact with children or adults at risk in the course of
their duties are expected to understand their responsibility and where necessary take action to
safeguard and promote the welfare of vulnerable people.

The Council’s Corporate Safequarding Policy applies to all volunteering opportunities where the
volunteer engages with children, young people and adults at risk. This is covered in the initial
induction and training is provided wherever appropriate.

For additional guidance, please see Appendix A.

7. Recruitment and Selection

Volunteers who undertake work with the Council, including work within schools, will be subject
where necessary to the same safe recruitment processes as the paid workforce albeit
proportionate to the nature of the activity being undertaken.

Engagement of volunteers must adhere to safe recruitment principles as established through the
Councils safe recruitment processes. (Hyperlink to workflow)

Volunteer opportunities can be advertised in a variety of ways and part of the recruiting process
will be via an application form and informal interview as a minimum. The interview will explore
volunteer skills, experience, interests and suitability for roles as well as volunteer motivation.

The Manager, not Volunteer Coordinator, responsible for the area the volunteer will work in, is
responsible for the engagement of volunteers.

Should a volunteer require additional support to enable them to fulfil a volunteering role, this will
be explored and discussed with the Manager or Volunteer Coordinator.

The Manager or Volunteer Coordinator should keep a register of volunteers and record how
often they volunteer and record the roles that they are undertaking. This will then determine
whether they are in regulated activity and the safe recruitment processes to be followed in line
with the Council’'s DBS Policy.

(a) Reqgulated Activity

Regulated activity is defined as unsupervised activity in a limited range of establishments with
the opportunity for contact with children and young people or adults at risk. The scope of
regulated activity includes unsupervised activities such as:

e Teaching

e Training

e Instructing

e Caring for or supervising children and young people or adults at risk
e Providing advice or guidance on wellbeing

o Driving a vehicle only for children or adults at risk

In addition, to be regarded as regulated activity, this unsupervised activity enacted within a
specified place must be done regularly. Regularly means carried out by the same person
frequently (once a week or more often), or on four or more days in a 30-day period (or in some
cases, overnight).

Page 23 5


http://corphub/initiatives/VolunteersToolkit/Shared%20Documents/Corporate%20Safeguarding%20Policy.pdf?Web=1
http://corplib/Records/Management/Strategic%20planning/Polices%20and%20procedures/DBS%20Policy.pdf?Web=1

One-off volunteering
Unless a volunteer is involved or will be involved in regulated activity with children or with adults
at risk, generally there is no legal requirement for a volunteer to have a DBS check for a one off
event. However if the one-off event falls under the definition of Regulated Activity then a
volunteer will require a DBS check (even if the parent/guardian is present). This is because
some activity is classed as Regulated Activity even when it occurs once. For example, taking a
child to the toilet, personal care, physical help with eating or drinking due to illness or disability.
Further information is provided under the full definition of Regulated Activity available in the DBS
policy.

Safe recruitment
For those people who do not work in Regulated Activity but work, paid or unpaid, with children
and young people or adults at risk, MCC retains the right as employer to obtain relevant checks
(albeit not checks against the barred list).

Safe recruitment must be undertaken in line with the information contained in the table below;
the Volunteer Coordinator should review the volunteer role profile and ensure that the role has
been classified appropriately. Under no circumstances should a volunteer be engaged without
the necessary checks being undertaken prior to the commencement of the volunteering activity.

Medium

Risk Level

Description of role

Volunteer role may involve frequent supervised
contact with adults at risk, young people and
children.

Safe Recruitment Requirements

Application Form
Two character references
Working towards Safeguarding Level 1 Training

Low

Volunteer role, which does not include frequent
activity with adults at risk, young people and
children.

Application Form
One-character reference
Working towards Safeguarding Level 1 Training

(b) Specific Requirements for Volunteers who are under 16

Before accepting an application from a volunteer under the age of 16, the consent of a parent /
carer must be obtained. Clear information regarding the activities involved must be provided to
the parent/ carer and the volunteer.

When recruiting volunteers under the age of 16 Volunteer Coordinators will need to carry out a
DBS check on the main person who will come into close contact and develop a relationship of
trust with the volunteer at any given time.

Volunteer Coordinators should ensure that a reference is obtained for any volunteer under 16
who wishes to volunteer with young people. This reference should be completed by a Senior
Leader at their current educational establishment.

Volunteering work requires a DBS check if the volunteering activity involves regular contact with
under 18s — even if the volunteer is also under 18 (but over 16).

For additional information on engaging young people please see appendix one.

(c) Commissioned/ contracted services

Page 24 6



In commissioning or contracting any service that utilises volunteers as part of its service offer,
the commissioning manager will need to ensure there is robust policy for engagement of
volunteers, which is of equivalent standard as the Council Volunteering Policy. Specifically, the
terms of the contract will require as a minimum that there are robust and effective policies and
practice in place for safeguarding and volunteering.

(d) Integrated/collaborative services

Monmouthshire County Council provides a number of services through partnership
arrangements with other organisations, for example, the NHS. The partnership agreement which
provides the formal governance arrangement for integrated services will make clear which
organisation’s policies are used to support the recruitment of volunteers. In entering into such
agreements, the Council will need to assure itself partner’'s volunteering policies are of
equivalent standard as Council policy.

The Council where appropriate will support and use volunteers in partnership with other
organisations. In these cases, relevant safe recruitment evidence must be in place.

8. Equality and Diversity

The Council is committed to equal opportunities and abides by the Equality Act 2010. The
Council’'s Equality Framework applies to the paid and unpaid workforce.

The Council will actively encourage volunteering through promotion to relevant networks and
support groups and all literature will be written in English and Welsh.

Equality monitoring forms will be included with volunteer application forms.

The Council expects all volunteers to subscribe to and adhere to the principles and practices of
the Council’'s Equalities Policy.

The Council welcomes people with disabilities and additional needs who want to volunteer. The
Council will make reasonable adjustments where possible for people with disabilities/additional
needs who volunteer with us, additional risk assessments may be required to safely manage any
risks involved. The Council would encourage any potential volunteers with additional needs or
disabilities to discuss their individual circumstances with the Volunteer Coordinator and the line
manager for any potential volunteering opportunity.

9. Induction

All volunteers shall receive an induction into the organisation and into their role in advance of, or
on, the first day of the volunteering activity.

As part of their induction, volunteers will receive the following information:

e General information about the Council and the service area they are volunteering within

¢ The Volunteering Policy

e \olunteering Guide, which outlines standards of behaviour that volunteers are expected
to comply with.

e The volunteering agreement, to be signed by both parties on start date.

e A\Volunteer role profile detailing tasks and expectations.

e A documented named supervisor.

Page 25 7


http://corphub/initiatives/VolunteersToolkit/Shared%20Documents/MCC_Volunteer_Acceptance_Agreement_-_CYMRAEG.docx

Volunteers are also welcome to attend the Council’s Corporate Induction delivered regularly to
newly appointed paid employees.

Volunteers should be given a copy of this policy electronically so that they are able to access all
policies and guidance referred to within this policy.

10.Training

The Council will match the time, skills and experience of volunteers to suitable volunteering
opportunities and ensure appropriate information, training and support is provided to enhance
the relationship.

11.Recognition

An important part of retaining and recruiting volunteers is recognition of the impact of the
Council’s volunteers. The Council will endeavour to recognise volunteers through both formal
and informal methods. Recognition should be based on the motivations of the volunteer.
Recognition options can be found in the Volunteering ToolKkit.

12.Support and Supervision

All volunteers will have a manager or supervisor with responsibility for agreeing the scope of
their role, providing an induction and appropriate ongoing support, ensuring that volunteers are
aware of and operate within the scope of relevant Council policies and procedures involving any
issues that arise in the course of the volunteering relationship.

13.Trial period

A review of the volunteering placement will be undertaken after 3 months, or before, should any
issues arise.

14.Rotation

Where there is a high demand for volunteering in certain areas, or demand for particular
volunteering activities, these opportunities may be time limited. In order to ensure all
opportunities with the Council are accessible, all volunteer opportunities are subject to regular
review, looking at the quality of the experience and any potential for development.

15.Health and Safety

The Council has a responsibility for the health and safety of volunteers. Volunteers must, at all
times, follow the Council’s health and safety policies and procedures.

Volunteer Coordinators must make volunteers aware of health and safety arrangements as part
of their induction / initial training and as necessary thereafter. Appropriate equipment will be
provided for reasons of health and safety when undertaking their volunteering role. Hyperlink

16.Insurance
Volunteers operating on behalf and under the control of the Council are covered by the Council’s

public liability insurance policy. This protects volunteers against loss, injury caused by accident,
negligence or assault whilst carrying out activities on behalf of the Council. It also protects the

Page 26 8


http://corphub/initiatives/VolunteersToolkit/SitePages/Volunteer%20Recognition.aspx

public against any loss or damage to property by the negligence of anyone acting on the
Council’s authority, including volunteers.

Where required insurance cover needs to be confirmed with the Council’s Insurance department
prior to volunteer engagement.

17.Clothing and ID Cards

All volunteers, as a minimum, will be issued with a volunteer’s badge and where there is a
business need they will be provided with branded clothing and/ or security card.

18.Confidentiality and Data Protection

During the course of their volunteering opportunity with MCC, a volunteer may become aware of
confidential information about the Council, its employees, customers /clients/ service users and /
or suppliers. Volunteers should not disclose this information or use it for their own or another’s
benefit without the consent of the party concerned. This does not prevent disclosure once the
information is in the public domain (unless it has been made public by the volunteer’s breach of
confidentiality) or where the law permits or requires disclosure.

In addition, information and management (storing, handling and use) of personal data needs to
comply with data protection law.

When dealing with DBS checks, managers and Volunteer Co-ordinators will only retain the DBS
number and date issued.

19.Social Media

Volunteers are actively encouraged to consider the use of digital communications to complement
other traditional communication methods.

The Council’s Social Media Policy applies to volunteers and outlines the standards expected of
people when using social media, how the Council monitors use and what will happen if used
inappropriately.

20.Reimbursement

Volunteers are unpaid. However, in certain circumstances, the Council will reimburse volunteers
for approved out of pocket expenses, which are appropriately receipted in accordance with the
Council’s Travel and Reimbursement Policy

The Council has a consistent approach to the reimbursement of expenses, which is the same for
volunteers and employees and is as approved by the Inland Revenue.

Information on volunteers receiving gifts or gratuities can be found in the Code of Conduct
Policy.

21.Volunteer Drivers

Volunteers should not be encouraged to use their own vehicles unless necessary as expense
and insurance issues will need to be considered.

Page 27 9


http://corphub/initiatives/VolunteersToolkit/Shared%20Documents/Digital_Communications_Policy_20141007.docx
http://corphub/initiatives/VolunteersToolkit/Shared%20Documents/Travel%20and%20Reimbursement.pdf?Web=1
http://corplib/Records/Management/Strategic%20planning/Polices%20and%20procedures/Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf?Web=1
http://corplib/Records/Management/Strategic%20planning/Polices%20and%20procedures/Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf?Web=1

If a volunteer does use their own vehicle on Council business they must comply with the
Council’s Driving at Work Policy, regardless of whether they claim mileage or not. Volunteer
Coordinators must ensure that they have sight of the relevant documents as outlined in the
Policy. The mileage for use of a vehicle for volunteering activity will be in line with that paid to
employees. Volunteers claiming mileage expenses will be required to ensure that they have
business car insurance.

22.Dealing with Concerns

Volunteers should initially discuss any problems associated with their placement with their
Volunteer supervisor. The Volunteer’'s supervisor will normally try to resolve the concerns
informally but if this is not possible, the volunteer should write to the Volunteer supervisor clearly
stating what the concern is. The Volunteer’s supervisor will endeavour to resolve the problem
however if the volunteer is not satisfied with the outcome they may raise the matter with the
Volunteer supervisor’s Manager or Programme Lead for Community Empowerment who will
make a final decision on the outcome.

If a complaint is made about a volunteer, including non-compliance with Council Policy, this will
be notified to the person in writing and the Volunteer’s supervisor will decide whether any action
should be taken. If the volunteer is dissatisfied with the decision, he or she may raise it with the
Volunteer Supervisor’s Manager or Programme Lead for Community Empowerment

In matters deemed by the Volunteer’s supervisor/Co-ordinator to constitute serious or gross
misconduct on the part of the volunteer, the Council may end the volunteering arrangement with
immediate effect. Any suspected criminal activity or matters related to safeguarding may be
referred to the police for investigation. If the volunteer wishes to appeal the decision they should
do so in writing to the Head of Service for the relevant area, whose decision will be final.

23.Whistleblowing

Although volunteers are not protected under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998, which
covers whistleblowing as part of employment law, volunteers can access and use the Council’s

where they feel necessary to do so; but they will not receive statutory
protection or compensation, as they are not Council employees.

If a volunteer has a concern about the running of a project or the organisation, they should
speak to the Volunteer Supervisor/ Coordinator.

24.Alcohol and drugs

The Council operates a zero alcohol and drugs policy in which the consumption of alcohol
immediately prior to or during the working day is not permitted on health and safety grounds. All
volunteers will be expected to comply with this policy and should be made aware of this as part
of their Volunteer Induction.

25.Consultation and Engagement

This policy has been developed in consultation with volunteers, Volunteer Coordinators, County
Councillors, Senior Leadership Team and stakeholders.

26.Evaluation and Review

This policy will be reviewed every 3 years.

Page 28 10


http://corplib/Records/Management/Strategic%20planning/Polices%20and%20procedures/Whistleblowing%20Policy.pdf?Web=1
http://corphub/initiatives/VolunteersToolkit/Shared%20Documents/Volunteering%20Guide.doc

DBS checks & Safeguarding Information for VOLUNTEERS
GUIDANCE FOR Volunteer Co-ordinators/Supervisors/Managers and
VOLUNTEERS

The Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) was established under the Protection of
Freedoms Act 2012. The primary role of the DBS is to help employers in England and
Wales make safer recruitment decisions by issuing criminal records checks and to
prevent unsuitable people from working with vulnerable groups including children.

It is a way for an employer to check the background of a prospective or current
employee’s or volunteer’s suitability to work with children, young people or adults at
risk. It helps employers — and charities — to check your response to the question “Do you
have any criminal convictions, cautions, reprimands or final warnings?”

Under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act of 1974, criminals who have served a prison
sentence of less than two and a half years and do not re-offend during a set
‘rehabilitation’ period after their release may have their conviction spent, which means
it doesn’t show up anymore and is no longer relevant when a person is being considered
for most jobs.

Normally organisations are not allowed to ask applicants about spent convictions, but
for roles that requires a DBS check this rule does not apply.

What IS a volunteer?

The DBS definition of a volunteer is defined in the Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records)
Regulations 2002 as:

“Any individual engaged in any activity which involves spending time, unpaid (except for
travel and other approved out of pocket expenses), doing something which aims to
benefit some third party and not a close relative”

To undergo a DBS check a volunteer must also satisfy the eligibility requirements for a
standard or enhanced DBS check.

Put simply, this means the volunteer role must involve working with children or adults at
risk in regulated activity.

DBS Checks for volunteers are usually free of charge and are processed in exactly the

same way as for a paid worker. To qualify for a free-of-charge DBS disclosure check, you
must not benefit directly from the position the DBS application is being submitted for.

Page 29 11



In some cases, an individual may be undertaking unpaid work but will not be classed as a
volunteer for DBS purposes. Individuals are not classed as volunteers if a volunteer:

e benefits directly from the position for which the DBS application is being submitted
e receives any payment (except for travel and other approved out of pocket expenses)
e ison awork placement

e ison acourse that requires them to do this job role

e isin atrainee position that will lead to a full time role/qualification

e is a paid foster carer or a member of a foster care household?

In these cases, the individual will not be eligible for a free of charge DBS disclosure check,
but may still require a DBS disclosure check.

When engaging young volunteers attention should be given to the Health & Safety of Young
Persons Regulation 1997. This Act requires an employer to take into account:

e theinexperience, lack of awareness of risks and immaturity of a young person

e the nature, degree and duration of exposure to physical, biological and chemical agents
e the form, range and use of work equipment and the way in which it is handled

e the organisation of processes and activities

e role must be fit for the age and maturity of the young person

o the extent of the H&S training provided or to be provided to young persons

e risk assessment to be undertaken where appropriate in line with the Act.

The Manager or Volunteer Coordinator can:

e Discuss any concerns with you and provide advice, guidance & support
e Assess if any adjustments required are reasonable and can be made

e Request information and resources from disability specific organisations

Generally speaking, if the voluntary work you undertake is with children or adults at risk you
will probably need a DBS disclosure check. You will need a check BEFORE commencing any
work or training. Employers use the DBS eligibility guidance tool, which provides information
on roles that are eligible for a DBS disclosure check.

If the DBS deems the role ineligible, it will decline to process the check.

Volunteer Coordinators and Supervisors must tell the volunteer why they are being checked.

Page 30 12



Regulated Activity is work which involves close and unsupervised contact with vulnerable
groups including children, and which cannot be undertaken by a person who is on the
Disclosure and Barring Services’ Barred List.

Regulated activity is broken down into two separate groups ‘Activity with Children” and
‘Activity with Adults’

The DBS provides guidance that describes the types of activity, and certain frequency tests,
which determine if the role can be classed as Regulated Activity. This information is
contained within Monmouthshire County Council’s DBS Policy.

Volunteers cannot apply for DBS disclosure checks themselves — this must be done by the
organisation they are volunteering for.

If you require a DBS disclosure check Monmouthshire County Council will give you a DBS
application form to complete. You will meet up with your Volunteer Coordinator/Supervisor
and bring along with your documents proving your identity such as a passport, current
driving licence and proof of address.

Your completed DBS application form will then be sent to the People Services Team who will
process it and send it off to the DBS.

Volunteer Coordinators/Supervisors arrange DBS disclosure checks for volunteers in line
with the following:

Establish whether the role is eligible for a DBS disclosure check. You can use the DBS
eligibility guidance tool as a starting point.

If the role is eligible, consider whether it meets the DBS definition of a volunteer

“Any individual engaged in any activity which involves spending time, unpaid (except for
travel and other approved out of pocket expenses), doing something which aims to benefit
some third party and not a close relative”

If the individual is considered a volunteer in accordance with the definition at Step 2,
arrange for the volunteer to complete the DBS application form.

Volunteer Coordinators/Supervisors need to note that on the DBS application form it states
‘By placing a cross in the ‘yes’ box (at section 68) you confirm that the post meets the DBS
definition for a free of charge volunteer application. Please note that DBS may recover the
application fee if box 68 is marked in error and this could result in cancellation of the DBS
registration.

When a DBS application has been processed by the DBS, the individual (not Monmouthshire
County Council) will receive a DBS certificate.

Page 31 13



As part of our safe recruitment processes at Monmouthshire County Council, a volunteer
is required to show their DBS certificate to their Volunteer Supervisor prior to
commencing any voluntary work. The Volunteer Supervisor will record the DBS number
and date of issue for record purposes.

If circumstances change or a volunteer receives a criminal conviction, caution, or
reprimand then a volunteer is obliged to inform Monmouthshire County Council.

DBS UPDATE SERVICE

The DBS Update Service is an online subscription service that lets you keep your DBS
certificate(s) up to date and allows employers to check a certificate online, with your
consent. You can use your certificate again when you apply for a position in the same
workforce, where the same type and level of check is required. The three workforces are
Child, Adult and Other. Registration lasts for one year, costs £13 a year, and starts form the
date your DBS certificate was issued. There is not charge for volunteers! Only applicants
who apply for a DBS check can join the Update Service. You can join with your DBS
application form reference number when you apply for a DBS check or during the
application process — you can find this number in the top right hand corner of the front page
of the application form.

If you join with your application form reference, the application form must be received by
the DBS within 28 days of you joining. When your DBS certificate is issued, the DBS will
automatically add it to your account.

SAFE RECRUITMENT REQUIREMENTS

RISK LEVEL DESCRIPTION OF ROLE SAFE RECRUITMENT
REQUIREMENTS

MEDIUM Volunteer role. Application form
May involve frequent 2 character references
unsupervised contact with Working towards
adults at risk Safeguarding Level one
training
LOW Volunteer role does not Application form

include frequent activity with | One character reference
adults at risk, young people & | Working towards
children Safeguarding Level One
training

Page 32 14



You are able to track your DBS check. When you apply for the DBS check, you are given a DBS
Application Form Reference number. You enter this number and your date of birth in the search
fields provided on the DBS website — under DBS TRACKING.

It is best to get in contact with the DBS directly. Details can be found on their contact page. If
you need any support, please contact People Services (01633 644400).

Whether you are required to have a DBS check or not depends on whether you will have
regulated activity with a child and how often you will be volunteering. If you will be volunteering
at a school once a week or more, on 4 days within any 30-day period or overnight you will be
expected to agree to an enhanced DBS check. However, if you are volunteering for a one off
event, checks are subject to the school’s discretion, depending on the particular circumstances.

There are some exceptions where you will also have to have an enhanced DBS check and the
barred list consulted. These include, if you will be helping an ill or disabled child eat, drink, and
go to the toilet wash or dress and if you will be providing health care to children. If you will have
unsupervised contact for any period of time, or opportunity for contact with children you will
also be required to have an enhanced DBS check with a check against the barred list to make
sure you haven’t been banned from working with children or young people. Volunteers who will
be communicating with children by telephone or internet on a regular basis will also need these
checks undertaken.

As a volunteer, you are important to us and we are interested to know about the skills and
experiences you bring to Monmouthshire. We also need to be aware of your personal details in
case we need to correspond with you and we need to be aware of your next of kin/emergency
contact details just in case something happens to you whilst you are volunteering with us.

If you volunteer for the first time for Monmouthshire County Council and your activity comes
under regulated activity or the activity is deemed by us (and the DBS) to require a DBS check,
then you will probably be required to have a new one. This rule applies to our paid workforce
too — when an employee commences work with us.

Our thoughts are that it doesn’t matter whether you are a paid or an unpaid worker - if you
come and work for MCC and undertake regulated activity the most important thing is that we

Page 33 15



check to make sure all our workers (paid and unpaid) are suitable and that, as such, we look to
ensure appropriate safeguards are in place.

If you are volunteering in sectors where DBS checks are required, the best way to avoid having
to complete numerous DBS application forms is to immediately subscribe to the DBS Update
Service when you complete your next DBS application. In this way an employer can easily make
a status enquiry (with your permission) to undertake the suitability check.

If you change the volunteering activity you undertake which results in a change from one
workforce to another — for example if you change from Adult to Child — you will be required to
have another check if both Adult and Child Lists have not been checked previously.

These are DBS requirements.

Depending on the activity, you undertake as a volunteer you might be required to have a new
check. For example, if you work as a paid employee in the adult sector (workforce) and want to
volunteer in the Child sector (workforce).

If you volunteer and have a DBS certificate and become a paid employee, you will be required to
have another DBS check as this is a requirement of all our new starters to MCC (if the post you
have been appointed to is subject to a DBS check).

Depending on the activity, you undertake as a volunteer you may be required to provide a
reference and have a health check. Our health questionnaire is simple & straightforward to
complete. Our view is that it is proportionate and reasonable to use the Occupational Health
guestionnaire for activities that are medium to high risk, strenuous, stressful, regular and in
circumstances where, if the volunteer were to become unwell/incapacitated, this would present
a risk to themselves or others for example, driver.

Page 34 16



Volunteers

6.46 A volunteer is defined as a person who performs an activity which involves spending time,
unpaid (except for travel and other approved out-of-pocket expenses), doing something which
aims to benefit someone (individuals or groups) other than or in addition to close relatives.
6.47 Whether a volunteer is supervised will determine if they are working in regulated activity
or not, which will then decide if an enhanced disclosure certificate is required. Volunteers
working in schools or FE institutions are not considered as being in regulated activity, providing
the school or FE institution can ensure reasonable supervision on a regular basis. It will be a
matter for schools to determine whether the level of supervision meets the standards set out in
Statutory Guidance on Supervision.

6.48 Under no circumstances should a volunteer in respect of whom no checks have been
obtained be left unsupervised or allowed to work in regulated activity. For new volunteers in
regulated activity, who will regularly teach or look after children on an unsupervised basis or
provide personal care on a one-off basis, schools and colleges must obtain an enhanced DBS
certificate with a barred check.

6.49 For new volunteers not in regulated activity, schools and FE institution should obtain an
enhanced DBS certificate.

6.50 For existing volunteers who provide personal care, the school or FE institution should
consider obtaining an enhanced DBS certificate with a barred list check.

6.51 For other existing volunteers who are unsupervised and continuing with their current
duties, unless there is cause for concern, the school or college should not request a DBS check
with a barred list check because the volunteer should already have been checked.

6.52 For existing volunteers not in regulated activity there is no requirement to request an
enhanced DBS check. However, the school or college may choose to request one as they judge
necessary, but may not request a check of the barred list.

6.53 If a volunteer is not engaging in regulated activity, the school or college should undertake a
risk assessment and use their professional judgement and experience when deciding whether to
seek an enhanced DBS check. They should consider:

*the nature of the work with children

*what the establishment knows about the volunteer, including formal or informal information
offered by staff, parents and other volunteers

*whether the volunteer has other employment or undertakes voluntary activities where
referees can advise on suitability

*whether the role is eligible for an enhanced DBS check.

6.54 In recognition of the value of volunteers to many organisations, the DBS processes
volunteer disclosure applications free-of-charge. The update service is also free for volunteers.

Page 35 17



Statutory guidance: Regulated Activity (children) - supervision of activity with children that is
regulated activity when unsupervised.
1. This document fulfils the duty in legislation that the Secretary of State must publish statutory
guidance on supervision of activity by workers with children, which when unsupervised is
regulated activity. This guidance applies in England, Wales and Northern Ireland. It covers
settings including but not limited to schools, childcare establishments, FE colleges, youth groups
and sports clubs.
2. For too long child protection policy has been developed in haste and in response to individual
tragedies, with the well intentioned though misguided belief that every risk could be mitigated
and every loophole closed. The pressure has been to prescribe and legislate more. This has led
to public confusion, a fearful workforce and a dysfunctional culture of mistrust between
children and adults. This Government is taking a different approach.
3. We start with a presumption of trust and confidence in those who work with children, and
the good sense and judgment of their managers. This guidance applies when an organisation
decides to supervise with the aim that the supervised work will not be regulated activity (when
it would be, if not so supervised). In such a case, the law makes three main points:
¢ There must be supervision by a person who is in regulated activity;
* The supervision must be regular and day to day; and
* The supervision must be “reasonable in all the circumstances to ensure the protection of
children”.

The organisation must have regard to this guidance. That gives local managers the flexibility to
determine what is reasonable for their circumstances. While the precise nature and level of
supervision will vary from case to case, guidance on the main legal points above is as follows.

4. Supervision by a person in regulated activity / regular and day to day: supervisors must be in

regulated activity themselves . The duty that supervision must take place “on a regular basis”

means that supervision must not, for example, be concentrated during the first few weeks of an

activity and then tail off thereafter, becoming the exception not the rule. It must take place on

an ongoing basis, whether the worker has just started or has been doing the activity for some

time.

5. Reasonable in the circumstances: within the statutory duty, the level of supervision may

differ, depending on all the circumstances of a case. Organisations should consider the following

factors in deciding the specific level of supervision the organisation will require in an individual

case:

¢ Ages of the children, including whether their ages differ widely;

e Number of children that the individual is working with;

¢ Whether or not other workers are helping to look after the children;

¢ The nature of the individual’s work (or, in a specified place such as a school, the individual’s
opportunity for contact with children);

¢ How vulnerable the children are (the more they are, the more an organisation might opt for
workers to be in regulated activity);

e How many workers would be supervised by each supervising worker.

Page 36 18



6. In law, an organisation will have no entitlement to do a barred list check on a worker who,
because they are supervised, is not in regulated activity.

EXAMPLES

Volunteer, in a specified place

Mr Jones, a new volunteer, helps children with reading at a local school for two mornings a
week. Mr Jones is generally based in the classroom, in sight of the teacher. Sometimes Mr Jones
takes some of the children to a separate room to listen to them reading, where Mr Jones is
supervised by a paid classroom assistant, who is in that room most of the time. The teacher and
classroom assistant are in regulated activity. The head teacher decides whether their
supervision is such that Mr Jones is not in regulated activity.

Volunteer, not in a specified place

Mr Wood, a new entrant volunteer, assists with the coaching of children at his local cricket club.
The children are divided into small groups, with assistant coaches such as Mr Wood assigned to
each group. The head coach oversees the coaching, spends time with each of the groups, and
has sight of all the groups (and the assistant coaches) for most of the time. The head coach is in
regulated activity. The club managers decide whether the coach’s supervision is such that Mr
Wood is not in regulated activity.

Employee, not in a specified place

Mrs Shah starts as a paid activity assistant at a youth club. She helps to instruct a group of
children, and is supervised by the youth club leader who is in regulated activity. The youth club
managers decide whether the leader’s supervision is such that Mrs Shah is not in regulated
activity.

In each example, the organisation uses the following steps when deciding whether a new

worker will be supervised to such a level that the new worker is not in regulated activity:

e consider whether the worker is doing work that, if unsupervised, would be regulated activity.
If the worker is not, the remaining steps are unnecessary;

¢ consider whether the worker will be supervised by a person in regulated activity, and whether
the supervision will be regular and day to day, bearing in mind paragraph 4 of this guidance;

e consider whether the supervision will be reasonable in all the circumstances to ensure the
protection of children;

In addition, if it is a specified place such as a school:

e consider whether the supervised worker is a volunteer.

Page 37 19



VERSION CONTROL

Volunteering Policy

People Services

CABINET (22/11/17)

August 2017

1

2020

DRAFT

Whole Authority Safegt?rding Group (WASG) 16/87/17
Volunteering Network 18/8/17
SLT 19/9/17

People Board 25/8/17

Select 28/9/17

JAG 16/10/17

Cabinet 22/11/17

Council 14/12/17

Page 38

20



B~ monmouthshire

Qo sir fynwy

Name of the Officer completing the evaluation Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal
Sally Thomas

To introduce a new Volunteering Policy
Phone no: 07900651564
E-mail: sallythomas@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Name of Service Date Future Generations Evaluation form completed

People Services HR August 2017

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below? Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together
-u With suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.

Q
D How does the proposal contribute to this What actions have been/will be taken to
23/\/9” Being Goal goal? (positive and negative) mitigate qny negatlve. |.mp§cts or better
contribute to positive impacts?
A prosperous Wales n/a

Efficient use of resources, skilled,
educated people, generates wealth,
provides jobs

A resilient Wales N/a
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and
ecosystems that support resilience and
can adapt to change (e.g. climate
change)

A healthier Wales n/a
People’s physical and mental
wellbeing is maximized and health
impacts are understood




Well Being Goal

How does the proposal contribute to this
goal? (positive and negative)

What actions have been/will be taken to
mitigate any negative impacts or better
contribute to positive impacts?

A Wales of cohesive communities
Communities are attractive, viable,
safe and well connected

n/a

A globally responsible Wales
Taking account of impact on global
well-being when considering local
social, economic and environmental
wellbeing

n/a

A Wales of vibrant culture and
thriving Welsh language

Culture, heritage and Welsh language
are promoted and protected. People
Chre encouraged to do sport, art and
recreation

n/a

N 2Yhp 1
C

PA more equal Wales
eople can fulfil their potential no
matter what their background or

circumstances

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development?

Sustainable Development How does your proposal demonstrate you have

Principle

met this principle?

What has been done to better to meet this
principle?

Balancing
short term
need with
long term and
planning for

the future




Sustainable Development How does your proposal demonstrate you have What has been done to better to meet this

Principle met this principle? fone lo be
Working n/a
together with
other
Collaboration par.tners to
deliver
objectives
Involving
those with an
interest and
seeking their
Involverment [
views
Putting n/a
J resources
@ :
@ into
® )
I Frevention preventing
= problems

occurring or getting worse

Positively
impacting on
people,

Integration ecopomy and
environment
and trying to benefit all three




3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics? Please explain the impact, the

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below.

Protected
Characteristics

Describe any positive impacts your
proposal has on the protected
characteristic

Describe any negative impacts
your proposal has on the
protected characteristic

What has been/will be done to
mitigate any negative impacts or
better contribute to positive
impacts?

Age

Disability

Gender
reassignment

Marriage or civil

partnership
o}

DRace
D

2 A "\RV\ ]

\Religion or Belief
N

Sex

Sexual Orientation

Welsh Language

We will make this policy available in welsh
should it be required




4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and
safeguarding. Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities? For more information please see the guidance
note http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Equality%20impact¥%20assessment%20and%20safequarding.docx and for more

on Monmouthshire’s Corporate Parenting Strategy see http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx

Describe any positive impacts your
proposal has on safeguarding and
corporate parenting

Describe any negative impacts
your proposal has on safeguarding
and corporate parenting

What will you do/ have you done
to mitigate any negative impacts
or better contribute to positive
impacts?

Safeguarding

Corporate Parenting

o W "\RV\ 1
o/ ovtqg

o

What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal?

6. The reason for development of this policy relates to the SUMMARY: As aresult of completing this form, what are the main
positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and

what will you be doing in future?

Development of this policy arises from the fact that the Council acknowledges the significant role that volunteers play in
supporting service delivery and the role of volunteering in promoting community wellbeing.

7. Actions. As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if

applicable.

What are you going to do When are you going to do it? Who is responsible

Progress



http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Equality%20impact%20assessment%20and%20safeguarding.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx

8. Monitoring: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will
evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review.

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on:

Review of this policy will be taken in line with our normal review
processes —which will be dependent upon review of casework,
any legislative changes, welsh government guidance, and best
practice.

{717 obe



Agenda Item 6¢

" monmouthshire
W sir fynwy

SUBJECT: SAFEGUARDING EVALUATIVE REPORT APRIL — OCTOBER 2017

MEETING: Council
DATE: 14™ DECEMBER 2017
DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: ALL

1. PURPOSE:

This purpose of this report is:

e To evaluate the progress of Monmouthshire County Council’s key safeguarding
priorities, in the period April — October 2017, using identified measures to
highlight progress, identify risks and set out clear improvement actions and
priorities for further development.

e To inform Cabinet Members about the effectiveness of safeguarding in
Monmouthshire and the work that is in progress to support the Council’s aims
in protecting children and adults at risk from harm and abuse.

e To inform Cabinet members about the progress made towards meeting the
standards in the Council’'s Corporate Safeguarding Policy approved by Council
in July 2017.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:
Members are requested to:

e Note the key safeguarding risks and approve the priority improvement actions
as set out at Appendix 2 to this report.

e Endorse the evaluation of safeguarding progress set out in Appendix 5 to this
report.

3. KEY ISSUES:

3.1 This safeguarding evaluation is based on activity and information from April
2017 — October 2017. It builds upon the previous progress review reported in
March 2017. The timing of this report reflects a biannual reporting cycle to
Select Committees, Cabinet and Council. This reporting period saw the
approval of Monmouthshire County Council’'s Corporate Safeguarding Policy
which extended the policy scope to cover statutory duties for both children and
adults at risk in line with the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act (2014).

Page 45



3.2

The analysis within this report reflects current legislation and policy and draws
on data and information concerning both groups.

The evaluation reflects the 5 cornerstones of safeguarding within the Corporate
Safeguarding Policy (Table 1).

Table 1: The Cornerstones of a safeguarding in Monmouthshire

3.3

Safe Services Safe Workforce

Good

Governance

Preventative

Robust Protection Approach

Embedding and sustaining the highest standards of safeguarding is a
continuous endeavor. This evaluative report forms an integral part of the
improvement of safeguarding practice across the Council. It asks asks critical
guestions about what are we trying to achieve, how well we are doing, what is
the evidence to support our analysis, do we understand, manage and mitigate
risks and how can we improve and develop. This is fundamental to an open
and transparent approach to the evaluative task. The report tries, wherever
possible, to balance qualitative and quantitative data as well as drawing in other
sources of information to support triangulation of the assertions around
progress.

Page 46



3.4 The self-assessment score has been developed by the Whole Authority
Safeguarding Group (WASG) on the basis of evidence review and critical
challenge. It uses the corporate scoring framework (Appendix 1) to provide an
overall judgement of effectiveness. The current self-assessment is at Table 2.
Table 2: Self-assessment scores as at October 2017

Safeguarding Cornerstone March Oct March
2017 2017 2018
1. GOOD GOVERNANCE 3 4
2. SAFE WORKFORCE 3 3
3. PREVENTATIVE APPROACH 5 3
4, ROBUST PROTECTION 3 4
5. SAFE SERVICES 2 2
3.5 Of note, is the differential score in the self-assessment of the ‘preventative

approach’ standard. The evaluation in March 2017 focused on highlighting
various preventative activities and developments that were in progress across
the Council. Whilst the range of activity is positive, within our current evaluation
we challenged ourselves to consider impact through a more critical lens. The
challenges this presented in evidencing impact is reflected in the lower score.
Steady progress continues in ‘good governance’ and ‘robust protection’, whilst
the static scores within ‘safe workforce’ and ‘safe services’ is representative of
the ambitious scope within these areas and the time that is required
to implement improvement activities. It particularly reflects the challenge

Page 47



3.6

3.7

around information system in the critical areas of training and volunteer
management.

Arising from the assessment the key risks have been extracted and
incorporated into the Safeguarding Risk Register (Appendix 2). The most
significant risks also feature in the Council’s Corporate Risk Register Priority
improvement actions have been extracted from the Evaluative Report and are
attached at Appendix 3.

Good Governance

The last 6 months has seen positive progress to ensure that safeguarding is a
fundamental feature in the governance arrangements for officers and
Members. The Corporate safeguarding policy sets out clearly roles,
responsibilities and governance arrangements. WASG has an important role,
bringing together Chief Officers/ Heads of Service from each directorate to lead
safeguarding activity in the Council. To reflect the need to improve systems for
identification, management and mitigation of risk, a new system of SBARs
(Situation Background Analysis Review) has been introduced to support WASG
in identifying risks, overseeing action plans arising from significant event
analyses in respect of compliance with the Council’s safeguarding policy. There
is further work needed to really embed risk management for safeguarding
through strengthening the relationships between risk registers at every level
and priority improvements.

There are arrangements in place for self-evaluation in all directorates via the
SAFE process. Self-evaluation is triangulated in a number of ways including via
an internal audit programme. Further activity is needed to ensure that the SAFE
process is quality assured and embedded operationally and supports a
programme of continual improvement within every directorate. This further work
recognises that in the reporting period the SAFE process, which was originally
developed as a tool in childcare settings, and related to safeguarding children,
has been rolled out across all parts of the Council and covers adults at risk as
well as children.

At a regional level, the South East Wales Safeguarding Children Board and
Safeguarding Adults Boards fulfil the statutory responsibilities set out in the
Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act. Monmouthshire County Council is
fully represented on both the Children and Adult Safeguarding Boards, and their
subgroups. It is acknowledged that more work is required to strengthen the links
between national, regional and local safeguarding activity and ensure the
learning from through the regional boards and sub-groups is embedded in

Page 48



3.8

practice and operations in Monmouthshire. The 2016/17 annual report from the
regional boards is available at: http://www.gwasb.org.uk/index.php?id=34.

Safe Workforce

Safe recruitment of the whole workforce is a fundamental test of safeguarding
in a local authority. Regular reporting over a number of years shows a very high
level of compliance with safe recruitment of the employed workforce and the
small number of cases where the safe recruitment process has not been
followed an analysis using the SBAR process has been undertaken to ensure
risks are immediately managed and lessons learned. Safe recruitment, and
effective management, of the volunteer workforce has been a major focus in
the last reporting period supported by the leading volunteer training and
extensive involvement of volunteers and managers in the development of the
Volunteering Policy approved by Cabinet in November 2014. Following the
Wales Audit Office (February 2017) report into the Kerbcraft scheme, and an
internal audit report which highlighted deficiencies in a number of parts of the
Council a full review of compliance of volunteers has taken place with to
achieve 100% compliance with all aspects of the standards for a safe workforce
in advance of the implementation of the central volunteer information
management system.

Strengthening policy, systems and process in the safety of the workforce has
been a major focus during the last reporting period. There are considerable
strengths in the levels of training within schools and child care settings which
were the standards set within the previous safeguarding policy. The training
standards set in the July 2016 Corporate Safeguarding Policy cover the whole
Council workforce duty to report and safeguard children and adults at risk in
line with the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act. This means that
significant training needs have been identified across the whole authority. Basic
awareness training covering adults and children is now available and each area
of the Council has undertaken an in-depth review, team by team, to understand
training needs and gaps. Plans are in place to co-ordinate training resources to
ensure training needs are being met. Digital whole authority systems are also
being implemented to enable reporting on training compliance across the paid
and volunteer workforce. Plans to test out whole workforce understanding of
their responsibilities are in place. Other improvements have been made,
including the development of trainer’s forum. Training will remain a significant
priority for the next period.

There is a well-established process for managing professional allegations
within Children’s Services. We are working in context of regional and national

Page 49


http://www.gwasb.org.uk/index.php?id=34

3.9

3.10

developments to ensure there is alignment across children and adults in respect
the management of professional allegations.

Preventative Approach

Understanding the issues which cumulatively mean people are at risk of
requiring protection is at the heart of a preventative approach to safeguarding.
The preventative agenda is developing within community well-being hubs, and
local groups and communities are supported to create, maintain and sustain
activities where needs are identified within the community itself. The WASG
challenges all parts of the Council to consider how they contribute to
preventative activities. In some areas this is well developed — the examples in
public protection cited above are clear examples of how safeguarding is at the
heart of the work that is undertaken. The WASG provides a more joined up
approach to some of the targeted work taking place within the Council around
areas such as CSE, development of dementia friendly communities and
PREVENT.

As a priority action, WASG is considering how it can better develop effective
ways of measuring and evaluating the impact of preventative activity to ensure
that activity leads to better safeguards being in place for both children and
adults at risk, and makes the best use of limited council resources to target
vulnerability.

Robust Protection

Working to All-Wales protection procedures is embedded in the work of adult
and child protection practitioners. The Children’s Services Improvement
Programme has created a drive to improve the quality child protection practice,
application processes and procedures, and ensure staff understand the
requirements and expectations of their role and task. Critical to this has been
recruitment of a permanent workforce. Safe practice is now supported by a
clear infrastructure of risk management frameworks, clear procedures, models
and tools.

The creation and development of the Adult and Children’s Safeguarding Unit
presents opportunities to consider how best to identify opportunities for “joined
up” work and joint implementation of the revised All Wales guidance for children
and adults at risk. Effective quality assurance is a prerequisite in ensuring that
the quality of safeguarding practice is understood and to drive improvement
actions. This is better developed in children’s than adult services, but again the
development of the joint unit provides the basis for aligning practice and
systems.

Page 50



3.11 Safe Services

6.1

This is the first time information regarding commissioned services has been
reported and there is an emphasis on social services commissioning in this
report. Social care commissioning capacity in Monmouthshire had for many
years been focussed on adult commissioning. The Social Care and Health
Commissioning Team is developing its operating model to provide a
comprehensive approach for all social care commissioning for children and
adults. A Commissioning Lead is in place and has developed productive
relationships with commissioned providers have been addressed alongside the
social worker review of placements which have met all statutory timescales. A
robust, risk-based, contract management and quality assurance process
across all providers from January 2018.

Initial review of the evidence from schools, and other parts of the Council that
contract for services for children/ adults at risk indicate there are robust
arrangements in place (individual school contracts, transport, leisure services).
However, the evaluative score recognises the need for an in-depth
understanding of the baseline position across the whole of the Council in
respect of commissioning. It has been agreed that internal audit will undertake
work in this area during their 2017/18 audit programme.

OPTIONS APPRAISAL
Not applicable to this report
EVALUATION CRITERIA

An evaluation assessment has been included at Appendix 5 to support the
analysis in this report. This includes clear descriptors of ‘what good looks like’
against the standards for safeguarding in Monmouthshire. This provides the
basis of measurement which can be monitored over time. Safeguarding
progress will be reported on a 6 monthly basis to CYP and Adult Select
Committees, Cabinet and Council.

REASONS:

This evaluation report is completed within the context of Monmouthshire County
Council’s recent background and history in respect of safeguarding as set out
in brief below and represents a further opportunity for Members to consider the
distance travelled by the Local Authority in improving safeguarding
performance.

Page 51



6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

Council Members will be aware that in November 2012 the Local Authority was
found to have inadequate safeguarding arrangements in place. Shortcomings
was clearly articulated by Estyn and included a lack of safeguarding policy and
procedures as well as operational weaknesses particularly within a schools
based context.

The Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit was established within
Children’s Services in 2012 and quickly extended its role in supporting the
Authority’s improvement journey around child’s safeguarding.

In February 2014 an Estyn monitoring visit recognised that the council had
appropriately prioritised safeguarding and ‘set the foundations well for recovery’
particularly at service and practitioner. However, the authority still did not have
‘effective enough management information systems and processes to enable it
to receive appropriate and evaluative management information about
safeguarding’. This criticism was echoed by a subsequent Welsh Audit Office
review of safeguarding in March 2014.

In response to this the council established the Whole Authority Safeguarding
Group (WASG) initially chaired by the Chief Executive with a focus specifically
on children. The inaugural meeting took place in July 2014.

The Local Authority came out of Special Measures in November 2015 when
strong progress in safeguarding was recognised.

A recommendation was subsequently made to Cabinet and endorsed in July
2016 allowing the work of the WASG to incorporate safeguarding for adults at
risk, so that good practice and learning could be mutually shared and also to
recognise the statutory basis of safeguarding adults at risk as a consequence
of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. The focus of WASG
reflected developments in the national legislative framework and guidance
around integration and all-age citizen / family centred approaches.

Council Members will also be aware that Wales Audit Office issued statutory
recommendations in respect of safeguarding in respect of the Council's
Kerbcraft service in January 2017.

A new Corporate Safeguarding Policy was approved by Council in July 2017.

Officers are currently preparing for a further inspection of whole authority
safeguarding across which is planned for January 2018. This will be led by the
Welsh Audit Office working together with Estyn and CCSIW.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS:

There are no resource implications to this report.

Page 52



10.

11.

12.

WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS
(INCORPORATING EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING
AND CORPORATE PARENTING):

This report is not seeking any change in policy and therefore a future
generations assessment has not been completed. This reportis clearly critically
concerned with the effectiveness of safeguarding in Monmouthshire County
Council.

CONSULTEES:

Children and Young People’s Select Committee — the committee considered a
draft of the evaluation report at its meeting on 13 November 2017. The select
committee
Recommendations:
o Members who have not undertaken their Safeguarding Training should
be pursued for completion of the training
o The completed document with the evaluative scores be brought back to
the next meeting

The overall judgement of the committee was ‘the report demonstrates that
continued improvement is being made in safeguarding and this is clearly evidenced
when comparing the position the Council was in a number of years ago to the
position outlined in this report.’

The Senior Leadership Team (SLT) considered a draft of the report at its
meeting on 14 November 2017. SLT recommended
Recommendations:
o Training records should be kept on My View in the short term until a
Learning Resource Management system can be implemented

BACKGROUND PAPERS:

Evaluative Progress Report April — September 2017
Corporate Safeguarding Policy July 2017

AUTHOR:
Whole Authority Safeguarding Group

CONTACT DETAILS:

Cath Sheen

Corporate Safeguarding Programme Lead
Tel: 07595647637

Page 53


http://corplib/Records/Management/Strategic%20planning/Polices%20and%20procedures/Safeguarding%20Policy.pdf

E-mail:cathsheen@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Page 54



Appendix 1

The Corporate Evaluation Framework

Level 6 Excellent or outstanding

Excellent

Level 5 Good Major strengths

Very Good

Level 4 Important strengths with some areas for
Good improvement

Level 3 Strengths just outweigh weaknesses
Adequate

Level 2Weak |Important weaknesses

Level 1|Major weakness

Unsatisfactory

Page 55



Page 56



Appendix 2

)G abed



Ref | Risk Reason why identified Risk Level (Pre —mitigation) Mitigating actions Timescale | Mitigation Risk Level (Post — mitigation) | Risk owner &
Year | Likeli- | Impac | Risk ‘:‘Sdp onsib action progress =y T likeli- | Impact | Risk | Cabinet
hood |t Level ility hood Level | member
holder responsible
la Potential for significant harm - The likelihood of this 2017/1 | Poss Major Med ¢ Continually monitor and Claire Latest 2017/1 | Possib | Major Med | Will
to vulnerable children or adults | occurring in a given year is 8 evaluate process and Marchant evaluation is 8 le Mclean &
due to factors outside our low. However the significant practice and review Chief being presented Major Med | Claire Marchant
control.(escalated to corporate | harm that can occur due to accountability for Officer, to Cabinet in 2018/1 | Possib Clir Penny
register) factors that are outside our safeguarding SCH December 2017 | 9 le Major Med | Jones &
control mean that this will ClIr Richard
always be a risk. 2019/2 | Possib John
0 le
1b Potential for significant harm - Volunteering is increasingly | 2018/1 | Poss Major Med e Ensure that robust systems Claire
to vulnerable children or adults | part of meeting community 9 are in place within the Marchant
due to failure of services needs and it is important to Possib | Major | Med authority to respond to any Chief
and/or partners to act have consistency across the | 2019/2 | le concerns arising from Officer,
accountably for safeguarding LA in the use of volunteers 0 allegations or organised SCH
(escalated to corporate particularly in respect of HR abuse
register) practices and training. « Drive the strategic agenda Claire Service
and the associated Marchant Improvement
programme of activities for Chief Plan have a
o safeguarding through the Officer, safeguarding
Whole Authority SCH section. These
g Safeguarding Group are not being
D including undertaking a routinely
second review of evaluated
(@] safeguarding policy and
(00] continuing to promote and
review safe recruitment
practices.
e Continue to implement the
Children’s services
improvement programme
and related Workforce and
Practice Development
Action Plan and
Commissioning strategy for
Children, Young People and
their Families
o Ensure safeguarding is
reflected in all council
service improvement plans
and in roles / responsibilities
as appropriate
2 Potential that the Council does | In February 2017 Wales 2017/1 | Possib | Subst Med e To implement the Action Roger Audit Committee | 2017/1 | Possib | Subst Med | Roger Hoggins
not make sufficient progress in | Audit Office issued Statutory | 8 le antial Plan established in Hoggins, received a report | 8 le antial Clir Bryan
areas of weakness in recommendations for Med response to the Head of on the Low | Jones
safeguarding identified by improvement in the 2018/1 | Possib | Subst Safeguarding arrangements | Operation implementation 2018/1 | Unlikel | Subst
regulators leading to under- Safeguarding arrangements | 9 le antial Low — Kerbcraft scheme report S of the Action 9 y antial
performance (escalated to — Kerbcraft scheme report approved by Council in Plan (Nov 2017). Low
corporate register) 2019/2 | Unlikel | Subst March 2017 A further report 2019/2 | Unlikel | Subst
0 y antial on 0 y antial

implementation




of the Action
Plan will be
presented to
CYP Select
Committee
along with the
performance
data which will
thereafter form

the basis of
annual
performance
reports to the
committee
Potential that staff and Within a large organisation 2017/1 | Likely Moder | Med e Ensure that all managers Peter To date 4 SBAR | 2017/1 | Likely Moder | Med | Peter Davies.
volunteers are not recruited with devolved responsibility 8 ate receive SAFE recruitment Davies. forms have been | 8 ate Clir Phil Murphy
safely and begin their for recruitment and selection Med training. Chief received in Low
appointment without DBS there is opportunity for 2018/1 | Likely Moder e Ensure the SBAR system of | Officer, 2017-18. 2018/1 | Unlikel | Moder
checks having been deviation from agreed 9 ate Med significant event analysis is Resources 9 y ate Claire Marchant
completed resulted in processes understood and being used Low | Clir Penny
increased risk of harm to 2019/2 | Likely Moder positively 2019/2 | Unlikel | Moder Jones
vulnerable people 0 ate « In the event of any deviation | Claire 0 y ate
from process ensure that an | Marchant
SBAR is completed and Chief
U analysed by the next Officer
Q meeting of the Whole Social
(®) Authority Safeguarding Care &
[0 Group Health
Pptential that the workforce The National Study of 2017/1 | Likely Moder | Med e Ensure robust information Peter Data is in place 2017/1 | Likely Moder | Med | Peter Davies
rr%not be aware of their duty | Safeguarding published by 8 ate systems in place to support | Davies, for the majority 8 ate Clir Phil Murphy
toTeport concerns due to do WAQO in 2015 reported that Med accurate reporting of whole | Chief of teams Low
not have up-to-date 84 per cent of employees 2018/1 | Likely Moder workforce training levels Officer, providing up-to- 2018/1 | Unlikel | Moder
safeguarding training reducing | nationally had not received 9 ate Med e Safeguarding is a standard Resources | date information | 9 y ate
the opportunities for safeguarding training item on the council’s about Low
successful preventative work 2019/2 | Likely Moder induction programme for all safeguarding 2019/2 | Unlikel | Moder
and early intervention across 0 ate new starters training 0 y ate
the whole authority o Full implementation of
volunteering policy
o Implement the safeguarding
training plan to address any . .
gaps in safeguarding Claire Claire Marchant
training for children and Marchant
adults at risk through the Chief
SAFE self-evaluations Officer,
Social
Care and

Health




Potential that the council and
its partners are not doing
everything they can to keep
vulnerable people safe

Improved outcomes for
vulnerable people children
can only be achieved and
sustained when people and
organisations work together
to design and deliver more
integrated services around
people’s needs

2017/1
8

2018/1
9

2019/2
0

Possib
le

Possib
le

Possib
le

Subst
antial

Subst
antial

Subst
antial

Med

Med

Med

* Wide range of services
represented on the whole
authority safeguarding
group to ensure it is seen as
everyone’s responsibility
and give appropriate priority

¢ Increase the connections
and partners who are
working as part of place-
based working together

Claire

Marchant.

Chief
Officer
Social
Care and
Health

2017/1
8

2018/1
9

2019/2
0

Possib
le

Unlikel
y

Unlikel
y

Subst
antial

Subst
antial

Subst
antial

Med

Low

Low

Clir Penny
Jones

09 abed



Page 61



Appendix 3

Good Governance - Action Plan

e Strengthen and evidence links between the work of the national and regional Safeguarding Boards
and practice within Monmouthshire.

e Strengthen alignment of safeguarding risk management systems at every level of the organisation
through:

o reviewing the quality of SAFE self- evaluation across all directorates to ensure that resulting
action plans address the critical safeguarding issues for each service area and priority
actions are reflected in SIPs;

o ensuring the SBAR system of significant event analysis is understood, being used positively
and risks highlighted are reflected in risk registers at directorate level as well as whole
authority and WASG

o testing out the effectiveness of arrangements in the 2018/19 internal audit work programme.

Safe Workforce - Action Plan

¢ Implementation of safeguarding training plan to address the gaps in safeguarding training for
children and adults at risk through the SAFE self-evaluations

¢ Full implementation of volunteering policy

¢ Implementation of information systems to support accurate reporting of whole workforce

o Professional allegations processes to align across adult and children’s services.

Preventative Approach - Action Plan

¢ Implement fully the early support and referral pathway

¢ Continue to build on the strengths of place based working by increasing the connections and
partners who are working together to support individual and community well-being.

e Develop evaluative measures that enable better reporting of the impact of preventative work

Robust Protection - Action Plan

e Children and adult Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit to develop an operating model which
builds on strengths in both parts of the service

e Continue to improve outcomes in children’s services through the children’s services improvement
programme, including improving systems, processes and practice which contribute to timescales
for completion of assessments.

¢ Implementation, and quality assurance of, risk framework in children’s services.

o Further develop quality assurance mechanisms, and data analysis, in adult protection, to support
improvement.

Safe Services - Action Plan:

¢ Internal audit to undertake review to baseline position across the authority in terms of
commissioning and partnership

e Integrated Social Care and Health Commissioning Service to implement operating model covering
adult and children’s services

¢ Implement internal audit action plans for children’s services placements and volunteering.

Page 62



Regional Strateqgic Safequarding Structure Appendix 4

Adul li .
Engagement & Protocol & Learning & ::stu?;nigy Chlldr_en
Communicatio FTOSZCNTES Develop A s?sl:l?;me
DC
ne (bC - Chain °e (IR) (IR - Chair)

Case Review
Panels

Business

Planning Case Review
Group Group (JR)

SEWSCB
(JR)

VAWDASV

Blaenau Gwent Caerphilly Newport Torfaen

Safeguarding Safeguarding Mst)r}mouth;hire Safeguarding Safeguarding
Network Network aleguaraing Network

Network
Network

DC (Chair)




This page is intentionally left blank



Evaluative Progress Report April — September 2017

This report evaluates the progress of Monmouthshire County Council’s against its safeguarding
priorities. The priorities reflect the cornerstones for keeping people safe in Monmouthshire set out in
the Council’s Corporate Safeguarding Policy approved by Council in July 2016. The evaluative report
uses quantitative and qualitative measures, and case studies where appropriate, to highlight progress,
areas for improvement and further development. It is based on our commitment that adults at risk
and children will be supported, and protected from harm and abuse. The report acknowledges that
safeguarding is always ‘work in progress’. Constant vigilance is needed at all levels of leadership and
operational delivery to ensure the right culture, policy, practice and measurement systems are in
place to keep people safe.

The cornerstones for keeping people safe in Monmouthshire are set out in Figure 1:

Safe Services SAFE WORKFORCE

Good

Governance

Preventative

Robust Protection Approach

Figure 1

These cornerstones form the basis of Monmouthshire County Council’s Safeguarding Policy. The
judgement on performance against measures has been agreed by the Whole Authority Safeguarding
Group (WASG). WASG has considered analysis of evidence drawn from a range of sources set out in
Table 1 which together enable a view to be formed as to the effectiveness of the Council’s
safeguarding arrangements.

Table 1

Quality Assurance & Internal

Audit Reports Feedback

External Regulatory Reports
*CSSIW - Review of Front Door
of Children’s Services (2016)

* CSSIW Annual Performance
Letter (2017)

*Safeguarding Assurance
Framework Evaluations (SAFEs)

*Performance Management
Information

Survey (2016)

meetings and sub-groups

Engagement and Stakeholder

*Young People’s Safeguarding

* Regional Safeguarding Board

* Estyn Monitoring Visits
(Quarterly)
* Estyn Inspections of Individual

Schools

*Case Review and Audit Reports
undertaken in accordance with
the Social Services Quality
Improvement and Performance
Framework

Page 65

*Monmouthshire safeguarding
network

* Complaints and compliments

* Formal and informal feedback
from people who experience

1



External Regulatory Reports

* Wales Audit Office Review of

Corporate  Safeguarding in

Monmouthshire (2015)

* Wales Audit Office Review of
Safeguarding Arrangements in
the Kerbcraft Scheme (2017)

Quality Assurance & Internal
Audit Reports

*Internal Audit Reports of
Safeguarding (2016)
Volunteering (2017) and
Children’s Service Placements
(2017)

* Institute of Public Care reports
into Children’s Social Services
Improvement Programme

Engagement and Stakeholder
Feedback

Monmouthshire’s safeguarding
services

*Stakeholder events into
Children’s Service

Improvement

Programmes

1). Good Governance

(2016 and 2017)

What does good look like? In Monmouthshire County Council we ensure that safeguarding for
children and adults at risk is understood as “everyone’s responsibility”. We work effectively with
regional structures including the South East Wales Safeguarding Adults Board and the South East
Wales Safeguarding Children’s Board. There is continuous focus — and aligned systems and activities —
to ensure safeguarding is being culturally embedded across the Council at a “hearts and minds” level.
Safeguarding is supported by policies and operating procedures which are embedded within all

settings and services.

Contributing Areas of
Activity and Questions
for Self — Assessment

Progress

Evidence

Is there a strategic steer
for the whole authority
Safeguarding Adults and
Children Policy?

Policy approved by
Council in July 2017

The policy, reflecting legislative changes, and reflecting
the statutory basis of safeguarding adults at risk and
children, was approved by Council in July 2017.

The policy is reviewed on a 3 year basis unless there is a
significant change required or changes to legislation.

Is there clarity of roles
and responsibility for
safeguarding?

Policy approved by
Council in July 2017

Role profiles for key
positions such as
Statutory Director
for Social Services
(Chief Officer for
Social Care &
Health), Lead Officer
for Children and
Young People (Chief
Officer for Children,

The policy approved by Council sets out the
responsibilities for key officers and Members. It also
articulates the roles of Designated Lead Managers, all
Managers for safeguarding within each directorate. The
policy also clarifies the relationship between the
Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit (policy, advice,
guidance, supporting self-evaluation) and internal audit
(independent review and specific investigations when
indicated).

Page 66




Contributing Areas of
Activity and Questions
for Self — Assessment

Progress

Evidence

Young People and
Education)

Portfolio
responsibilities for
Cabinet Member for
Social Care,
Safeguarding and
Health

Is there senior
management
representation on the
Whole Authority
Safeguarding Group
(WASG) to ensure clear
accountability lines for
safeguarding?

The role of WASG is
set out in the
Council’s
Safeguarding Policy

WASG is held monthly and is chaired by the Statutory
Director of Social Services.

Membership of WASG is at a senior level from each
directorate.

Each directorate representative is required to ensure
effective reporting lines with their Directorate
Management Team.

Are the risks associated
with safeguarding
considered at a corporate
and service level in
developing and agreeing
risk management plans
across the Council?

Safeguarding is

reflected in the

Corporate Risk
Management Policy

Safeguarding is a whole authority risk reflected in the
Corporate Risk Management Plan. Individual Service
Improvement Plans (SIPs) reflect

The last period has seen the roll out of the Safeguarding
Assessment Framework for Evaluation (SAFE) and
significant event analyses (see below) which mean
significant risks are now overseen at WASG.

Appendix 1 shows pictorially the relationship between
different levels of risk management for safeguarding in
Monmouthshire County Council.

Strengthening alignment of risk management systems is
a priority for improvement in the next reporting period
with a view to testing out effectiveness in the 2018/19
internal audit programme.

Are all directorates
monitoring and reporting
on safeguarding using the
SAFE process?

A revised SAFE which
reflects the
cornerstones within
the policy is being
implemented. The
deadline for
completion of SAFEs
across all  Council
services was 31% July
2017.

Within the timescale set, SAFE returns are as follows:
100% returns from schools and CYP

100% returns from Social Care and Heath

7/8 in Operations — 100% compliant by December 17
16 /17 Enterprise - 100% compliant by December 17

4 /5 Resources - 100% compliant by December 17

Page 67




Contributing Areas of | Progress Evidence
Activity and Questions
for Self — Assessment
The deadline for | Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit leads have

early years settings

been identified to support Directorate Lead’s in

submission is 31% | completion of SAFEs, analysis and action planning.
December 2017.
A programme of SAFE analysis reporting to WASG has
commenced-
e CYP update to WASG - September 2017
e Operations update to WASG - November 2017
e Social Care and Health — December 2017
e Enterprise —January 2017
e Resources — February 2017
A priority for improvement is to quality assure the
SAFEs and each directorate to ensure the action plans
identified within SAFEs are appropriately reflected in
Service Improvement Plans (SIPs).
Is there an effective A system of | 8 SBARs have been completed since the introduction of
system of significant significant event | the system
event analysis to ensure analysis using the
there is management and | SBAR (Situation | WASG will only close down its monitoring of an SBAR
mitigation of risks and Background Analysis | action plan once the loop has been closed and there is
learning and review Review) has been | assurance that risks have been managed in a
arising from breaches in introduced and is | sustainable way.

compliance with
safeguarding policy and
procedure?

being overseen by
WASG.

A priority for improvement is to ensure that the SBAR
system is understood and being used positively across
the Council.

Are safeguarding
implications set out in all
reports to Cabinet and
Council?

Continuous Progress

Safeguarding implications is a standard consideration in
all reports.

Is safeguarding reported
in Chief Officer annual
reports?

Continuous Progress

Safeguarding is a key element in the annual report of
the Chief Officer for Social Care and Health and the
Chief Officer for Children, Young People and Education.

Is Monmouthshire
effectively contributing to
regional partnerships to
promote robust
safeguarding practices
and drive forward
regional work streams,

Continuous Progress

Heads of Adult and Children’s Services, Housing Services
Manager and Safeguarding Unit members are full
members of all the South East Wales Adult and Children’s
Safeguarding Boards, subgroups, and business planning
groups. At a strategic and operational level there is also
strong engagement in Multi-Agency Sexual Exploitation
meeting (MASE) Child Sex Exploitation (CSE), Violence

4

Page 68




Contributing Areas of
Activity and Questions
for Self — Assessment

Progress

Evidence

particularly the South
East Wales Safeguarding
Children Board and the
Gwent Wide Adult
Safeguarding Board?

Against Women Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence
(VAWDASV) and Contest (PREVENT anti radicalisation).

The regional safeguarding structure is included as
Appendix 2.

Work undertaken by regional structures is shared and
devolved locally via the Local Safeguarding Network to
3 Sector and statutory partners. This is chaired by
Monmouthshire’s Safeguarding Service Manager

A priority for improvement is to strengthen the
governance between national, regional and local
safeguarding arrangements. Reporting of the regional
boards’ annual reports as part of this report is an
important step in strengthening these connections.

Case Study: Tourism Leisure Culture & Youth (TLCY) managers had different levels of focus, training,
recruitment and competency regarding safeguarding responsibilities. The SAFE process and
safeguarding policy was used positively to give more formal structure and ability of services to monitor
and evaluate progress of all areas of their business. This has resulted in review of governance,
structure and roles and responsibilities within the senior team of TLCY. A dedicated safeguarding lead
officer ensures there is a true ‘real-time’ overview of all service areas. This also enables central
monitoring and challenge with support provided when appropriate. TLCY have an action plan for
Safeguarding that is monitored regularly for progress indicators; discussed at Directorate
Management Team and team meetings and shared with the safeguarding team directorate lead.
Safeguarding frameworks are embedded across TLCY and will be firmly engaged in any future planned
service delivery.

The work has dovetailed into further work which is underway to consider options for delivering these
services as an Alternative Delivery Model (ADM). Safeguarding frameworks are now embedded and
will be monitored and reviewed as the ADM continues to be developed. Consideration of ability to
sustain safeguarding performance will be a key issue in taking a final decision on whether to progress
to an ADM.

TLYC provides a model for effective use of the SAFE self-evaluation to operationally and strategically
improve safeguarding practice and evaluate future options for service delivery.

Analysis

The last 6 months has seen good progress to ensure that safeguarding is a priority within the Council,
and is a fundamental feature in the governance arrangements for officers and Members. The new
safeguarding policy has been approved by Council and sets out clearly roles, responsibilities and
governance arrangements. The Whole Authority Safeguarding Group (WASG) has an important role,

5

Page 69



bringing together Chief Officers/ Heads of Service from each directorate to lead safeguarding activity
in the Council. To reflect the need to improve systems for identification, management and mitigation
of risk, a new system of SBARs (Situation Background Analysis Review) has been introduced to support
WASG in identifying risks, overseeing action plans arising from significant event analyses in respect of
compliance with the Council’s safeguarding policy. There is further work needed to really embed risk
management for safeguarding through strengthening the relationships between risk registers at every
level and priority improvements.

There are arrangements in place for self-evaluation in all directorates via the SAFE process. Self-
evaluation is triangulated in a number of ways including via an internal audit programme. Further
activity is needed to ensure that the SAFE process is quality assured and embedded operationally and
supports a programme of continual improvement within every directorate. This further work
recognises that in the reporting period the SAFE process, which was originally developed as a tool in
childcare settings, and related to safeguarding children, has now been rolled out across all parts of the
Council and covers adults at risk as well as children.

At a regional level, the South East Wales Safeguarding Children and Safeguarding Adults Boards fulfil
the statutory responsibilities set out in the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act. Monmouthshire
County Council is fully represented on both the Children and Adult Safeguarding Boards, and their
subgroups. It is acknowledged that more work is required to strengthen the links between national,
regional and local safeguarding activity and ensure the learning from through the regional boards and
sub-groups is embedded in practice and operations in Monmouthshire.

Priority Actions

e Strengthen and evidence links between the work of the national and regional Safeguarding
Boards and practice within Monmouthshire.

e  Strengthen alignment of safeguarding risk management systems at every level of the
organisation through:

o reviewing the quality of SAFE self- evaluation across all directorates to ensure that
resulting action plans address the critical safeguarding issues for each service area and
priority actions are reflected in SIPs;

o ensuring the SBAR system of significant event analysis is understood, being used
positively and risks highlighted are reflected in risk registers at directorate level as
well as whole authority and WASG

o testing out the effectiveness of arrangements in the 2018/19 internal audit work
programme.

Self-Assessed Score Against Measures:

Page 70



2). Safe Workforce:

What does good look like? We ensure that safe recruitment and human resource practices operate
effectively and embedded across the Council- for the whole workforce (on pay roll and volunteer). We
ensure that the workforce working with children and adults at risk are suitable for the role they are
employed to do and are focused on outcomes for people. The whole workforce is clear about their
duty to report concerns and to keep children and adults at risk safe.

Page 71



Contributing Areas
of Activity and
Questions for Self —
Assessment

Progress

Evidence

Is the workforce safely
recruited?

Safe recruitment
standards are set out in
the Council’s

Safeguarding Policy 2017.

The safe recruitment
standards are supported
by a safe recruitment
process on which
recruiting managers are
trained.

The Council’s
Volunteering Policy
approved by Cabinet in
November 2017 sets out
standards for safe
recruitment of the
volunteer workforce.

Leading volunteering
training clearly outlines
safe recruitment
requirements for
volunteers.

35 managers completed Safe Recruitment Training April -
October 17

DBS reports are circulated by Employee Services periodically
to Directorate DBS Champions. 100% compliance with safe
recruitment for employees is the standard that we work to.
Any breaches in compliance with safe recruitment processes
are reviewed as significant events and associated action
plans are overseen by the WASG.

Following the findings of the Wales Audit Office report into
the Kerbcraft Service, which highlighted serious deficits in
volunteer management in that service, and an internal audit
report which evidenced gaps in a number of services across
the Council, a full review of compliance with statutory
guidance (Keeping Learners Safe) and local policy has been
undertaken. 70 HR Business Partner school visits have been
undertaken to check safe recruitment compliance. These are
reporting 100% compliance. All information from schools
(via SAFEs, the Lead Officer for Safeguarding in Education
and HR business partner visits) will be triangulated by
internal audit reviews of individual schools.

Any gaps in information around the volunteer workforce are
managed via the SBAR system.

A volunteer management information system is being
implemented to provide a central repository for volunteer
information is being implemented.

In terms of level of compliance in priority areas:

- 70 HR Business Partner school visits have been
undertaken to check safe recruitment compliance.
These are reporting 100% compliance

- Every Leisure Centre has appropriately trained
Safeguarding Leads - 100% Compliance

e The Passenger Transport Unit reports 100%
workforce compliant with safeguarding induction
and 100% of those who require level 1 training are
up to date with that training.

e Safeguarding Training L1 100%.

Priorities for improvement in managing the volunteer
workforce are:

e Implementation of the Volunteer Policy

Page 72




e Delivery of the internal audit volunteering action
plan (there will be a re-audit in 2018/19)

e Implementation of the single volunteer
management system.

e Test understanding of the whole workforce of their
safeguarding responsibilities

Is the whole
workforce aware of
their duty to report
safeguarding concerns
and trained to the
appropriate level for
their post?

To meet the standards
within the 2017
Corporate Safeguarding
Policy, in-depth work has
been undertaken to
identify the level of
training required for all
staff roles to inform the
development of a
comprehensive training
plan which includes both
adults at risk and
children.

Safeguarding basic
awareness training has
been expanded to include
both adults and children
at risk and is part of all
corporate induction days.

A revised training plan has been developed to reflect the
Corporate Policy. This incorporates combined training for
adults at risk and children were indicated.

Recording of safeguarding training has been dependent on
individual service level record keeping

A central information system to record training status via
the Council’s My View system is being piloted with a full
implementation date of January 2018.

The roll out of basic awareness for the whole workforce
covering safeguarding adults at risk and children is underway
(previously awareness of adult safeguarding had been
through a leaflet; this is not sufficient to reflect the duty for
report in the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act).

34 trainers within the council are trained to deliver Level 1
Safeguarding within their service areas.

89 Designated Safeguarding Leads at Level 2 have been
trained in this reporting period.

Combined adult at risk and children’s safeguarding training
was undertaken for Council Members in July 2017. Further
training for Members is planned in December 2017.

100% of schools have up to date whole school Safeguarding
training in place

Governor specific safeguarding training is delivered each
term as necessary

Delivery of the training plan and full implementation of My
View as the information system are priorities for
improvement. Understanding across the workforce of their
responsibilities will also be tested out

Are we working to
national guidance in
managing addresses
professional
allegations and
concerns?

National and Regional
Policy is followed in
managing Professional
Concerns

The Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit has managed
the following professional allegations between April and
October 2017:
e 20 new referrals for Professional Strategy Meeting
(PSM).
e 6 of these are ongoing

Page 73




e 18 cases were concluded in this period with 2 cases
having more than one conclusion.

e 13 were substantiated

e 5 unsubstantiated

e 3 were unfounded

33 meetings were held in total

A priority for improvement is the full alignment of the
management of professional concerns for children and
adults at risk through the Safeguarding and Quality
Assurance Unit.

Is there a Whistle
Blowing Policy in
Monmouthshire which
is understood?

A revised Monmouthshire
County Council
Whistleblowing Policy
was approved by Cabinet
June 2017

Reference to the

There have been 3 incidents reported under the “Whistle
Blowing” Policy during the reporting period.

A priority for improvement is to provide further guidance to
senior managers on the implementation of the
whistleblowing policy and to test awareness across the
wider workforce.

Whistleblowing Policy is
also included in the
Council’s Corporate
Safeguarding Policy, and
is included in
Safeguarding training.

Case Study — This is a model case study which illustrates the way in which professional allegations are
managed. It highlights the multi-agency nature of management of allegations, the role of the Authority
in safeguarding children who are placed in Monmouthshire from other areas, and the roles and
responsibilities of different partners. Duty of care to all concerned and timely conclusions in light of
all relevant information is paramount.

In this case, concerns are raised by a child’s social worker from an English Authority who is living in a
residential care home in Monmouthshire. The concern is of a potential physical assault on the child by
a member of staff. In line with the All Wales Child Protection Procedures a Professional Strategy
Meeting is convened in Monmouthshire as the place the alleged assault took place, also Gwent Police
had the jurisdiction to undertake any potential criminal investigation.

Discussion takes place with the child’s social worker, the residential home, employee services and any
relevant partner agency’s to ensure the child’s welfare had been secured and any medical assistance
had been given. Further to this the worker is advised by their employer that a concern has been raised
and a risk assessment undertaken to determine whether they should be placed on suspension without
prejudice by their employer. A strategy discussion takes place between Monmouthshire Children’s
Services and the police to share information, to agree the need for a child protection investigation and
to arrange a professional strategy meeting.

10

Page 74




In attendance at the professional strategy meeting are all relevant partners including: employing
agency, the police, Monmouthshire social worker (who is part of the Child Protection Investigation
Team), and the social worker from the English authority who had placed the child in Monmouthshire.
All relevant information is shared in the meeting both around the child and the member of staff. The
meeting’s remit is to ensure the welfare of the child and the welfare of the employee had been
appropriately addressed.

The meeting discusses the information shared and arrives at a conclusion against the original
allegation. It could have been either Substantiated, Unsubstantiated, Unfounded, Demonstrably
False, or Malicious. If the meeting agrees that further information is required to enable a conclusion
to be reached, the meeting will be reconvened at an appropriate time.

An Action Plan is recorded and dependant on outcome this could involve notification to Disclosure
and Barring Service, Care and Social Services Inspectorate for Wales (CSSIW) or any other regulatory
body, referring back to the employer to undertake and internal investigation or disciplinary process,
training needs, or other appropriate action. The meeting also agrees how the child and the employee
are to be informed of the outcome.

Analysis

Safe recruitment of the whole workforce is a fundamental test of safeguarding in a local authority.
Regular reporting over a number of years shows a very high level of compliance with safe recruitment
of the employed workforce and the small number of cases where the safe recruitment process has
not been followed an analysis using the SBAR process has been undertaken to ensure risks are
immediately managed and lessons learned. Safe recruitment, and effective management, of the
volunteer workforce has been a major focus in the last reporting period supported by the leading
volunteer training and extensive involvement of volunteers and managers in the development of the
Volunteering Policy approved by Cabinet in November 2014. Following the Wales Audit Office report
into the Kerbcraft scheme, and an internal audit report which highlighted deficiencies in a number of
parts of the Council a full review of compliance of volunteers has taken place with to achieve 100%
compliance with all aspects of the standards for a safe workforce in advance of the implementation
of the central volunteer information management system.

Strengthening policy, systems and process in the safety of the workforce has been a major focus during
the last reporting period. There are considerable strengths in the levels of training within schools and
child care settings which were the standards set within the previous safeguarding policy. The training
standards set in the July 2016 Corporate Safeguarding Policy cover the whole Council workforce duty
to report and safeguard children and adults at risk in line with the Social Services and Wellbeing
(Wales) Act. This means that significant training needs have been identified across the whole
authority. Basic awareness training covering adults and children is now available and each area of the
Council has undertaken an in-depth review, team by team, to understand training needs and gaps.
Plans are in place to co-ordinate training resources to ensure training needs are being met. Digital
whole authority systems are also being implemented to enable reporting on training compliance
across the paid and volunteer workforce. Plans to test out whole workforce understanding of their
responsibilities are in place. Other improvements have been made, including the development of
trainer’s forum. Training will remain a significant priority for the next period.

There is a well-established process for managing professional allegations within Children’s Services.
We are working in context of regional and national developments to ensure there is alignment across
children and adults in respect the management of professional allegations.

11

Page 75



Priority Actions

e Implementation of safeguarding training plan to address the gaps in safeguarding training for
children and adults at risk

e Full implementation of volunteering policy

e Implementation of information systems to support accurate monitoring of whole workforce

training status

e Test out understanding of duty to report across the workforce
e Alignment of professional allegations processes to align across adult and children’s services.

Self-Assessed Score Against Measures: | 3

3). Preventative Approach:

What does good look like - We are well-informed about the social issues that compromise the safety
and welfare of children and adults at risk and /or potentially expose them to harm through abuse and
neglect. We are working to demonstrate how we are responding to these issues and reducing risks
through early intervention and preventative approaches.

Contributing Areas of
Activity and Questions
for Self — Assessment

Progress

Evidence

Do our workforce
understand emerging
practice issues?

Training plans are in place to
ensure the right levels of
training in VAWDASYV and
PREVENT

Raising awareness of the risks
of Child Sexual Exploitation
(CSE) is an area that has been
prioritised in 2017/18.

23 staff received PREVENT training during this
period. A Further 4 days of PREVENT training is
scheduled for staff during 2017.

PREVENT awareness raising has been delivered in
all Monmouthshire Schools

VAWDASYV — Ask and Act Pilot in Monmouthshire
completed with Adult Social Services. 2 in-house
trainers completed training Sept 17. Plans in
place to improve level of training across the
workforce.

Regional Safeguarding Network events held
quarterly for statutory, 3" sector, partnership
staff and volunteers.

Development and roll out via schools/youth
services of “Sexting isn’t Sexy” training and CSE
awareness raising is ongoing.

Feedback from young people, trainers and school
staff has been overwhelmingly positive in

Page 76

12




Contributing Areas of
Activity and Questions
for Self — Assessment

Progress

Evidence

The Safeguarding Unit have
actively participated in the
national review of CSE Policy
and Procedure.

CSE multi agency information
and Intelligence sharing
meetings (vice chaired by
Monmouthshire Child
Protection Co-ordinator) have
identified locations and
potential perpetrators, as well
as identifying young people
potentially at risk of CSE and
risk-taking behaviour.

supporting open discussion in regard to difficult
subjects and allowing young people to discuss
concerns with adults in authority.

There has been an increase in numbers of
children identified as at risk of CSE with planned
support from 6 in 2016 to 16 in October 2017.

Does Monmouthshire
demonstrate clear and
creative working together
with other agencies to
intervene early?

Integrated and creative
working between public
protection and safeguarding
is embedded and a real
strength in preventing abuse
and harm.

Partnership working is well
developed between key
partners through community
well-being networks which
align resources to safeguard
and prevent the need for
statutory interventions.

Child Protection Co-ordinator attends monthly
meetings with licencing to discuss arising
regulation and community safeguarding issues.

Information from CSE strategy meetings, and
Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) meetings have
resulted in the police, licencing and waste
management services successfully disrupting sites
of potential CSE and ASB across the authority.

Monmouthshire licensing team are undertaking
training with police for Operation Makesafe
(identification of CSE within hospitality) with
Public Houses, Clubs and Licenced Taxis.

The Collaborative “Place Based Working”
approach is integrating public, voluntary third
sectors and communities by the development of
integrated “Place based wellbeing teams”. An
Information Sharing Protocol for Place Based
Well-Being Support in Monmouthshire -
accredited by Wales Accord for the Sharing of
Personal Information (WASPI). An approach to
measuring progress called ‘most significant
change’ has been developed which enables
partners to collectively identify the interventions
which have prevented escalation of need for
protection.

Page 77

13




Contributing Areas of
Activity and Questions
for Self — Assessment

Progress

Evidence

Does the Information
Advice and Assistance
(IAA) approach at the
front door of adult and
children’s social services
ensure that families and
concerned citizens can
access information and
advice easily and
effectively?

Continuous progress

The Information/ Advice and Assistance (IAA)
facility at the front door of Children’s and Adults
(FISH) services are now in place with processes
monitored and reviewed.

745 Adults received IAA since April 2017

630 Children/families received IAA 2017

Is there a Multi-Agency
Early Support and Family
Support Referral Pathway
to support vulnerable
families?

A first review of early
intervention and prevention
services in Children’s Services
in 2016 has resulted in a new
service offer recommended to
Cabinet in December 2017.

Coordinated working is improving to realign early
support for families outside statutory
intervention and the development of an Early
Support Referral Pathway. This is a response to
quality assurance around children on the Child
Protection (CP) register which evidences that
there in some cases earlier intervention may
have negated the need for registration by
working with the family in a different way.

Implementation of the realigned early support
offer is a priority for improvement in the next
period.

Are we analysing and
responding to risk and
vulnerability in
communities?

There has been a significant
focus on individual and
community well-being over a
number of years. The focus on
locality and place based
approaches which develop
resilience in individuals,
families and communities.

Development of the Community Wellbeing Hubs
at Mardy Park, Monnow Vale, and Caldicot
Library and the support of people to access
community based support opportunities

Families’ First services provide a range of
preventative interventions for children and
families.

Community Wellbeing Development Officers
based in the North and the South of the County
who help identify gaps in community provision,
support the development of community based
groups, and assist in the location of funding
streams.

The Community Development and Partnership
Team will be working across the County using the
asset based community development
methodology to understand the strengths of
communities and work with communities and
partners to address those strengths.

Page 78

14




Case Study — A health visitor spoke with a mother of three children who was struggling to manage the
behaviour of her children and home conditions. She was aware that her concerns related to ability to
parent three lively children with limited financial resources and few friendship and family networks.
The family did not meet the threshold of statutory intervention. She was also aware that without
support the needs could escalate and in time result in a referral to children’s social services. With the
consent of the mother she made a referral to Acorns nursery provision for the Incredible Years
Parenting support programme and for a volunteer support worker to address home conditions and
mother’s social isolation through linking her with other mothers and free/low cost opportunities for
her children to participate in football and athletics clubs. Through the Housing Gateway she was able
to access financial advice to maximise her income and address repair issues with her landlord. The
mother agreed to include the older children’s school in this support network. Soon natural friendships
were developing and the volunteer could reduce her contact. The Health Visitor remains involved in
the health needs of the youngest child. This case study shows how creative multi agency working at
an early stage can positively work with vulnerable families preventatively.

Analysis — Understanding the issues which cumulatively mean people are at risk of requiring
protection is at the heart of a preventative approach to safeguarding. The preventative agenda is
developing within community well-being hubs, and local groups and communities are supported to
create, maintain and sustain activities where needs are identified within the community itself. The
WASG challenges all parts of the Council to consider how they contribute to preventative activities. In
some areas this is well developed — the examples in public protection cited above are clear examples
of how safeguarding is at the heart of the work that is undertaken. The WASG provides a more joined
up approach to some of the targeted work taking place within the Council around areas such as CSE,
development of dementia friendly communities and PREVENT.

As a priority action, the WASG is considering how it can better develop effective ways of measuring
and evaluating the impact of preventative activity to ensure that activity leads to better safeguards
being in place for both children and adults at risk, and makes the best use of limited council resources
to target vulnerability.

Priority Actions

e Implement fully the early support and referral pathway

e Continue to build on the strengths of place based working by increasing the connections and
partners who are working together to support individual and community well-being.

e Develop evaluative measures that enable better reporting of the impact of preventative
work.

Self-Assessed Score Against Measures:

4). Robust Protection:

What does good look like - We operate best practice in protecting children and adults at risk and
ensure that:

15

Page 79



e All concerns about possible abuse or neglect are recognised and responded to appropriately;
e  Multi-agency plans and interventions reduce risks and needs for children and vulnerable
adults including those at risk of significant harm.

Contributing Areas of
Activity and Questions
for Self — Assessment

Progress

Evidence

Are referrals or concerns
assessed and initial
decisions taken within 24
hours of referral to
children’s social
services?

Continuous Progress

100% of referrals within Children Services meet
this standard

Are Adult Protection
enquires undertaken in a
compliant and safe
timescale?

Continuous Progress

80.0% of Adult Protection enquires were
completed within 7 days in the first 2 quarters of
2017/18. This compares with an all Wales average
of 80.1% in 2016/17. This is a dip in performance
compared with 2016/17 (88.7%) and will be
addressed by the service in the last 2 quarters of
the 2017/18year.

Are assessments in
children’s services
completed within
statutory timescales (42
days)?

This is a priority for
improvement which is being
addressed within the
children’s services
improvement plan.

83.3% of assessments in children’s services were
completed within statutory timescales. This
compares with 74.4% in 2017/18 but is still not
meeting the local target 90%. Further intensive
work is underway from both a process and a
qualitative perspective to drive actions to deliver
sustained improvement in assessment timescales.

Is there is a Quality
Assurance Framework in
place which practice
improvement?

Social Care and Health
Quality Performance
Framework is in place.
Service managers report into
a DMT level group on the
quality assurance undertaken
in their service area.

A range of mechanisms exist to drive
improvement through quality assurance
processes. These include:

e Managers monitor through live
dashboards in Children’s Services;

e Inchildren services 1 in 10 case records
are randomly selected to assure decision
making. If there are any concerns the
ratio can be increased and reviewed.

e  Weekly Performance Management
Oversight Group in Children’s Services
(PMOG)

e Children’s Services Leadership Team
(CSLT)

e Senior Management Quality
Improvement Program (QUIP)

e Adult Social Services practice
improvement meeting (Oliver)

There have been 2 independent reviews of the
quality of practice in children’s services in the last
2 years by the Institute of Public Care. The second

Page 80

16




Contributing Areas of
Activity and Questions
for Self — Assessment

Progress

Evidence

review (which considered 50 cases files) identified
clear progress in the quality of practice and
decision making with further areas for
improvement in really developing the
preventative offer - “Overall positive progress and
improvements in both process and practice at
various stages of the care and support pathway”
(IPC July 2017).

This accords with service level quality assurance
work undertaken by the Child Protection
Coordinator.

CSSIW considered adult safeguarding in their
2016/17 site visits to Monmouthshire. They
noted the need for We would encourage planned
work to further develop quality assurance and
refining thresholds.

A priority for improvement for the Safeguarding
and Quality Assurance Unit is to develop
appropriate quality assurance mechanisms for all
aspects of safeguarding.

Is an analysis of trends,
exceptions, pressures
and practice standards
undertaken in protective
services?

The Children’s Services
Improvement Programme is
driven by analysis of the data
and trends which inform the
operational and strategic
improvement actions.

In adult services more work is
needed More work is
required in data analysis to
identify trends and emerging
themes around areas of
concern (CSSIW, June 2017).

The Number of Looked After Children (147) and
number of children on the CP register have
continued to rise in the first 2 quarters on
2017/18. The figures for 2016/17 were 91 and
133. The rate of CP registrations in
Monmouthshire is higher than the all Wales rate.

The Child Protection Co-ordinator and
Independent Reviewing Officer submit a 6
monthly overview report on compliance, practice,
and identifying trends and pressures on services.
This identifies that thresholds are being applied
appropriately but that there is an opportunity to
support with more preventative services to
reduce the need for registration in some cases.

A revised early intervention and prevention
service offer will be presented to Cabinet for
approval in December 2017 and a priority for
improvement is implementation of this new
model. A related priority is the implementation of
a workforce plan for children’s services which
reflects the current levels of CP registrations and

Page 81

17




Contributing Areas of
Activity and Questions
for Self — Assessment

Progress

Evidence

LAC numbers which will be presented to Cabinet
at the same time.

A further priority for improvement is to analyse
data better in adult protection to drive
improvement.

Is Care Planning
compliant with all-Wales
procedures and does it
reflect clear multi-agency
working to manage and
reduce risk?

Adult and child protection
practitioners work to all-
Wales guidance and are
participating actively in the
reviews of national guidance.

Children’s services risk
assessment framework was
approved by the Children’s
Services Leadership Team in
September 2017.

Children’s Services
commenced tracking Child
Protection Conference
attendance of professionals
November in 2017.

Practitioners in adult and
children’s services work with
multi-agency partners in
domestic abuse.

CSSIW noted ‘good interagency practice’ in
adult services (June 2017).

Quality assurance and independent reviews
test out compliance with All Wales Children’s
Services.

Quality assurance work in the next reporting
period with focus on risk assessments in
children’s services.

Child Protection Coordinator attends fortnightly
Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference
(MARAC) meetings to consider high risk Domestic
Abuse cases, consider plans to minimise
immediate risk and make referrals where
appropriate

April - October 22 women, and 19 children in
Monmouthshire were the subject of Multi Agency
Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) risk
reduction plans.

Case Study - Case Study — This is a model case study which highlights multi-agency work in the area
of domestic abuse. A Duty to Report form is received by adult safeguarding with regard to a woman
who has been subject to a serious domestic assault. Initial enquiries indicated that the woman is not

known to adult services, does not have children, and does not have a specific care and support need.
It is clear, however, from the information received that the woman has been a victim of domestic
abuse in the past and that the risks to her seem significant. Police make a referral for a MARAC. An
adult safeguarding co-ordinator attends the MARAC meeting with the police, representatives from
Women'’s Aid, housing, tenancy support and health. The meeting determines the risks posed to the
woman and a multi-agency plan is agreed which addresses risks identified by a number of possible
options which include: support from the police, marking the property for urgent response; home

Page 82

18




security and alarms where necessary, community policing aware of perpetrator, independent
domestic violence advocate support, refuge accommodation, housing and tenancy support, health
assessment support, and referral to other support agencies as appropriate is made available. The
information from is stored on the MARAC SharePoint system so that tracking can take place,
information can be analysed as to trends and numbers of cases, and outcomes checked.

Analysis

Working to All-Wales protection procedures is embedded in the work of adult and child protection
practitioners. The Children’s Services Improvement Programme has created a drive to improve the
quality child protection practice, application processes and procedures, and ensure staff understand
the requirements and expectations of their role and task. Critical to this has been recruitment of a
permanent workforce. Safe practice is now supported by a clear infrastructure of risk management
frameworks, clear procedures, models and tools.

The creation and development of the Adult and Children’s Safeguarding Unit presents opportunities
to consider how best to identify opportunities for “joined up” work and joint implementation of the
revised All Wales guidance for children and adults at risk. Effective quality assurance is a prerequisite
in ensuring that the quality of safeguarding practice is understood and to drive improvement actions.
This is better developed in children’s than adult services, but again the development of the joint unit
provides the basis for aligning practice and systems.

Priority Actions:

e Children and adult Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit to develop an operating model
which builds on strengths in both parts of the service

e Continue to improve outcomes in children’s services through the children’s services
improvement programme, including improving systems, processes and practice which
contribute to timescales for completion of assessments.

e Implementation, and quality assurance of, risk framework in children’s services.

e Further develop quality assurance mechanisms, and data analysis, in adult protection, to
support improvement.

Self-Assessed Score Against Measures:

5). Safe Services — delivered through commissioning arrangements, grants, partnerships
and volunteering

What does good look like - We use our influence to ensure that services operating in
Monmouthshire, both commissioned and those outside the direct control of the Council, do so in
ways which promote the welfare and safety of children and adults at risk.

19

Page 83



Contributing Areas of
Activity and Questions for
Self — Assessment

Progress

Evidence

Do we ensure that
commissioned services meet
Monmouthshire’s safeguarding
services standards as laid down
in the Corporate Safeguarding
Policy?

MCC Accreditation Process
for commissioned social care
services is the responsibility
of embedded in Social Care
and Health Commissioning
Team. The service manager
had responsibility for adult
and children’s services from
January 2017 and has been
developing the operating
model to ensure it covers all
social care services.

An Internal Audit report
(issued 31.10.17) highlighted
need for consistent
adherence to an accreditation
programme and process for
children’s service placements.
An action plan s in place to
address the issues identified
in the report,

The majority of children’s
independent foster agency
(IFA) and residential
placements are identified via
the Children’s Commissioning
Consortium Cymru
Framework (the 4Cs) - The

The Corporate Safeguarding
Policy 2017 clarifies the
position regarding
commissioned services
meeting Monmouthshire’s
safeguarding standards.

Service Review Annual Visits
programme undertaken by
monitoring officers ensures
compliance to policy. A new
contracts officer has been in
place since August 2017 and
has developed a programme to
cover all providers

Formal contract monitoring
visits in the reporting period:
Adult’s 30

Children 2

No. Escalating Concerns -
initiated/closed 0

No. Provider Performance
Issues (Stage 3) 0

No. Provider Performance
Issues (Stage 2) 5

No of Provider issues ongoing
(Stage 2) 2

Children’s placements and
welfare are mandatorily
reviewed by social workers in
line with national and regional
policy. Between April —
October 2017 206 reviews
were held in this period. 100%
held within statutory
timescale.

Page 84

20



Contributing Areas of
Activity and Questions for
Self — Assessment

Progress

Evidence

providers are subject to a
stringent framework of
checks.

Contracts tendered by other
Directorates for example CYP
/schools and PTU for services
for children and adults at risk
appropriately reflect
safeguarding requirements.

Extract from Cleaning Contract
Awarded by MCC School.

Do we ensure that parts of the
Council have robust
arrangements in place for
services they commission/
licence?

There are well developed
arrangements in public
protection:

- safeguarding training is a
requirement for licenced taxi
/hackney and private hire.

- Voluntary safeguarding
training offered to alcohol/
entertainment and late night
refreshment licensees.

Monmouthshire Letting and
Hiring process requires
evidence of the hirer’s
Safeguarding processes as
mandatory prior to letting
council property. This is set out
in the Taxi and Private Hire
Policy & Conditions 2016.
During the reporting period we
saw:
- 100% compliance new
licences
- 100% previous licences
- 100% renewed licence

Do we ensure the safe
recruitment, training, and
management of volunteers in
commissioned services?

The Corporate Safeguarding
Policy and Volunteering Policy
set out clear guidelines and
expectations for volunteers in
commissioned services. This is
reflected in individual service
contracts.

Corporate Safeguarding Policy

Volunteering Policy

Case Study —

The terms and conditions of the Home to School Transport Contract (adopted 2014), there had been
no specific/statutory requirement for staff to undertake Safeguarding (L1) training. However, as Local
Authority commitments to safeguarding have progressed significantly over the years, the Passenger

Transport Unit (PTU) have referred to the paragraph below in order to provide (or enforce as
required) the need for safeguarding training.

4.3.37

The Supplier shall ensure all staff are trained as appropriate to provide the standards of
service required. In addition contractor’s staff may be required to attend any Council
provided training as and where appropriate. If such a request is made by the Council, the
Contractor must make available the relevant staff member(s).

Page 85

21



The PTU have since revised the terms and conditions in readiness for the contract retender (with
effect from September2018), now reflecting the requirement for staff to undertake Safeguarding
(L1) training.

The Supplier shall ensure all staff are trained as appropriate to provide the standards of
service required and staff must have undertaken a minimum level 1 in safeguarding
course provided by the Council (the costs of which may be chargeable). In addition
contractors staff may be required to attend any Council provided training as and where
appropriate. If such a request is made by the Council, the Contractor must make available
the relevant staff member(s).

6.13

The PTU (Operations) team are now suitably trained for the delivery of Safeguarding (L1) in order to
assist with any training needs of providers.

Analysis

This is the first time information regarding commissioned services has been reported and there is an
emphasis on social services commissioning in this report. Social care commissioning capacity in
Monmouthshire had for many years been focussed on adult commissioning. The Social Care and
Health Commissioning Team is developing its operating model to provide a comprehensive approach
for all social care commissioning for children and adults. This is the first time information regarding
commissioned services has been reported and there is an emphasis on social services commissioning
in this report. Social care commissioning capacity in Monmouthshire had for many years been
focussed on adult commissioning. The Social Care and Health Commissioning Team is developing its
operating model to provide a comprehensive approach for all social care commissioning for children
and adults. A Commissioning Lead is in place and has developed productive relationships with
commissioned providers have been addressed alongside the social worker review of placements which
have met all statutory timescales. A robust, risk-based, contract management and quality assurance
process across all providers from January 2018.

Initial review of the evidence from schools, and other parts of the Council that contract for services
for children/ adults at risk indicate there are robust arrangements in place (individual school contracts,
transport, leisure services). However, the evaluative score recognises the need for an in-depth
understanding of the baseline position across the whole of the Council in respect of commissioning. It
has been agreed that internal audit will undertake work in this area during their 2017/18 audit
programme. A robust and proportionate contract management and quality assurance process across
all providers from January 2018.

Initial review of the evidence from schools, and other parts of the Council that contract for services
for children/ adults at risk indicate there are robust arrangements in place (individual school contracts,
transport, leisure services). However, the evaluative score recognises the need for an in-depth
understanding of the baseline position across the whole of the Council in respect of commissioning. It
has been agreed that internal audit will undertake work in this area during their 2017/18 audit
programme.

Priority Actions

22

Page 86



e Internal audit to undertake review to baseline position across the authority in terms of
commissioning and partnership

e Social Care and Health Commissioning Service to implement operating model covering
adult and children’s services

¢ Implement internal audit action plans for children’s services placements.

Self-Assessed Score Against Measures:

Page 87



gg abed

Regional Strategic Safeguarding Structure

Engagement & Protocol & Learning & Adult Quality Children

Communication Procedures Development Assurance Quality
Assurance

(HH) (DC - Chair) (DC) (R) -

Case Review
Panels

Business
Planning Group

(JR, DC)

Case Review
Group (JR)

Torfaen

glaenau Gwent LY Monmouthshire Newport

Safeguarding Safeguarding Safeguarding Safeguarding

Network Network Safeguarding Network Network

Network

DC (Chair)
24



Agenda Iltem 7a

" monmouthshire
WO sir fynwy
SUBJECT: Update of the Constitution
MEETING: Council
DATE: 14t December 2017
DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All

1. PURPOSE:
To consider and adopt the proposed changes to the council’s constitution.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:
To adopt the attached document as the council’s constitution.

3. KEY ISSUES:

Under the Local Government Act 2000 a council must prepare and keep up to date a constitution
which contains such information as the Secretary of State may direct, the council’s standing
orders for the time being, the members’ code of conduct, and such other information as the
authority consider appropriate.

The council’s constitution was last updated in September 2014. In the intervening 3 years the
council has made a number of decisions that affect the constitution, along with changes in the
senior management structure of the council and legislative changes that need to be reflected in
the constitution. The main changes include:-

(a) — The formation of a fifth select committee to scrutinise the work of the Public Services Board
— page B17,

(b) — The Scheme of Delegation for decision making by the Planning Department — page C11,
(c) — The ability of the council to allow remote attendance by members at meetings — page D5
and D35,

(d) — The amended code of conduct for members — E1

(e) — A new Whistleblowing policy — E24

(f) — An updated Schedule of members’ remuneration — F1

The draft constitution is appended to the report with the proposed amendments highlighted.

4, REASONS: Every council operating under the Local Government Act 2000 must have a
written constitution. Periodically the council should update its constitution to reflect decisions that
have been made by the council that affect the constitution, any statutory changes and any

changes to the structure of the council.

S. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: None

Page 89



6. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS:

No significant equality impacts have been identified.

7. SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING IMPLICATIONS: NONE
8. CONSULTEES: Senior Leadership Team

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS: None

10. AUTHOR: Robert Tranter, Monitoring Officer

11. CONTACT DETAILS:

Tel: 01633 644064
E-mail: roberttranter@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Page 90



Monmouthshire County Council

Constitution

November 2017

As agreed by the County Council at its meeting on ......ccccevvveceeceve e,

Page 91



CONTENTS PAGE
A
Part 1 — Introduction (A) 1-2
Part 2 — Articles of the Constitution (B) B
Article 1 — The Constitution 1-5
Article 2 — Members of the Council 6-8
Article 3 — Citizens and the Council 9-11
Article 4 — The Full Council 12-14
Article 5 — Chairing the Council 15
Article 6 — Select Committees 16-21
Article 7 — The Executive 22-23
Article 8 — Regulatory Committees 24
Article 9 — The Standards Committee 25-27
Article 10 — Area Committees and Forums 28
Article 11 — Joint Arrangements 29-30
Article 12 — Officers 31-36
Article 13 — Decision Making 37-38
Article 14 — Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters 39
Article 15 — Review and Revision of the Constitution 40-41
Article 16 — Suspension, Interpretation and Publication 42
Schedule 1 — Description of Executive Arrangements 43
Part 3 — Responsibility for Functions (C) C
Responsibility for Functions Scheme of Delegation and 1
Appointment (Officers)
Table 1: Responsibility for local Choice Functions 1-5
Table 2: Responsibility for Council Functions 6-8
Table 3: Responsibility for Executive Functions 9
Table 4: Scheme of Delegation to & Appointment of Officers 10-63
Part 4 — Rules of Procedure (D) D
Council Procedure Rules (Standing Orders) 1-19
Access to Information Procedure Rules 20-28
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 29-32
Executive Procedure Rules 33-36
Select Procedure Rules 37-52
Financial Procedure Rules 53-126
Contracts Procedures Rules 127 -162
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 163-170
Part 5 — Codes and Protocols (E) E
Members’ Code of Conduct 1-12
Officers’ Code of Conduct 13-34
Scrutiny and Executive Protocol 35-43
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations & Consultative Charter | 44 _ 53
Protocol for Self-Regulation of Member Conduct 54-57
Part 6 — Schedule of Members’ Remuneration (F) F
1-12
Part 7 — Management Structure (G) G
1

Page 92




Page 93



PART 1 - INTRODUCTION (A)

PURPOSE AND CONTENT OF THE CONSTITUTION

The Constitution is at the heart of the Council’s business and describes the
various bodies that make up the Council, their functions, Membership and
procedural rules. It is divided between articles and rules of procedure and
associated material. Articles are intended to set the overall framework and
in general will not be subject to frequent change. They are about what is
to be done and by whom. Procedure rules, codes of conduct and the other
material located after the articles are broadly about how the articles will
be put into effect. They may be subject to more frequent change,

Article 3 (Citizens and the Council) provides information for members of
the public on how you can get information about the Council, and how you
can get involved. We hope that this will help people who have an interest
in the Council’s work, or a particular matter it is dealing with, understand
where they can get more information, and how they can contribute to
Council activities.

You can get a better understanding of what each of the Council’s bodies
do in Articles 4 to 12 of this Constitution, including Full Council, Cabinet,
Select Committees, Standards Committee and Regulatory Committees.
Article 12 provides information on the management and Officer structures
of the Council. Some Officers have a specific duty to ensure that the
Council operates within the law and uses resources wisely. Responsibility
for functions at Part 3 says which Council bodies, and which Officers, have
authority to make which decisions.

The procedural rules that apply to the different Council bodies are
contained in Part 4 in the sections relating to those bodies, e.g. Full Council
(Standing Orders), the Cabinet (Executive Procedure Rules) and Overview
and Scrutiny (Select Committee Procedure Rules). You may find these
useful if you want to attend a meeting, particularly if you want to be able
to ask questions, have a matter discussed, or put your point of view.

Part 5 has the Codes of Conduct and Protocols which Officers and
Members have agreed to comply with. They set the standards of
behaviour.

The Contents page at the beginning of this Constitution provides a guide
on what is in the Constitution and where you can find it.

Page 94



HOW THE COUNCIL OPERATES

The Council is comprised of 43 Councillors elected every five years except
as otherwise directed by the Welsh Government. Each Councillor is
democratically accountable to the residents of their electoral division as
well as all of those who live in Monmouthshire. The overriding duty of
Councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their
constituents, including those that did not vote for them.

All Councillors have agreed to follow a Code of Conduct, to ensure high
standards in the way they undertake their duties. The Standards
Committee is responsible for training and advising on the Code of Conduct.

All Councillors meet together regularly as the Council. Meetings of the
Council are normally open to the public. Here Councillors decide the
Council’s overall Policy Framework and set the budget each year. The
Council appoints the Leader of the Council annually. The Leader then
decides the size and Membership of the Cabinet i.e. the role of individual
Members of the Cabinet and arrangements for the exercise and delegation
of Executive Functions. The Cabinet is appointed to carry out all of the
Council’s functions which are not the responsibility of any other part of the
Council, whether by Law or under this Constitution, together with making
decisions within the Budget and Policy Framework set by the Council.

If you need any further help please do not hesitate to contact us.

Monitoring Officer, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk. NP15 1GA.
01633644064

Whilst the Constitution is very long we hope that you will find it easy to
use. We have spent a lot of time trying to make it as easy to follow as is
possible with such a long and complex legal document.

Page 95



PART 2 — ARTICLES (B)

Article 1 — The Constitution
PURPOSE, DEFINITION INTERPRETATION AND AMENDMENT OF THE

CONSTITUTION

1.01 Purpose of the Constitution

The purpose of the Constitution is to:

- enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the Community in
partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations;

- support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local
authority decision making;

- help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively;

- enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively;

- create a powerful and effective means of holding decision makers

to public account;

- ensure that no one will scrutinise a decision in which they are

directly involved;

- ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly
identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons for

decisions; and

- provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the

community.

1.02 Definitions in the Constitution

This Constitution and all

its appendices is the Constitution of

Monmouthshire County Council.

Within the Constitution the following words and phrases have the meaning
set out below unless the context specifically or otherwise requires:

Budget

Chief Officer

the overall revenue and capital budget
approved by Full Council (Article 4);

any Officer (other than a person whose
duties are solely secretarial or
administrative or whose duties are
otherwise in the nature of support
services):

who reports directly to the Head of Paid
Service in respect of all or most of his/her
duties; or

Page 96



Councillor

Deputy Chief
Officer

Executive

Executive Decision

Executive Function

Forward Work
Programme

for whom the Head of Paid Service is
directly responsible;

a person elected to the Council to
represent an area (called an electoral
division) within Monmouthshire County
Council;

any Officer (other than a person whose
duties are solely secretarial or
administrative or whose duties are
otherwise in the nature of support services)
who reports directly to a Chief Officer in
respect of all or most of his/her duties;

when exercising Executive Functions; the
Cabinet or a Member or Members of the
Cabinet

any decision taken by the Cabinet to
exercise or refrain from exercising an
Executive Function. It also includes
decisions made by persons or Member
bodies to whom the Cabinet has delegated
Executive Functions to exercise or refrain
exercising those functions;

(a) Executive Functions are defined by the
Local Government Act 2000, subsidiary
legislation and associated guidance. Any
function that is not exercisable only by Full
Council or delegated to another Member
body is an Executive Function.

(b) Contractual matters, the acquisition and
disposal of land and financial support to
organisations and individuals are also
Executive Functions.

It should be noted that Regulatory
functions such as planning licensing and
building control, are not Executive
Functions;

The Forward Work Programme is a
document which lists all of the decisions
that the Council and the Cabinet intend to
take and when those matters will be

Page 97



Full Council

Head of Democracy

Head of Paid
Service

Leadership Team

Local Government
(Wales) Measure
2011

Member

Member Body

discussed. This does not prevent urgent or
unforeseen matters being considered;

the body where all Councillors act to
exercise functions of the Council;

an Officer who must be appointed by law to
carry out certain functions. See Article 12
for a description of those functions. The
Officer will usually have other duties and a
different job title. See Article 12 for which
Officer is the Head of Democracy;

an Officer who must be appointed by law to
carry out certain functions. See Article 12
for more details. The Officer will usually
have other duties and a different job
title. See Article 12 for which Officer is the
Head of Paid Service;

The senior management body for Officers
(Article 12). It includes those Officers
designated by the Head of Paid Service
from time to time as Members of the
Leadership Team;

referred to as “The Measure” Legislation
introduced, inter alia, to strengthen local
democracy, deal with changes to
executive arrangements, overview and
scrutiny, county councils and Member
payments;

either a Councillor or a person chosen by
the Council to serve on one of its
Member Bodies (called “a Co-Opted
Member”);

any of the following:

Full Council;

Cabinet;

a Select Committee;

Licensing Committee;

Standards Committee (or one of its sub-
committees);

Page 98



Monitoring Officer

Non-Executive Functions

Planning Application

Policy Framework

Section 151 Officer

Planning Committee;

Appeals Panel;

Audit Committee;

Democratic Services Committee;

Note - references to Committee also
includes Sub-Committee;

an Officer who must be appointed by law
to carry out certain functions. See Article
12 for a description of those
functions. The Officer will usually have
other duties and a different job title. See
Article 12 for which Officer is the
Monitoring Officer;

any function which may only be
exercised by Full Council (whether by
local choice or as a matter of law) or
which is delegated to a Member body
other than the Cabinet;

any of the following:

application for planning permission
(including renewal);

application for approval of reserved
matters;

application for listed building consent;
application relating to trees;

proposal to serve an urgent works notice
or acquire a listed building in need of
repair;

application for conservation area
consent;

application for advertisement consent;
application to vary or remove conditions
on a planning condition;

See Article 4

an Officer who must be appointed by law
to carry out certain functions in relation
to financial administration. See Article
12 for a description of those

Page 99



functions. The Officer will usually have
other duties and a different job title. See
Article 12 for which Officer is the Section
151 Officer;

Service one of the services provided by the
Council;

Single Integrated Plan This is the single plan for the area that

(SIP) reflects the needs of the local
population. The SIP builds on and brings
together in one document the joint work
previously developed through the
Community Plan, as well as the
Community Safety, Children and Young
Peoples and the Health Social Core and
Wellbeing Partnership Plan.

1.03 Interpretation of the Constitution

We have tried to make the Constitution as clear and as easy to understand
as possible. Inevitably, people will have different views about what certain
passages mean.

During meetings, the person chairing or presiding at the meeting may
interpret the relevant procedure rules.

In all other situations, the Monitoring Officer will determine the
interpretation and application of the Constitution.

Page 100



Article 2 — Members of the Council
2.01 Composition and eligibility

(a) Composition. The Council comprises 43 members, otherwise
called councillors. Councillors will be elected by the voters of each
electoral division in accordance with a scheme drawn up by the
Boundary Commission in Wales and approved by the National
Assembly.

(b) Eligibility. Only registered voters of the county council or those
living or working in the area will be eligible to hold the office of
councillor.

2.02 Election and terms of councillors

The regular election of councillors will be held on the first Thursday in
May every five years except as otherwise directed by the Welsh
Government. The next regular elections will take place in 2022. The terms
of office of councillors will start on the fourth day after being elected and
will finish on the fourth day after the date of the next regular election.

2.03 Key roles of all councillors. All councillors will:

(i) collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a
number of strategic and corporate management functions;

(ii) represent their communities and bring their views into the
Council’s decision-making process, i.e. become the advocates of
and for their communities;

(iii) deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for
constituents in resolving particular concerns or grievances;

(iv) balance different interests identified within the electoral
division and represent the electoral division as a whole;

(v) contribute to the continual improvement of council services
through the Best Value process

(vi) be involved in decision-making;
(vii) be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and

(viii) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics.

2.04 Information Available to Members of the Council

Members can see any information, which is available to a member of the
public. In addition, all reports (including those that are “exempt” or
“confidential” by virtue of Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972 as
amended) to all decision making bodies are available to all members.

A Member may also see any information which he or she needs to know
in order to fulfil his or her role as a Member of the Council (otherwise
known as “need to know”). The Chief Executive or Monitoring officer will

Page 101



adjudicate any such requests.

A Member will not make public information which is confidential or
exempt (as defined in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part
4)) without the consent of the Council or divulge information given in
confidence to anyone other than a Councillor or person(s) or
organisation(s) entitled to know it.

Members of a Select Committee

A Member of a Select Committee may also see any document containing
material relating to:

(a) any business transacted at or meeting of the Cabinet;

(b) any decision taken by an individual Member of the Cabinet.
A Select Committee Member is not entitled to:

(a) any document in draft form;

(b) any part of a document which contains confidential or exempt
information unless that information is relevant to an action or
decision they are reviewing or scrutinising or intending to scrutinise
and is included in the Committee’s Forward Work Programme.

NB. No Member is entitled to see any information relating to a matter in
which he or she has a prejudicial interest.

2.05 Getting Involved
Members can get involved by:

(a) Suggesting Items of Business for the Agenda

As a Member of the Council, you have the same rights as members
of the public. In addition to these rights you also have the following
rights:

(i) Member bodies in Column A can request that Member bodies
in Column B consider or reconsider an issue.

Column A Column B
Democratic Services Council
Committee
Select Committees Cabinet (Part 4 Select Committee

Procedure Rules, paragraph 10)

Cabinet (ibid, paragraph 14)

(ii) Any Member can submit a Notice of Motion to Council (Part
4) and also ask questions (Part 4).

(b) Participating in Meetings

Members of the Council are entitled to attend any formal meeting

Page 102

718



of the Council, its committees or sub-committees or the Cabinet.

(i) Members of the Council may attend and speak at any
meetings where they are a Member of that body. Where they
are not a Member of that body, their attendance and right to
speak is at the discretion of the Chair of the body.

(ii) Members of the Cabinet have a special role to play within the
Council. They are entitled to exercise any Executive Function
provided the Executive Function has been delegated to them by
the Leader of the Council.

(c) Comments and Complaints

Members may comment, subject to restrictions in the Code of
Conduct for Members (Part 5) on any aspect of Council business by:

(i) talking to Officers;
(ii) talking to the Leader or Member of the Cabinet;
(iii) talking to the Chair of a Select Committee.

If a Member wishes to complain about an Officer, the procedure set out in
the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations may be used (Part 5).

If a Member wishes to complain about another Member, the procedure
set out in the protocol for Self-regulation of Member Conduct (Part 5) may
be followed.

2.06 Conduct

Councillors will at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct and the
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution.

2.07 Allowances

Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the
Member Remuneration Schedule set out in Part 6 of this Constitution.

Page 103



Article 3 — Citizens and the Council

3.01 Getting Information
When Meetings of the Member Bodies Will Take Place

A programme of meetings is available by contacting the Council direct or
via the website.

Forward Work Programme

From the Forward Work Programme, see what decisions will be taken by
the Cabinet or Council and what issues the Select Committees will be
considering and when these matters will be discussed.

Information Available Prior to a Meeting

Five clear working days before a meeting, the agenda, any report likely to
be discussed and background papers to that report shall be available for
inspection at the offices of the Council and on the website. If an item is
added to the agenda later, the revised agenda will be open to inspection
from the time when the item is added to the agenda and any report will be
made available to the public as soon as it is available and sent to
Councillors.

Information Available at a Meeting

The Council will make available to the public present at a meeting a
reasonable number of copies of the Agenda and of the Reports for the
meeting (save during any part of the meeting to which the public are
excluded).

Information Available After a Meeting

For a period of six years the agenda, reports and the minutes of the
meeting shall be available for inspection. The background papers shall
remain open for inspection for a period of four years.

Council’s Accounts

Inspect the Council’s accounts and make views known to the external
auditor (sections 29 and 30 Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004). Under the
Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2005, the accounts will be
available for public inspection for twenty (20) working days after the date
appointed by the auditor.

Information which is confidential or exempt (as defined in paragraphs 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Rules (Part 4) will not be disclosed
to members of the public at any time.

3.02 Getting Involved
Members of the public can get involved in the following ways:

(a) Voting for Councillors

if they are over 18 years and registered as a local elector with the
Council.

Page 104



(b) Suggesting Items of Business for Meetings

A member of the public can seek to get a matter included in an
agenda by:

(i) asking the Chair of any Member Body to add an item to the
agenda; and/or

(i) attending a meeting of the body and suggesting that it looks
at an issue when it is considering “items of future business
relating to the functions of the Member Body”.

(c) Taking Part in Meetings

(i) Members of the public can attend and speak at any meeting

which the Council has resolved should include participation by
members of the public. The rules on when you may speak and
for how long are contained in Part 4.

(i) You can also ask Formal Questions at meetings of Full
Council (Part 4).

(d) Views of the Public

Under the arrangements put in place by the Authority under section
62 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011, to bring to the
attention of the relevant Select Committees their views on any
matter under consideration by the relevant Select Committee, the
relevant Select Committee must take into account any views brought
to their attention under these arrangements.

(e) When are Meetings Open to the Public?

Meetings will be open to the public wherever possible. The public
must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely that
confidential information will be disclosed. The public may be
excluded from meetings where it is likely that exempt information
will be disclosed. (See Access to Information Rules paragraph 10.5
for definition of ‘exempt information’ and ‘public interest’.)

(f) Making Comments/Complaints

(i) A member of the public may comment or complain about
Council services by:

(A) contacting their local councillor;

(B) contacting the Member of the Cabinet responsible for the
service;

(C) contacting the Officer responsible for delivering the
service or their manager;

(D) using the Council’'s complaints procedure;

(E) contacting the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales at 1
Ffordd Yr Hen Gae, Pencoed, CF35 5LJ. Telephone: 0845 601
0987 or via the website www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk.

Page 105

10 | B



(ii) Comments or complaints can be made about an Officer or
Member by:

(A) Officer
Contacting the Officer or the Officer’s manager.
(B) Members

If the complaint is against a Member then the complaint
should be referred to the Monitoring Officer or the Public
Services Ombudsman for Wales.

(g) Engage with Overview and Scrutiny

All members of the public who live or work in the area of the Council
may bring to the attention of a Select Committee their views on any
matter under consideration by that Select Committee. Select
Committees must take into account any views brought to its
attention by a member of the public.

3.03 Citizens’ responsibilities

Citizens must not be violent, abusing or threatening to councillors or
officers and must not wilfully harm things owned by the council,
councillors or officers.

Page 106

11| B



Article 4 — The Full Council

4.01 Full Council is a formal meeting of all Councillors. The Full Council is
required by law to take certain important decisions including setting the
Council’s budget and Council Tax and approving a number of key plans and
strategies, which together form the Policy Framework (listed below). It is
responsible for all of the functions not the responsibility of the Cabinet. It
will carry out some functions itself, but others will be delegated to
Committees or named Officers.

4.02 Meanings
(a) Policy Framework.

The policy framework means the following plans and strategies:-

Together with such other plans and strategies which from time to time the
Council may decide should be adopted as a matter of local choice.

(b) The Budget

The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different
services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the Council Tax base,
setting the Council Tax and decisions relating to the control of the Council’s
borrowing requirement, the control of its capital expenditure and the
setting of virement limits. The Full Council will decide the Council’s overall
revenue budget and overall capital budget and any changes to these. (See
the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules in Part 4 for how the
Council can change the Policy Framework or Budget referred to it for
approval by the Cabinet.)

(c) Housing Land Transfer

Housing Land Transfer means the approval or adoption of applications
(whether in draft form or not) to the National Assembly for Wales for
Page 12| B

Page 107



approval of a programme of disposal of 500 or more properties to a person
under the Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993
or to dispose of land used for residential purposes where approval is
required under section 32 or 43 of the Housing Act 1985.

4.02 Functions of the Full Council
Only the Full Council will exercise the following functions:
(a) adopting and changing the Constitution;

(b) approving or adopting the Single Integrated Plan, Policy Framework,
the budget and any application to the National Assembly for Wales in
respect of any Housing Land Transfer;

(c) subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to
Information Procedure Rules in Section 14 of this Constitution, making
decisions about any matter in the discharge of an Executive Function which
is covered by the Policy Framework or the budget where the decision
maker is minded to make it in a manner which would be contrary to the
Policy Framework or contrary to/or not wholly in accordance with the
budget;

(d) appointing and removing the Leader;

(e) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for Committees,
deciding on their composition and making appointments to them (in
accordance with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989) unless the
appointments have been delegated by the Council;

(f) changing the name of the area or conferring the title of freedom of the
County;

(g) making or confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service and
other Chief Officers;

(h) making, amending, revoking re-enacting or adopting bylaws and
promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or Personal Bills;

(i) all Local Choice Functions set out in Section 13 of this Constitution which
the Council decides should be undertaken by itself rather than the Cabinet;

(j) all matters which by law must be reserved to the Council. For example,
appointing the Chair of the Democratic Services Committee and the pay
policy statement;

(k) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment
has been delegated by the Council or is exercisable only by the Cabinet.

4.03 Membership

All Members of the Council shall be Members of Full Council.
Substitution is not possible at meetings of the Council.

4.04 Council meetings

There are three types of Council meeting:

Page 108

13 | B



(a) the annual meeting;
(b) ordinary meetings;
(c) extraordinary meetings.

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules
in Part 4 of this Constitution.

4.05 Responsibility for functions

The Council will maintain the tables in Part 3 of this Constitution setting
out the responsibilities for the Council’s functions which are not the
responsibility of the executive.

14 | B
Page 109



Article 5 — Chairing the Council

5.01 Role and function of the Chairman of the council

The Councillor elected annually by the Council as its chair will be called the
"Chair".

The Chair will cease to be Chair if they resign, are dismissed by a vote of
Full Council, cease to be a Member of the Council, or are unable to act as
a Member of the Council. They continue to act as Chair after an election

until their successor has been appointed.

The Chair of the Council and in his/her absence, the Vice Chair will have

the following roles and functions:

Ceremonial Role
The Chair of the Council:

(i)
(i)

is the civic leader of Monmouthshire County Council;

promotes the interests and reputation of the Council and
Monmouthshire County Council as a whole and acts as an ambassador

for both; and

(i)

undertakes civic, community and ceremonial activities and

fosters community identity and pride.

Responsibilities of the Chair

to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to
interpret the Constitution when necessary;

to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can
be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of
councillors and the interests of the community;

to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of
matters of concern to the local community and the place at
which members who are not on the executive are able to hold
the executive and committee Chair to account;

to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities;
to be the conscience of the Council;

to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and
he/she determines appropriate; and

to carry out duties as required under the Family Absence for
Members of Local Authorities (Wales) Regulations 2013.

Page 110

15 | B



Article 6 — Select Committees

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COORDINATION
6.01 Introduction

The Council is required by Law to discharge certain overview and scrutiny
functions. These functions are an essential component of local democracy.
Overview and Scrutiny (or Select) Committees should be powerful
committees that can contribute to the development of Council policies and
also hold the Cabinet to account for its decisions. Another key part of the
overview and scrutiny role is to review existing policies, consider proposals
for new policies and suggest new policies.

Overview and scrutiny should be carried out in a constructive way and
should aim to contribute to the delivery of efficient and effective services
that meet the needs and aspirations of local inhabitants. Select
Committees should not shy away from the need to challenge and question
decisions and make constructive criticism.

6.02 Select Committees

In order to achieve this, the Council have appointed five Select Committees
which between them will:

- review or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection
with the discharge of any of the Council’s functions whether by the
Cabinet or another part of the Council;

- make reports or recommendations to the Council or the Cabinet in
connection with the discharge of any functions;

- consider any matter which affects the Council’s area or its
inhabitants; and

- exercise the right to call in for reconsideration decisions made but
not yet implemented by the Cabinet and Officers.

6.03 Role, Scope and Membership

The role, scope and Membership of the Select Committees are described
in the table below:

Committee and Membership Role and Scope

Adult Select - 9 members, up to 5
co-opted members

To review, scrutinise, measure and
promote improvement in the provision
of services and compliance with
Council policies in the area of adults

Children and Young People Select
- 9 members, up to 5 co-opted
members

To review, scrutinise, measure and
promote improvement in the provision
of services and compliance with

Page 111

16 | B



Council policies in the area of children
and young people

Economy and Development [ To review, scrutinise, measure and
Select — 9 members, up to 5 co- | promote improvement in the provision
opted members of services and compliance with
Council policies in the area of economy
and development

Strong Communities Select — 9| To review, scrutinise, measure and
members, up to 5 co-opted | promoteimprovement inthe provision
members of services and compliance with
Council policies in the area of strong
communities including crime and
disorder.

6.04 Specific Functions

Policy Development and Review

The Select Committees may:

(a) assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its Budget
and Policy Framework by in depth analysis of policy issues;

(b) conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis
of policy issues and possible options;

(c) question Members of the Cabinet and/or Committees and Chief
Officers from the Council about their views on issues and proposals

Page 17| B
Page 112



affecting the area;

(d) liaise with other external organisations operating in the area,
whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interest of local
people are enhanced by collaborative working; and

(e) consider the impact of policies to assess if they have made a
difference.

Scrutiny
The Select Committees may:

(a) review and scrutinise the decisions by and performance of the
Cabinet and/or Committees and Council Officers in relation to individual
decisions and over time;

(b) review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to
its policy objectives, performance targets and/or particular service
areas;

(c) question Members of the Cabinet and/or Committees and Chief
Officers from the Council about their decisions and performance,
whether generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a
period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or
project;

(d) make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or appropriate
Committee and/or Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny
process;

(e) review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the
area and invite reports from them by requesting them to address the
Select Committees and local people about their activities and
performance; and

(f) question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent).

Crime and Disorder Functions and the Strong Communities Select
Committee

This Committee:

(a) may review and scrutinise decisions made or other actions taken in
connection with the discharge of crime and disorder functions by
Responsible Authorities under Sections 5 & 6 of the Crime & Disorder
Act 1998. The Committee may make reports or recommendations to
full Council or the Cabinet with respect to the discharge of crime and
disorder functions, in which case it must provide a copy to each of the
Responsible Authorities and those co-operating persons and bodies
referred to in the Police & Justice Act 2006.

(b) must consider any local crime and disorder matter (as defined by
Section 19 of the Police & Justice Act 2006 (included on the agenda for
the meeting where the matter has been referred to the Committee by
a member of the Council). It must consider whether to make a report

18 | B
Page 113



or recommendations to full Council and/or the Cabinet with respect to
that local crime and disorder matter, having regard to any
representations made by the member concerned. If the Committee
decides not to make a report or recommendations it must notify the
member concerned of its decision and the reasons for it. If the
Committee does make a report or recommendations to full Council
and/or Cabinet then it must provide a copy of the report or
recommendations to the member concerned and such of the
Responsible Authorities and co-operating persons or bodies, as it thinks
appropriate.

(c) Whenever it provides a copy of the report or recommendations to a
Responsible Authority or a co-operating person or body, must remind
that authority/body of its statutory duty to have regard to the report or
recommendations in exercising its functions, to consider the report or
recommendations and to respond to the Committee indicating what (if
any) actions that person or body proposes to take.

Annual Report

The Select Committees must report annually to the Full Council on their
workings with recommendations for their future work programme and
amended working methods if appropriate.

Head of Democratic Services

One of the roles of the Head of Democratic Services under section 8 of The
Measure is to promote the role of the Council’s Select Committees and to
promote support and guidance to Council Members and Officers generally
about the functions of the Select Committees

Who May Sit on Select Committees?

All Councillors except Members of the Cabinet may be Members of the
Select Committees. However, no Member may be involved in scrutinising
on decisions in which he has been directly involved.

Co-Optees

Each Select Committee shall be entitled to recommend to Council the
appointment of a maximum of five people as non-voting co-optees. In
exercising or deciding whether to exercise a co-option, the Authority must,
under section 76 of the Measure, have regard to guidance given by the
Welsh Ministers and comply with directions given by them.

Education Representatives

The Children and Young People Select Committee shall include in its
Membership voting representatives of religious faiths and of parent
governors, as required by law and guidance from the National Assembly
for Wales.

Page 114

19 | B



Crime and Disorder Representatives

In discharging its crime and disorder functions, the Strong Communities
Select Committee may co-opt officers, employees or members of
Responsible Authorities or Co-operating Persons or Bodies (as defined by
section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.) Co-optees cannot be
members of the Council’s Executive and no co-optee is entitled to vote,
unless the Committee allows it. Co-optees may be appointed for a
particular matter or type of matter and membership may be withdrawn at
any time by the Committee.

Who Chairs?

The arrangements included in sections 66-75 of the Local Government
(Wales) Measure 2011 will be followed for appointing persons to chair
Select Committees.

Role of the Chair and the Select Committees

The role of the Chair of the Select Committees will be essential in
implementing the new method of working. The Chairs will liaise with the
Cabinet and supervise the Work Programme and identify cross cutting
themes arising from the various Select Committees

In summary, therefore, the Chair will:
(a) be accountable for delivering the new way of working for scrutiny;
(b) will meet regularly to monitor Work Programmes;

(c) will liaise with the Cabinet on issues affecting the Scrutiny Work
Programme; and

(d) report to meetings of the Co-ordinating Board on progress in
implementing the new methods of working.

Work Programme

The Select Committees will be responsible for setting their own Work
Programme and in doing so they should take into account wishes of
Members who are not Members of the largest political group on the
Council. It may also consider urgent and unforeseen matters not included
in the Work Programme.

Meetings
The Select Committees will have 8 meetings a year.

Extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time in order to deal
with call-ins (Paragraph 14 of the Select Committee Procedure Rules)
where the Chair of a Select Committee agrees it is necessary for that Select
Committee to consider the called in decision before the Select
Committee’s next programmed meeting.

The quorum of a Select Committee will be 3 Members.

Page 115

20 | B



Joint Select Committees

Under section 58 of The Measure, regulations may be made to permit two
or more local authorities to appoint a joint Select Committee. This is set
out in the Local Authority (Joint Overview and Scrutiny) (Wales)
Regulations 2012.

Proceedings of select committees

Select committees will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the
Select Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

The Coordinating Board

The Council will establish a Coordinating Board comprising of the Chair of
each Select Committee, the Leader and Deputy Leader, the Chairman of
each Area Committee, the Scrutiny Champion and the Chief Executive. The
Chairman of the County Council will also be invited to attend.

The role of the Coordinating Board will be to manage the political business
processes and the relationship between the constituent parts of the
Council’s political machinery. In particular it will develop a set of protocols
to regulate its coordinating role. Its role and functions are detailed in the
Select Committee Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Page 116

21| B



Article 7 — The Executive (Cabinet)
THE ROLE OF THE EXECUTIVE
7.01 Introduction

The Cabinet is appointed to carry out all of the Council’s functions which
are not the responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by Law
or under this Constitution.

7.02 Form and Composition of the Cabinet
The Cabinet will consist of:
(a) the Leader of the Council (the “Leader”); and

(b) at least two but not more than nine other Councillors appointed to the
Cabinet by the Leader.

7.03 Leader
Election

The Leader will be a Councillor elected to the position of Leader by the
Council.

Term of Office

The Leader is appointed on an annual basis at the annual meeting of the
Council. He may be removed by motion of the Council pursuant to Rule
12.4 of the Rules of Procedure set out at Part 4.

Role of the Leader

The Leader will Chair meetings of the Cabinet and determine the portfolios
of Members of the Cabinet. Further information is contained in the
Executive Procedure Rules.

7.04 Deputy Leader

The Leader will appoint up to two Deputy Leaders, one of whom to act as
Leader in the Leader’s absence, and may also if he/she thinks fit remove
the Deputy Leaders from Office at any time.

The Deputy Leader from time to time appointed by the Leader for the
purpose may exercise all of the functions of the Leader where the position
is vacant or where the Leader is absent or otherwise unable to act. For the
avoidance of doubt the Leader may, at his absolute discretion and at any
time remove and/or appoint any member of the Council as deputy leader
for this purpose.

Page 117

22| B



7.05 Other Cabinet Members

Other Cabinet Members will be Councillors elected to the position of
Cabinet Member by the Leader. Each Cabinet Member shall hold office
until:

- he/she resigns from that office; or

- he/she is removed from that office by the Leader upon such notice
(if any) as the Leader considers appropriate; or

- he/she ceases to be a Councillor.

The Leader may at any time appoint a Cabinet Member to fill any
vacancies.

7.06 Delegation of Functions

The Leader may exercise Executive Functions himself/herself or may
otherwise make arrangements to delegate responsibility for their
discharge. The Leader may delegate Executive Functions to:

the Cabinet as a whole;

- a Committee of the Cabinet (comprising executive Members only);
- anindividual Cabinet Member;

- ajoint committee;

- another local authority or the executive of another local authority;

a delegated Officer.
7.07 Rules of Procedure and Debate

The proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the
Executive Procedure Rules in Part 4 below.

Page 118

23| B



Article 8 — Regulatory Committees

8.01 Regulatory and other committees

The Council will appoint the committees set out in the left hand column of
the table 2 in Part 3 of this Constitution to discharge the functions
described in column 3 of that table.

8.02 The audit committee

(a) The Council will appoint an audit committee to discharge the
functions described in column 3 of table 2 in Part 3 of this Constitution
and in accordance with sections 81-87 of The Local Government (Wales)
Measure 2011.

(b) The Committee shall comprise of Councillor Members (being at least
two thirds of the Membership) and at least one Member who is not a
Member of the Council (lay Member) and no more than one Member
of the Cabinet (which Cabinet Member must not be the Leader).

(c) The Chair of the Audit Committee is appointed by it and cannot be a
Member of the Cabinet but can be a lay Member and can only be a
Member of an executive group if there are no opposition groups.

(d) Members of the Audit Committee may vote on any matter that falls
to be decided by the Committee.

8.03 The Democratic Services Committee

(a) The Council will appoint a Democratic Services Committee to
discharge the functions described in Table 2 of Part 3 of this
Constitution.

(b) The Committee shall comprise of Councillor Members but no more
than one Member of the Cabinet (which Cabinet Member must not be
the Leader).

(c) The Chair of the Democratic Services Committee is appointed by Full
Council and must not be the Cabinet Member.

8.04 Other Committees and Sub-Committees

(a) The Council will appoint such other Committees as it considers
appropriate to the exercise of its functions. These will include a
Planning and Licensing Committee.

(b) Any Committee appointed by the Council may at any time appoint
additional Sub-Committees and panels throughout the year. The terms
of reference and delegation of powers to them shall be explicit and
within the appointment Committee’s terms of reference.

8.05 Rules of Procedure and Debate

The Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 will apply.

Page 119

24 | B



Article 9 — The Standards Committee
9.01 Standards Committee

The Council will establish a Standards Committee.
9.02 Composition

(a) Membership. The Standards Committee will be composed of 9
members. Its membership will include:

i. Five independent members, who are not either a councillor or an
officer or the spouse of a councillor or an officer of this council or any
other relevant authority as defined by the Act, appointed in
accordance with the procedure set out in the Standards Committees
(Wales) Regulations 2001 (as amended);

ii. Three county councillors other than the Leader and not more
than one member of the executive;

iii. One member of a town or community council wholly or mainly in
the Council’s area (a ‘community committee member’).

(b) Term of office.

i. Independent members are appointed for a period of not less than
four nor more than six years and may be reappointed for one further
consecutive term not exceeding four years.

ii. Members of the local authority who are members of the
Standards Committee will have a term of office of no more than five
years or the period until the next ordinary local government election
following their appointment, whichever is the shorter. They may be
reappointed for one further term.

iii. A community committee member will have a term of office of no
more than five years or the period until the next ordinary local
government election following their appointment, whichever is the
shorter. They may be reappointed for one further term.

(c) Quorum. A meeting of the standards committee shall only be
quorate when:

i. atleast three members, including the Chairman, are present, and

ii. at least half the members present (including the Chairman) are
independent members

(d) Voting. Independent members and community committee
members will be entitled to vote at meetings

(e) Community committee members. A community committee
member shall not take part in the proceedings of the standards
committee when any matter relating to their town or community
council is being considered

25| B
Page 120



(f) Chairing the Committee.

i. Only an independent member of the standards committee may
be the Chairman.

ii. The Chairman will be elected by the members of the standards
committee for a period not exceeding one year. The Chairman is
eligible for re-election.

iii. The election of a Chairman will be the first item of business for
the standards committee at the commencement of each municipal
year.

9.03 Role and Function
The Standards Committee will have the following roles and functions:

(a) promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by councillors,
co-opted members and church and parent governor representatives;

(b) assisting the councillors, co-opted members and church and parent
governor representatives to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct;

(c) advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’
Code of Conduct;

(d) monitoring and from time to time reviewing the operation of the
Members’ Code of Conduct and protocols which apply to members of
the Council, employees, contractors and other parties or organisations
associated with Council activity;

(e) advising, training or arranging to train councillors, co-opted
members and church and parent governor representatives on matters
relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct;

(f) granting dispensations to councillors, co-opted members and church
and parent governor representatives from requirements relating to
interests set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct;

(g) dealing with any reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal,
and any report from the Monitoring Officer on any matter referred to
that officer by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.

(h) mentoring and supporting the Council's Monitoring Officer in the
discharge of his/her role

(i) receiving and investigating (where statute permits) reports and
complaints relating to the Members' Code of Conduct and protocols
approved by the Council from time to time;

(j) the exercise of (a) to (i) above in relation to the town and community
councils wholly or mainly in its area and the members of those town
and community councils.

(k) ensuring the Council's whistle blowing procedures operate
effectively

26 | B
Page 121



(I) ensuring the Council's complaints procedures operate effectively and
publishing an annual report on the operation of the system.

27 | B
Page 122



Article 10 — Area Committees and Forums

10.01 Area committees

In order to bring discussion of council affairs closer to the community the
Council may appoint area committees as it sees fit, if it is satisfied that to
do so will ensure improved service delivery in the context of best value and
more efficient, transparent and accountable decision making.

The Council has recognised the need to engage the community in Area
Working which in its early stages has involved establishing 4 Area
Committees with the following roles and functions:

1. To help the Council shape major proposals affecting the area and to
advise the Council about the implications for the area of its objectives,
plans and policies.

2.To lead the development of the local community planning process
and produce a Community Plan for each area in a way which promotes
the council’s overall policies as well as safeguarding local interest.

3. To ensure properly co-ordinated services on a local level.

4.To encourage effective collaboration with public, private and
voluntary sector partners locally to help the Council meet the
aspirations of local people.

5.To provide a forum for views of local communities and to encourage
discussions and debate on matters of particular relevance to the area
including participating in the process of Best Value Reviews as a formal
consultee.

6. To make decisions on matters within the area that have been
delegated by the Executive provided those decisions are within the
Council’s overall policies and budgetary allocations and do not
adversely affect other areas of Monmouthshire.

10.02 Additional Representation

Each Area Committee may identify and agree ‘communities of interest’
within its area from which a representative may be invited to participate
at meetings of the committee. Such invitees will not be co-opted members
of the committee but may speak (not vote) on matters whenever the press
and public are able to attend.

Page 123

28 | B



Article 11- Joint Arrangements

11.01 Arrangements to promote well being

The Council or the executive, in order to promote the economic, social or
environmental well-being of its area, may:

(a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body;

(b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any
person or body; and

(c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that
person or body.

11.02 Joint arrangements

(a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local
authorities and/or their executives to exercise functions which are not
executive functions in any of the participating authorities, or advise the
Council. Such arrangements may involve the appointment of a joint
committee with these other local authorities.

(b) The cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or more local
authorities to exercise functions which are executive functions. Such
arrangements may involve the appointment of joint committees with
these other local authorities.

(c) Subject to (d) below, the executive may appoint executive members
and non-executive members to a joint committee and the political
balance requirements shall not apply to the appointment of such
members.

(d) The executive may appoint members to a joint committee from
outside the executive where the joint committee has functions for only
part of the area of the authority, and that area is smaller than two-fifths
of the authority by area or population. In such cases, the executive may
appoint to the joint committee any councillor who is a member for an
electoral division which is wholly or partly contained within the area.
The political balance requirements do not apply to such appointments.

(e) Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to joint
committees will be found in the Council’s scheme of delegations in Part
3 of this Constitution.

11.03 Access to information
(a) The Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution apply.

(b) If all the members of a joint committee are members of the
executive in each of the participating authorities then its access to
information regime is the same as that applied to the executive.

(c) If the joint committee contains members who are not on the
executive of any participating authority then the access to information
rules in Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 will apply.

Page 124

29 | B



11.04 Delegation to and from other local authorities

(a) The Council may delegate non-executive functions to another local
authority or, in certain circumstances, the executive of another local
authority.

(b) The executive may delegate executive functions to another local
authority or the executive of another local authority in certain
circumstances.

(c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from
another local authority shall be reserved to the Council meeting.

11.05 Contracting out

The Council [for functions which are not executive functions] and the
executive may contract out to another body or organisation functions
which may be exercised by an officer and which are subject to an order
under section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994, or
under contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as the Council’s
agent under usual contacting principles, provided there is no delegation of
the Council’s discretionary decision making.

Page 125

30| B



Article 12— Officers

12.01 Management structure

(a) General. The full Council may engage such staff (referred to as
officers) as it considers necessary to carry out its functions.

(b) Chief Officers. The full Council will engage persons for the following
posts, who will be designated chief officers:

Post Functions and Areas of Responsibility
Chief Executive (and Overall corporate management and operational
Head of Paid Service) responsibility including overall management

responsibility for all Officers.

Principal adviser to the Council on general
policy.

The provision of professional and impartial
advice to all parties in the decision making
process to the Cabinet, to Select Committees,
the Full Council and other Committees).

Together with the Head of Democratic Services,
responsibility for a system of record keeping for
all the Authority’s decisions (executive or
otherwise).

Representing the Authority on partnership and
external bodies (as required by statute or the
Council).

Service to the whole Council, on a politically
neutral basis.

Operations

Chief Officer, Children Education Services including schools and
and Young People continuing education.

- F

Page 31|8B
Page 126



Chief Officer, Social
Care and Health

Older Persons, Mental Health Service, Learning
disabilities,

Children’s Services including safeguarding,
looked after children and children in need, youth
offending, adoption and fostering.

Regulatory Services.

32|8B
Page 127



(c) Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief Financial Officer and
Head of Democratic services. The Council will designate the following
posts as shown:

Post Designation
Chief Executive Head of Paid Service
Monitoring Officer Monitoring Officer
Chief Finance Officer Chief Finance Officer
Deputy Chief Executive Head of Democratic Services

Such posts will have the functions described in Article 12.02-12.05
below.

(d) Structure. The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a
description of the overall departmental structure of the Council
showing the management structure and deployment of officers. This is
set out at Part 7 of this Constitution.

12.02 Functions of the Head of Paid Service

(a) Discharge of functions by the Council. The Head of Paid Service will
report to full Council on the manner in which the discharge of the
Council’s functions is co-ordinated, the number and grade of officers
required for the discharge of functions and the organisation of officers.

(b) Restrictions on functions. The Head of Paid Service may not be the
Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer if a
qualified accountant.

12.03 Functions of the Monitoring Officer

(a) Maintaining the Constitution. The Monitoring Officer will maintain
an up-to-date version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely
available for consultation by members, staff and the public.

(b) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making. After
consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the
Monitoring Officer will report to the full Council or to the executive in
relation to an executive function, if he or she considers that any
proposal, decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any
decision or omission has given rise to maladministration. Such a report
will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being
implemented until the report has been considered.

(c) Supporting the Standards Committee. The Monitoring Officer will
contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of
conduct through provision of support to the Standards Committee.

(d) Receiving reports. The Monitoring Officer will receive and act on
reports made by the Ombudsman and decisions of the case tribunals.

(e) Conducting investigations. The Monitoring Officer will conduct

Page 128

33| B




investigations into matters referred by the Ombudsman and make
reports or recommendations in respect of them to the Standards
Committee.

(f) Proper officer for access to information. The Monitoring Officer will
ensure that executive decisions, together with the reasons for those
decisions and relevant officer reports and background papers are made
publicly available as soon as possible.

(g) Advising whether decisions of the executive are within the budget
and policy framework. The Monitoring Officer will advise whether
decisions of the executive are in accordance with the budget and policy
framework.

(h) Providing advice. The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the
scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration,
financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues
to all councillors.

(i) Restrictions on posts. The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief
Finance Officer or the Head of Paid Service.

12.04 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer

(a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making.
After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring
Officer, the Chief Finance Officer will report to the full Council or to the
executive in relation to an executive function and the Council’s external
auditor if he or she considers that any proposal, decision or course of
action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is
likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is about to enter an
item of account unlawfully.

(b) Administration of financial affairs. The Chief Finance Officer will
have responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the
Council.

(c) Contributing to corporate management. The Chief Finance Officer
will contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in
particular through the provision of professional financial advice.

(d) Providing advice. The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on
the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration,
financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues
to all councillors and will support and advise councillors and officers in
their respective roles.

(e) Give financial information. The Chief Finance Officer will provide
financial information to the media, members of the public and the
community.

12.05 Functions of the Head of Democratic Services

(a) to provide support and advice to the authority in relation to its

34| B
Page 129



meetings, subject to Article 12.06;

(b) to provide support and advice to committees of the authority (other
than the committees mentioned in paragraph (e)) and the members of
those committees, subject to Article 12.06;

(c) to provide support and advice to any joint committee which a local
authority is responsible for organising and the members of that
committee, subject to subject to Article 12.06

(d) to promote the role of the authority’s Select Committees;
(e) to provide support and advice to:

(i) the authority’s Select Committees and the members of those
Select Committees; and

(ii) the authority’s Democratic Services Committee and the members
of that committee;

(f) to provide support and advice in relation to the functions of the
authority’s Select Committees to each of the following:

(i) members of the authority;
(ii) members of the executive of the authority;
(iii) officers of the authority;

(g) to provide support and advice to each member of the authority in
carrying out the role of member of the authority, subject to Article
12.06;

(h) to make reports and recommendations in respect of any of the
following:

(i) the number and grades of staff required to discharge democratic
services functions;

(ii) the appointment of staff to discharge democratic services
functions;

(iii) the organisation and proper management of staff discharging
democratic services functions;

(iv) such other functions as may be prescribed by law.

12.06 Restrictions on Post

The Head of Democratic Services cannot be the Head of Paid Service, the
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer.

The function of providing advice about whether or how the authority’s
functions should be, or should have been exercised, only applies to advice
concerning the functions of the Select Committees and Democratic
Services Committee.

Advice to a Member does not include advice in connection with their role
as an executive Member and does not include advice about a matter being
or to be considered at a meeting (other than a meeting of a Select

Page 130

35| B



Committees or Democratic Services Committee.

12.07 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer,
Chief Finance Officer and Head of Democratic Services

The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and
Head of Democratic Services with such officers, accommodation and other
resources as are in their opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be
performed.

12.08 Conduct

Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol
on Officer/Member Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution.

12.09 Employment

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the
Officer Employment Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

12.10 Information Available to Officers

The Monitoring Officer, the Section 151 Officer and the Head of Paid
Service may see any papers or records held by any part of the Council or
its Officers. Other Officers may see any information held by the Council
provided:

(a) they need to see the information to do their job; and

(b) that information is processed lawfully in accordance with the Data
Protection Act 1998

Page 131

36| B



Article 13 — Decision Making

13.01 Responsibility for decision making

The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the
Council or individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions or
decisions relating to particular areas or functions. This record is set out in
Part 3 of this Constitution.

13.02 Principles of decision making

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following
principles:

(a) proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired
outcome);

(b) due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;
(c) respect for human rights (see below for further details);

(d) a presumption in favour of openness; and

(e) clarity of aims and desired outcomes.

(f) along with all relevant statutes including the Equality Act 2010 and
the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

An explanation of the reasons for the decision, a record of any personal
interest declared and any dispensation to speak granted by the authority’s
standards committee and details of consultation will be included in the
record of each executive decision.

13.03 Decisions reserved to full Council

Decisions relating to the functions listed in Article 4.02 will be made by the
full Council and not delegated.

13.04 Decision making by the full Council

Subject to Article 13.08, the Council meeting will follow the Council
Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering
any matter.

13.05 Decision making by the executive

Subject to Article 13.08, the executive will follow the Executive Procedures
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

13.06 Decision making by select committees

Select committees will follow the Select Committee Procedures Rules set
out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.

13.07 Decision making by other committees and sub-committees
established by the Council

Subject to Article 13.08, other Council committees and sub-committees
will follow those parts of the Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of
this Constitution as apply to them.

Page 132

37| B



13.08 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals

The Council, a councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-
judicial manner or determining/considering (other than for the purposes
of giving advice) the civil rights and obligations or the criminal
responsibility of any person will follow a proper procedure which accords
with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial
contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights.

Page 133

38| B



Article 14 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters

14.01 Financial management

The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in
accordance with the financial rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

14.02 Contracts

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

14.03 Legal proceedings

The Head of Legal Services is authorised to institute, defend or participate
in any legal proceedings in any case where such action is necessary to give
effect to decisions of the Council or in any case where the Head of Legal
Services considers that such action is necessary to protect the Council’s
interests. The Head of Legal Services has delegated powers to authorise
Officers to appear in Court on the Council’s behalf.

14.04 Authentication of documents

Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings
on behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Head of Legal Services or
other person authorised by him/her, unless any enactment otherwise
authorises or requires, or the Council has given requisite authority to some
other person. Any contract with a value exceeding £25,000 entered into
on behalf of the Council in the course of the discharge of an executive
function shall be made in writing. Such contracts must either be signed in
accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules at Part 4 or made
under the common seal of the council.

In addition to any other person who may be authorised by resolution of
the Council, the Proper Officer for the purposes of authentication of
documents under the Local Government Acts shall be:

(a) the Chief Executive;
(b) the Monitoring Officer
(b) the Head of Legal Services

(c) any Chief Officer of the Council concerned with the matter to which
the document relates; or,

(d) any Officer authorised in writing by such Chief Officer.
14.05 Common Seal of the Council

The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody
of the Head of Legal Services. A decision of the Council, or of any part of it,
will be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to give
effect to the decision. The Common Seal will be affixed to those documents
which in the opinion of the Head of Legal Services should be sealed. The
affixing of the Common Seal will be attested by one member and the Head
of Legal Services or some other person authorised by him/her.

Page 134

39| B



Article 15 - Review and Revision of the
Constitution
15.01 Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution

The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the
Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are
given full effect. The Section 151 Officer shall be responsible for keeping
under review the Financial Regulations set out in Part 4 of the Constitution
and shall make any necessary amendments and revisions as are required
from time to time. He/she shall report any amendments made to Part 4 to
the next available Council meeting for noting.

15.02 Protocol for Monitoring and Review of Constitution by Monitoring
Officer

A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to make recommendations for ways
in which the Constitution could be amended in order to better achieve the
purposes set out in this Section. In undertaking this task, the Monitoring
Officer may:

- observe meetings of different parts of the Member and Officer
structure;

- undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions;

- record and analyse issues raised with him/her by Members, Officers,
the public and other relevant stakeholders; and

- compare practices in this Council with those in comparable
authorities, or national examples of best practice.

15.03 Changes to the Constitution
(a) Approval

Subject to Minor and Legislative amendments referred to below,
changes to the Constitution will only be approved by the Full Council
after consideration of a proposal by the Monitoring Officer or on
recommendation of the Cabinet.

(b) Minor Amendments
If, in the reasonable opinion of the Monitoring Officer, a change is:
- a minor variation; or

- required to be made to remove any inconsistency, ambiguity or
typographical correction; or

- required to be made so as to put into effect any decision of the
Council or its committees or the Cabinet,

the Monitoring Officer may make such a change. Any such change
made by the Monitoring Officer shall come into force with immediate
effect. Such changes shall be reported to the next Full Council meeting
for information.

Page 135

40| B



(c) Legislative Amendment

Any part of the Constitution may be amended by the Monitoring Officer
where such amendment is required to be made so as to comply with
any legislative provision. Such amendments shall take effect when the
Monitoring Officer so decides or the legislation (where relevant) so
provides. Such changes shall be reported to the next Full Council
meeting for information.

Page 136

41|B



Article 16 - Suspension, Interpretation and
Publication of the Constitution

16.01 Suspension of the Constitution

(a) Limit to suspension. The Articles of this Constitution may not be
suspended. Any of the procedure rules contained in the Constitution
may be suspended by the full Council to the extent permitted within
those Rules and the law.

(b) Procedure to suspend. A motion to suspend any rules will not be
moved without notice unless at least one half of the whole number of
councillors is present. The extent and duration of suspension will be
proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking account of the
purposes of the Constitution set out in Article 1.

(c) Rules capable of suspension. The following Rules may be suspended
in accordance with Article 16.01:

i. The Rules of Procedure relating to meetings of the Council, the
Executive, Committees and Sub- committees

ii. Financial Procedure Rules

iii Contract Procedure Rules

16.02 Interpretation

The ruling of the Chairman of council as to the construction or application
of this Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council shall not be
challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such interpretation will have
regard to the purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1.

16.03 Publication

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies of this Constitution are
available for inspection at Council offices and on the Council’s website.

The Monitoring Officer will give a printed or (upon request) an electronic
copy of this Constitution to each Member of the Council upon delivery to
him/her of that individual’s declaration of acceptance of office on the
Member first being elected to the Council and thereafter ensure that an
up to date version is available for inspection and published on the Council’s
website.

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that the Constitution is updated as
necessary in accordance with Article 15.03

Page 137

42| B



Schedule 1: Description of Executive
Arrangements

The following parts of this Constitution constitute the executive
arrangements:

1. Article 6 (Select committees) and the Select Procedure Rules;
2. Article 7 (The Executive) and the Executive Procedure Rules;
3. Article 10 (Area Committees and Forums)

4. Article 11 (Joint arrangements)

5. Article 13 (Decision making) and the Access to Information Procedure
Rules;

6. Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions).

Page 138

43| B



PART 3 - RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS (C)

Table 1: Responsibility for Local Choice Functions

Function

Member
ship

Body

Delegation

1. Any functions under a local
Act other than a function
specified or referred to in
Schedule 1 of the Local
Authorities executive
arrangements (Functions and
Responsibilities) (Wales)
Regulations 2007 as amended

Executive Upto9
Member

S

Relevant executive member

2. The determination of an
appeal against any decision
made by or on behalf of the
authority (where a right of
appeal exists)

Council 3

Appeals Panel

3.Functions in relation to the
revision of decisions made in
connection with claims for
housing benefit and for
appeals against such decisions
under section 68 of and
Schedule 7 to the Child
Support, Pensions and Social
Security Act 2000

Council 43

Monitoring Officer

4. The making of
arrangements in relation to
appeals against the exclusion
of pupils in maintained schools
under section 52 of the
Education Act 2002

Executive 7

Monitoring Officer

5. The making of
arrangements pursuant to
section 94(1), (1A) and (4) of,
and Schedule 24 to, the School
Standards and Framework Act
1998 (admission appeals)

Executive 7

Monitoring Officer

6. The making of
arrangements pursuant to
section 95(2) of, the School
Standards and Framework Act
1998 (children to whom

Executive 7

Monitoring Officer

Page 139




section 87 applies: appeals by
governing bodies)

7. The making of Council 43
appointments under
paragraphs 2 to 4
(appointment of members by
relevant councils) of Schedule
2 (police authorities
established under section 3) to
the Police Act 1996
8. The conducting of best Executive 7
value reviews in accordance following
with the provisions of any consultation with
order for the time being relevant Select
having effect under section 5 | Committee
(best value reviews) of the
Local Government Act 1999
9. Any function relating to Landowner 7 Relevant executive member
contaminated land responsibility with
Executive, 12
otherwise
Licensing and
Regulatory
Committee
10.The discharge of any Landowner 7 Relevant executive member
function relating to the control | responsibility with
of pollution or the Executive, 12
management of air quality otherwise
Licensing and
Regulatory
Committee
11.The Service of an | Executive 7
abatement notice in respect of
statutory nuisance
12.The passing of a resolution | Executive 7
that Schedule 2 to the Noise
and statutory Nuisance Act
1993 should apply in the
council’s area
13.The inspection of the | Executive 7
authority’s area to detect any
statutory nuisance
14. The investigation of any | Executive 7

complaint as to the existence
of a statutory nuisance

Page 140




15. The obtaining of
information under section 330
of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as to
interest in land

Executive

16. The obtaining of particulars
of persons interested in land
under section 16 of the Local
Government  (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976

The Executive and
all non-executive
committees in
relation to their
functions

Various

All Chief Officers as appropriate

17. The making of agreements
for the execution of highways
works

Executive

18.The appointment of any
individual -

(a) to any office other than
an office in which heis
employed by the
authority;

(b) Toany body other than:

(i) the authority
(i) a joint committee of two or
more authorities; or
(c) to any committee or
sub-committee of such
a body

And the revocation of any such
appointment

Council

43

19. Power to make payment or
provide other benefits in cases
of maladministration etc.

Council

43

20. The discharge of any
function by an authority acting
as a harbour authority

Licensing and
Regulatory
Committee

12

21. Functions in respect of the
calculation of council tax base
in accordance with any of the
following-

(a) the determination of an
item for T in section 33(1) and
44(1) of the Local Government
Finance Act 1992;

Executive

Relevant Executive Member

Page 141




(b) the determination of an
amount for item TP in sections
34(3), 45(3) 48(3) and 48(4) of
the Local Government Finance
Act 1992;

(c) the determination of an
amount required for
determining an amount for
the item mentioned in
paragraph (a) or (b) above.

22. Licensing functions in | Licensing and 12
accordance with Part 2 of the | Regulatory

Licensing Act 2003 except | Committee

section 6.

23. Functions in respect of Council 43

gambling in accordance with
any of the following—

(a) a resolution not to issue
casino licenses in accordance
with section 166 of the
Gambling Act 2005 (c.19);

(b) prescribing of fees in
accordance with section 212
of the Gambling Act 2005;

(c) making an order
disapplying section 279 or
section 282(1) of the Gambling
Act 2005 in accordance with
section 284 of the Gambling
Act 2005;

(d) authorised persons in
accordance with section 304
of the Gambling Act 2005;

(e) prosecutions by a licensing
authority in accordance with
section 346 of the Gambling
Act 2005;

(f) three-year licensing policy
in accordance with section 349
of the Gambling Act 2005;

Page 142




24. The determination of
school organisation proposals
under the School Standards
and Organisation (Wales) Act
2013

Executive

Relevant Executive Member

Page 143




Table 2: Responsibility for Council Functions

Committee | Membership Functions
Planning 16 Members of | 1.Planning and conservation
the Authority | Functions relating to town and country planning and

Licensing and
Regulatory

12 Members of
the authority

development control as specified in Schedule 1 to the Local
Authorities Executive Arrangements (Functions and
Responsibilities) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (‘the Functions
Regulations’) save in relation to footpaths and bridleways

2. Powers relating to the preservation of trees, the protection
of important hedgerows and the power to make limestone
pavement order

All other functions and powers specified in Schedule 1 to the
Functions Regulations, save in relation to the duty to determine
licensing policy in accordance with s.6 of the Licensing Act 2003,
to approve the Authority’s Statement of Accounts, to determine
the affordable borrowing limit, to make arrangements for the
proper administration of financial affairs, the approval of an
annual investment strategy, the power to make Standing
Orders, to appoint staff, to appoint Proper Officers and
designate Head of Paid Service and Monitoring Officer and to
consider adverse reports from the Public Services Ombudsman
for Wales, all of which shall be reserved to full Council.

All functions and powers specified in Schedule 4 to the
Functions Regulations other than those listed in Table 1 above
as reserved to full Council or the Executive

Along with the power to issue a site license in no-routine cases
under the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013.

Standards
Committee

3 members of
the authority
other than the
Leader and 5
voting
co-optee(s)

As set out in Article 9.3

Other functions

Functions relating to standards of conduct of members under
any relevant provision of, or regulations made under, the Local
Government Act 2000

Other functions delegated to the Committee by the Council in
accordance with section 54(3) of the Local Government Act
2000, in accordance with any regulations made under that Act

Page 144




Democratic
Services
Committee

12 members of
the authority

(a) To exercise the function of the local authority under section
8(1)(a) The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011
(designation of head of democratic services)

(b) To review the adequacy of provision by the authority of
staff, accommodation and other resources to discharge
democratic services functions, and

(c) To make reports and recommendations to the authority in
relation to such provision.

(d) To fully support the non-executive role of councillors.

(e) To undertake pieces of work aimed at improving the
democratic function, in line with the ethos of the Local
Government Measure 2011.

(f) To draw up a job description for elected members and
improve clarity, transparency and public engagement.

(g) To review the ICT policy for members.

Audit
Committee

11 members of
the authority
and 1 lay
member

(a) to review and scrutinise the authority's financial affairs,

(b) to make reports and recommendations in relation to the
authority's financial

affairs,

(c) to review and assess the risk management, internal control
and corporate

governance arrangements of the authority,

(d) to make reports and recommendations to the authority on
the adequacy and

effectiveness of those arrangements,

(e) to oversee the authority's internal and external audit
arrangements, and

(f) to review the financial statements prepared by the authority.
(g) to undertake any other functions as the authority considers
suitable to be exercised by the Audit Committee.

Core functions
In order to meet the terms of reference above the Audit
Committee will undertake the following core functions:

e Approve internal audit’s strategy, plan and performance.

e Review summary internal audit reports and the main
issues arising, and seek assurance that action has been
taken where necessary.

e Consider the reports of external audit and inspection
agencies.

e Consider the effectiveness of the authority’s risk
management arrangements, the control environment
and associated anti-fraud and anti-corruption
arrangements. Seek assurances that action is being taken
on risk related issues identified by auditors and
inspectors.

e Be satisfied that the authority’s assurance statements,
including the Statement on Internal Control and
Governance Statement, properly reflect the risk
environment and any actions required to improve it.

Page 145 7ie




e Ensure that there are effective relationships between
external and internal audit, inspection agencies and other
relevant bodies, and that the value of the audit process is
actively promoted.

e Review the financial statements, external auditor’s
opinion and reports to members, recommend the
adoption of the financial statements by full Council and
monitor management action in response to the issues
raised by external audit.

e Maintain an overview of the Council’s constitution in
respect of contract procedure rules and financial
regulations

¢  Make recommendations, as appropriate, to Cabinet and
Council on any matters reported through the Audit
Committee.

Page 146




Table 3. Responsibility for Executive Functions

Who is Membership Functions Delegation of functions
Responsible
The full Leader of All executive Responsibility delegated to each
Executive [the Council |functions and those |executive councillor for functions within

and up to 8 | local choice the scope of their portfolio, provided a
other functions specified | matter is
executive as being the e within the policy framework or
councillors responsibility of the corporate policy

Executive.

e s notin conflict, or does not
compromise any existing or proposed
policy

e has no corporate impact (does not
apply to decisions within corporate
portfolios)

e is within approved budgets or within
virement discretion

e is not considered (by the executive
member or the Leader) to be too
sensitive or controversial to be
decided “within-portfolio”;
and subject

e in all cases to the Leader being able
to require any proposed decision to
be taken by the Executive itself
(where he/she judges this
appropriate)

e to the executive taking the final
decision on joint arrangements,
arrangements to provide well-being-
partnership arrangements and
delegations to other local authorities

e to the Executive itself making policy
framework and byelaw
recommendations to Council.

Providing the above criteria are met,
cross-portfolio decisions may be made by
individual executive councillors in respect
of their responsibilities provided there is
agreement between the executive
member concerned on the cross-portfolio
decisions to be taken. In the absence of
this, the decisions will fall to the
Executive.

Page 147



Table 4. Scheme of Delegation and Appointment incorporating
delegation to Officers, Appointment of Proper Officers and other
specified posts

Interpretation and Application

1. The following terms shall be regarded as conferring delegated
powers:-

To administer, agree, allocate, appoint, approve, authorise, be
responsible, carry out, consider recommendations, control and develop,
deal with, decide, determine, discharge, ensure, exercise, grant, identify,
initiate and carry out, interview, issue, keep under review, make, make
decisions, review, settle, undertake, waive.

2. For the avoidance of doubt, unless otherwise indicated, the words “to
approve”, “to issue”, “to appoint” and all other such words mentioned in
paragraph 1 above shall be construed having a negative as well as a

positive meaning.

3. References to any Act or Regulation shall include any statutory
extension or modification, amendment or re-enactment of the same.

4. References to an Act shall include any regulations made under it.

5. Where any delegation requires the relevant officer to consult with the
Appropriate Members —

(a) this shall mean the appropriate executive member in relation to
executive functions

(b) this shall mean the Chairman and/or Vice-Chairman of the relevant
committee or sub-committee in relation to Council functions

(c) other than in the case of proposed planning decisions, consultation
will normally be carried out in writing (and it shall be assumed that an
Appropriate Member has no objection to the proposed decision or
action if he fails to respond within 3 days); and

(d) in cases of urgency, consultation may be other than in writing.

6. “Chief Officer” has the meaning within the Local Authorities (Standing
Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended)

6. Any powers or duties delegated to an officer may be exercised by his
or her deputy or other persons duly authorised by that officer.

Page 148

10| C



Scheme of Delegation to Officers — Planning Service

A Guide to the Officer Delegation Scheme
The scheme aims to achieve an effective balance between:

o efficiency of determination on the majority of non-contentious applications
that have limited community impact,

e being reasonably simple and easy to understand, and

e the member/community aspect by ensuring member involvement on
contentious applications through committee or the Delegation Panel and
local ward member request for applications to be presented to committee;

The Delegation Panel consists of the Chair, Vice Chair and Opposition
Spokesperson of Planning Committee. The Panel does not determine
applications or enforcement matters. Its role is to assess whether officers should
determine those applications presented to it or to refer them to Planning
Committee for determination.

Definitions

“The Act” means the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended and the
Planning (Wales) Act 2015

“Local Ward Member” means the member for the electoral division in which the
application site is located.

Planning Application means

(a) Applications for planning permission and approval of reserved matters.

(b) Applications for Listed Building Consent.

(c) Applications for Conservation Area Consent.

(d) Applications for Express Consent to Display Advertisements.

(e) Applications for Certificates of Lawfulness of Existing Use or Development
under Section 191 of the Act (jointly with the Head of Legal Services).

(f) Applications for Certificates of Lawfulness of Proposed Use or Development
under Section 192 of the Act (jointly with the Head of Legal Services).

(g) Applications to retain works or uses already carried out.
(h) Applications to remove or modify conditions of planning permissions or to
make minor material amendments to an approved scheme under Section 73 of

the Act.

(i) Applications for an approval required by a development order.

Page 149 e



(j) Proposals by statutory undertakers

(k) Notices of Proposed Development by Government Departments.

(I) Hedgerow removal notices under the Hedgerow Regulations 1997.
(m) Applications for non-material amendments to a planning permission.

Delegation to Officers

The delegation scheme authorises the following officers as set out in the
scheme:

A. Planning Applications

A.1 To determine or make observations subject to A.2 on all applications unless:

(a) The officer recommendation is contrary to a development plan policy or
proposal or other planning policy of the Council

(b) The application is to be recommended for approval and any of the following
circumstances apply:

e unresolved written objections on material planning grounds have been
received from 5 or more separate households or organisations, (excluding
Town or Community Councils) or

e itis contrary to the advice of a statutory consultee, or

e the community or town council has objected on material planning grounds
and wishes to address Planning Committee

(c) The application is:

e by or on behalf of the Council and unresolved objections on material planning
grounds have been received, or

e for development on Council-owned land or in which the Council has a direct
interest

(d) The application is submitted by an employee of the _

or one who has close involvement in the planning
application process or a member or co-opted member of the Council or by a
close relative of such an employee or member or where the application
relates to land in which any of them have an interest

(e) The local ward member has requested in writing that the application is
presented to Planning Committee

Page 150 Page 12| C



A.2 In consultation with the Delegation Panel to determine or make
observations on applications except for those relating to householder
development, advertisement applications and applications for Listed building
and Conservation Area Consent where the application is to be recommended
for approval and:

e unresolved written objections on material planning grounds have been

received from 1 — 4 separate households or organisations,

or the Community or Town Council has objected

and does not wish to address Planning

Committee, or

e the application is one to which A.1 (c) relates and no unresolved objections
on material planning grounds have been received, or
e the Local Ward Member has requested in writing the application is referred

to the Delegation Panel giVing planning feasons for that request.

A.3 To determine:
e the Council's case where there is an appeal against non-determination of
an application
e the discharge of planning conditions requiring the specific approval of
the Local Planning Authority
e toenterinto obligations under Section 106 of the Act jointly with the
Head of Legal Services, where it has been decided that planning
permission should be granted subject thereto
e that an application is a departure from the development plan
whether an Environmental Assessment is required

e whether an Appropriate Assessment is required under the Conservation
(Natural Habitats etc.) Regulations 2010 (as amended).

A.4 To make observations on planning consultations received from Brecon
Beacons National Park and adjoining authorities.

Page 151 Page 13| C



C

A.5 To decline to determine an application for planning permission under the

powers of Section 70A of the Act

A.6 To make all necessary decisions on procedural matters in connection with
the processing of applications and appeals.

B. Enforcement of Planning Control

B.1 In consultation with the Delegation Panel to determine that it is expedient to
take action and to issue the following notices and thereafter to take all
necessary steps to remedy the breach.

(a) Enforcement Notices and Stop Notices under Section 174 of the Act

(b) Listed Building Enforcement Notices under Section 38 of the Listed Building
and Conservation Areas Act 1990

(d) Notices under Section 215 of the Act

B.2 In consultation with the Delegation Panel to determine that it is not
expedient to take enforcement action.

B.3 To determine that it is expedient to take action and to issue the following
notices and to take all necessary steps to remedy the breach:

(a) Planning Contravention Notices under Section 171C of the Act (to require
information).

(b) Breach of Condition Notices under Section 187A of the Act.

(c) Enforcement Notices where planning permission has been refused for the
development.

(d) Listed Building Enforcement Notices under Section 38 of the Listed Building
and Conservation Areas Act1990

(e) Breach of Condition Enforcement Notices.

(f) Hedgerow Replacement Notices under the Hedgerow Regulations 1997.

Page 152 Page 14]C



B.4 To consider offers and representations made under Section 171C (4) of the
Act (responses to Planning Contravention Notices).

B.5 To remove _ unauthorised advertisements, placards and posters
under Sections 224 and 225 of the Act.

C. Heritage

C.1 In consultation with the Delegation Panel

e To serve building preservation notices under Section 3 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in cases of emergency.

e To authorise urgent works under section 54 of the Planning (Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

C.2 To approve grants for historic buildings under Historic Town Schemes.

D. Entry onto Land

D.1 To authorise persons to enter land under

(a) Sections 196A, 214B and 324 of the Act

(b) Section 95 of the Building Act 1984

(c) Section 293 of, and paragraph 7 of Schedule 12A to, the Highways Act 1980

(d) Section 71 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984.

E. Miscellaneous
E.1 To respond on behalf of the Council to HGV operator's licence applications.

Page 153 Page 15]|C



Schedule of Delegated Functions — General Authority to the
Chief Executive and Chief Officers

Part 1 — Delegation to be exercised following consultation with Appropriate

Members

To deal with urgent business relating to the work of a
department that cannot reasonably await the next appropriate
Executive, Council, Committee or Sub-Committee meeting, or
the requirements of the Executive and Select Committee
procedure rules.

To make ex gratia payments for loss or damage to property of up
to £300 subject to consultation with the Head of Finance.

To write off or sell surplus or obsolete equipment, vehicles and
plant valued over £1000 by a process determined in accordance
with the Head of Finance.

To make grants and donations (excluding under Welsh Church
Fund) within the terms of the relevant grants scheme or other
conditions imposed by the Council/Executive up to the relevant
aggregate budget.

Part 2 — Delegation to Chief Executive and all Chief Officers.

(a)

(b)

To have the day to day control of staff of the department under
the terms of the relevant conditions of service and (subject to
consultation with the Head of Employee Services as appropriate)
to exercise the powers granted to Chief Officers under the
Council’s disciplinary code.

To take steps necessary for the day to day management and
routine administration of the department.

To incur revenue expenditure within estimates subject to
compliance with contract procedure rules and financial
regulations of the Council.

To incur capital expenditure provided:

the project is included in the approved capital programme;

the project does not exceed the approved budget.

Page 154

16 | C



(c) the contract procedure rules and financial regulations of the
Council have been complied with.

6. To approve courses for staff not exceeding 14 days per personin
any one year.

7. To approve carry-over of leave in accordance with the Council’s
policy.

8. To deal with applications for leave without pay.

9. To authorise attendances at meetings of professional bodies.

10. To pay honoraria subject to notification to the Head of Employee
Services.

11. To manage the property under their control, including letting the
same either temporarily or in accordance with Council policy and

securing the removal of trespassers.

12. To write-off or sell minor items of obsolete equipment (up to
£1000).

13. To seek planning permission and all other consents or licences
on behalf of the Council in respect of any development
associated with the relevant Chief Officer’s responsibilities.

14. In consultation with the Head of Employee Services:

(a) to appoint or promote staff other than those on Chief Officer
related grades within approved establishment and fix
commencing salaries for such appointments and promotions.

(b) to appoint temporary staff in cases of special need or urgency.

(c) to operate national and local conditions of service.

(d) review of performance of less senior officers.

(e) to authorise overtime, honoraria payments and allocation of
car/telephone allowances.

Page 155 Page 17| C



15. In consultation with the Head of Finance to make applications
for grants from central government or any other external source.

16. To give directions under s77 of the Criminal Justice and Public
Order Act 1994 (Power of local authority to direct unauthorised
campers to leave land).

Delegation to Specific Officers

Chief Executive

Part 1 — Delegations to be exercised following consultation with Appropriate

Members.

1.  Approval of activities as ‘approved duties’.

2.  To deal with any urgent business relating to the work of more
than one Council directorate.

Part 2

1. To take any action necessary in connection with an emergency
or disaster in the County.

2.  The approval and issue of all official publicity, press statements
and official publications.

3. Toexecute a power delegated to any officer when that officer is
unable or unwilling to act.

4. To maintain a list of politically sensitive posts by adding or

deleting posts as he/she considers appropriate and to issue
certificates under Section 3(3) of the Local Government and
Housing Act 1989.

Page 156 Page 18| C



Monitoring Officer

Part 1 — Delegations to be exercised following consultation with Appropriate

None

Part 2

9.

Members.

To take all steps incidental to completing or obtaining the
confirmation of any order or other formal proceedings made by
the Council.

To serve any notice or requisition for information under any Act
requiring the owner or occupier of or any person having an
interest in or managing any land or premises to give information
to the local authority.

The maintenance of the Land Charges Register and responses to
local searches.

To take out grants of representation to a deceased's estates as creditor,

beneficiary or trustee.

To settle the amount of compensation for damage to land which
the Council is liable to pay in consequence of works carried out or
other action taken on behalf of the Council up to a maximum of
£1,000 in any one case and to report thereon to Council.

. To obtain Counsel’s opinion and to brief Counsel.

. To sign on behalf of the Council any document necessary to give

effect to any resolution of the Council, or of any Committee or Sub-
Committee acting within powers delegated by the Council.

To institute or defend civil proceedings and intervene in or appear
in proceedings before any court, the Lands Tribunal, an industrial
tribunal, a Coroner, or any other statutory tribunal or inquiry, or
arbitrator, where the interests of the Council, whether on its own
behalf or on behalf of an authority for which the Council is agent,
are involved, and to reach agreement as to settlement of such
proceedings where appropriate.

To accept service of any proceedings.

Page 157

19| C



10.

11.

12.

13.

To institute criminal proceedings in respect of offences against legislation
(including bye-laws) which the Council is authorised to enforce, and institute or
defend appeals arising out of such proceedings.

(a) In accordance with the provisions of section 101 of the Local Government
Act 1972, the Monitoring Officer may, in the circumstances mentioned in
paragraph 11(b) below, authorise another local authority to initiate and
conduct the prosecution of offences committed in the County Council's area.

(b) The circumstances are that the Monitoring Officer is satisfied
that —

(i)the offences in question are related to offences alleged to have been
committed in that other authority's area
(ii) it is expedient for the prosecution to be initiated and conducted by that other
authority.

To defend any criminal proceedings brought against the Council
and to institute or defend appeals arising out of such
proceedings.

Under section 78 of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act
1994, to make complaints to the Magistrates Court and to take
any action authorised by the Court.

14. To authorise persons to survey and enter land in connection with

15.

proposed compulsory acquisitions.

To settle all claims made on the Council not exceeding £1,000
where provision is not clearly made (in consultation with the
appropriate Chief Officer and the Head of Finance).

Deputy Chief Executive

Part 1 — De

legations to be exercised following consultation with Appropriate

Members.

1. Public Rights of Way

(a) To mak

e unopposed temporary Prohibition Orders and Notices under

Section 14 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984.

(b) Where following non-statutory pre-order consultation there is no objection,
to make the following orders, namely:

Page 158 20]¢



(i) Public Path Orders under Section 257 of the Act (to enable
development to be carried out in accordance with planning
permission granted);

(ii) Modification Orders and Reclassification Orders under Sections 53
and 54 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981,

(iii) Public Path Extinguishment and Diversion Orders under Sections 118,
119 and 120 of the Highways Act 1980.

(c) To determine not to proceed with any such order.
(d) To grant authorisations under Section 33 of the Road Traffic Act 1988.
(e) To authorise permissive path agreements.

(f) To authorise public path creation agreements under section 25 of the
Highways Act 1980.

2. Tree Preservation
(a) To make provisional tree preservation orders under s.201 of the Act.

(b) Applications for consent for the cutting down, topping, lopping or
destruction of trees under Sections 198 and 211 of the Act.

3. To exercise the Council’s functions under Part IX of the Housing Act 1985 (Demolition and
Closing Orders).

4. To acquire museum exhibits of value over £1000 (subject also to consultation
with the Head of Finance

Part 2

Public Rights of Way

1. To give notices under Section 14(2) of the Road Traffic Regulation
Act 1984 in cases of emergency.

2. To serve notices and where necessary arrange for work to be
carried out in default and recover costs incurred in relation to
protection and restoration of public rights of way.

3. To make observations on orders proposed to be made by the
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.

4. To authorise erection of stiles etc. on footpaths and bridleways
under section 147 of the Highways Act 1980.

Page 159 2t ¢



5. To authorise applications to the magistrates' court to divert or
extinguish public rights of way under section 116 of the Highways
Act 1980.

6. Where, following the relevant statutory period no objections have
been received or where such objections have been withdrawn, to
confirm the orders specified in paragraph 1 (b) in Part 1 above.

7. To authorise the provision of barriers etc. under section 66(2) and
(3) of the Highways Act 1980.

Conservation

8. To approve grants for historic buildings under Historic Town
Schemes.

Tree Preservation

9. Toserve notices under Section 207 of the Act to plant replacement
trees and to subsequently monitor.

10. To confirm tree preservation orders where no objections were
made or where all objections have been withdrawn.

Entry onto Land
11. To authorise persons to enter land under

(a) Sections 196A, 214B and 324 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990

(b)  Section 95 of the Building Act 1984

(c)  Section 293 of, and paragraph 7 of Sched. 12A to, the Highways
Act 1980

(d) Section 71 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984.

(e) Highways Act 1980

(f)  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

(g) Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.

Leisure Services

12. To authorise free entry to any of the Council’s museums for
organised parties.

Page 160 2] ¢



Housing

13. To authorise and carry out the destruction of any exhibits
which are considered by him to be a considerable risk to other
exhibits.

14. To authorise the fee for taking photographs inside any of the
Council’s museums to be waived in any cases considered
appropriate.

15. To acquire museum exhibits up to £1,000 (in consultation
with the Head of Finance).

16. To manage the Council’s housing stock.

17(a) To deal with and take all decisions in relation to
homelessness applications.

(b) To authorise payment in respect of accommodation
provided other than by the Council in circumstances of
homelessness.

18. To administer housing schemes under which the Council sells
and purchases properties so as to provide low-cost housing.

19. To approve and refuse applications for housing renovation
grants.

20. The service of notices, certificates of disrepair, etc., under the
Rent Acts.

Miscellaneous

21. Torespond on behalf of the Council to HGV operator's licence
applications.

Head of Finance

Part1

1. To exercise discretions relating to Community Charge, Council Tax and
National Non-Domestic Rates where the Council has not established a policy on
how such discretions might be exercised.

Page 161

23| C



Part 2

1. (a) To manage the Council’s treasury function in accordance with

the Treasury Management Strategy established annually.

(b) To write-off debts in accordance with the Council’s Sundry
Debtor Policy.

(c) To agree charges for council services which may be made
available to outside bodies.

(d) To enter into finance or operational leasing arrangements or
other off balance sheet arrangements to give effect to decisions
to acquire vehicles, plant, equipment, etc.

(e) To administer the Council’s scheme for loans for car purchase
and car leasing.

(f) To determine the manner in which and conditions on which
invoices or accounts should be issued.

(g) To make declarations as to rates of interest under Paragraph 3
of Schedule 16 to the Housing Act 1985.

2. To administer the schemes in relation to Housing Benefit and

5.

Council Tax Benefit; taking such decisions and giving such
notices and all other action as may be necessary for their efficient
administration.

Either the Head of Finance or the Head of Audit, Resources and
Performance Management (personally) to conduct the first review
under such benefit schemes.

(a) To administer the statutory provisions relating to Community
Charge, Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates.

(b) To exercise discretions relating to Community Charge, Council
Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates where the Council has
established a policy on how such discretions might be
exercised.

To manage the fund administered by the Council in accordance

with the scheme made under Section 19 of the Welsh Church Act
1914.

Page 162

24| C



10.

11.

12.

13.

To sign cheques, bailiff warrants, bonds, securities and loans;
provided that cheques in excess of £50,000 shall be countersigned
by either the Head of Audit, Resources and Performance
Management or the Head of Resources & Corporate Services.

To pay all accounts and to receive all income.

To deal with all insurance issues including risk management.

To manage arrangements with the Council’s bankers.

To sign all statutory financial returns, accounts, grants and subsidy
claims.

To instruct valuers for purposes of capital accounting, in
consultation with the Monitoring Officer.

To approve housing guarantees and advances for house purchase
and improvements (and to consider applications for consent
under deeds of mortgage).

To act as principal point of contact with the Council’s external
auditors.

Head of Operations

Part 1 - Delegations to be exercised following consultation with Appropriate

Members.

To authorise the preparation and submission by the DSO of tender bids,
guotations, etc., for works offered by bodies other than the Council of a value
estimated greater than £400,000 per annum.

Part 2
1.
2.
3.
Highways

To authorise the preparation and submission by the DSO of tender
bids, quotations, etc., for work offered by the Council.

To authorise the preparation and submission by the DSO of tender
bids, quotations, etc., for works offered by bodies other than the

Council of a value estimated up to £400,000 per annum.

To manage and administer the Council’s electronic data and
telephony network in accordance with corporate standards.

Page 163

25| C



4. lIssuing of permissions and licences in accordance with the
provisions of the Highways Act 1980, the New Road and Street
Works Act 1991, the Land Drainage Act 1976 and the Public Health
Act 1936.

5. The serving of notices, but not their enforcement, in accordance
with the provisions of the Highways Act 1980, the New Roads and
Street Works Act 1991, the Land Drainage Act 1976 and the Public
Health Act 1936.

6. To respond on behalf of the Council to HGV Operators' licence
applications.

7. Authorise the making of agreements under section 38 of the
Highways Act 1980.

8. Enforcement of car parking orders.

9. To respond to planning applications on behalf of the Council as
Highway Authority.

10. To authorise applications to the magistrates' court to divert or
extinguish highways, under section 116 of the Highways Act 1980.

11. To authorise persons to enter land and/or premises for the
purpose of:- - undertaking surveys pursuant to section 289 of the
Highways Act 1980; and - maintaining, altering or removing certain
structures and works pursuant to section 291 of the Highways Act
1980.
Waste

1. To authorise officers under the Environmental Protection Act 1990
to:

(a) To serve notices under sections 46 and 47.
(b) To issue fixed penalty notices under sections 34, 47ZA and 88.

(c) To investigate alleged contraventions of sections 33 and 34.

2. To authorise officers to serve fixed penalty notices for contraventions
of the Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996.

Chief Officer - Social Care and Health

In respect of social services functions:-

Part 1 - Delegations to be exercised following consultation with Appropriate Members.

Page 164

26| C



1. To make decisions to exempt persons from the usual fostering limit
in accordance with paragraph 4 of Schedule 7 to the Children Act
1989.

2. To cancel an eviction in the event of a change in circumstances.

3. To approve the registration of HOMES applications within Council
policy.

4. To determine all succession and assignment cases in accordance
with Council policy.

5. To take action under the National Assistance Act 1948 to remove
persons in need of care to hospital.

6. To determine whether repayment of housing renovation grants
should be sought (where this is a discretionary matter).

Part 2

Children

1. To maintain the Child Protection Register.

2. To undertake assessments of the need for care and support, determine eligibility and
make arrangements for meeting those assessed needs of children in accordance with
the Council’s statutory duties under the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act
2014.

3. To safeguard and promote the well-being of looked after children in accordance with
Section 78 of the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014

4, To exercise the Council’s functions under Part 6 of the Social Services and Well-Being
(Wales) Act 2014 to secure sufficient accommodation and maintenance for looked
after children and to maintain and review care and support plans.

5. To exercise the functions of the Council under Sections 120 and 121 of the Social
Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 in relation to children accommodated by
health and education authorities or in residential care homes or mental nursing
homes.

6. To exercise all duties and functions of the Council under the Children and Young
Persons Act 1969.

7. To exercise the powers and duties of the Council under Part Il of the Children Act

1989 (Local Authority Support for Children and Families).

Page 165 271 ¢



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

To commence such proceedings as are appropriate under Sections 25, 31, 34, 35, 39,
43, 44 and 49 of the Children Act 1989 and otherwise to exercise the powers and
duties of the Council under Parts 4 (Care and Supervision) and 5 (Protection of
Children) of the Act.

To exercise the duties of the Council under Section 7 of the Children Act 1989 to
report to the court on the welfare of children in private proceedings.

To exercise the duties of the Council under Section 16 of the Children Act 1989, to
provide advice, assistance and befriending under the terms of the Family Assistance
Order.

To recover, vary or waive the charges for any service provided by the Council under
Part 3 of the Children Act 1989 and part 6 of the Social Services and Well-being
(Wales) Act 2014.

To make contributions towards the maintenance of children placed with a person as
a result of a Residence Order in accordance with paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to the
Children Act 1989.

To approve payment where appropriate of the legal expenses of applicants for
orders under Section 8 of the Children Act 1989 in respect of children in care to the
extent that they are not met by the Legal Aid Fund.

To consent to the change of names of children who are the subject of a Care Order in
favour of the County Council subject to the requirements of Section 33 of the
Children Act 1989.

To appoint an independent visitor for a child where appropriate in accordance with
paragraph 17 of Schedule 2 to the Children Act 1989.

To guarantee apprenticeship and similar deeds under paragraph 18 of Schedule 2 to
the Children Act 1989 and to guarantee tenancy agreements entered into on behalf
of children to whom the Council have a responsibility under the provisions of the
Children Act 1989.

To give consent to the marriage of a young person in care pursuant to Section 3 of
the Marriage Act 1949.

To approve and sign applications for passports for children and young persons in the
care of the Council.

To arrange for a child in care to live abroad subject to the approval of the courtin*
accordance with paragraph 19 of Schedule 2 to the Children Act 1989.

Page 166 28| ¢



20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

To respond to the Local Education Authority who has consulted the Council under
Section 36(8) of the Children Act 1989.

To approve the applications of children and young persons in the care of the Council
who wish to joint HM Forces.

To exercise the powers of the Council under Section 125 of the Social Services and
Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 in relation to the death of children looked after by local
authorities.

To exercise the functions of the Council under Part VI (Community Homes) of the
Children Act 1989 in relation to the provision of accommodation for children in
community homes.

To take such action as may be necessary to implement the payments of the various
foster care allowances for the time being approved by the Council within current
budgetary limits and in consultation with the Director of Finance and IT to increase
the allowances annually.

To sanction payments of the cost of the initial clothing and equipment required by
children looked after by the Council who are placed in boarding schools and other
establishments within current budgetary limits.

To approve applications to go on school expeditions, including expeditions abroad,
by children looked after by the Council, including expenditure on equipment and
pocket money within current budgetary limits.

To make ex gratia payments in respect of damage or injury resulting from the action
of children looked after by the Council.

To make payments to promote contact between parents and children looked after
by the Council in accordance with Section 96 of the Social Services and Well-Being *
(Wales) Act 2014.

To assess the contributions to be paid towards board and lodging by working
children provided that the amount remaining of weekly personal pocket money and
clothing allowance should not be less than the amount currently approved under the
payment of foster care allowances.

To exercise the powers of the Council to make applications under Section 18 of the
Adoption Act 1976.

To make applications under the Criminal Injuries Compensation Board Scheme for
compensation in respect of children in care.

Adoption

Page 167 2|c¢



1. To set up an adoption panel in accordance with Regulation 56 of
the Adoption Agencies Regulations 1983 and to make such
decisions and notifications as to the adoption of children as are
specified in those Regulations.

2. To approve the institution of adoption proceedings by foster
parents.

3. Toapprove the payment of legal expenses of prospective adoptive
parents for children who are being placed for adoption by the
Council as an adoption agency.

4. To grant allowances to persons who have adopted children in
accordance with Section 57 of the Adoption Act 1976.

Guardian ad Litem Panel

5. To maintain a panel of Guardians ad Litem in accordance with the
Guardians ad Litem and Reporting Officers (Panels) Regulations
1991.

6. To pay the fees and expenses of individual members of the panel
in accordance with the Regulations.

Registration Functions

7. To exercise the powers conferred on the Council under Part IX
(Private Arrangements for Fostering Children) of the Children Act
1989 in respect of arrangements for the care of privately fostered
children.

8. In consultation with an authorised officer of the appropriate
Health Authority, to approve the registration of nursing agencies
under Section 2 of the Nurses Agencies Act 1957.

9. To exercise the functions of the Council under Sections 85, 86 and
87 of the Children Act 1989. (Notification of children
accommodated in certain establishments).

Adult Services
10. To undertake assessments of the need for care and support,

determine eligibility and make arrangements for meeting those
assessed needs of adults and carers in accordance with the

Page 168 0]¢



11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Council’s statutory duties under the Social Services and Well-Being
(Wales) Act 2014

To exercise the Council’s functions under Part 4 of the Social
Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 to maintain and review
care and support plans to meet the assed needs of adults and
carers.

To exercise the Council’s functions under Section 15 of the Social
Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 in providing or arranging
preventative services, to include delaying the need for care and
support, minimizing the effect on disabled persons of their
disabilities and preventing people from suffering from abuse and
neglect.

To be responsible for discharging the Council’s safeguarding role
in relation to adults at risk in accordance with part 7 of the Social
Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014.

To waive the assessment charge for any services to clients in
circumstances where it is essential for the family for social and/or
medical reasons and to record every case requiring such action in
the register to be provided for this purpose.

To authorise and approve the maintenance costs for the admission
of any person to any residential accommodation.

To authorise the following facilities for any registered disabled
person within the approved budget and within approved policies:-

(a) Attendance at a centre providing appropriate development

opportunities.

(b) The provision of special facilities.

(c) Minor alterations and adaptations to premises including the

installation of appropriate equipment, the works to be
supervised by the appropriate professional staff.

(d) Contribute where assessed as appropriate to the cost of

39.

adaptations to premises where the client is not eligible for a
grant.

To act as receiver in all matters in which it is appropriate for an

officer of the Council to so act.

Page 169

31| C



40. To accept guardianship application and to make an order for
discharge of patients subject to guardianship under the Mental Health
Act 1983.

41. To appoint officers to act as approved social workers under the
Mental Health Act 1983.

42. To make appropriate applications to the Court of Protection for
receivership orders.

43. To exercise the Council’s functions in relation to badges for
disabled persons as drivers or passengers.

44. Within the approved policies and estimates of the Council to
discharge the duties towards people with disabilities imposed upon
the Council by the National Assistance Act 1948, the Chronically Sick
and Disabled Persons Act 1970 and the Disabled Persons (Services
Consultation Representation) Act 1986.

45. Within the provisions of the National Health Service and
Community Care Act 1990 to arrange for provision of appropriate care
service to those persons assessed as having needs that fall within the
Council’s agreed priorities subject always to appropriate contract and
financial regulations, the approved estimates and policies of the
Council.

Complaints

46. Within the arrangements for the hearing of representations and
complaints in accordance with Part 10 of the Social Services and Well-
Being (Wales) Act 2014 to respond to and determine responses to
recommendations of Complaint Review Panels (including application
of financial redress) as considered appropriate within the framework
of the Council’s policies on remedies to complaints, financial
regulations and, where necessary, in consultation with the Monitoring
Officer.

Chief Officer — Social Care and Health

In respect of regulatory and licensing functions:-

Part 1 - Delegations to be exercised following consultation with Appropriate
Members.

1. Urgent matters with regard to safety at sports grounds.

Page 170 zlc



2. To take enforcement action to gain improvement to private water
supplies under section 80 of the Water Industry Act 1991.

3. Toissue prior consents under section 61 of the Control of Pollution
Act 1974 (construction noise).

4. To authorise the issue of the following licences and, where
necessary, enforce the legislation relating to licences:

For breeding of dogs

For caravan sites

For milk and dairies

For pet animals (other than dogs)

Under the Animal Boarding Establishment Act 1963 for riding stables

For scrap metal dealers

For hairdressers

Under the Poultry Meat (Hygiene) Regulations
For performing animals

For dangerous wild animals

For zoos

5. To make an order under section 70 of the Criminal Justice and
Public Order Act 1994.

6. In consultation also with the local member, where appropriate,
to authorise the issue of licences and permits etc., under, and
where necessary enforce, the following Acts or the legislation
relating to the specified matters:-

Cinema Act 1985

Theatres Act 1968

Sunday Entertainments Act 1932 (as amended)
Theatrical Employers Registration Acts 1925 and 1928
Lotteries and Amusements Act 1976

Gaming Act 1968

Street Collection Permits

Game Dealers Licences

Licences for House to House Collections

Public Collections under the Charities Act 1992
Late Night Refreshment Houses Act

7. To serve Street Litter Control Notices under Part IV of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990.

Part 2

Page 171

33|C



Environmental Health

1. To serve any notice or requisition for information under any Act
relating to any environmental health or private sector housing
matter and requiring the owner or occupier of, or any person having
an interest in, or managing any land or premises, to give
information to the Council and to authorise such other officers as
are appropriate to serve such notice or requisition.

2. To determine applications for licences for game.

3. To authorise the removal of abandoned vehicles including the
recovery of costs.

4. To take action under the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984
in relation to the control of communicable diseases and in
particular to authorise officers (in addition to the Environmental
Health Manager):

5. To register:

(i) On behalf of the Proper Officer to require information from
a person in the case of a notifiable disease or food poisoning
(s18); On behalf of the Proper officer, to issue a notice in
writing to request a person to discontinue work (s20);

(ii) On behalf of the Proper Officer, to exclude from school a
child liable to convey a notifiable disease (s21);

(iii) On behalf of the Proper officer, to require a list of pupils at
a school having a case of notifiable disease (s22)

(iv) To exclude children from places of entertainment or
assembly (s23)

(v) To prohibit certain work on premises where a notifiable
disease exists (s28)

(vi) To cleanse or disinfect premises and destroy articles (s31)

(vii)  To sign any notice, order or other document which the
authority are authorised or required by or under the Act to

give, make or issue (s59).

(viii) Power of entry (s61)

Page 172

34| C



(@) persons and premises under s14 and s15 of the Local
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 relating to
acupuncture, tattooing, ear piercing and electrolysis, and

(b) persons and premises under s19 of that Act (Sale of Food by
Hawkers)

6. To approve furnaces and chimney heights under the Clean Air Acts.

7. To enforce the provisions of s16 and s19 of and Schedule 2 to the Food and
Protection Act 1985 (including the appointment of authorised officers) and
the Control of Pesticides Regulations 1986.

8. To authorise officers generally or specially for the purposes of the Food
Safety Act 1990.

9. To enforce the provisions of the Health and Safety at Work etc., Act 1974.

10. To exercise the Council’s powers under s19 (1) of the Health and Safety at
Work etc. Act 1974 in relation to the appointment of inspectors.

11. To exercise the Council’s functions under s16 (6) of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 in relation to the appointment of inspectors.

12. To deal with applications under Schedule 2 to the Noise and Statutory
Nuisance Act 1993 and to determine the level of fee chargeable for an
application dependent upon the circumstances of each case.

13. To take urgent action in relation to matters of animal health.

14. To exercise the Council’s functions under legislation relating to food and
drugs, food hygiene, offices shops and railway premises.

15. To serve notices and, where necessary, arrange for work to be carried out
in default and recover costs incurred in relation to the drainage of existing
buildings including private sewers.

16. To authorise persons to enter land and/or premises under any of the
following Acts:

a) Riding Establishments Acts 1964 and 1970

b) Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984

c) Water Industry Act 1991

d) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and 1982

Page 173

35| C



Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 as amended
by Local Govt. (Misc. Provisions) Act 1982

Control of Pollution Act 1974

Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978

Environment Act 1995

Sunday Trading Act 1994

Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949

European Communities Act 1972 and regulations made there
under.

Antisocial Behaviour Act 2003, part 8 (High Hedges): Section 74
(Powers of entry)

m) Public Health Act 1936

n)
0)
p)
a)

r)
s)
t)
u)

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

Public Health Act 1961;

Health and Safety at Work etc., Act 1974;

Building Act 1984 (for drainage purposes)

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (for
purposes of public entertainment licensing, acupuncture,
tattooing, ear-piercing and electrolysis)

Food Safety Act 1990;

Environmental Protection Act 1990;”

Housing Act 2004

Animal Welfare Act 2006

To authorise officers under the Dangerous Dogs Act 1991.

In respect of statutory nuisances, to serve notices and to take
action in default and to authorise Environmental Health Officers
to serve notices under s80 Environmental Protection Act 1990 and
to take action under section 81 to abate a nuisance.

To authorise officers for the purpose of Paragraph 2A of Schedule
3 to the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (entry to or opening
vehicles, etc.).

(a) To obtain information about the emission of pollutants and
other substances into the air under s79(2) of the Control of

Pollution Act 1974.

(b) To serve notices requiring information about air pollution
under s80 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974.

(c)To serve notices under s93 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974.

To take action under s20 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976 for the provision of sanitary accommodation.

Page 174

36| C



22. To administer the provisions of Part 1 of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 (schedule B processes) including the
appointment of officers as inspectors, under s16 of the Act, for
the purposes of enforcement of Part 1 of the Act. The Council’s
powers in relation to authorisations and enforcement generally
under Part 1 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 is
delegated to officers duly appointed as inspectors under Part 1 of
the Act, in line with such authority as may be approved by the
Chief Officer — Enterprise

23. To authorise officers under Part Il of the Clean Neighbourhoods &
Environment Act 2005.

24. To authorise officers under the Refuse Disposal Amenity Act 1978.

25. To authorise officers to serve a Litter Clearing Notice under Part
IV of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

26. To authorise officers under Part IV of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990.

28. To authorise officers to serve Fixed Penalty Notices under
section 47ZA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

29. To authorise officers under Part 6 Chapter 1 of the Clean
Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005.

30. To exercise the Council’s functions as contained in the Water
Industry Act 1991 in relation to private water supplies.

31. To authorise officers under the European Communities Act 1972
and regulations made thereunder, including the Food Labelling
Regulations 1996, the General Food Regulations 2004, the Official
Feed and Food Controls (Wales) Regulations 2007, the Imported Food
Regulations 1997 and the Products of Animal Origin (Third Country
Imports (Wales) Amendment) Regulations 2007 and to appoint and
authorise officers under the Food Hygiene (Wales) Regulations 2005
and the Food Hygiene (Wales)(No. 2) Regulations 2005.

32. To authorise officers under the provisions of Part 1, Chapterl of
the Health Act 2006 with discretion to serve fixed penalty notices in
accordance with that Act, any subordinate legislation and related
guidance.

Page 175

37|C



33. To authorise officers to take action, including the service of
notices under the following provisions of the Public Health 1936:

(a) s45 to remedy defective sanitary conveniences
(b) s50 to remedy overflowing and leaking cesspools
(c) s83 to remedy filthy or verminous premises

34. To authorise officers to take action, including the service of
notices under s17 of the Public Health 1961 (repair of stopped up
drains)

35. To authorise officers for the purpose of enforcement of the Dogs
(Fouling of Land) Act 1996, including the issue of a fixed penalty notice
in relation to dog fouling offences.

36. To authorise officers to take enforcement action under the
Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 and regulations made
thereunder including those functions under the Environmental
Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2007; including the
granting, variation and revocation of Environmental Permits, the
service of Enforcement Notices and Suspension Notices and the
Power to prevent or remedy pollution, and the Power to require the
provision of information.

37. To authorise officers to discharge the local authority’s functions
under the Water Industry Act 1991, including the service of notices
under s80 and enforcement action under any Regulations made
thereunder.

38. To authorise officers to serve notices under s60 of the Control of
Pollution Act 1974.

39. To authorise persons to serve notices under s4 of the Prevention
of Damage by Pests Act 1949 requiring steps to be taken for the
destruction of rats or mice or otherwise for keeping the land free from
rats and mice and, subject to the approval of the Environmental
Health Manager, to take action in default (s5);

40. To authorise Food Law Enforcement Officers considered by the
Head of Public Protection to be competent to discharge the general
duties and powers of the Authority under the Food Hygiene Rating
(Wales) Act 2013 and any regulations made thereunder.

Page 176

38| C



41. To appoint authorised officers under the Sunbeds (Regulation)
Act 2010 and any associated regulations:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

to enter any premises at which the officer has reason to
believe that a sunbed business is being carried on;

to carry out on those premises such inspections as the
officer considers necessary for the purpose of the proper
exercise of the officer's functions;

where the officer considers it necessary for that purpose,
to require the production of any book, document or
record (in whatever form it is held) and inspect it, and
take copies of or extracts from it;

to take possession of any book, document or record
which is on the premises (in whatever form it is held) and
retain it for as long as the officer considers necessary for
that purpose;

to require any person to give such information, or afford
such facilities and assistance, as the officer considers
necessary for that purpose.

To may make such purchases and secure the provision of
such services as the officer considers necessary for the
purpose of the proper exercise of the officer's functions
and to undertake any such other powers as may be
considered by the Head of Public Protection to be
appropriate under any subsequent regulation made
under the Act.

42. To authorise officers under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014 to:-
(a) To issue Community Protection Notices (CPN) (section 43)
(b) To take remedial action in default of CPN (section 47)
(c) To issue fixed penalty notices (sections 52 and 68)
(d) To issue a Closure Notice (sections 76 and 77)

Trading Standards

42. To exercise the registration and enforcement functions of the
Council contained in the Explosives Act 1875.

43. To provide under the Weights and Measures Act 1985 local
standards and other weights, measures and testing equipment;

Page 177

39| C



and to exercise the enforcement functions of the Council as
weights and measures authority.

To authorise officers to enter land, inspect and undertake
enforcement action and/or take action in the public interest as
appropriate pursuant to the:-

Accommodation Agencies Act 1953
Administration of Justice Act 1970

Agriculture (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1968
Agriculture Act 1970 as it applies to Animal Feeding Stuffs and
Fertilisers;
Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963
Animal Health Acts 1981
Animal Health and Welfare Act 1984
Animal Welfare Act 2006
Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003

Anti-Social Behaviour Crime & Policing Act 2014
Cancer Act 1939

Charities Acts 1992 and 2006

Children and Families Act 2014

Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act
1991;

Clean Air Acts 1956 — 1993

Clean Neighbourhood and Environment Act 2005
Climate Change Act 2008

Commons Registration Act 1965/2006
Companies Act 2006

Consumer Credit Act 1974 & 2006

Consumer Protection Act 1987

Consumer Rights Act 2015

Control of Horses (Wales) Act 2014

Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988

Courts and Legal Services Act 1990

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 1990
Criminal Justice Act 1982, 1988 and 1991
Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001

Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1984
Crossbows Act 1987

Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976
Development of Tourism Act 1969

Dogs Act 1906

Education Reform Act 1988

Energy Act 1976

Enterprise Act 2002

Page 178

40| C



Environment Act 1995

Environmental Protection Act 1990

Estate Agents Act 1979

European Communities Act 1972

Explosives Act 1875

Factories Act 1961

Fair Trading Act 1973

Farm and Garden Chemicals Act 1967

Financial Services Act 2012

Firearms Act 1968

Fireworks Act 2003

Food Safety Act 1990

Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981

Fraud Act 2006

Gambling Act 2005

Hallmarking Act 1973

Health Act 2006

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974

Highways Act 1980

House to House Collections Act 1939

Housing Act 2004

Intoxicating Substances (Supply) Act 1985
Knives Act 1997

Legal Services Act 2007

Licensing Act 2003

Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Acts 1976 and
1982

Local Government Acts 1972 — 2003

Malicious Communications Act 1988
Medicines Act 1968

Mock Auctions Act 1961

Motorcycles Noise Act 1987

Motor Vehicles (Safety Equipment for Children) Act 1991
National Lotteries Act 1993

Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006
Offensive Weapons Act 1996

Olympic Symbol (Protection) Act 1995
Performance of Animals (Regulations) Act 1925
Pet Animals Act 1951

Petroleum (Consolidation) Act 1928
Psychoactive Substances Act 2016

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011
Prices Act 1974 and 1975

Proceeds of Crime Act 2002

Protection of Animals (Amendment) Act 2000

Page 179 alc



45.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Riding Establishments Acts 1964 to 1970
Road Traffic (Foreign Vehicles) Act 1972
Road Traffic Acts 1974 — 1988

Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013

Slaughter of Poultry Act 1967

Sunbeds (Regulation) Act 2010

Sunday Trading Act 1994

Tattooing of Minors Act 1969

Theft Acts 1968 and 1978

Timeshare Act 1992

Tobacco Advertising and Promotion Act 2002
Town Police Clauses Act 1847

Trade Descriptions Act 1968

Trade Marks Act 1994

Trading Schemes Act 1996

Unsolicited Goods and Services Acts 1971 and 1975

Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001
Video Recordings Acts 2010
Weights and Measures Act 1985

Having obtained the agreement of the Monitoring Officer, to lay
information in respect of offences under the Acts listed in paragraphs
27 to 39 above and the following:-

Enterprise Act 2002

Tobacco Advertising and Promotion Act 2002
Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001

Vehicle Crimes Act 2001

Licensing (Young Persons) Act 2000
Protection of Animals (Amendment) Act 2000
Knives Act 1997

Offensive Weapons Act 1996

Olympic Symbol (Protection) Act 1995

Clean Air Act 1993

National Lottery Act 1993

Malicious Communications Act 1988
Protection of Children (Tobacco) Act 1986
Energy Conservation Act 1981

Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981
Unsolicited Goods and Services Act 1975
Administration of Justice Act 1970
Development of Tourism Act 1969

Licensing Act 1964

Mock Auctions Act 1961

Page 180

42| C



Protection of Animals (Anaesthetics) Act 1954
Accommodation Agencies Act 1953

Pet Animals Act 1951

Dogs Act 1906 and Dogs (Amendment) Act 1928

And any other legislation within the ambit of the Trading
Standards section.

46. To appoint for enforcement purposes:

(a) Inspectors under the Agriculture Act 1970 as it applies to animal
feeding stuffs and fertilisers;

(b) Inspectors under the Animal Health Acts 1981 and 1984;

(c) Officers under the Consumer Protection Act 1987;

(d) Officers under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 as it
applies to sale, labelling etc. of pesticides and dangerous

substances;

(e) Officers under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 (the
1974 Act)

(i) to exercise the powers of an Inspector specified in sections 20,
21, 22, 25 and in England and Wales section 39 of the 1974 Act

(i) any health and safety regulations

(iii) the provisions of the Acts mentioned in Schedule 1 to the 1974
Act which are specified in the third column of that Schedule and
of the regulations, orders or other instruments of a legislative
character made or having effect under any provision so
specified, as in force from time to time.

(f) Officers under the Licensing Act 2003

(g) Officers under Part Il of the Clean Neighbourhoods &
Environment Act 2005

(h) Officers under the Refuse Disposal Amenity Act 1978

(i) Environmental Health Officers to serve a Litter Clearing Notice
under Part IV of the Environmental Protection Act 1990

Page 181

43| C



(j) Officers under Part IV of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

(k) Officers to serve Fixed Penalty Notices under s47ZA of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990

(I) Officers under Part 6 Chapter 1 of the Clean Neighbourhoods &
Environment Act 2005

Licensing

47. No delegations have been made to specific officers under the
Gambling Act 2005

48. In relation to the hackney carriage and private hire licensing
functions, to approve applications for drivers' licences where they are
unproblematic and/or reveal minor traffic offences and/or the
applicants had not received any additional convictions/endorsements
since the previous licences were issued.

49. To determine (including imposition of conditions) application for
a Pleasure Boat Licence pursuant to s94 Public Health Amenities Act
1907

Building Regulations

50. To deal with applications under the Building Regulations
including relaxation, dispensation and enforcement thereof.

51. To serve notices and take any necessary action in respect of
demolition works, dangerous buildings, walls, stands, trees, places,
hoardings and other structures.

Private Sector Housing

52. (a) To serve notices in respect of unfit houses under s189 and
s264 of the Housing Act 1985.

(b) To serve repair notices under s190 of the Housing Act 1985.

(c) To authorise work in default of compliance with notices served
under s190 of the Housing Act 1985.

(d) To exercise the Council's functions as contained in Part Xl of the
Housing Act 1985 in relation to houses in multiple occupation.

(e) To exercise the powers conferred on Councils under the Housing
Act 2004

Page 182 “mic



- Part 1.

(f)

(g)

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

(1)

To carry out inspections of any residential premises to see if a
Category 1 or Category 2 hazard exists.

To take appropriate enforcement action where a Category 1 or
Category 2 hazard exists, this includes:

(i) Serving an Improvement Notice. (Housing Act 2004
s11-s12)

(ii) Making a Prohibition Order (Housing Act 2004 s20 -
s21)

(iii) Serving a Hazard Awareness Notice. (Housing Act
2004 s28 - s29)

(iv) Taking emergency remedial action. (Housing Act
2004 Section 40)

(v) Making an Emergency Prohibition Order. (Housing
Act 2004 s43)

To suspend Improvement Notices and to review such
Improvement Notices. (Housing Act 2004 s14)

To revoke or vary Improvement Notices and to suspend and
review suspended Improvement Notices. (Housing Act 2004 s16)

To suspend Prohibition Orders and to review such Prohibition
Orders. (Housing Act 2004 s23)

To revoke or vary Prohibition Orders and to suspend and review
suspended Prohibition Orders. (Housing Act 2004 s25)

To serve an Overcrowding Notice. (Housing Act 2004 s139)

(m) To revoke or vary Overcrowding Notice. (Housing Act 2004 s144)

(n)

To take enforcement action under Schedule 3 (works in default).

- To exercise the powers conferred on Councils under the Housing Act
2004 Part 2).

(p) To operate and manage any H.M.O. licensing scheme.

Page 183

45| C



54,

(q) To compile and maintain a public register of licensed H.M.Os.
(Housing Act 2004 s232)

(r) To impose conditions relating to the management of a H.M.O.
(Housing Act 2004 s67)

(s) To serve or decide not to serve a Temporary Exemption Notice.
(Housing Act 2004 s62)

(t) To require a fee for H.M.O. licensing.

(u) To grant or refuse a H.M.O. licence. (Housing Act 2004 s.64)

(v) To vary or revoke a H.M.O. licence. (Housing Act 2004 s69 - 70)

(w)To apply to A Residential Property Tribunal to make a Rent
Repayment Order and to serve a Notice of Intended Proceedings.

(Housing Act 2004 s73)

(x) To make an Interim and Final Management Order. (Housing Act
2004 5102 and s113)

(y) To authorise officers to enter premises to carry out work under
Housing Act 2004 s131, Schedule 3 para. 3 (4) and Schedule 7 para.
25.

(z) To require the production of documents under Section 235.

(aa) To enter premises for the purposes of survey and examination
under s.239.

(bb) To apply to a Justice of the peace for a warrant to authorise entry.

(cc) To authorise officers for enforcement purposes. (Housing Act 2004 s243)
To carry out relevant functions under the Housing Act 2004, such
delegation to include the authorisation of Environmental Health Officers

including:

(a) To exercise the powers conferred on Councils under the
Housing Act 2004 - Part One.

(b) To carry out inspections of any residential premises to
see if a Category 1 or Category 2 hazard exists.

Page 184 e



(c)

To take appropriate enforcement action where a

Category 1 or Category 2 hazard exists, this includes:

(i) Serving an Improvement Notice. (Housing Act 2004 s11 -

s12)

(ii) Making a Prohibition Order. (Housing Act 2004 s20 - s21)
(iii) Serving a Hazard Awareness Notice. (Housing Act 2004

s28 —s29)

(iv) Taking emergency remedial action. (Housing Act 2004

s40)

(v) Making an Emergency Prohibition Order. (Housing Act

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

(i)

(i)

(k)

(1

(m)

(n)

2004 s43)

To suspend Improvement Notices and to review such
Improvement Notices. (Housing Act 2004 s14)

To revoke or vary Improvement Notices and to suspend
and review suspended Improvement Notices. (Housing Act
2004 s16)

To suspend Prohibition Orders and to review such
Prohibition Orders. (Housing Act 2004 s23)

To revoke or vary Prohibition Orders and to suspend and
review suspended Prohibition Orders. (Housing Act 2004
s25)

To serve an Overcrowding Notice. (Housing Act 2004 s139)

To revoke or vary Overcrowding Notice. (Housing Act 2004
s144)

To take enforcement action under Schedule 3 (works in
default).

To exercise the powers conferred on Councils under the
Housing Act 2004 - Part 2).

To operate and manage any H.M.O. licensing scheme.

To compile and maintain a public register of licensed
H.M.O.'s. (Housing Act 2004 s232)

To impose conditions relating to the management of a
H.M.O. (Housing Act 2004 s67)

Page 185

47| C



(o) To serve or decide not to serve a Temporary Exemption
Notice. (Housing Act 2004 s62)

(p) Torequire a fee for H.M.O. licensing.
(q) Tograntor refuse a H.M.O. licence. (Housing Act 2004 s64)

(r) To vary or revoke a H.M.O. licence. (Housing Act 2004 s69
-70)

(s) To apply to A Residential Property Tribunal to make a Rent
Repayment Order and to serve a Notice of Intended
Proceedings. (Housing Act 2004 s73)

(t) Tomake an Interim and Final Management Order. (Housing
Act 2004 s102 and s113)

(u) To authorise officers to enter premises to carry out work
under Housing Act 2004 s131, Schedule 3 paragraph 3 (4)
and Schedule 7 paragraph. 25.

General

55. To carry out duties as required under the Family Absence for Members of
Local Authorities (Wales) Regulations 2013.

Licensing Act 2003
56. To consider and, where appropriate, agree the following applications:

(i)  Application for personal licence with unspent convictions
(ii)  Application for a Minor Variation
(iii) Request to be removed as designated premises supervisor

57. To consider and, where appropriate, agree the following applications
where no police or other relevant representation is made:

a.  Application for personal licence

b. Application to dis-apply the requirement for a
designated premises supervisor at community premises

c. Application for premises licence/club premises
certificate

d. Application for provisional statement

Page 186

48| C



58.

59.

60.

61.

e. Application to vary premises licence/club premises
certificate

f. Application to vary designated premises supervisor

Application for transfer of premises licence

Application for interim authorities

> @

The authority to grant, refuse or vary licenses in respect of riding
establishments.

Under the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013, to issue site licences with
conditions, as necessary; to serve the site owner a fixed penalty notice
and/or compliance notice; to take emergency action; and the power to
enter the site.

Under the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 (as amended by the Health and
Social Care Act 2008) and Regulations made under the 1984 Act to enter premises
(Sections 61and 62) and to sign any notice, order or other document which the
authority are authorised or required by or under this Act to give, make or issue
(Section 59)

Under the Health Protection (Local Authority Powers) (Wales) Regulations 2010:-

a) To serve, if satisfied a child is or may be infected or contaminated and therefore
presents or could present significant harm to human health, a notice to require
that the child be kept away from school (Reg. 2)

b) To serve notice to require the Head teacher of a school to provide a
list of names, addresses and contact telephone numbers of children
attending school (Reg. 3)

c) To arrange disinfection or decontamination of things, premises on
request of the owner (Reg. 4)

d) To arrange disinfection or decontamination of things on request
of person with custody or control (Reg. 5)

e) To arrange disinfection or decontamination of premises on request
of the owner (Reg. 6)

f) To arrange disinfection or decontamination of premises on
request of tenant (Reg. 7)

g) To serve a notice to request co-operation for health protection
purposes (Reg. 8)

h) To serve a notice to restrict contact with dead bodies (Reg. 9)
i) To serve a notice to restrict access to dead bodies (Reg. 10)

Page 187 pilc



j) To relocate, or cause to be relocated a dead body that is or may
be infected or contaminated (Reg. 11)

62. Under the Health Protection (Part 2A Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2010:-

1. To make an application to a Justice of the Peace for an order under
Part 2A of the Act for Health Measures (Regulation 3):

*  Health measures in relation to persons (under s45G(2a-k) or
(4) of Part 2A of 1984 Act)

*  Health measures in relation to things (under s45H(2a-e) or
(4a&b) of Part 2A of 1984 Act)

*  Health measures in relation to premises (under s45I(2a-d) or
(4) of Part 2A of 1984 Act)

2. To make reasonable enquiries as to the existence and location of
persons in relation to an application for an order, namely,

*  the person subject to the application for an order and

*  persons to whom the local authority must give notice of an
application for an order, (as specified in paragraphs (4) to (7)
Regulation 3)

3. To determine information, as deemed necessary, to enable
provision of the evidence required for a Part 2A application in
relation to persons (Regulation 4)
63. Under the Petroleum Consolidation Act 1928 to grant or vary petroleum licences.

64. Under the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008:-

a) To enter into Primary Authority partnerships, considered on a
case by case basis.

b) To agree the provision of services to businesses.

65. To approve applications and issue licences under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 in
cases where no relevant information needs to be considered. This power to approve
applications and issue licences may be exercised by a deputy or other persons duly
authorised by the Principal Licensing Officer, including Senior Licensing Officers.

Page 188 s01c¢



Chief Officer - Children & Young People

Part 1 - Delegations to be exercised following consultation with Appropriate

Members.

Part 2

1. School Term Dates: In the case of County, Voluntary Controlled and

Special Schools, including residential schools, (as from 1 September
1999, community, foundation and voluntary schools and
community and foundation special schools) to determine school
term dates after consultation with the Teachers’ Associations.

2. Regarding admissions:

(@) To keep standard numbers under review and to implement any
necessary changes, where these are agreed by the governing body.

(b) To respond to any proposals from governing bodies to increase
standard numbers.

(c) To set admission limits which exceed the standard number
where this is considered appropriate.

To consider proposed statements of special educational need
where it is proposed that consideration is to be given to
placement at a school establishment outside the area of the
Council.

To determine and authorise the payment of discretionary
awards and grants including any awards from charitable trust
funds which the Council administers.

To agree, on safety grounds, that home to school arrangements
be provided in any particular case in excess of the Council's
mileage policy.

1. Regarding admissions:

(a) To consult annually with governing bodies about admission
arrangements as required by Section 412 of the Education Act 1996.

(b) To administer arrangements for admissions to nursery schools
and classes in accordance with policies agreed by the Council.

Page 189

51|C



(c) Under Section 431 of the Education Act 1996 to issue a direction
that a child be admitted to a named school within the Council’s
area.

(d) To comply with any requirements made by the Secretary of State
to implement a scheme for co-ordinated arrangements for
admissions in accordance with Section 430 of the Education Act
1996.

(e) To administer arrangements for the admission of individual
pupils to primary and secondary schools, including designated areas
and other relevant factors and to present the case on behalf of the
Council to admission appeal panels.

(f) To exercise the functions of the Council in relation to pupils
excluded from school and to present the case on behalf of the
Council to exclusion appeal panels.

2. Attendance at School:

(a) To ensure that appropriate transport arrangements are made in
accordance with the Council’s policies.

(b) To exercise the powers and duties of the Council in respect of
children excluded from school and to make suitable
arrangements for the continuing education of pupils who are
excluded or otherwise unable to attend school.

(c) To exercise the functions of the Council relating to the non-
attendance of pupils at school.

(d) Toundertake the powers and duties of the Council under Section
36 of the Children Act 1989 regarding Education Supervision
Orders.

3. Curriculum:

(a) To monitor the implementation of the requirements in respect
of the school curriculum, including religious worship and
education, in conjunction with SACRE, if appropriate, as set out
in the Education Act 1996.

(b) In accordance with arrangements approved by the Secretary of
State under Section 409 of the Education Act 1996 to investigate
complaints concerning alleged failures of schools to comply with
the National Curriculum, including the requirements for religious
education and collective worship and the arrangements for
statutory assessment and moderation of the National
Curriculum.

Page 190 w21 ¢



(c) To determine whether application be made to the Secretary of
State to direct that an LEA maintained school be authorised to
curriculum experiments outside the National Curriculum.

(d) To provide any information which the Secretary of State may, by
regulation, require.

4. Special Educational Needs

(a) To arrange for children to be assessed in accordance with the
requirements of the Education Act 1996, to determine the °
special educational provision which should be made for them
and to maintain and review statements of special educational
need.

(b) To represent the Council at Special Educational Needs Tribunals
in connection with the assessment of special educational needs.

(c) To ensure that the requirements of the Code of Practice on
Special Educational Needs or other regulations are complied
with.

5. Staffing as respects primary, secondary and special schools:
(a) To appoint:

(i) persons selected by governing bodies to fill vacant posts as
head teachers or deputy head teachers

(ii) persons recommended or accepted for appointment by
governing bodies to fill other teaching posts

(iii) persons recommended by governing bodies for appointment to
non- teaching posts unless the person does not meet any
qualification requirements applicable to the post.

(b) In the case of aided schools to exercise any advisory rights
relating to the appointment of head teachers, deputy head
teachers or other teaching or ancillary staff conferred by
agreement or legislation.

(c) To nominate persons to fill vacancies in other teaching posts in
schools where governing bodies have notified their intention to
fill those vacancies.

(d) To appoint persons selected by governing bodies as their Clerks.

(e) To implement determinations of governing bodies of schools
relating to the determination of potential dismissals and any

Page 191

53| C



subsequent appeals against such dismissals, which are within
the Council’s powers to determine.

(f) To exercise the powers of the Council as local education
authority in respect of the Licensed Teacher Scheme.

(g) To appoint supply teachers from funds held centrally.

(h) To exercise the powers and duties under the School Teacher
(Appraisal) Regulations 1991 in respect of head teachers.

6. Finance

(a) To design and keep under review the Council’s scheme of
delegation in accordance with the Council’s policies and any
statutory requirements.

(b) To determine and authorise the payment of boarding awards,
grants towards tuition fees and expenses at schools where fees
are payable, mandatory awards, maintenance allowances and
tuition fees for correspondence courses and requests for the
refund of grants in accordance with the policy of the Council. (c)
To approve the payment of recoupment charges for pupils at
establishments located outside the area of the Council.

7. Copyright: To enter into such agreements with licensing agencies as
are necessary to ensure the Council’s establishments comply with
all relevant statutory provisions.

8. To exercise the Council’s duties pursuant to section 12C of the
Children and Young Persons Act 1969.

Page 192 Pages4lc



Page 55]|C

Page 193



Page 56| C

Page 194



Proper Officers

In relation to the references and provisions mentioned in the first column of the
Schedule hereto:-

(a) the officer specified in the second column of the schedule is hereby
appointed the proper officer, and

(b) the officer specified in the third column of the schedule is hereby appointed
to act as proper officer when the first-mentioned officer is absent or otherwise
unable to act

(c) where no officer is specified in the third column, the first-mentioned officer
is authorised to appoint a deputy as he considers fit

Page 195 Page 57|C



Any reference to a “Proper Officer” within this Constitution which is not
defined in the Schedule hereto, shall mean the Head of Paid Service and when
he/she is absent or otherwise unable to act, shall mean the Deputy Chief

Executive.
SCHEDULE
Function Proper Deputy
Officer
Any reference in any enactment passed
before or during the 1971-72 session of
Parliament other than the Local Government
Act 1972 or in any instrument made before
26 October 1972 to the following officers
which, by virtue of any provisions of the said
Act, is to be construed as a reference to the
proper officer of the Council:
Chief Deputy Chief
(a) Clerk or Town Clerk '¢ . epu y '€
Executive Executive
Head of
b) Engineer or Surveyor
(b) &l ey Operations
(c) Public Health Inspector Chief Officer
¢ P — Social Care
and Health
Deputy Chief
(d) Housing Officer P y
Executive
The following provisions, namely:-
In the National Assistance Head of
(Amendment) Act 1951 -s.1 Finance
In the Registration Service Act 1953 Head of
Operations
In the Local Government Act 1972
-5.83 (1)-(4)
Witness and receipt of declarations of Chief Monitoring
acceptance of office Executive Officer

Page 196

58| C



- 5.84 Receipt of declaration of
resignation of office

-5.88(2)
Convening of meeting of Council to fill
casual vacancy in the office of Chairman

-5.89 (1) (b)
Receipt of notice of casual vacancy from
two local government electors

-5.96 (1)
Receipt of notices of pecuniary interest

-5.96 (2)

Keeping record of disclosures of pecuniary
interest under Section 94, and of notices
under Section 96(1)

-5.100B (2)
Exclusion of reports likely to be
considered in private session

-s.100B (7) (c)
Supply of papers to press

-5.100C (2)
Inspection of minutes and other
documents

-5.100D (1) (a)
Compilation of lists of background papers

-5.100D (5) (a)
Identification of background papers

- s.100F (2)

Identification of papers disclosing certain
exempt information (rights of members to
inspect)

-5.115(2)
Receipt of money due from officers

-5.146 (1)(a)&(b)
Declarations and certificates with regard
to securities

-s.191

Chief
Executive

Monitoring
Officer

Relevant
Chief Officer

Deputy Chief
Executive

As s100B(2)

As s100B(2)

Relevant
Chief Officer

S151 Officer

S151 Officer

Deputy Chief
Executive

Page 197

59 | C



Functions with respect to ordnance survey

- 5.204(3))
Receipt of applications for Licence under
Schedule 2, Licensing Act 1964

- 5.210(6)(7)
Officer for the purpose of certain
charities

- 5.225(1)&(2)
Deposit of documents, and on behalf of a
community without a Community
Council.

- 5.229(5)
Certification of photographic copies of
documents

- 5.234(1)(2)
Authentication of documents

5.236(9)(10)
Officer to send copies of bylaws

-5.238
Certification of byelaws

Schedule 12 paragraph (2)(b) signature of
summonses to Council meetings

Schedule 14 paragraph 25(7)
Certification of resolutions under
paragraph 25

Schedule 16 paragraph 28

Receipt on deposit of lists of protected
buildings

In the Local Government Act 1974

- 5.30(5)
Publication of reports of Local
Commissioner

In the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976

Head of
Operations

Monitoring
Officer

Chief Executive

Monitoring
Officer

Monitoring
Officer

Monitoring
Officer

Page 198

60 | C



-s41
Certification of copies of resolutions
orders, reports, minutes, and instruments
of appointment or authorisation

In the Public Health (Control of
Diseases) Act 1984

Monitoring
Officer

Chief Officer
Social Care and
Health

Named
Environmental
Health and
other Officers
as may be
approved by
the
Environmental
Health
Manager as
competent and
duly
authorised.

In the Local Government and
Housing Act 1989

- 5.2(4) Receipt on deposit of first and
revised lists of politically restricted posts )

In the Local Government
(Committees and Political
Groups) Regulations 1990

In the Local Authorities (Members’
Interests) Regulations 1992

Chief
Executive

Chief
Executive

Monitoring
Officer

Where a Council function has been
delegated to a specified officer and that
function requires or otherwise involves
action by the proper officer then for those
purposes the proper officer shall be

The officer to
whom the
function is
delegated

Page 199

61| C



4 Until the Council determines otherwise,
the Chief Executive is appointed the proper
officer for the purpose of all statutory
provisions, whether existing or future, in
respect of which no express proper officer
appointment has for the time being been

made.

5 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary |Monitoring Deputy Head of
above, where any order, notice or other  |Officer Legal Services
document requires the seal of the Council or a Solicitor
to be attached then the proper officer for employed by the
the authentication of such order, notice or Council

other document shall be

Other Specified Officer Posts

In relation to the references and provision mentioned in the first column of the
schedule hereto:-

Page 200 621 ¢



(a) the officer specified in the second column of the schedule is
hereby appointed or nominated, as the case may be.

(b) the officer specified in the third column of the schedule shall act
in that first-mentioned officer’s capacity when he is absent or
otherwise unable to act.

Schedule

Nomination of a registered medical
practitioner under sections 35 and 36
of the Public Health (Control of
Disease) Act 1984

Consultant in
Communicable
Disease Control
(Gwent Health
Authority)

Officers to be appointed under the
Local Government Act 1972

- 5.39 (Registration Officer)
- s.41(1) (Returning Officer)

- s.151  (Administration  of
financial affairs)

Chief Executive

Chief Executive

s.151 Officer

Local Government and Housing Act
1989

Head of Paid Service

Chief Executive

Monitoring Officer Monitoring
Officer
Weights and Measures Act 1985 Trading

(s72)
Chief Inspector of Weights and
Measures

Officers authorised to sign
certificates under the Local
Government (Contracts) Act 1997

Standards Team
Leader

Monitoring
Officer

Page 201

63| C



*PART 4 — RULES OF PROCEDURE (D)

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES (Standing Orders)
CONTENTS

Rule

O 00 N oo un W N B

10

11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24,
25.
26.
27.
28.

. Annual meeting of the Council

. Ordinary meetings

. Extraordinary meetings

. Appointment of substitute members of committees and sub- committees
. Time and place of meetings

. Notice of and summons to meetings

. Chair of meeting

. Quorum

. Remote Attendance

. Questions by the public

Questions by members

Motions on notice

Motions without notice

Rules of debate

State of Monmouthshire debate

Previous decisions and motions

Voting

Minutes

Record of attendance

Petitions

Exclusion of public

Members’ conduct

Disturbance by public

Filming and Use of Social Media during Meetings
Suspension and amendment of Council Procedure Rules
Application to committees and sub-committees
Appointment of Substitute Members on Council Bodies

Procedure Rules for Family Absence for Members

Page 202

1|D



The Council Procedure Rules contained in the Sections below will apply to
meetings of the Full Council.

1. Annual Meeting of the Council
1.1 Timing and Business

In a year when there is an ordinary election of councillors, the annual meeting will
take place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing councillors. In any
other year, the annual meeting will take place in March, April or May. The annual
meeting will:

(i) elect a person to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair of the Council are not
present;

(ii) elect the Chair of the Council;

(iii) elect the Vice Chair of the Council;

(iv) approve the minutes of the last meeting;

(v) receive any announcements from the Chair and/or the Head of Paid Service;

(vi) elect the Leader of the Council, except where the Leader was appointed for
a period of four years at the initial annual meeting of the Council;

(vii) be informed by the Leader of the number of Members to be appointed to
the Cabinet;

(viii) appoint the Select Committees, a Standards Committee and such other
committees and sub-committees as the Council considers appropriate to deal
with matters which are neither reserved to the Council nor are Executive
Functions (as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution);

(ix) determine which political group shall nominate the chair of each Select
Committee appointed under (viii) above, having regard to the guidance issued
under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011;

(x) receive from the Leader the scheme of delegations (as set out in Part 3 of this
Constitution);

(xi) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year; and

(xii) consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting.

1.2 Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies
At the annual meeting, the Council meeting will:

(i) decide which committees and sub-committees to establish for the municipal
year;

(ii) decide the size and terms of reference for those committees;

(iii) decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with the
political balance rules;

Page 203

2 |D



(iv) make appointments to outside bodies except where appointment to those
bodies has been delegated by the Council or is exercisable only by the Cabinet.

2. Ordinary Meetings

Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a programme
decided at the Council’s annual meeting. The order of business at ordinary
meetings will be as follows:

(i) elect a person to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair are not present;
(i) approve the minutes of the last meeting;
(iii) receive any declarations of interest from Members;

(iv) receive any announcements from the Chair, Leader, members of the cabinet
or the Head of Paid Service;

(v) receive a report from the Leader and receive questions and answers on the
report;

(vi) receive a report from the Cabinet and receive questions and answers on the
report;

(vii) receive reports from the Council’s committees and receive questions and
answers on those reports;

(viii) receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the business of
joint arrangements and external organisations;

(ix) consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting,
including consideration of proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the Council’s
Budget and Policy Framework, Single Integrated Plan and reports of the Select
Committees;

(x) consider motions; and
(xi) deal with questions from Members in accordance with Rule 11

(xii) receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public in relation to
matters which in the opinion of the Chair are relevant to the Council’s functions.

3. Extraordinary Meetings
3.1 Calling Extraordinary Meetings

The Proper Officer and/or Monitoring Officer may call Council meetings in addition
to ordinary meetings. Those listed below may request the Proper Officer to call
additional Council meetings:

(a) the Council by resolution;
(b) the Chair of the Council;

(c) any five Members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented
to the Chair of the Council and he has refused to call a meeting or has failed to
call a meeting within seven days of the presentation of the requisition.

3.2 Business

The business to be conducted at an extraordinary meeting shall be restricted to

Page 204

3|D



the item or items of business contained in the request for the extraordinary
meeting and there shall be no consideration of previous minutes or reports from
committees etc., except that the Chair may at his/her absolute discretion permit
other items of business to be conducted for the efficient discharge of the Council’s
business.

4. Appointment of members of committees and sub-committees

The Council or Committee may appoint members to a committee or sub-
committee as the case may be:

(i) by naming the members so appointed or

(ii) by reference to such numbers of members as a specified political group or
groups shall from time to time nominate

When members are appointed under paragraph 4(ii) the political group in question
shall notify the Chief Executive in writing of the names of the members who may
nominate.

A political group may from time to time change its membership of a committee
(whether the member of members where appointed under paragraph 4(i) or (ii))
by giving notice in writing to the Chief Executive.

The decisions of a political group are to be taken as those expressed to the Chief
Executive

(i) in writing by the leader or other representative of the group concerned
(ii) in a written statement signed by a majority of the members of the group

AND in the event that different decisions of a political group are notified, the
decision notified in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) shall prevail.

This rule of procedure applies to appointments to committees, sub-committees
and other informal groupings of members but not to appointments or nominations
on external bodies.

5. Time, Place and Duration of Meetings

The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Proper Officer and
notified in the summons.

6. Notice of and Summons to Meetings

The Proper Officer will give notice to the public of the time and place of any
meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules (below).
At least five clear days before a meeting, the Proper Officer will send a summons
signed by him/her to every Member of the Council. The summons will give the
date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to be transacted,
and will be accompanied by such reports as are available.

7. Chair of Meeting

7.1 The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the
Chair. The decision of the Chair of the meeting on all points of procedure and order
and the Chair's interpretation of any Procedure Rule shall be final and no debate
may ensue thereon.

Page 205

4 |D



7.2 Accordingly, if it appears appropriate, the Chair may, at his/her sole discretion
waive compliance with the rules of debate set out in Rule 14 to facilitate the
transaction of business at the meeting.

7.3 Where these rules apply to committee and sub-committee meetings,
references to the Chair should instead be read as reference to the chair of that
committee or sub-committee.

8. Quorum

8.1 The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of Members.
During any meeting if the Chair counts the number of Members present and
declares there is not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn
immediately. Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by
the Chair. If he/she does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered
at the next ordinary meeting.

(a) Members of the public may ask questions of Members of the Cabinet at

O

i
o ©
=
mD
[=
o o
B =
s S
(7]
T
<
-+
>
o
)
c
=
=

Page 5|D

Page 206



ordinary meetings of the Council.

(b) The total time allocated for questions by the public should be limited to 15
minutes.

10.2 Order of Questions

Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received, except that the
Chair may group together similar questions.

10.3 Notice of Questions

A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing or
by electronic mail to the Head of Democratic Services no later than midnight seven
working days before the day of the meeting. Each question must give the name
and address of the questioner.

10.4 Number of Questions

At any one meeting no person may submit more than one question and no more
than one such question may be asked on behalf of one organisation.

10.5 Scope of Questions
The Head of Democratic Services may reject a question if it:

(a) is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or which
affects the County;

(b) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;

(c) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of the
Council in the past six months;

(d) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.
10.6 Record of Questions

(a) The Head of Democratic Services will enter each question in a book open to
public inspection and will immediately send a copy of the question to the
Councillor to whom it is to be put. Rejected questions will include reasons for
rejection.

(b) Copies of all questions will be circulated to all Councillors and will be made
available to the public attending the meeting.

10.7 Asking the Question at the Meeting

The Chair will invite the questioner to put the question to the Councillor named in
the notice. If a questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to be
present, they may ask the Chair to put the question on their behalf. The Chair may
ask the question on the questioner’s behalf, indicate that a written reply will be
given or decide, in the absence of the questioner, that the question will not be
dealt with.

10.8 Supplementary Question

A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one supplementary
question without notice to the Councillor who has replied to his or her original
guestion. A supplementary question must arise directly out of the original

Page 207

6 |D



guestion or the reply. The Chair may reject a supplementary question on any of
the grounds set out in Rule 10.5 above.

10.9 Written Answers

Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either
because of lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the Councillor to
whom it was to be put, will be dealt with by a written answer.

10.10 Reference of Question to the Cabinet or a Committee

Unless the Chair decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on any question,
but any Member may move that a matter raised by a question be referred to the
Cabinet or the appropriate committee or sub-committee. Once seconded, such a
motion will be voted on without discussion.

11. Questions by Members
11.1 On Reports of the Cabinet or Committees

A Member of the Council may ask the Leader or the Chair of a Committee any
guestion without notice directly arising from an item of the report of the Cabinet
or a Committee, when that item is being received or is under consideration by the
Council

11.2 Questions on Notice at Full Council

Subject to Rule 11.4, a Member of the Council may ask:
(a) the Chair;
(b) Member of the Cabinet;
(c) the chair of any committee or sub-committee;

a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties
or which affects the County Council.

11.3 Questions on Notice at Committees and Sub-Committees

Subject to Rule 11.4, a Member of a committee or sub-committee may ask the
chair of it a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or
duties or which affects the County and which falls within the terms of reference of
that committee or sub-committee.

11.4 Notice of Questions
A Member may ask a question under Rule 11.2 or 11.3 if either:

(a) they have given at least seven working days’ notice in writing of the question
to the Head of Democratic Services (calculated on the basis of a working day
running from midnight to midnight); or

(b) the question relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of the Chair or
Member to whom the question is to be put and the content of the question is
given to the Head of Democratic Services at least two hours before the meeting.

11.5 Order of Questions

Questions of which notice has been given under Rule 11.2 or 11.3 will be listed on

Page 208

7 |D



the agenda in the order determined by the Chair of the Council, committee or sub-
committee.

11.6 Content of Questions
Questions under Rule 11.2 or 11.3 must, in the opinion of the Chair:
(a) contain no expressions of opinion;
(b) relate to matters on which the Council has or may determine a policy;
(c) not relate to questions of fact.
11.7 Response
An answer may take the form of:
(a) a direct oral answer at the meeting;

(b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other
published work, a reference to that publication;

(c) Where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer
circulated within five working days to the questioner.

11.8 Supplementary Question

A Member asking a question under Rule 11.2 or 11.3 may ask one supplementary
question without notice of the Member to whom the first question was asked. The
supplemental question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply.

11.9 Length of Speeches

A Member asking a question under Rule 11.2 or 11.3 shall not speak other than in
exercise of their right to ask a supplementary question under Rule 11.8 and a
Member answering such a question may speak for no longer than three minutes
unless the Chair consents to a longer period.

12. Motions on Notice
12.1 Notice

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 13 and in cases
of urgency, written notice of every motion, must be delivered to the Head of
Democratic Services not later than midnight on the seventh working day before
the Council meeting at which it is to be considered. Motions received will be
entered in a book open to public inspection.

12.2 Motion Set Out in Agenda

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order
determined by the Chair.

12.3 Scope

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which
affect the wellbeing of the administrative area of the Council.

12.4 Motion to Remove the Leader

(a) A motion to remove the Leader cannot be moved unless the notice of motion
is signed by a number of councillors which is at least equivalent to 15% of the

Page 209

8 |D



total number of councillors on the Council and which includes councillors from
at least two political groups.

(b) In order for such a motion to be carried it must have the support of at least
two thirds of those Members voting and present in the room at the time the
question was put.

(c) A motion to remove the Leader cannot be moved more than once in any
rolling 12 month period.

13. Motions without Notice

The following motions may be moved without notice:
(a) to appoint a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved;
(b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes;
(c) tochange the order of business in the agenda;
(d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual;

(e) to appoint a committee or Member arising from an item on the summons for
the meeting;

(f) to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of committees or Officers
and any resolutions following from them;

(g) to withdraw a motion;

(h) toamend a motion;

(i) to proceed to the next business;

(j) thatthe question be now put;

(k) to adjourn a debate;

() to adjourn a meeting;

(m)to suspend a particular Council Procedure Rule;

(n) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules;

(o) to not hear further a Member named under Rule 21.3 or to exclude them from
the meeting under Rule 21.4; and

(p) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this
Constitution.

14. Rules of Debate
14.1 No Speeches until Motion Seconded

No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and explained
the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded.

14.2 Right to Require Motion in Writing

Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Chair may require it to be
written down and handed to him before it is discussed.

Page 210

9 |D



14.3 Seconder’s Speech

When seconding a motion or amendment, a Member may reserve their speech
until later in the debate.

14.4 Content and Length of Speeches

Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal
explanation or point of order no speech may exceed ten minutes without the
consent of the Chair.

14.5 When a Member may Speak Again

A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject
of debate, except:

(a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another Member;

(b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since he last
spoke;

(c) if his first speech was on an amendment moved by another Member, to
speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which he spoke
was carried);

(d) in exercise of a right of reply;

(e) on a point of order; and

(f) by way of personal explanation.
14.6 Amendments to Motions

(a) An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either
be:

(i) torefer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration
or reconsideration;

(ii) to leave out words;
(iii) to leave out words and insert or add others; or
(iv) to insert or add words
as long as the effect of 14.6 (a) (ii) to14.6 (a) (iv) is not to negate the motion.

(b) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No
further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has
been decided.

(c) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion
may be moved.

(d) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the
original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further
amendments are moved.

(e) After an amendment has been carried, the Chair will read out the amended
motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put it
to the vote.

Page 211

10 |D



14.7 Alteration of Motion

(a) A Member may alter a motion of which he has given notice with the consent
of the meeting. The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion.

(b) A Member may alter a motion which he has moved without notice with the
consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be
signified without discussion.

(c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made.
14.8 Withdrawal of Motion

A Member may withdraw a motion which he has moved with the consent of both
the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified without
discussion. No Member may speak on the motion after the mover has asked
permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused.

14.9 Right of Reply

(a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the
motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.

(b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right
of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise
speak on it.

(c) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on his
amendment.

14.10 Motions which may be Moved During Debate

When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the
following procedural motions:

(a) to withdraw a motion;

(b) to amend a motion;

(c) to proceed to the next business;
(d) that the question be now put;
(e) to adjourn a debate;

(f) to adjourn a meeting;

(g) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules; and

(h) to not hear further a Member named under Rule 22.3 or to exclude them
from the meeting under Rule 22.4.

14.11 Closure Motions

(a) A Member may move, without comment, the following motions at the end
of a speech of another Member;

(i) to proceed to the next business;

(ii) to ask that the question be now put;

11 |D
Page 212



(iii) to adjourn a debate; or
(iv) to adjourn a meeting.

(b) If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Chair thinks the
item has been sufficiently discussed, he will give the mover of the original
motion a right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote.

(c) If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Chair thinks
the item has been sufficiently discussed, he will put the procedural motion to
the vote. If it is passed he will give the mover of the original motion a right of
reply before putting his motion to the vote.

(d) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and
the Chair thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot
reasonably be so discussed on that occasion, he will put the procedural motion
to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply.

14.12 Point of Order

A point of order is a request from a Member to the Chair to rule on an alleged
irregularity in the procedure of the meeting. A Member may raise a point of order
at any time. The Chair will hear them immediately. A point of order may only
relate to an alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure or the law. The
Member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which he considers it has
been broken. The ruling of the Chair on the matter will be final.

14.13 Personal Explanation

A Member may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal explanation
may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the Member which
may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the
Chair on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final.

15. State of the County Debate
15.1 Calling of Debate

The Leader may call a state of the County debate annually on a date and in a form
to be agreed with the Chair.

15.2 Form of Debate

The Leader will decide the form of the debate with the aim of enabling the widest
possible public involvement and publicity. This may include holding workshops
and other events prior to or during the debate.

15.3 Chairing of Debate
The debate will be chaired by the Chair.
15.4 Results of Debate

The results of the debate will be disseminated as widely as possible within the
community and to agencies and organisations in the area which work in active
partnership with the Council and considered by the Leader in proposing the Budget
and Policy Framework to the Council for the coming year.

Page 213

12 |D



16. Previous Decisions and Motions
16.1 Motion to Rescind a Previous Decision

A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within
the past six months cannot be moved unless moved on the recommendation of a
Committee or the Cabinet or the notice of motion is signed by at least eleven
Members, except in the case of new information becoming available.

16.2 Motion Similar to One Previously Rejected

A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a
meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless moved on the
recommendation of a Committee or the Cabinet or the notice of motion is signed
by at least eleven Members. Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no one
can propose a similar motion or amendment for six months.

17. Voting
17.1 Majority

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple
majority of those Members voting and present in the room at the time the
question was put.

17.2 Chair’s Casting Vote

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have a second or
casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Chair chooses to exercise a
casting vote.

17.3 Method of Voting

Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rule 17.4 the Chair will take the vote
by show of hands or by use of the Council’s electronic voting system if any, or if
there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting.

17.4 Recorded Vote

If nine Members present at the meeting demand it, the names for and against the
motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and
entered into the minutes.

17.5 Right to Require Individual Vote to be Recorded

Where any Member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will
be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the
motion or abstained from voting.

17.6 Voting on Appointments

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there
is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person
with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The
process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person.

Page 214

13 |D



18. Minutes
18.1 Signing the Minutes

The Chair will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable meeting.
The Chair will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct
record. The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy.

18.2 No Requirement to Sign Minutes of Previous Meeting at Extraordinary
Meeting

Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the
minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 to the Local
Government Act 1972 (an extraordinary meeting), then the next following meeting
(being a meeting called otherwise than under that paragraph) will be treated as a
suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of Schedule 12
relating to signing of minutes.

18.3 Form of Minutes

Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the form and order the Chair
put them.

19. Record of Attendance

All Members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their names
on the attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to assist with the
record of attendance.

20. Presentation of Petitions

20.1 At a meeting of the Council any member of the Council may present a petition,
signed by person other than members of the Council, which is relevant to some
matter in relation to which the Council or Cabinet have functions, or which affects
the area of the Council, or part of it, or the inhabitants of that area, or some of
them. The member presenting the petition shall satisfy himself that the petition
is proper to be received.

20.2 A member wishing to present a petition shall give notice of his intention to do
so to the Chief Executive before the beginning of the meeting at which he wishes
to presentit.

20.3 The presentation of a petition shall be limited to not more than three minutes,
and shall be confined to reading out, or summarising, the prayer of the petition,
indicating the number and description of the signatories.

20.4 Petitions shall be presented in the order in which notice of them is received
by the Chief Executive.

20.5 A petition presented at a meeting of the Council shall stand referred to a
future meeting of the Cabinet or relevant committee, in order that the appropriate
chief officer may present a report on the subject matter of the petition.

21. Exclusion of Public

Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with
the Access to Information Procedure Rules of this Constitution or Rule 23

Page 215

14 |D



(Disturbance by Public).
22. Members’ Conduct
22.1 Speaking at Meetings

When a Member speaks at Full Council he/she must stand and address the meeting
through the Chair. If more than one Member signifies their intention to speak, the
Chair will ask one to speak. Other Members must remain silent whilst a Member
is speaking unless they wish to make a point of order or a point of personal
explanation. Chair Speaking

When the Chair speaks during a debate, any Member speaking at the time must
stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent.

22.2 Member not to be Heard Further

If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the Chair by behaving improperly
or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Chair may move that the
Member be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without
discussion.

22.3 Member to Leave the Meeting

If the Member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the
Chair may move that either the Member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is
adjourned for a specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without
discussion.

22.4 General Disturbance

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Chair may
adjourn the meeting for as long as he thinks necessary.

23. Disturbance by Public
23.1 Removal of Member of the Public

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chair will warn the person
concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Chair will order their removal from
the meeting room.

23.2 Clearance of Part of Meeting Room

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public,
the Chair may call for that part to be cleared.

24. Filming and Use of Social Media During Meetings

Filming and use of social media is permitted during meetings so long as there is no
disturbance to the conduct of the meeting.

25. Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules
25.1 Suspension

All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rule 17.4 and 18.2 may be
suspended by motion on notice or without notice if at least one half of the whole
number of Members of the Council are present. Suspension can only be for the
duration of the meeting.

Page 216

15 |D



25.2 Amendment

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, when
proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary
meeting of the Council.

25.3 Adjustment

At the discretion of the Chairman, any of the Council Rules of Procedure will be
subject to 'reasonable adjustment' by suspension or amendment and without
notice as appropriate, to prevent a disabled elected member or member of the
public being placed at a disadvantage in terms of their proper participation in any
aspect of Council procedures.

26. Application to Committees and Sub-Committees

All of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of Full Council. None of
the rules apply to meetings of the Cabinet, save as set out in the Executive
Procedure Rules. Only Rules 5to 8, 11 to 14, 16 to 25 (but not Rule 22.1) apply to
meetings of committees and sub-committees.

27. Appointment of Substitute Members on Council Bodies

27.1 The substitution rules will not apply to meetings of the Cabinet, the Standards
Committee, the Planning Committee or the Audit Committee.

27.2 Subject to any other restrictions elsewhere in the Constitution, any Member
of the Council will be permitted to act as a substitute on a Council Body.

27.3 The Head of Democratic Services will allow a request from a Member of a
Council Body to appoint a substitute Member, providing that substitute Member
is from the same political group and the request is received no later than one hour
before the meeting.

27.4 In order to be eligible to sit as substitutes on regulatory or quasi-judicial
committees or panels or staff appointments or disciplinary bodies established by
the Council, Members must have received formal training in relevant procedures
and the law.

27.5 Substitute Members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary
Member of the committee but will not be able to exercise any special powers or
duties exercisable by the person they are substituting.

27.6 Substitute Members may attend meetings in that capacity only:

(a) to take the place of the ordinary Member for whom they are designated
substitute;

(b) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting;
and

(c) where the ordinary Member or that Member’s political group has notified
the Head of Democratic Services of the intended substitution at least one hour
before the start of the relevant meeting.

28. Procedure Rules for Family Absence for Members

28.1 Different Types of Family Absence

Page 217

16 |D



A Member may be entitled to family absence subject to compliance with the
Family Absence for Members of Local Authorities (Wales) Regulations 2013 (“the
Regulations”), as follows:

(i) Maternity absence — for the mother of a child, granted up to a maximum of
twenty six weeks;

(ii) New-born absence — for the parent of a child other than the mother, for a
period of up to two weeks;

(iii) Adopter’s absence — for the adopter of a child, for a period of up to two
weeks;

(iv) New Adoption absence - for the partner of an adopter, for a period of up to
two weeks; and

(v) Parental absence — for a Member who becomes responsible for a child (and
does not meet the conditions for new-born absence, adopter’s absence or new
adoption absence), for a period of up to three months.

28.2 Prescribed Conditions

The Regulations prescribe the conditions Members must satisfy to be entitled to
each type of family absence, make provisions regarding the durations, start,
cancellation and end of periods of family absence, and set out the administrative
process for dealing with family absences. A copy of the Regulations can be
obtained from the Head of Democratic Services and must be referred to by any
Member considering taking family absence.

28.3 Requirement for Member to give Written Notice

A Member intending to take family absence is required to give written notice to
the Head of Democratic Services, specifying the type of family absence the
Member intends to take and the intended start date, as well as certain other
specified information in respect of particular types of family absence. Any changes
to, or cancellation of, family absence must similarly be notified to the Head of
Democratic Services. Members should refer to the Regulations for the prescribed
information which must be included in the notice, and advice is available in this
respect from the Head of Democratic Services.

28.4 Records and Notification of Family Absence

The Head of Democratic Services will keep a record of all notifications and periods
of family absence taken and will inform the Chair of Council, the Chair of the
Democratic Services Committee, and the leaders of each political group, and other
recognised group, of the authority. The Head of Democratic Services may also
inform any other persons, as he/she considers necessary, for example, fellow ward
Members.

28.5 Cancellation of Family Absence by Council

(a) If the Head of Democratic Services reasonably suspects that a Member may
not be entitled to the family absence notified, he/she may cancel or end a
Member’s family absence in accordance with the Regulations.

Page 218

17 |D



(b) In the event of a decision to cancel family absence, the Head of Democratic
Services will give written notice to the Member concerned setting out the
decision to cancel or bring to an end the period of family absence, and the date
from which the Member must return from family absence. If the Member then
fails to resume duties, the Council may withhold the Member’s remuneration.

28.6 Members’ Right to Appeal against Cancellation

(a) A Member may, within 28 days from being notified of a cancellation of family
absence, complain in writing to the Head of Democratic Services regarding the
cancellation.

(b) The Head of Democratic Services will refer any complaint duly made
regarding cancellation to the Chair of Council (or Presiding Member).

(c) The Member’s complaint will be considered by a politically balanced Panel,
drawn from the Democratic Services Committee, which may either confirm the
decision of the Head of Democratic Services, or substitute its own decision as
to the Member’s entitlement to family absence in accordance with the
Regulations.

(d) The decision of the Panel is final.
28.7 Performance of Duties — At Member’s request

The following provision is subject consideration by the Democratic Services
committee as to whether

(i) To describe the circumstances in which a Member on maternity or parental
leave may continue to perform some duties if so desired, such as "where the
Member has a well-known particular interest in a matter of business or if urgent
business affecting their local area is being considered"; and

(ii) To provide whether any duty conferred on Members should be performed
during a period of family absence.

(1) A Member on maternity absence or parental absence may, subject to
paragraphs (2) to (6):

(a) Attend particular meetings;

(b) Attend particular descriptions of meetings;
(c) Perform particular duties; or

(d) Perform duties of a particular description.

(2) The Member must obtain the permission of the Chair of Council (or Presiding
Member) before attending any meeting or performing any duty.

(3) The Chair of Council (or Presiding Member) will inform the leaders of each
political group of the Council before granting permission under paragraph (2).

(4) A Member may complain in writing to the Head of Democratic Services
regarding a refusal under paragraph (2).

18 |D
Page 219



(5) The Head of Democratic Services will refer a complaint under paragraph (4) to
the Chair of Council (or Presiding Member).

|II

(6) The Family Absence Appeals Panel (“the Panel”) will determine a complaint

made under paragraph (4).
(7) The Panel may:

(a) confirm the decision of the Chair of Council (or Presiding Member) under
paragraph (2); or 258

(b) substitute its own decision as to the Member attending any meeting or
performing any duty.

28.8 Continuing Duties

If a Member is on family absence leave and it would be difficult to replace that
Member on a temporary basis, the Chair of Council can request that Member to
attend a meeting if it might otherwise be inquorate.

A Member on family absence is expected to continue to observe and comply with
any duties under the Members’ Code of Conduct which remain applicable,
including the duty to not bring the office of Member or the Council into disrepute
(Members’ Code, Rule 6(1) (a)), and the duty to not use their position or the
resources of the authority improperly or for private advantage (Members’ Code,
Rule 7).

28.9 Members’ Salaries

In accordance with the determinations of the Independent Remuneration Panel
for Wales, a Member on family absence is entitled, for the duration of the absence,
to retain a basic salary and any senior salary for which the Member is eligible.

Page 220

19 |D



ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES

1. SCOPE

These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, the executive, select committees,
area committees, the Standards Committee and regulatory committees.

2. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATIONS

These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained
elsewhere in this Constitution or the law.

3. RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS

Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the exceptions in
these rules.

4. NOTICES OF MEETING

The council will give at least five clear days’ notice unless to consider urgent items
as defined of any meeting by posting details of the meeting at County Hall Usk.
(The Designated Office)

5. ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING

The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public available
for inspection at the designated office at least five clear days before the meeting.
If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda (where reports are
prepared after the summons has been sent out, the designated officer shall make
each such report available to the public as soon as the report is completed and
sent to councillors) will be open to inspection from the time the item was added
to the agenda.

6. SUPPLY OF COPIES
The Council will supply copies of:
(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection;

(b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of the
items in the agenda; and

(c) if the proper officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied to
councillors in connection with an item to any person on payment of a charge for
postage and any other costs.

7. ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC AFTER THE MEETING
The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a meeting:

(a) the minutes of the meeting or record of decisions taken by the executive,
excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings when the meeting was not open
to the public because exempt or confidential information was being considered;

(b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes open
to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record;

(c) the agenda for the meeting; and

Page 221

20 |D



(d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public.
8. BACKGROUND PAPERS
8.1 List of background papers

The proper officer will set out in every report a list of those documents (called
background papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in his/her
opinion:

(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the
report is based; and

(b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report

but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or
confidential information (as defined in Rule 10).

8.2 Public inspection of background papers

The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the date
of the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of background
papers.

9. SUMMARY OF PUBLIC'S RIGHTS

A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and
copy documents must be kept at and available to the public at County Hall.

10. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS
10.1 Public and private meetings of the executive

The executive may only make decisions in relation to its functions and conduct
formal business in a properly constituted meeting that complies with Article 13
and these procedure rules. This does not prevent the executive from holding
informal deliberations in private, with or without officers present, but these
meetings shall not take decisions.

10.2 Confidential information — requirement to exclude public

The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that
confidential information would be disclosed.

10.3 Exempt information — discretion to exclude public

The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that
exempt information would be disclosed.

Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or
adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998
establishes a presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private
hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

10.4 Meaning of confidential information

Page 222

21|D



Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government
Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or information which
cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order.

10.5 Meaning of exempt information

Exempt information means information falling within the following 10 categories
(subject to any qualification):

CATEGORY

QUALIFICATION

1. Information relating to a
particular individual.

Public interest test applies (see
below)

2. Information which is likely to
reveal the identity of an individual.

Public interest test applies (see
below)

3 .Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the
authority holding that
information).

Information falling within
paragraph 14 is not exempt
information by virtue of that
paragraph if it is required to be
registered under —

the Companies Act 1985;
the Friendly Societies Act 1974;
the Friendly Societies Act 1992;

The Industrial and Provident
Societies Acts 1965 to 1978;
the Building Societies Act 1986;
or

the Charities Act 1993.

Public interest test applies (see
below)

4. Information relating to any
consultations or negotiations, or
contemplated consultations or
negotiations, in connection with
any labour relations matter arising
between the authority or a
Minister of the Crown and
employees of, or office holders
under, the authority.

Public interest test applies (see
below)

Page 223

22 |D



CATEGORY

QUALIFICATION

5. Information in respect of
which a claim to legal professional
privilege could be maintained in
legal proceedings.

6. Information which reveals
that the authority proposes :

(a) to give under any enactment a
notice under or by virtue of which
requirements are imposed on a
person; or

(b) to make an order or direction
under any enactment.

Public interest test applies (see
below)

7. Information relating to any
action taken or to be taken in
connection with the prevention,
investigation or prosecution of
crime.

Public interest test applies (see
below)

(In relation to a meeting of a
standards committee, or a sub-
committee of a  standards
committee, which is convened to
consider a matter referred under
the provisions of section 70(4) or
(5) or 71(2) of the Local
Government Act 2000):

8. Information which is subject to
any obligations of confidentiality.

9. Information which relates in
any way to matters concerning
national security.

10. The deliberations of a
standards committee or of a sub-
committee of a  standards
committee established under the
provisions of Part 3 of the Local
Government Act 2000 in reaching

Public interest test applies (see
below)

Page 224

23 |D



CATEGORY QUALIFICATION

any finding on a matter referred to
it.”.

Public Interest Test:

Information which —
(a) falls within any of paragraphs 12 to 15, 17 and 18 above; and
(b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of the ‘qualifications’ above,

is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information.

Information falling within any of paragraphs 1-10 is not exempt by virtue of that
paragraph if it relates to proposed development for which the local planning
authority can grant itself planning permission under Regulation 3 of the Town and
Country Planning General Regulations 1992.

10.6 DISCLOSURE BY MEMBERS

Members will not make public Confidential or Exempt Information without the
consent of the Authority or divulge information given in confidence to anyone
other than a member or officer entitled to know it unless otherwise authorised.

10.7 PUBLIC INTEREST

Information within Categories 1 to 4, 6 and 7 set out in Rule 10.4 may only be
treated as exempt if an assessment of the public interest has been made.

The public interest should be assessed on a case by case basis having regard to all
relevant factors, to ensure a proper balance is achieved between the right to know,
the right to personal privacy and the delivery of effective government.

In making such an assessment the proper officer should have regard to any
relevant prejudice which may be caused to the Authority or any other party if the
information were disclosed, having regard to the full context of any disclosure.
Account may be taken of whether disclosure would breach any obligation of
confidence or the rights of any individual under the Data Protection Act 1998 or
the Human Rights Act 1998.

Account will be taken of the fact that the public interest may be served by allowing
access to information which would:-

(a) further the understanding of and participation in debating issues of the day;

(b) facilitate transparency and accountability in and enhance scrutiny of
decisions taken by the Authority;

(c) facilitate transparency and accountability in the spending of public money;

24 |D
Page 225



(d) help individuals understand the decisions made by the Authority affecting
their lives;

(e) bring to light information affecting public safety or danger to the
environment;

(f) contribute to the administration of justice and enforcement of the law or the
prevention or detection of crime or the apprehension or prosecution of
offenders;

(g) protect the public from unsafe products or rogue traders or practices;

In making such an assessment the following factors should be regarded as
irrelevant:

(a) possible embarrassment to the Authority or its Officers;
(b) possible loss of confidence in the Authority or other public body;
(c) the seniority of persons involved in the subject matter;
(d) the risk of the public misinterpreting the information.
11. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS

If the proper officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public to
reports which in his or her opinion relate to items during which, in accordance with
Rule 10, the meeting is likely not to be open to the public. Such reports will be
marked "Not for publication" together with the category of information likely to
be disclosed.

12. THE FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME
12.1 Period of forward work programme

The forward work programme will be prepared by the Chief Executive to cover a
period of four months. It will be updated quarterly on a rolling basis.

12.2 Contents of forward work programme

The forward work programme will contain matters which the executive, select
committees and full Council are likely to consider. It will contain information on:

(a) the timetable for considering the budget and any plans forming part of the
policy framework and requiring council approval, and which body is to consider
them;

(b) the timetable for considering any plans which are the responsibility of the
executive;

(c) any individual matters on which the executive intends to consult in advance
of taking a decision, and the timetable for consultation and decision;

(d) the work programme of the select committees, to the extent that it is
known.

Page 226

25 |D



13. CONSULTATION ON PROPOSALS TO BE CONSIDERED BY THE EXECUTIVE

At least two weeks should be permitted in the forward plan timetable for
consultation with relevant select committees and ward members where a matter
is to be considered by the executive and is not urgent (as defined below) or
confidential or exempt (as defined in para 10).

A matter may be considered urgent where the events to which it is addressed were
unforeseen at the time that the last forward work programme was produced and
a decision is required within (the minimum time provided for consultation as
specified above).

A decision can only be treated as urgent if the decision taker (if an individual) or
the chair of the body making the decision obtains the agreement of the chair of a
relevant select committee that the taking of the decision cannot be reasonably
deferred. If there is no chair of a relevant select committee, or if the chair of each
relevant select committee is unable to act, then the agreement of the Head of Paid
Service of the Council, will suffice. Any decisions taken under this urgency
procedure will be recorded as having been taken in the absence of consultation in
the decision record.

14. RECORD OF DECISIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE
14.1 The decision record

(@) A written record will be made of every executive decision made by the
executive and its committees (if any) and individual members, and to joint
committees and joint sub-committees whose members are all members of a
local authority executive.

(b) This decision record will include a statement, for each decision, of:
1. the decision made
2. the date the decision was made
3. the reasons for that decision;
4. any personal interest declared;
5

any dispensation to speak granted by the authority’s standards
committee;

6. the consultation undertaken prior to the decision and, if such
consultation has not taken place, the reason why.

14.2 Preparing the decision record

(a) The proper officer or his or her representative shall attend any meeting of
the executive, a committee of the executive or a joint committee or joint sub-
committee where all its members are members of a local authority executive,
and shall as soon as reasonably practicable after the meeting produce a
decision record.

(b) Where an individual member has made any executive decision,

Page 227

26 |D



i that member shall as soon as reasonably practicable instruct the
proper officer to produce a decision record; and

ii. the decision shall not be implemented until that decision record has
been produced, subject to (c) below.

(c) Where the date by which an executive decision made by an individual
member must be implemented makes compliance with (b) ii above
impracticable, the decision may be implemented if the decision maker has
the agreement of the Chairman (or in his/her absence, the vice-chairman) of
the relevant select committee, that the making of the decision is urgent and
cannot reasonably be deferred.

15. DECISIONS BY AN INDIVIDUAL MEMBER OF THE EXECUTIVE
15.1 Reports intended to be taken into account

Where an individual member of the executive receives a report which he/she
intends to take into account in making any decision, then he/she will not make the
decision until at least 5 clear days after receipt of that report.

15.2 Provision of copies of reports to select committees

On giving of such a report to an individual decision maker, the person who
prepared the report will give a copy of it to the chair of every relevant select
committee as soon as reasonably practicable, and make it publicly available at the
same time.

15.3 Record of individual decision

The decision recording rules in paragraph 14 will apply.

16. SELECT COMMITTEE MEMBERS’ ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS
16.1 Rights of access

Subject to Rule 16.2 below, a select committee (including its sub-committees) will
be entitled to access to any document which is in the possession or control of the
executive or its committees and which contains material relating to

(a) any business transacted at a meeting of the executive or its committees; or
(b) any decision taken by an individual member of the executive.
16.2 Limit on rights

A select committee or sub-committee will not be entitled to any part of a
document that contains:

(a) confidential or exempt information, or
(b) advice provided by a political advisor or assistant

unless that information is relevant to an action or decision that is being reviewed
or scrutinised or any review contained in a programme of work of that committee
or sub-committee.

Page 228

27 |D



16.3 Disclosure

Exempt or confidential information supplied to a member in accordance with Rule
15.1 remains exempt or confidential.

17. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS FOR MEMBERS
17.1 Rights of access

All members will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the possession or
under the control of the executive or its committees and contains material relating
to any business transacted at a meeting of a decision making body of that authority
or by an individual member of the executive.

17.2 Limitation on rights
A member will not be entitled to any part of a document where

(a) it would disclose exempt information falling within paragraphs 12 to 18, 21,
23, 24 and 26 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, or

(b) it would disclose advice of a political advisor or assistant.
17.3 Nature of rights
These rights of a member are additional to any other right he/she may have.
17.4 Other Rights of Members

Notwithstanding any restriction in the foregoing provisions, all reports (including
those that are “exempt” or “confidential” by virtue of Schedule 12A Local
Government Act 1972 as amended) to all decision making bodies are available to
all members.

A Member will not make public information which is confidential or exempt (as
defined in Section 14) without the consent of the Council or divulge information
given in confidence to anyone other than a Councillor or person(s) or
organisation(s) entitled to know it.

Page 229

28 |D



BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK PROCEDURE
RULES

1. The framework for executive decisions

The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its policy framework and budget
as set out in Article 4. The policy framework and budget adopted by the Council
will be based on that proposed by the executive. Once a budget or a policy
framework is in place, it will be the responsibility of the executive to implement it

2. Process for developing the framework
The process by which the policy framework and budget shall be developed is:

(a) The executive will publicise by including in the forward plan and at the Council’s
offices a timetable for making proposals to the Council for the adoption of any
plan, strategy or budget that forms part of the budget and policy framework, and
its arrangements for consultation after publication of those initial proposals. The
chairmen of select committees will also be notified. The consultation period shall
in each instance be not less than six weeks.

(b) At the end of that period, the executive will then draw up firm proposals having
regard to the responses to that consultation. If a relevant select committee wishes
to respond to the executive in that consultation process then it may do so. As the
select committees have responsibility for fixing their own work programme, it is
open to the select committee to investigate, research or report in detail with policy
recommendations before the end of the consultation period. The executive will
take any response from a select committee into account in drawing up firm
proposals for submission to the Council, and its report to Council will reflect the
comments made by consultees and the executive’s response.

(c) Once the executive has approved the firm proposals, the Chief Executive will
refer them at the earliest opportunity to the Council for decision.

(d) In reaching a decision, the Council may adopt the executive’s proposals, amend
them, refer them back to the executive for further consideration, or in principle,
substitute its own proposals in their place.

(e) If it accepts the recommendation of the executive without amendment, the
Council may make a decision which has immediate effect. Otherwise, it may only
make an in-principle decision. In either case, the decision will be made on the basis
of a simple majority of votes cast at the meeting.

(f) The decision will be publicised in accordance with Article 4 and a copy shall be
given to the Leader.

(g) An in-principle decision will automatically become effective five days from the
date of the Council’s decision, unless the Leader informs the proper officer in
writing within five days that he/she objects to the decision becoming effective and
provides reasons why.

Page 230

29 |D



(h) In that case, the proper officer will call a Council meeting within a further ten
days. The Council will be required to re-consider its decision and the Leader's
written submission at that meeting. The Council may

i) approve the executive’s recommendation by a simple majority of votes cast
at the meeting; or

ii) approve a different decision which does not accord with the
recommendation of the executive by a simple majority

(i) The decision shall then be made public in accordance with Article 4, and shall be
implemented immediately;

(j) In approving the budget and policy framework, the Council will also specify the
extent of virement within the budget and degree of in-year changes to the policy
framework which may be undertaken by the executive, in accordance with
paragraphs 5 and 6 of these Rules (virement and in-year adjustments). Any other
changes to the policy and budgetary framework are reserved to the Council.

3. Decisions outside the budget or policy framework

(a) Subject to the provisions of paragraph 5 (virement) the executive, a committee
of the executive, an individual member of the executive and any officers, area
committees or joint arrangements discharging executive functions may only take
decisions which are in line with the budget and policy framework. If any of these
bodies or persons wishes to make a decision which is contrary to the policy
framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget approved
by full council, then that decision may only be taken by the Council, subject to 4
below.

(b) If the executive, a committee of the executive, an individual member of the
executive and any officers, area committees or joint arrangements discharging
executive functions want to make such a decision, they shall take advice from the
monitoring officer and/or the chief financial officer as to whether the decision they
want to make would be contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not
wholly in accordance with the budget. If the advice of either of those officers is
that the decision would not be in line with the existing budget and/or policy
framework, then the decision must be referred by that body or person to the
Council for decision, unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in which case the
provisions in paragraph 4 (urgent decisions outside the budget and policy
framework) shall apply.

4. Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework

(a) The executive, a committee of the executive, an individual member of the
executive or officers, area committees or joint arrangements discharging executive
functions may take a decision which is contrary to the Council’s policy framework
or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget approved by full Council
if the decision is a matter of urgency. However, the decision may only be taken:

i) if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full Council; and

Page 231

30 |D



ii) if the chairman (or if he/she is unavailable the vice chairman) of a relevant
select committee agrees that the decision is a matter of urgency.

The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full Council
and the chairman of the relevant select committees’ consent to the decision being
taken as a matter of urgency must be noted on the record of the decision. In the
absence of the chairman of a relevant select committee the consent of the
Chairman of the Select Board will be sufficient.

(b) Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next
available Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why the
decision was treated as a matter of urgency.

5. Virement

The Council operates a scheme enabling controlled virement of revenue and
capital expenditure as detailed within its Financial Procedure Rules.

6. In-year changes to policy framework

The responsibility for agreeing the budget and policy framework lies with the
Council, and decisions by the executive, a committee of the executive an individual
member of the executive or officers, area committees or joint arrangements
discharging executive functions must be in line with it. No changes to any policy
and strategy which makes up the policy framework may be made by those bodies
or individuals except those changes:

(a) which will result in the closure or discontinuance of a service or part of service
to meet a budgetary constraint;

(b) necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial direction or
government guidance;

(c) in relation to the policy framework in respect of a policy which would normally
be agreed annually by the Council following consultation, but where the existing
policy document is silent on the matter under consideration.

7. Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework

(a) Where a select committee is of the opinion that an executive decision is, or if
made would be, contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in
accordance with the Council’s budget, then it shall seek advice from the
monitoring officer and/or chief financial officer.

(b) In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the executive, the
monitoring officer’s report and/or chief financial officer’s report shall be to the
executive with a copy to every member of the Council. Regardless of whether the
decision is delegated or not, the executive must meet to decide what action to
take in respect of the monitoring officer’s report and to prepare a report to Council
in the event that the monitoring officer or the chief finance officer conclude that
the decision was a departure, and to the select committee if the monitoring officer
or the chief finance officer conclude that the decision was not a departure.

Page 232

31|D



(c) If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet implemented,
and the advice from the monitoring officer and/or the chief financial officer is that
the decision is or would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not
wholly in accordance with the budget, the select committee may refer the matter
to Council. In such cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the decision
or its implementation until the Council has met and considered the matter. The
Council shall meet twenty-one days of the request by the select committee. At the
meeting it will receive a report of the decision or proposals and the advice of the
monitoring officer and/or the chief financial officer. The Council may either:

i) endorse a decision or proposal of the executive decision taker as falling within
the existing budget and policy framework. In this case no further action is
required, save that the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all
councillors in the normal way;

Or

ii) amend the council’s budget or policy concerned to encompass the decision
or proposal of the body or individual responsible for that executive function and
agree to the decision with immediate effect. In this case, no further action is
required save that the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all
councillors in the normal way;

Or

iii) where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to the
policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget,
and does not amend the existing framework to accommodate it, require the
executive to reconsider the matter in accordance with the advice of either the
monitoring officer/chief financial officer.

Page 233

32 |D



EXECUTIVE PROCEDURE RULES

1. HOW DOES THE EXECUTIVE OPERATE?
1.1 Who may make executive decisions?

The arrangements for the discharge of executive functions are set out in Part 3. In
either case, the arrangements or the Leader may provide for executive functions
to be discharged by:

i) the executive as a whole;
ii) a committee of the executive;
iii) an individual member of the executive;
iv) an officer;
V) an area committee;
vi) joint arrangements; or
vii) another local authority.
1.2 Delegation by the Leader

Following the annual meeting of the Council, the Monitoring Officer, at the
direction of the Leader, will draw up a written record of executive delegations
made by the Leader for inclusion in the Council’s scheme of delegation at Part 3 to
this Constitution. This will contain the following information about Executive
Functions in relation to the coming year:

(a) the names, addresses and electoral divisions of the people appointed to
the executive by the Leader;

(b) the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet Members individually,
including details of the limitation on their authority;

(c) the terms of reference and constitution of such Cabinet committees as the
Leader appoints and the names of Cabinet Members appointed to them;

(d) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive Functions to any other
authority or any joint arrangements;

(e) the nature and extent of any delegation to Officers with details of any
limitation on that delegation, and the title of the Officer to whom the
delegation is made;

1.3 Sub-Delegation of Executive Functions

(a) Where the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or an individual Member
of the Cabinet is responsible for an Executive Function, they may delegate
further to joint arrangements or an Officer.

(b) Unless the Leader directs otherwise, a committee of the Cabinet to whom
functions have been delegated by the Leader may delegate further to an
Officer.

(c) Where Executive Functions have been delegated, that fact does not
prevent the discharge of delegated functions by the person or body who
delegated.

Page 234

33 |D



1.4 The Council’s Scheme of Delegation and Executive Functions

(a) Subject to (b) below the Council’s scheme of delegation will be subject to
adoption by the Council and may only be amended by the Council. It will
contain the details required in Article 7 and set out in Part 3 of this
Constitution.

(b) The Leader may amend the scheme of delegation relating to Executive
Functions at any time. In doing so the Leader will give written notice to the
Monitoring Officer and to the person, body or committee concerned. The
notice must set out the extent of the amendment to the scheme of
delegation, and whether it entails the withdrawal of delegation from any
person, body or committee. The Monitoring Officer will present a report
to the next ordinary meeting of the Council setting out the changes made
by the Leader.

Where the Leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a committee of the
Cabinet, notice will be deemed to be served on that committee when he has
served it on its chair.

1.5 Conflicts of Interest

(a) Where the Leader has a conflict of interest this should be dealt with as set
out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. If any Member of the
Cabinet has a conflict of interest this should be dealt with as set out in the
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in Part 5 of this Constitution.

(b) If the exercise of an Executive Function has been delegated to a committee
of the Cabinet, an individual Member or an Officer, and should a conflict of
interest arise, then the function will be exercised in the first instance by the
person or body by whom the delegation was made and otherwise as set
out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in Part 5 of this
Constitution.

1.6 Cabinet Meetings — When and Where?

The frequency and timing of meetings of the Cabinet will be determined by the
Leader. The Cabinet will meet at the Council’s main offices or another location to
be agreed by the Leader.

1.7 Public or private Meetings of the Cabinet?

The Cabinet will hold its meetings in public, except in the circumstances set out in
the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Section 14, for example where
confidential or exempt information is being discussed.

1.8 Quorum

(a) The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet shall be three including the Leader
or Deputy Leader.

(b) The quorum for a meeting of a committee of the Cabinet shall be a quarter
of the number of members of the committee.

Page 235

34 |D



1.10 How are Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet?

(a) Executive Decisions made by the Cabinet as a whole will be taken at a
meeting convened in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

(b) Where Executive Decisions are delegated to a committee of the Cabinet,
the rules applying to Executive Decisions taken by them shall be the same
as those applying to those taken by the Cabinet as a whole.

2. HOW ARE THE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS CONDUCTED?
2.1 Who Presides?

The Leader will preside at any meeting of the Cabinet or its committees at which
he is present. In his absence, the Deputy Leader will preside. In his/her absence,
then a person appointed to do so by those present shall preside.

2.2 Who May Attend?

These details are set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4.
See also Section 3 in relation to Member participation in meetings.

Page 35|D
Page 236



2.3 Business

At each meeting of the Cabinet the following business will be conducted:

(a)
(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)

declarations of interest, if any;

matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by Select Committees or by the
Council) for reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with the
provisions contained in the Select Committee Procedure Rules or the
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out above;
consideration of reports from Select Committees;

consideration of reports from Cabinet Committees;

reports from Officers of the Authority.

2.4 Consultation

All reports to the Cabinet from any Member of the Cabinet or an Officer on
proposals relating to the Budget and Policy Framework must contain details of the
nature and extent of consultation undertaken with stakeholders and with the
Select Committees and the outcome of that consultation. Reports about other
matters will set out the details and outcome of consultation as appropriate. The
level of consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the matter under
consideration.

2.5 Who can put Items on the Cabinet Agenda?

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The Leader will decide upon the schedule for meetings of the Cabinet.
He/she may put any matter on the agenda of any Cabinet meeting whether
or not authority has been delegated to the Cabinet, a committee of it or
any Member or Officer in respect of that matter.

Any Member of the Cabinet may require the Proper Officer to make sure
that an item is placed on the agenda of the next available meeting of the
Cabinet for consideration.

The Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Financial
Officer may include an item for consideration on the agenda of a Cabinet
meeting and may require that such a meeting be convened in pursuance of
their statutory duties.

In other circumstances, where any two of the Head of Paid Service, Chief
Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer are of the opinion that a meeting of
the Cabinet needs to be called to consider a matter that requires a decision
they may jointly include an item on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting. If
there is no meeting to deal with the issue in question, then the person(s)
entitled to include an item on the agenda may also require that a meeting
be considered at which the matter will be considered.

2.6 Disturbance by the Public, Filming and Use of Social Media

The provisions in Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 in relation to disturbance by
the public, filming and use of social media apply to meetings of the Cabinet.

Page 237

36 |D



SELECT COMMITTEE PROCEDURE RULES

1. What will be the number and arrangements for select committees?

1.01 The Council will have five Select Committees set out in the table in Article 6
and will appoint to them as it considers appropriate from time to time. The Select
Committees may appoint smaller groups to carry out detailed examination of
particular topics for report back to them. Such groups may be appointed for a fixed
period on the expiry of which they shall cease to exist.

1.02 The Council will also establish a Co-ordinating Board to provide a link with the
Executive and to consider matters of joint interest. It will comprise of the
Chairman of each Select Committee; the Leader and Deputy Leader; the Chairman
of each Area Committee; the Scrutiny Champion; the Chief Executive. The
Chairman of the County Council will also be invited to attend. The Co-ordinating
Board will have the following roles and functions:

(a) To manage the business processes and the relationship between the
constituent parts of the Council’s business machinery.

(b) To review Council, Cabinet and Committee work programmes with a view
to improving co-ordination and avoiding duplication.

(c) To enable Chairs to keep the Board informed of progress e.g. on Select
Committee and other reviews.

(d) To share best practice across Committees and identify training and
development needs

(e) To enable the Chief Executive to brief Chairs about forthcoming issues.
1.03 The terms of reference of the various Select Committees will be to:

(a) review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection
with the discharge of any of the Council’s functions; (except any matters
specifically identified in the terms of reference of any other select
committee)

(b) make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the
executive and/or any joint or area committee in connection with the
discharge of any functions;

(c) consider any matter affecting the area or its inhabitants;

(d) exercise the right to call-in, for reconsideration, decisions made but not
yet implemented by the executive and/or any area committees;

(e) convene joint meetings with overview and scrutiny committees of other
councils; and

(f) assess the impact of partnerships with and resources and services
provided by external organisations including the Welsh Assembly

Page 238

37 |D



Government and Assembly Sponsored Public Bodies on the effectiveness of
Council service delivery.

2. Specific functions of Select Committees

2.01 Policy development and review

Select committees may:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

assist the Council and the executive in the development of its budget and
policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;

conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy
issues and possible options;

consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community
participation in the development of policy options;

question members of the executive and/or committees and chief officers
about their views on issues and proposals affecting the area; and

liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether
national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are
enhanced by collaborative working.

2.02 Scrutiny

Select committees may:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

review and scrutinise the decisions made by and performance of the
executive and/or committees and council officers both in relation to
individual decisions and over time;

review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy
objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas;

question members of the executive and/or committees and chief officers
about their decisions and performance, whether generally in comparison
with service plans and targets over a period of time, or in relation to
particular decisions, initiatives or projects;

make recommendations to the executive and/or appropriate committee
and/or Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process;

review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and
invite reports from them by requesting them to address the select
committee and local people about their activities and performance; and

guestion and gather evidence from any person (with their consent).

2.03 Finance

Select committees may exercise overall responsibility for the finances made
available to them.

2.04 Select Committees shall undertake the following:

Page 239

38 |D



(a) investigate or review a particular matter in depth and without delay,
reporting their conclusions and making any recommendations to the Council
or Cabinet as appropriate;

(b) conduct research, community (and other) consultation for the purposes
of analysing issues and developing where appropriate; possible options,
through liaison with the area/community partnerships;

(c) consider and report on mechanisms to encourage and enhance
community participation in the development of service delivery options;

(d) question Cabinet Members and Officers about their views and actions
on issues and proposals affecting the County;

(e) liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether
national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are
enhanced by collaborative working; and

(f) question and gather evidence from any person (with his/her consent)
whilst conducting investigative and reporting processes.

2.05 Report

From time to time, as appropriate, the Chairman of each Select committee will
report to full Council on the workings of the committee including future work
programmes.

2.06 Officers

Select committees may exercise overall responsibility for the work programme of
the officers employed to support their work.

3. Who chairs Select Committee Meetings?

Each Select Committee will be Chaired by a Chair appointed from the membership
of that Select Committee

4. Who may sit on Select Committees?

There will be cross party Membership of all Select Committees. All councillors
except members of the executive may be members of a select committee.
However, no member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which he/she
has been directly involved.

5. Meetings of the Select Committees

The Council may determine a cycle of meetings for the Select Committees. If the
Council do not set the cycle, each such Select Committee shall determine their own
cycle of meetings. The Chair, or in their absence the Vice Chair, may change the
date or cancel meetings, or call additional meetings as they consider necessary to
deal with the Select Committee's work programme. A meeting of a Select
Committee may be called by the Chair (or in his or her absence, the Vice Chair) or
by the Monitoring Officer or by the Head of Democratic Services, if he or she
considers it necessary or appropriate.

Page 240

39 |D



6. Quorum

The quorum for a Select Committee shall be as set out in the Council Procedure
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

7. Agenda Items

Any Member of a particular Select Committee shall be entitled to give notice to
the Proper Officer that he wishes an item relevant to the functions of the that
Select Committees to be included on the agenda for the next available
meeting. Seven working days’ notice of the item should be given to Proper Officer
together with sufficient information to enable the Officer to advise about the
nature and purpose of the item.

On receipt of such a request, so long as it is an appropriate matter to be
considered, the Proper Officer will ensure that it is included on the next available
agenda.

Select Committees shall also respond, as soon as their work programme permits,
to requests from the Council and/or the Cabinet to review particular areas of
Council activity. Where they do so, the particular Select Committees shall report
their findings and any recommendations back to the Cabinet and/or Council. The
Council and/or the Cabinet shall consider the report of the Select Committees
within one month of receiving it.

8. Policy Review and Development

The role of the Select Committees in relation to the development of the Council’s
Budget and Policy Framework is set out in detail in the Budget and Policy
Framework Procedure Rules above.

In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other matters not
forming part of its Budget and Policy Framework, Select Committees may make
proposals to the Cabinet for developments in so far as they relate to matters within
their terms of reference.

Select Committees may hold enquiries and investigate the available options for
future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and assessors to
assist them in this process. They may go on site visits, conduct public surveys, hold
public meetings, commission research and do all other things that they reasonably
consider necessary to inform their deliberations. They may ask witnesses to
attend to address them on any matter under consideration and may pay to any
advisers, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee and expenses for doing so.

9. Reports from the Select Committees

All formal reports from the Select Committees will be submitted to the Proper
Officer for consideration by the Cabinet (if the proposals are consistent with the
existing Budget and Policy Framework), or to the Council as appropriate (e.g. if the
recommendation would require a departure from or a change to the agreed
Budget and Policy Framework).

Page 241

40 |D



If a Select Committee cannot agree on one single final report to the Council or
Cabinet as appropriate, one minority report may be prepared and submitted for
consideration by the Council or Cabinet with the majority report.

The Council or Cabinet shall consider the report of a Select Committee within one
month of it being submitted to the Proper Officer.

10. Making sure that Overview and Scrutiny Reports are considered by the
Cabinet

The agenda for Cabinet meetings shall include an item entitled “Issues Arising from
Overview and Scrutiny”. The reports of the Select Committees referred to the
Cabinet shall be included at this point in the agenda (unless they have been
considered in the context of the Cabinet's deliberations on a substantive item on
the agenda) as soon as practicable. Where an item is not considered by the
Cabinet within three months, the Cabinet will give an explanation of the reasons
to the Chair of the relevant Select Committee as soon as practicable.

Where the Cabinet has delegated decision making power to another individual
Member of the Cabinet, the relevant Select Committee will submit a copy of its
report to him or her for consideration. At the time of doing so the Select
Committee shall serve a copy on the Head of Legal Services. The Member with
delegated decision making power must consider the report and respond in writing
to the Select Committee within three months of receiving it. A copy of his written
response to it shall be sent to the Proper Officer and the Leader. The Member will
also attend a future meeting of that Select Committee to present their response.

11. Rights of Members of the Select Committees to Documents

In addition to their rights as Councillors, Members of the Select Committees have
the additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in the
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the Cabinet and
the Select Committee as appropriate depending on the particular matter under
consideration.

12. Members and Officers Giving Account

The Select Committees may scrutinise and review decisions made or actions taken
in connection with the discharge of any Council functions. As well as reviewing
documentation, in fulfilling the Scrutiny role, it may require any Member of the
Cabinet, the Chief Executive and/or any senior Officer to attend before it to explain
in relation to matters within their remit:

(a) any particular decision or series of decisions;
(b) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or
(c) their performance and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required.

For this purpose, senior Officer includes any chief Officer, Deputy Chief Officer and
other appropriate senior Officer. Where there are concerns about the
appropriateness of the Officer who should attend, the relevant chief Officer shall

41 |D
Page 242



discuss this with the appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Chair or Vice Chair with a
view to achieving consensus.

Where any Member or Officer is required to attend a Select Committee under this
provision, the Chair of that Committee will inform the Proper Officer. The Proper
Officer shall inform the Member or Officer, if necessary in writing, giving at least
10 working days’ notice of the meeting at which he or she is required to attend
(unless agreed otherwise). Any notice will state the nature of the item on which
he or she is required to attend to give account and whether any papers are
required to be produced for the Committee.

Where the account to be given to a Select Committee will require the production
of a report, then the Member or Officer concerned will be given sufficient notice
to allow for preparation of that documentation.

Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or Officer is unable to attend
on the required date, then the Select Committee shall in consultation with the
Member or Officer arrange an alternative date for attendance.

13. Attendance by Others

Select Committees may invite people other than those people referred to in
paragraph 12 above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer
guestions. It may for example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and
Members and Officers in other parts of the public sector and shall invite such
people to attend.

14. Call-In

(a) Where a decision is made by the Cabinet an individual Member of the Cabinet
or a Committee of the Cabinet or under joint arrangements, the decision shall
be published by the Proper Officer, including where possible by electronic
means, and shall be available at the main offices of the Council normally within
two clear working days of it being made. All Members of the Select Committees
will be sent copies of the records of all such decisions within the same time
scale, by the person responsible for publishing the decision.

(b) That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that the
decision will come into force and may then be implemented, on the expiry of
five clear working days after the publication of the decision, unless a Select
Committee objects to it and calls it in for review.

(c) During that period the Proper Officer shall call-in a decision for scrutiny by a
Select Committee if so requested in the specified format by three Members of
the Council and, shall then notify the decision taker of the call-in. He/she shall
call a meeting of that Select Committees on such a date as he/she may
determine, where possible after consultation with the Chair or Vice Chair of that
Select Committees, and in any case within 15 clear working days of the decision
to call-in (only in exceptional circumstances will the Chair of the Select
Committee consider extending this time limit)

42 |D
Page 243



(d)

(e)

(f)

(8)

(h)
(i)

(i)

If, having considered the decision, the Select Committee is still concerned
about it, then it may refer it back to the decision making body for
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns or refer the
matter to Full Council. If referred to the decision maker they shall then
reconsider within a further 10 clear working days, amending the decision or not,
before adopting a final decision. If referred to full Council, the Proper Officer
will convene a meeting of the Council within 15 clear working days.

If following an objection to the decision, a Select Committee does not meet
within the period set out above, or does meet but does not refer the matter
back to the decision making person or body, the decision shall take effect on
the date of the Select Committee’ meeting, or the expiry of that further 15 clear
working day period, whichever is the earlier.

If the matter was referred to Full Council and the Council does not object to a
decision which has been made, then no further action is necessary and the
decision will be effective in accordance with the provision below. However, if
the Council does object, the Council will refer any decisions to which it objects
back to the decision making person or body, together with the Council’s views
on the decision. That decision making body or person shall choose whether to
amend the decision or not before reaching a final decision and implementing
it. Where the decision was taken by the Cabinet as a whole or a Committee of
it, a meeting will be convened to reconsider within ten working days of the
Council’s request. Where the decision was made by an individual, the individual
will reconsider within ten working days of the Council’s request.

If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the decision back
to the decision making body or person, the decision will become effective on
the date of the Council meeting or expiry of the period in which the Council
meeting should have been held, whichever is earlier.

No Education Co-opted Members may call-in a decision.

The Monitoring Officer may veto any request for call-in if it falls outside the
remit of this scheme.

Save in exceptional circumstances (as adjudicated by the Head of Paid Service)
all Members requesting a matter be called in must attend the meeting at which
the matter is being considered. The relevant cabinet member or, in their
absence, the Leader or a deputy leader should also attend.

Call-In and Urgency

The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken
by the Cabinet is urgent. A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused
by the call-in process would, for example, seriously prejudice the Council’s or other
public interests. The record of the decision, and notice by which it is made public,
shall state whether in the opinion of the decision making person or body, the

Page 244

43 |D



decision is an urgent one, and therefore not subject to call-in. A decision can only
be treated as urgent if the decision taker (if an individual) or the chair of the body
making the decision obtains the agreement of the chair of a relevant select
committee that the taking of the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. If there
is no chair of a relevant select committee, or if the chair is unable to act, then the
agreement of the Head of Paid Service of the Council, will suffice. The Head of Paid
Service must agree both that the decision proposed is reasonable in all the
circumstances and to it being treated as a matter of urgency. Decisions taken as a
matter of urgency must be reported at the next available meeting of the Council,
together with the reasons for urgency.

The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency shall be monitored
annually and a report submitted to Council with proposals for review if necessary.

15. The Party Whip

If a Member of a Select Committee is subject to a party whip in respect of an issue
to be considered by it, that Member must declare the existence of the whip and
the nature of it before the commencement of deliberations on the matter. The
declaration, and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in the
minutes of the meeting.

16. Procedure at Select Committee Meetings

Select Committees shall consider the following business:
(a) minutes of the last meeting;
(b) declarations of interest;

(c) consideration of any matter referred to that Select Committee for a decision in
relation to call in of a decision;

(d) responses of the Cabinet to reports of that Select Committee;
(e) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting.

The Rules of Procedure at a Select Committee will be the same as the Council
procedure Rules except that the Chair of the meeting may allow the rules of debate
to be relaxed to enable a full contribution by those attending the meeting whether
as Members of a Select Committee or in any other capacity which allows them to
contribute to the worth of the meeting.

Select Committees may ask people to attend to give evidence or answer questions
about any items on their agenda. Meetings should be conducted in accordance
with the following principles:

(a) thatthe business be conducted fairly and all Members of the Select Committees
be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and
speak;

(b) that those assisting by giving evidence be treated with respect and courtesy;

(c) thatthe business be conducted as efficiently as possible.

Page 245

44 |D



Following any investigation or review, a Select Committee shall prepare a report,
for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate and shall make its
report and findings public.

17. Matters within the Remit of more than one Select Committees

Where a matter for consideration by a Select Committee also falls within the remit
of one or more other Select Committee, the decision as to which Select
Committees will consider it will be resolved by the respective Chairs or, if they fail
to agree, the decision will be made by the Co-ordinating Board.

18. Councillor Call for Action

The Councillor Call for Action is a mechanism for enabling elected Members to
bring matters of local concern to the attention of the Council via the Scrutiny
process. It should be an option of “last resort”.

Any Member may request that an item is placed on the agenda of an Select
Committees for consideration.

The procedure for dealing with a Call for Action is set out in the Councillor Call for
Action - Guidance for Councillors attached to these Rules at Appendix 1.

Page 246

45 |D



Appendix 1 to Select Procedure Rules

Councillor Call for Action - Guidance for Councillors

INTRODUCTION

The Local Government Wales Measure 2011 introduced a number of new
provisions aimed at strengthening local democracy. Section 63 of the Measure
introduced a provision for “Councillor Calls for Action” (CCfA) which enables
Councillors to refer issues of local importance to Select Committees

CCfAs are intended to enable local Councillors and their electors to obtain a
response from their Council Leadership on issues of local importance. CCfAs
should be regarded as one of a series of tools which elected Members have at their
disposal to resolve local issues and make a positive difference in their
community. Previously in Wales, only local Crime and Disorder issues could be
referred by the local Member to the designated Crime and Disorder Select
Committee for action and it should be noted that these local crime and disorder
referrals will remain in place under separate legislation.

As part of their community leadership role, councillors have always attempted to
resolve issues on behalf of their local residents and CCfAs provide an additional
avenue for councillors to follow if the normal ways of resolving an issue have not
been successful and the issue meets the criteria for a referral. It should be noted
that a referral under this process should be seen as a last resort after all other
avenues have been exhausted.

CCfAs have been introduced alongside other powers for scrutiny, including powers
to scrutinise a wide range of bodies not previously subject to local authority
scrutiny. CCfAs are intended to enable any Member for the Council to refer to a
Select Committee, “a local government matter” which falls within the Select
Committees remit.

HOW SHOULD | NORMALLY ATTEMPT TO RESOLVE A LOCAL ISSUE IN MY AREA?
Local issues can be resolved in a number of ways by councillors on behalf of their
residents as listed in the Welsh Government’s Statutory Guidance from the Local
Government Measure 2011:

1)informal discussions with Officers or other councillors;

2)informal discussions with partner representatives;

3)referral to other “scrutiny” bodies such as Community Health  Councils or
internal audit committee;

4)formal discussions with Officers and councillors;

5)formal letters to the Cabinet Members;

6)asking questions at Full Council;

7)submitting a motion to Full Council;

8)organising public meetings;

9)use of petitions;

10) making a complaint;

11) questions at Full Council

12) freedom of information requests;

Page 247

46 |D



13) communication with local AMs or MPs;

14) use of social media or email based campaigns.
This is not an exhaustive list and councillors may choose different routes for
specific issues. If an issue has not been resolved after exhausting all possible
alternative routes, then a local councillor can refer it to the appropriate Select
Committees

WHAT IS A COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION

In order for the Select Committees to accept a CCfA as an agenda item for
discussion at one of their meetings, the issue must affect either all or part of a
councillor’s electoral area or it must affect someone who lives or works in that
area.

A Councillor does not however need a referral from a constituent in order to start
the process. It is important to recognise that a CCfA is not guaranteed to solve a
given problem, though it can provide a method for discussing such problems and,
through discussion, attempt to overcome them.

HOW AND WHEN SHOULD | MAKE A CCFA

A flowchart showing the process is provided at Annex A. A councillor may initiate
the process by completing the form at Annex B. Further copies are available from
the Head of Democratic Services. It is important that the local councillor specifies
what outcome is expected from the referral. After completion the form should be
returned to the Head of Democratic Services who will log and acknowledge the
referral within five working days, to track its progress and forward a copy of the
form to the Proper Officer.

The Proper Officer will confirm whether or not the referral satisfies the
requirements outlined above to enable it to be placed on the agenda for discussion
at a meeting of the Select Committee. The Proper Officer reserves the right to
exclude from the agenda any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or
otherwise potentially unlawful; and the Councillor will be informed of this
outcome as soon as practicable.

CRITERIA TO BE FOLLOWED BY A SELECT COMMITTEE

It is up to the Members of a Select Committee to decide whether, and in what
form, to take the matter further. The Select Committee will use the following
criteria to decide whether or not the referral is appropriate to be considered by
that Select Committee:

i) Is that Select Committee satisfied that all reasonable attempts have been
made to resolve the issue by the local councillor? Do the responses received
by the referring councillor demonstrate that the matter is not being
progressed?

ii) Has that Select Committee considered a similar issue recently? If so, have
the circumstances or evidence changed?

Page 248

47 |D



iii) Is there a similar or related issue which is the subject of a review on the
current work programme? It may be more appropriate to link the new issue
to an existing review, rather than hold a separate CCfA hearing. Relevant
time pressures on resolving the CCfA should be taken into account.

iv) Have all relevant service areas or partner organisations been informed and
been given enough time to resolve the issue? What response has the
councillor received?

v) Is this a case that is being or should be pursued via the Council’s corporate
complaints procedure?

vi) Is it relating to a “quasi-judicial” matter or decision such as planning or
licensing?

vii) Is the matter an issue of genuine local concern which impacts on the local
community rather than a personal matter?

viii) Is this an issue currently being looked at by another form of local scrutiny?

ix) And, as with all scrutiny, does the matter have the potential for scrutiny
to produce recommendations which could realistically be implemented
and lead to improvements for anyone living or working in the Member’s
electoral division?

NB: Crime and Disorder referrals should be directed to the designated Crime and
Disorder Select Committee.

If a Select Committee decides not to accept the CCfA it must inform the councillor
of the decision and the reasons for it.

If a Select Committee decides to accept the CCfA the Councillor will be informed
and advised of the agreed Protocol, e.g. the Councillor will be given adequate
notice (a minimum of 10 clear days) of the date of the Select Committee’s
meeting. The Councillor will be requested to attend to the Select Committee and
informed that he/she will have five minutes in which to address the Select
Committee. The Select Committee may then wish to question the Councillor
further before deciding how it intends to take the matter forward. This could
include:

(i) asking the relevant responsible authorities to respond to the CCfA;

(ii) setting up a research or task and finish group to undertake a more in-depth
review;

(iii) asking for further evidence and/or witnesses to be brought to a future
meeting. The Select Committee has the power to request “designated persons”
such as representatives from other public bodies/agencies to attend, where
relevant, and to request information.

Page 249

48 |D



POTENTIAL OUTCOMES FROM A CCFA

A Select Committee could:

(i) determine that it is a complex issue that requires further investigation and
commission a scrutiny review of the issue;

(ii) write a response and make recommendations on the CCfA to a relevant
responsible authority;

(iii) decide that further action is not appropriate giving its reasons.

Once a Select Committee has completed its work, the Councillor who made the
referral will receive a copy of any response or recommendations made.

TIMESCALES FOR DEALING WITH A CCFA

In exceptional circumstances, for example where there are unavoidable time
constraints, a special Select Committee meeting may be convened.

Should a CCfA result in recommendations to the Cabinet responsible authorities,
they will be requested to make a response to the recommendations within 28 days
and two months respectively.

Select Committees will monitor implementation of any recommendations as part
of their Forward Work Programme.

REVIEW OF THIS GUIDANCE

This guidance is based on a model prepared and approved by the Association of
Council Secretaries and Solicitors (ACSeS) in October 2009. ACSeS will review their
model guidance in light of experience of the use of these procedures by local
authorities in Wales, and this guidance may therefore be modified accordingly.

Page 250

49 |D



ANNEX A TO APPENDIX 1 Flow Chart for Councillor Call for Action

Issues Identified

Issue resolved NFA

through traditional  avenues,
discussions with Officer/Members

Councillor attempts to resolve issue

e.g.

Issue is not resolved

\ 4

Councillor refers issue to appropriate
Select Committee

Proper

Item placed on relevant Select
Committee agenda for discussion

Officer

Rejects
Accepts

Issue is rejected (see factors
in section 5 of guidance)

Issue accepted

Select Committee review the issues
and makes recommendations to the
decision maker(s)

Implementation of recommendations
is monitored at a predetermined date

Cabinet/Partner response to
recommendations within two months

Page 251

50 |D




ANNEX B to Appendix 1: Call for Action Referral

For the attention of (name and
title of Proper Officer)

From

Councillor

Electoral Division

Contact details

Telephone

E-mail

SUBJECT

Details Please briefly explain
what the issue is and how it
affects your electoral division.

Action taken to date

Please explain what steps have
been taken, with whom, to try to
resolve the issue (please tick the
actions you have taken to date)
or add additional.

Informal discussions with Officers or other councillors
Informal discussions with partner representatives

Referral to other “scrutiny” bodies such as Community
Health Councils or internal audit committee

Formal discussions with Officers and councillors
Formal letters to the Cabinet Members

Asking questions at Full Council

Submitting a motion to Full Council

Organising public meetings

Use of petitions

Making a complaint

Questions at Full Council

Freedom of Information requests
Communication with local AMs or MPs

Use of social media or email based campaigns

Expected Outcome Please
describe the outcome you hope
to gain via this referral.

Papers attached Please list
documents  attached  which
should evidence the impact of

Page 252

51 |D



the issue, the steps taken and any
responses received.

1. The following criteria will be taken into consideration when a Select Committee
decide whether to progress with your CCfA:

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8
1.9

Have all reasonable attempts been made to resolve the issue? Do the responses
received by you demonstrate that the matter is not being progressed?

Has the committee considered a similar issue recently — if yes have the
circumstances or evidence changed?

Is there a similar or related issue which is the subject of a review on the current
work programme? It may be more appropriate to link the new issue to an
existing review, rather than hold a separate LCDR hearing. Relevant time
pressures on resolving the CCfA should be taken into account.

Have all relevant service areas or partner organisations been informed and
been given enough time to resolve the issue? What response have you
received?

Is this a case that is being or should be pursued via the Council’s corporate
complaints procedure?

Is it relating to a “quasi-judicial” matter or decision such as planning or
licensing?

Is the matter an issue of genuine local concern, which impacts on the local
community rather than a personal matter?

Is this an issue currently being looked at by another form of local scrutiny?

And, as with all scrutiny, does the matter referred have the potential for
scrutiny to produce recommendations, which could realistically be
implemented and lead to improvements for anyone living or working in your
electoral division.

2. Please consider whether your referral might be considered premature by the
Select Committee. Consider whether other potential remedies have been
exhausted, before a referral is made. Members should be aware that if a
premature referral is made, the Committee is likely to refuse to deal with the
issue, based on the criteria outlined above. If the Proper Officer believes that
the referral is premature, he/she will advise you accordingly.

Page 253

52 |D



FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES

(Financial Standing Orders and Financial Regulations)

Paragraph

SECTION 1

STATUS 1
SECTION 2

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT:-

. General 2.1

o Managing Expenditure 2.26

. Treatment of Year End Balances 2.45

. Accounting Policies 2.51

. Accounting Records and Returns 2.55

. Annual Statement of Accounts 2.70
SECTION 3

FINANCIAL PLANNING:-

. Performance Plans 3.1

. Revenue Budgeting and Monitoring 3.11

. Capital Budgeting and Monitoring 3.53

o Maintenance of Reserves 3.73

SECTION 4

RISK MANAGEMENT & CONTROL OF RESOURCES:-

. Risk Management

. Internal Controls

. Internal and External Audit

. Preventing Fraud and Corruption
. Security of Assets:-

>

YV V V V

>
>

Land and Building

Vehicles, Furniture and Equipment
Stocks and Stores

Cash

Information & Communication
Technology

Intellectual Property

Clients’ Private Property

. Treasury Management and Trust Funds

Page 254

4.1
4.20
4.29
4.57
4.71
4.76
4.84
4.98
4.106

4.118
4.128
4131
4.134

53 |D



SECTION 5

SECTION 6

FINANCIAL SYSTEMS & PROCEDURES:-

o General

) Income

o Imprest Account

. Payment To Employees and Members

. Internal Charges

o Taxation

. Banking

. Ordering and Paying for Work, Goods and
Services

EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS:-

. Partnerships
. External Funding
. Work for Third Parties

Page 255

5.1
5.19
5.155
5.167
5.198
5.206
5.59
5.79

6.1
6.17
6.27

54 |D



SECTION 1 - STATUS

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

Financial Procedure Rules provide the framework for managing the
Authority’s financial affairs, and are part of Monmouthshire Council’s
constitution. They apply to every member and officer of the Authority, and
anyone acting on its behalf.

The purpose of the Financial Procedure Rules is to ensure that public
accountability and high standards of financial integrity are exercised in the
control of public funds that pass through the Authority. The Financial
Procedure Rules govern the day to day operation of the Authority’s financial
administration. They are introduced both to protect the interests of the
Authority, and all those who are involved with financial administration.

All members and officers have a general responsibility for taking reasonable
action to provide for the security of the assets under their control, and for
ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, properly authorised,
provides value for money and achieves best value.

The Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) is responsible for maintaining a
continuous review of the Financial Procedure Rules, and for submitting any
additions or changes necessary to Council for approval. The Section 151
Officer (Head of Finance) is also responsible for reporting, where
appropriate, any breaches of Financial Procedure Rules. In the event of
dispute as to the meaning of any of the provisions of the Financial Procedure
Rules the matter shall be determined by the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance) whose decision shall be final.

Where in the Financial Procedure Rules, an officer is designated by reference
to his /her job title, the responsibilities shall relate to the post holder. Such
an officer may arrange for officers under his/her supervision or management
to carry out any of the obligations, duties or activities required to be
performed by him/her under the Financial Procedure Rules, or to act in
his/her absence, provided that the named post holder shall retain
responsibility to the Authority.

The Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) is responsible for issuing advice
and guidance to underpin the Financial Procedure Rules that members,
officers and others acting on behalf of the Council are required to follow.

Chief Officers and Heads of Service are responsible for ensuring that all staff
in their service areas are aware of the existence and content of the
Authority’s Financial Procedure Rules, and guidance documents issued by
the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), and that they comply with them.
Failure to comply with the Financial Procedure Rules, or the instructions
issued under them, or any arrangements made for the purposes of them, will
constitute misconduct, possibly gross misconduct.

Other related documents approved by the Authority include the
Constitution, Delegations, Contract Procedure Rules and Codes of Conduct.

The Head of Finance is responsible for promoting the same high standards
of conduct in the management of partnerships as with the Council. Chief

Page 256

55| D



Officers and Heads of Service are responsible for ensuring that the Council’s
interests are protected in such arrangements and that appropriate advice is
taken at all stages.

1.10 The default position is that any external arrangements will be subject to the
Council’s Financial Procedure Rules, unless specific approval has been
granted by Cabinet to do otherwise.

56 | D
Page 257



SECTION 2 - FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

. General

. Managing Expenditure

. Treatment of Year End Balances
. Accounting Policies

. Accounting Records and Returns
. Annual Statement of Accounts

GENERAL

Why is this Important?

2.1

Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the
running of the Authority, including the budget and policy framework. All
staff and members have a duty to abide by the highest standards of probity
in dealing with financial issues. This is facilitated by ensuring everyone is
clear about the standards to which they are working and the controls that
are in place to ensure that these standards are met.

Key Controls

2.2

The key controls for financial management are:-

¢ toensure their promotion of proper financial management throughout
the Authority;

e to have a system in place to review compliance with financial
standards.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

2.3

2.4

To be responsible, for the purposes of Section 151 of the Local Government
Act, 1972 and Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1988, for
the proper administration of the Authority's financial affairs. To adhere to
the Statement on the role of the Chief Finance Officer in Local Government
(CIPEA).

As the Authority's financial adviser, to:-

e report to the Cabinet and the Council on resource availability and
resources allocation.

e advise the Cabinet and the Council of the financial implications and
risks of proposals submitted to them.

o keep the Cabinet and the Council informed with respect to the
Authority's finances and financial performance and other committees
informed with respect to financial implications of their activities.

e advise on financial systems and procedures for all service areas of the
Authority including advice to the Cabinet and the Council if inadequate
systems exist.

e advise and participate in all aspects of Value For Money projects.

Page 258

57| D



2.5

2.6

2.7

¢ advise the Cabinet and the Council on the financial aspects of all policy
matters.

To ensure proper professional practices are adhered to and to act as head
of profession in relation to the standards of finance staff throughout the
Authority. To ensure that finance staff are competent to perform the
responsibilities that they are assigned.

The Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) shall, after consultation with the
Monitoring Officer, personally make a report to the external auditor and
each elected member if it appears to him / her that a Member, officer or
partnership in which the Authority is represented:

e has made or is about to make a decision which involves or would
involve the Authority in unlawful expenditure;

e has taken or is about to take a course of action which, if pursued to its
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency
on the part of the Authority;

e s about to enter an item of account the entry of which is unlawful;

He/ she shall also make such a report if it appears to him /her that the
expenditure of the Authority incurred (and proposed to incur) in a financial
year is likely to exceed the resources available to meet that expenditure.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

2.8

2.9

To ensure that the Financial Procedure Rules are followed and brought to
the attention of all employees in their service areas.

To be responsible, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance) for:

e the financial administration of their service areas, including trading
accounts, in compliance with the Financial Procedure Rules;

e the monitoring and control of expenditure against their service area
capital and revenue budgets.

e the design and operation of systems of internal control capable of:

> carrying out the activities of the Authority in an effective
and efficient manner;

> ensuring adherence to the Authority Policy Framework and
Budget;

> safeguarding assets;

> securing, as far as possible the completeness and accuracy

of records;
> ensuring value for money and preventing waste;

> identifying and reporting of financial risks.

Page 259

58 | D



2.10

2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

2.17

2.18

2.19

2.20

2.21

To agree with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) any amendment to
financial systems or introduction of new financial systems.

To provide all information required by the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance) for finance purposes on a timely basis, and to allow him/her or an
authorised representative access to all information, records, documents
and explanations that he/she requires.

To maintain adequate records to provide a management trail leading from
the source of income/expenditure through to the accounting statements.

To establish and maintain sound arrangements for planning, appraising,
authorising and controlling their operations in order to achieve continuous
improvement, economy, efficiency and effectiveness and for achieving
their financial performance targets.

To allow the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) adequate opportunity
(at least 5 working days) to provide written comments for inclusion in all
reports for decision by the Council or the Cabinet or for the purpose of
exercising delegated powers.

To consult with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) with respect to
any matter within his/her purview which is liable to materially affect the
finances of the Authority, before any provisional or other commitment is
incurred or before reporting thereon to the Cabinet or the Council.

To inform the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) when officers intend to
meet with representatives of Government Service areas or outside bodies
on matters which may involve current or future financial or economic
proposals and be given the opportunity of being represented or advised of
the proposals as the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) considers
necessary.

To take action upon any internal audit reports to ensure that any agreed
actions arising from audit recommendations are carried out in a timely and
efficient fashion.

To ensure that all employees who are responsible for financial
administration are issued with appropriate instructions and periodic
training as deemed necessary.

To ensure that there is a clear separation of duties within the
administration of all processes to ensure adequate controls are in place.

To maintain proper records of authorising officers for all financial processes
and to ensure that only these officers authorise key documents such as
orders, invoices, claims and payroll records. Such records to be maintained
by the system administrators in conjunction with Chief Officers.

Toimmediately notify the Section 151 Officer and the Chief Internal Auditor
whenever any matter arises which involves, or is thought to involve, a
breach of security, theft, or irregularities concerning cash, stores or other
property of the Authority, or any suspected irregularity in the exercise of
the functions of the Authority.

Page 260

59 | D



2.22

2.23

2.24

2.25

To liaise with the Chief Internal Auditor in relation to the investigation of
any suspected irregularities within their service area, in line with the
Authority’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy.

To ensure that all employees comply with the Financial Procedure Rules
and any instructions issued under them or any arrangements made for the
purposes of them.

To ensure that any arrangements made under or for the purposes of the
Financial Procedure Rules should be documented and where necessary
conveyed in writing to relevant employees.

To promote sound financial practices in relation to the standards,
performance and development of staff in their departments.

MANAGING EXPENDITURE
Virement and in-year changes to the budget

Why is this Important?

2.26

2.27

The scheme of virement is intended to enable the Cabinet, Chief Officers
and their staff to manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the
overall budget and policy framework determined by the full Council, and
therefore to optimise the use of resources.

Virement Guidelines are approved by Cabinet. There are different levels
and types of budget virement that can occur, each requiring different levels
of Member/Officer approval; this is outlined in the document.

Key Controls

2.28

Key controls for the scheme of virement are:

o the overall revenue budget is drawn up by the Cabinet and approved
by the full Council. Chief Officers and budget holders are, therefore,
authorised to incur expenditure in accordance with the estimates that
make up the budget as set out in the budget book. The rules below
cover virement; that is, switching resources between approved cost
centres:

e virement does not create additional overall budget liability. Chief
Officers and budget holders are expected to exercise their discretion in
managing their budgets responsibly and prudently. For example, they
should not support recurring revenue expenditure from one-off
sources of savings or additional income, or creating future
commitments, including full-year effects of decisions made part way
through a year, for which they have not identified future resources.
Chief Officers must plan to fund such commitments from within their
own budgets;

o the capital programme is drawn up by the Cabinet and approved by the
full Council and contains details of approved expenditure on capital
schemes.

Page 261

60 | D



Responsibility of the Cabinet

2.29 To approve revenue and capital budget virements outside of the

delegations identified below:

Revenue Virement Authorisation Levels

Category

Virement

Authorisation

Cost Centre

Same
Directorate/Corporate

Area — Same Division

Up to £50k - Relevant Service
Manager in consultation with
Relevant Chief Officer/Head of
Service

Between £50k - £250k — Relevant
Chief Officer/Head of Service
Over £250k — Cabinet

Same
Directorate/Corporate

Area — Different
Division

Under £250k - Relevant Chief
Officer/Head of Service, with
consultation with relevant Service
managers

Over £250k — Cabinet

Different Directorate/
Corporate Area — No
Reserve Funding
Impact

Under £250k - Relevant Chief
Officers/Heads of Service, with
consultation with relevant Service
managers

Over £250k - Cabinet

Different Directorate/
Corporate Area —
Reserve Funding
Impact

Cabinet upon recommendation of
Head of Finance

Account Code

Between Indirect
Codes

Up to £50k - Directorate Finance
Manager (CEQ’s, Enterprise and
Operations)

Over £50k - Assistant Head of
Finance (Accountancy)

Between Direct Codes

Up to £50k - Respective Directorate
Finance Managers for Directorate
Budgets and Central Finance
Manager for Corporate Areas

Over £50k - Assistant Head of
Finance (Accountancy)

Between Indirect and
Direct Codes

Head of Finance

Page 262

61| D



Project Codes | All Respective Directorate Finance

and other Manager for Directorate Budgets and
lower level Finance Manager Central
codes Accountancy for Corporate Areas

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

2.30

2.31

2.32

In consultation with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) to vire, within
service areas, sums not exceeding £250,000 provided under specific
published revenue budget heads to other purposes (revenue only).

To refer to the Cabinet for approval, virements in excess of £250,000
provided under the specific published budget heads. A recommendation
will be prepared by the appropriate Chief Officer or Head of Service, in
consultation with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

No virement may be approved if it is anticipated to introduce overspend to
either the service area or total cash limited budget of the Heads of Service.

Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

2.33  To consult with the appropriate Chief Officer or other Head of Service, to
vire sums, within their service area and within the limits as outlined in these
Financial Procedure Rules.

2.34 To refer to the Cabinet for approval, virements in excess of £250,000
provided under the specific published budget heads. A recommendation
will be prepared by the appropriate Chief Officer or Head of Service, in
consultation with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

2.35 To recommend to Cabinet the use of reserves and to commit expenditure
in future years up to a total of up to £1m and to ensure that appropriate
records are kept and maintained.

2.36 Novirement may be approved if it is anticipated to introduce overspend to
either the service area or total cash limited budget of the Head of Service.

Capital Virement Authorisation Levels

Form | Scheme Categories Virement Type Authorisation
Cap * Property Maintenance Virement within each | Virements up to
2a * Infrastructure category £50k — Service
Maintenance Virement between Manager
e GF Renovation Grants financial years within | responsibility
each category Virements over £50k
- Relevant Chief
Officer/Head of
Service
Cap IT schemes Virement within this Relevant responsible
2b category including Chief Officer/Head
virement between of Service in
financial years consultation with

Page 263

62| D



Head of Finance,
Cabinet Member
and ICT Board
Cap e Development Virement within and Virements affecting
2c schemes over £250k —betwee.n these more than one
e Development (t:)ategone:.and " member’s p_ortfolio
schemes under £250k etween financia require Cabinet
— All categories years approval .-
Virements within a
e Reserve Funded single member’s
e Education Strategic portfolio require
Review Single Member
approval
Cap e Specific Grant Funded Virements between Virements require
2d categories and Cabinet approval
* Section 106 between financial along with written
e Section 278 years notification of
approval from the
grant funding body,
or relevant Section
106 or Section 278
Agreement where it
doesn’t accord with
spirit of existing
agreement
Cap All categories of scheme | Virements between Virements require
2e if the virement is not categories and Cabinet approval
covered by forms 2a —2d | between financial
years

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service
In consultation with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), to vary
within service areas the approved programme of capital expenditure by an
addition or deletion or material modification of an existing project by a
virement not exceeding £50,000 to or from another project but subject to
the medium term financial plan.

2.37

2.38

To refer to the Cabinet for approval, virements provided under the specific
published budget heads as per above table. A recommendation will be
prepared, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

Responsibilities Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

2.39 To consult with the appropriate Head of Service, to vary within their service
areas, the approved programme of capital expenditure, within the limits as
outlined in these Financial Procedure Rules.

Page 264

63| D



2.40 To refer to the Cabinet for approval, virements provided under the specific
published budget heads as per table above. A recommendation will be
prepared, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

2.41 The Council sets a multi-year capital programme, with the latter years
indicative only. In order to ensure an effective capital programme,
expenditure can be brought forward only with the approval of the Section
151 Officer (Head of Finance). The possibility of delaying spend into future
years may be required in some cases and should be observed following any
request from the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

Responsibilities of Accountancy Staff in Respect of Virement Administration

2.42 In all instances, a budget virement can only be actioned on the financial
information system upon satisfaction by Accountancy Section that the
above authorisations have been obtained.

2.43  Accountancy will check the forms. In particular they will need to make sure
any financing implications are taken into account. If everything is in order
they will make the necessary adjustments to the ledger and inform the
relevant budget holders.

2.44  Accountancy will identify budget virements on the General Ledger.
Expenditure and financing profiles will be adjusted in order to track
expenditure and financing through the financial year and to assist in budget
monitoring and forecasting.

TREATMENT OF YEAR END BALANCES

Why is this Important?

2.45 It is important to have a set of rules for the proper treatment of year end
balances.

Key Controls

2.46  Appropriate accounting procedures are in operation to ensure that carried
forward totals are correct.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

2.47 To transfer to reserves any appropriate under-spendings arising from the
out-turn at financial year ends.

2.48 To report to the Cabinet and Council as part of the budget process on the
Authority’s financial standing.

2.49 In consultation with Chief Officers to approve carry forward of surpluses
from internal trading units.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

2.50 Internal trading unit surpluses may be carried forward to the following year
subject to approval by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

Page 265

64 | D



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Why is this Important?

2.51 The Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) is responsible for the preparation
of the Authority’s statement of accounts, in accordance with proper
practices as set out in the format required by the relevant codes of practice
on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom, for each financial year
ending 31st March.

Key Controls

2.52 The key controls for accounting policies are:

systems of internal control are in place that ensure that financial
transactions are lawful;

suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
proper accounting records are maintained;

financial statements are prepared which present fairly the financial
position of the Authority and its expenditure and income.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

2.53 To select suitable accounting policies and to ensure that they are applied
consistently. The accounting policies are set out in the statement of
accounts, which is prepared at 31st March each year, and covers such items

as:

separate accounts for capital and revenue transactions;

the basis on which debtors and creditors at year end are included in
the accounts;

details on substantial provisions and reserves;
fixed assets;

depreciation;

financial instruments;

work in progress;

stocks and stores;

deferred charges;

accounting for value added tax;

government grants; and

leasing.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

2.54 To ensure they and their staff adhere to the accounting policies and
guidelines approved by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

Page 266

65| D



ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS

Why is this Important?

2.55

Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways in which the
Authority discharges its responsibility for stewardship of public resources.
The Authority has a statutory responsibility to prepare its annual accounts
to present fairly its operations during the year. These are subject to
external audit. This audit provides assurance that the accounts are
prepared properly, that proper accounting practices have been followed
and that quality arrangements have been made for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Authority’s resources.

Key Controls

2.56

The key controls for accounting records and returns are:

e finance staff and budget holders operate within the required
accounting standards and timetables;

e all the Authority’s transactions, material commitments and contracts
and other essential accounting information are recorded completely,
accurately and on a timely basis;

e procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be
reconstituted in the event of systems failure;

e reconciliation procedures are carried out to ensure transactions are
correctly recorded;

e prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and other
requirements.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

2.57
2.58

2.59

2.60

2.61

2.62

To determine the accounting procedures and records for the Authority.

To arrange for the compilation of all accounts and accounting records
under his or her direction.

To comply with the following principles when allocating accounting duties:

¢ separating the duties of providing information about sums due to or
from the Authority and calculating, checking and recording these sums
from the duty of collecting or disbursing them;

o officers with the duty of examining or checking the accounts of cash
transactions must not themselves be engaged in these transactions.

To make proper arrangements for the audit of the Authority’s accounts in
accordance with the current Accounts and Audit Regulations.

To ensure that all claims and returns required by Government Service areas
and other bodies are processed through the grant review process as
defined within the grants protocol for the Authority.

To prepare and publish the audited accounts of the Authority for each
financial year, in accordance with the statutory timetable and with the
requirement.

Page 267

66 | D



2.63 To determine the retention period of financial records where there are no
requirements prescribed by statutory or other external regulations.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

2.64 To consult and obtain the approval of the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance) before making any changes to accounting records and procedures.

2.65 To comply with the following principles when allocating accounting duties:

¢ separating the duties of providing information about sums due to or from
the Authority and calculating, checking and recording these sums from
the duty of collecting or disbursing them;

o employees with the duty of examining or checking the accounts of cash
transactions must not themselves be engaged in these transactions.

2.66 To maintain adequate records to provide a management trail leading from
the source of income/expenditure through to the accounting statements.

2.67 To ensure that the retention periods of financial records, as determined by
the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), are complied with. Where
retention periods are prescribed by statutory or other external regulations,
the Head of Service should ensure that these are complied with.

2.68 To ensure that financial records are not disposed of other than in
accordance with prescribed statutory requirements (as advised by the
Council’s Information Manager) and as approved by the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance).

2.69 To supply information required to enable the statement of accounts to be
completed in accordance with guidelines issued by the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance). Notable examples are lease agreement (or lease type
arrangements) that the Authority has entered into, provisions and
contingent liabilities that exist, significant post-balance sheet events, joint
arrangements and partnerships that the Authority has entered into.

ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS
Why is this Important?

2.70 The Authority has a statutory responsibility to prepare its own accounts to
present fairly its operations during the year.

Key Controls
2.71 The key controls for the annual statement of accounts are:

e the Authority is required to make arrangements for the proper
administration of its financial affairs and to ensure that one of its
officers has the responsibility for the administration of these affairs. In
this Authority, that officer is the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance);

o the Authority’s statement of accounts must be prepared in accordance
with proper practices as set out in the relevant codes of practice on
local authority accounting in the United Kingdom.

Page 268



Responsibilities of Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

2.72

2.73

2.74

2.75

2.76

2.77

2.78

2.79

To select suitable accounting policies and to apply them consistently.
To make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.
To comply with the relevant accounting code of practice.

To sign and date the statement of accounts, stating that it presents the
financial position of the Authority as true and fair as at the accounting date
for the year ended 31st March.

To draw up the timetable for final accounts preparation and to advise staff
and external auditors accordingly.

To ensure that good quality audit working papers are provided to external
audit in readiness for the agreed commencement of the audit.

To monitor progress with the completion of account closure to ensure that
closure remains on track and in accordance with agreed timetables, as
updated and revised during the course of closure.

To ensure that Members and Strategic Leadership Team are appropriately
briefed to allow them to understand the accounts that are presented to
them.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

2.80

To comply with accounting guidance provided by the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance), and to supply the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)
with information in the format, and by the date, requested.

Page 269

68 | D



SECTION 3 - FINANCIAL PLANNING

. Performance Plans

. Revenue Budgeting and Monitoring
. Capital Budgeting and Monitoring

o Maintenance of Reserves

PERFORMANCE PLANS

Why is this Important?

3.1

The Authority has a statutory responsibility to publish various performance
plans, in accordance with Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009. The
purpose of performance plans is to explain overall priorities and objectives,
current performance, and proposals for further improvement. External
audit is required to report on whether the Authority has complied with
statutory requirements in respect of the preparation and Corporate
Improvement Plan.

Key Controls

3.2

The Key Controls for performance plans are:

e to ensure that all relevant plans are produced and that they are
consistent

e to produce plans in accordance with statutory requirements

e to meet the timetables set

e to ensure that all performance information is accurate, complete and
up to date

e to provide improvement targets which are meaningful, realistic and
challenging.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

3.3

3.4

3.5

To advise and supply, as appropriate and in conjunction with Chief Officers,
the financial information that needs to be included in performance plans in
accordance with statutory requirements and agreed timetables.

To contribute to the development of corporate and service targets and
objectives and performance information.

To ensure that systems are in place to measure activity and collect the
accurate financial information required and to provide said financial
information to Service Areas to calculate their respective performance
indicators.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

3.6

3.7

To contribute to the development of performance plans in line with
statutory requirements.

To contribute to the development of corporate and service targets and
objectives and performance information.

Page 270

69 | D



3.8

3.9

3.10

To indicate to the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) the Financial
Information required and to agree the methodology for calculation.

To ensure that adequate systems are in place to measure activity and
collect accurate and timely non-financial information for use as
performance indicators.

To advise and supply, as appropriate and in conjunction with the Section
151 Officer (Head of Finance), the financial information that needs to be
included in performance plans in accordance with statutory requirements
and agreed timetables.

REVENUE BUDGETING AND MONITORING

Budget Format

Why is this Important?

3.11

The format of the budget determines the level of detail to which financial
control and management will be exercised. The format shapes how the
rules around virement operate, the operation of cash limits, and sets the
level at which funds may be reallocated within budgets.

Key Controls

3.12

The Key Controls are that the format:
o complies with all legal requirements;
e complies with proper accounting and professional standards;

o reflects the accountabilities of service delivery.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

3.13

3.14

To advise the Cabinet on the format of the budget that is approved by the
full Council.

To ensure that there is a budget setting timetable in place that is approved
by the Cabinet.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads off Service

3.15

To comply with accounting guidance provided by the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance).

Revenue Budget Preparation and Medium-Term Financial Planning

Why is this Important?

3.16

The Council is a large and complex organisation responsible for delivering
a wide variety of services. It needs to plan effectively and to develop
systems to enable scarce resources to be allocated in accordance with
carefully weighed priorities. The budget is the financial expression of the
Authority’s plans and policies.

Page 271

70 | D



3.17

3.18

The revenue budget must be constructed so as to ensure that resource
allocation properly reflects the service plans and priorities of the full
Council. Budgets (spending plans) are needed so that the Authority can
plan, authorise, monitor and control the way money is allocated and spent.
It is unlawful for a local authority to budget for a deficit.

In considering the affordability of its capital plans the Council is required to
consider all the resource currently available, and for the future together
with an estimate of its requirements for the following year and each of the
following three years. The Council is also required to consider known
significant changes beyond this timeframe. This requires the development
of rolling 4-year forecasts.

Key Controls

3.19

The Key Controls for budgets and medium-term financial planning are:

¢ budget holders are responsible for the preparation of the budgets for
which they will be held responsible and accept accountability within
delegations set by the Cabinet for their budgets and the level of service
to be delivered;

e a monitoring process is in place to review the effectiveness and
operation of budget preparation and to ensure that any corrective
action is taken.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

3.20

3.21

3.22

3.23

To prepare areport annually on a budget strategy for the following financial
year for consideration by the Cabinet. This will take account of the
commitments, resource constraints and shall include medium term
prospects. It will cover all the services of the Authority. The Cabinet having
considered the report of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) will then
agree a medium term financial plan.

To prepare, after the budget strategy has been agreed by the Cabinet, in
conjunction with the Chief Officers and Heads of Service, estimates of the
income and expenditure of the various service areas and submit them to
the Cabinet. The Cabinet shall consider the aggregate effect of these
estimates upon the Authority's financial resources and, subject to any other
considerations of policy and to any amendments which it proposes to
make, shall draw up proposals for the Budget and the amount of Council
Tax to be levied for the ensuing financial year to be referred to the Council.
The inclusion of items in approved revenue estimates shall constitute
authority to incur such expenditure save to the extent of which the Council
shall have placed a reservation on any such items. Expenditure on any such
reserved items may be incurred only when and to the extent that such
reservations have been removed.

To prescribe the Budget format required and to ensure that there is a
budget setting timetable in place.

To advise on the medium term implications of spending decisions and
prepare medium term plans.

Page 272

71| D



3.24

3.25

3.26

To encourage the best use of resources and value for money by working
with Chief Officers and Heads of Service to identify opportunities to
improve economy, efficiency and effectiveness, and by encouraging good
practice in conducting financial appraisals of development or savings
options, and in developing financial aspects of service planning.

To advise the full Council on Cabinet proposals in accordance with his or
her responsibilities under section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.

To ensure all matters required to be taken into account are reported to the
Cabinet and Council when setting and reviewing prudential indicators.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

3.27

3.28

3.29

3.30

3.31

3.32

To provide the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) with information to
complete the medium term financial plan.

To prepare, in conjunction with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance),
estimates of income and expenditure.

To prepare budgets consistent with any relevant cash limits, with the
Authority’s annual budget cycle and with guidelines issued by the Cabinet.
The budget format will be prescribed by the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance).

To integrate financial and budget plans into service planning and for them
to link in with the Corporate Plan.

To ensure that all savings proposals and budget pressures put forward
during the budget setting process are evidence based and are constructed
using best estimates.

When drawing up draft budget requirements, to have regard to:

e spending/income patterns and pressures revealed through the budget
monitoring process;

e legal requirements;

¢ policy requirements as defined by the full Council in the approved
policy framework;

¢ initiatives already under way;

e Areas where savings/efficiencies can be made.

Resource Allocation

Why is this Important?

3.33

A mismatch often exists between available resources and required
resources. A common scenario is that available resources are not adequate
to fulfil need/desire. It is therefore imperative that needs/desires are
carefully prioritised and that resources are fairly allocated, in order to fulfil
all legal responsibilities. Resources may include staff, money, equipment,
goods, property and materials.

Page 273

72| D



Key Controls

3.34

The key controls for resource allocation are:

e resources are acquired in accordance with the law and using an
approved authorisation process;

e resources are used only for the purpose intended, to achieve the
approved policies and objectives, and are properly accounted for;

e resources are used with the minimum level of waste, inefficiency or
loss for other reasons.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

3.35
3.36

3.37

To advise on Resources such as grants or the affordability of borrowing.

To advise on the suitability of proposals to introduce/modify financial
procedures to control resources (e.g. stock control systems).

To assist in the allocation of resources to budget holders.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

3.38

3.39

To work within cash limits and to utilise resources allocated, and
furthermore to allocate resources, in the most efficient, effective and
economic way.

To identify opportunities to minimise or eliminate resource requirements
or consumption without having a detrimental effect on service delivery.

Revenue Budget Monitoring and Control

Why is this Important?

3.40

3.41

3.42

Proper budget management ensures that, once the budget has been
approved by the full Council, resources are used for their intended
purposes and are properly accounted for. Budgetary control is a continuous
process, enabling the Authority to review and adjust its budget targets
during the financial year. It also provides the mechanism that calls to
account managers responsible for defined elements of the budget.

By continuously identifying and explaining variances against budgetary
targets, the Authority can identify changes in trends and resource
requirements at the earliest opportunity. The Authority itself operates
within an annual cash limit, approved when setting the overall budget. To
ensure that the Authority, in total, does not overspend, each service area
is required to manage its own expenditure within the cash limited budget
allocated to it.

Chief Officers and Heads of Service are expected to exercise their discretion
in managing their budgets responsibly and prudently. For example, they
should not support recurring revenue expenditure from one-off sources of
savings or additional income, or creating future commitments, including
full-year effects of decisions made part way through a year, for which they
have not identified future resources. They must plan to fund such
commitments from within their own budgets.

Page 274

73| D



3.43 For the purposes of budgetary control by managers, a budget will normally
be the planned income and expenditure for a service area or cost centre.
However, budgetary control may take place at a more detailed level if this
is required.

Key Controls

3.44 The minimum key controls for managing and controlling the revenue
budget are:

there is a nominated budget manager for each cost centre;

budget holders accept accountability for their budgets and the level of
service to be delivered and understand their financial responsibilities;
budget holders follow an approved -certification process for all
expenditure;

income and expenditure are properly recorded and accounted for;
performance levels/levels of service are monitored in conjunction with
the budget and necessary action is taken to align service outputs and
budget; and

specific budget approval is given for all expenditure.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

3.45 To establish an appropriate framework of budgetary management and
control that ensures that:

budget management is exercised within annual cash limits unless the
full Council agrees otherwise;

all Chief Officers and Heads of Service are furnished with periodical
statements of receipts and payments and such other relevant
information as he/she has which is sufficiently detailed to enable
managers to fulfil their budgetary responsibilities;

in consultation with Chief Officers and Heads of Service, reports are
submitted, as determined by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance),
to the Cabinet, Select Committees, monitoring expenditure and
comparing anticipated outturn with estimates;

each cost centre has a single named manager, determined by the
relevant Head of Service. As a general principle, budget responsibility
should be aligned as closely as possible to the decision making
processes that commits expenditure; and

significant variances from approved budgets are investigated and
reported by budget holders regularly.

3.46 To ensure that Members and Strategic Leadership Team are appropriately
briefed to allow them to understand the reports that are presented to them
where a Head of Service is unable to balance expenditure and resources
within existing approved budgets under his or her control.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

3.47 To be responsible for keeping strict supervision of the expenditure of their
respective service areas and for drawing the attention of the Section 151

Page 275

74| D



3.48

3.49
3.50

3.51

3.52

Officer (Head of Finance) and the Cabinet and the Council to any
contemplated expenditure not provided for in the estimates or which, if
incurred, would exceed the amount allocated for the purpose in the
estimates.

To maintain budgetary control within their service areas, in adherence to
the principles above, and to ensure that all income and expenditure is
properly recorded and accounted for.

To ensure that budgetary provision is identified for all expenditure incurred.

To ensure that officers responsible for committing expenditure comply with
relevant guidance and financial regulations.

To ensure, after consultation with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)
that there is subsequent approval by the full Council or Cabinet (as
appropriate) for new proposals, of whatever amount, that:
e create financial commitments in future years;
o change existing policies, initiate new policies or cease existing policies;
e materially extend or reduce the Authority’s services.
To ensure compliance with procedures regarding virement.

CAPITAL BUDGETING AND MONITORING

Why is this Important?

3.53

3.54

Capital expenditure (including use of capital grants and PFI/PPP projects or
similar type arrangements) involves acquiring or enhancing fixed assets
with a long term value to the Authority, such as land, buildings,
infrastructure and major items of plant, equipment or vehicles. Capital
assets shape the way services are delivered in the long term and create
financial commitments for the future in the form of financing costs and
revenue running costs.

The financing capacity of the Authority is restricted by the affordability
prudence and sustainability of the Capital Programme and the underlying
borrowing that supports it. This means that capital expenditure should
form part of an investment strategy and should be carefully prioritised in
order to maximise the benefit of scarce resources.

Key Controls

3.55

The key controls for capital programmes are:

¢ specific approval by the full Council for the programme of capital
expenditure;

¢ a scheme and estimate, including a robust business plan, options,
progress targets and associated revenue expenditure is prepared for
each capital project, for appraising by the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance);

Page 276

75| D



e proposals for improvements and alterations to buildings must be
approved by the appropriate Head of Service in accordance with the
Asset Management Plan;

¢ schedules for individual projects within the overall budget approved by
the Council must be approved by the appropriate Head of Service;

e accountability for each proposal is accepted by a named project
manager;

e progress and expenditure should be monitored and compared to the
approved budget; and

e VAT is recorded and reported accurately and that payments are made
in accordance with the requirements of VAT legislation and the HMRC’s
Construction Industry Scheme.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

3.56

3.57

3.58

3.59
3.60

3.61

To issue guidance relating to the strategy and controls for capital schemes.
The definition of ‘capital’ will be determined by the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance), having regard to Government regulations and
accounting requirements.

To advise the Cabinet and Council on the affordability, prudence and
sustainability of the Capital Programme by the preparation of prudential
indicators as required by the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local
Authorities.

To ensure all matters required to be taken into account are reported to the
Cabinet and Council when setting and revising prudential indicators.

To establish procedures for the monitoring of prudential indicators.

To prepare a report on the Capital Programme for the service area
proposals, taking into account the Prudential Code Borrowing, Policy
Framework, commitments, resource constraints and Capital Receipts. This
report shall compare the estimates with the finance available and propose
the level of annual expenditure of each service area. The report will identify
those schemes where expenditure may only be incurred after further work
has been undertaken.

To furnish all Chief Officers and Heads of Service with periodical statements
of expenditure and progress on individual schemes. It shall be the
responsibility of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) in consultations
with each Chief Officer and Head of Service to submit reports, as
determined by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), to the Cabinet,
Select Committees and the Council, monitoring expenditure and comparing
with approved programme. The inclusion of items in the approved Capital
Programme shall constitute authority to incur such expenditure save to the
extent of which the Council shall have placed a reservation on any such
items. Expenditure on any such reserved items may be incurred only when
and to the extent that such reservations have been removed.

Page 277

76 | D



Responsibilities of Heads of Services and Capital Budget Holders

3.62

3.63

3.64

3.65

3.66

3.67

3.68
3.69

3.70

3.71

3.72

To comply with guidance concerning capital projects and controls issued by
the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

To carry out an option appraisal before bidding / incurring capital
expenditure to determine alternative methods of meeting need.

To consider the revenue implications of Capital Projects over the whole life
of projects and notify the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) when
planning to undertake such schemes which do commit the Authority to
additional Revenue expenditure.

To submit a prioritised list of bids as part of the Medium Term capital
budgeting process representing the schemes required to deliver service
and corporate strategy.

To ensure that all capital expenditure proposals are processed through the
capital working group in advance of the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance) making recommendations to Cabinet or Council as necessary.

To ensure that adequate records are maintained for all capital contracts
and the preparation of grant claims.

To ensure compliance with the Authority’s scheme of virement.

To report to the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) as soon as it becomes
apparent that the total cost of a scheme including variations will or is likely
to exceed £50,000 or 5% [whichever is the higher] above the capital budget
available. This report should cover the reasons for increased cost, an
analysis of options considered to reduce cost to budget and the funding
options considered to meet any budget shortfall.

To ensure that credit arrangements, such as leasing agreements, are not
entered into without the prior approval of the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance) and, if applicable, approval of the scheme through the capital
programme.

To consult with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) where the Head
of Service proposes to bid for Capital Funding to be issued by Government
departments or others to support expenditure that has not been included
in the current year’s capital programme.

To ensure all expenditure charged against capital budgets meets the
definition of capital expenditure in accordance with the Local Government
Act 2003 and recommended accounting practice.

Page 278

77| D



MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES

Why is this Important?

3.73 Reserves can be provided as a working balance, a contingency for
unexpected events or emergencies or to meet known or predicted
liabilities.

Key Controls

3.74 To maintain reserves in accordance with the relevant codes of practice on
local authority accounting in the United Kingdom and agreed accounting
policies.

3.75 For each reserve established, the purpose, usage and basis of transactions
should be clearly identified.

3.76 The establishment of reserves and incurring of expenditure from reserves
should be authorised by Cabinet.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

3.77 To advise the Cabinet and/or the full Council on prudent levels of Reserves
for the Authority.

3.78 To report to Council on the adequacy of reserves when setting the budget
for the year and at outturn.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

3.79 To ensure that resources are used only for the purposes for which they
were intended.

Page 279

78 | D



SECTION 4 - RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES

. Risk Management

. Internal Controls

. Internal and External Audit

. Preventing Fraud and Corruption

. Security of Assets:-

. Land and Buildings

. Vehicles, Furniture and Equipment

. Stocks and Stores

. Cash

. Information and Communication Technology

. Intellectual Property

. Clients’ Private Property

. Treasury Management and Trust Funds
RISK MANAGEMENT

Why is this Important?

4.1 All organisations, whether private or public sector, face risks to people,
property and continued operations. Risk is the chance or possibility of loss,
damage, injury or failure to achieve objectives caused by an unwanted or
uncertain action or event. Risk management is concerned with evaluating
the measures an organisation already has in place to manage identified
risks, and then recommending the action the organisation needs to take to
control these risks effectively.

Key Controls

4.2 The key controls for risk management are:

procedures are in place to identify, assess, prevent or contain material
known risks, and these procedures are operating -effectively
throughout the Authority;

a monitoring process is in place to review regularly the effectiveness of
risk reduction strategies and the operation of these controls. The risk
management process should be conducted on a continuing basis;

managers know that they are responsible for managing relevant risks
and are provided with relevant information on risk management
initiatives;

managers apply a standard approach to risk identification and
recording, using the risk management strategy;

provision is made for losses that might result from the risks that
remain;

Page 280

79 | D



e procedures are in place to investigate claims within required
timescales;

e acceptable levels of risk are determined and insured against where
appropriate;

e the Authority has identified business continuity plans for
implementation in the event of disaster that results in significant loss
or damage to its resources.

Responsibilities of Senior Leadership Team

4.3

4.4

To develop risk management controls in conjunction with Chief Officers and
Heads of Service.

To ensure that arrangements are in place for measuring the effectiveness
of the risk management process, and that all findings from monitoring
arrangements are fed back into the risk management cycle.

Responsibilities of Section 151 (Head of Finance)

4.5

4.6

4.7

To affect insurance cover, and to arrange for the negotiation of claims in
consultation with other Chief Officers, where necessary.

To hold in safe custody all insurance policies of the Authority, arrange for
payment of premiums by the due date, and manage the Authority’s own
Insurance Fund.

To make arrangements to ensure that insurance records relating to liability
policies and related correspondence must be retained indefinitely.
Documents relating to other policies and internal funding arrangements
must be retained for six years. All employees will adhere to the
requirements of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) as to the
retention of any documents of the nature referred to in this rule.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.8

4.9
4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

To take responsibility for risk management, having regard to advice from
the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), and other specialist officers (e.g.
emergency planning, health and safety).

To ensure that there are regular reviews of risk within their service areas.

To ensure that risk management is brought to the attention of relevant staff
in their service areas.

To notify the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) immediately in writing
of any loss, liability or damage, or any event likely to lead to a claim by or
against the Authority, and inform the Police, where necessary.

To submit claims in such a form as prescribed from time to time by the
Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

To arrange for the identification of all appropriate employees of the
Authority who should be included in a suitable fidelity guarantee insurance,
and shall make arrangements through the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance) for such inclusion.

Page 281

80| D



4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

To notify the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) promptly of all new risks,
properties or vehicles that require insurance and of any alterations
affecting existing insurances.

To notify the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) promptly of any
significant acquisitions or disposals of assets or any alteration to the scope
or level of services provided, particularly where the risk of accident, injury,
loss or damage is likely to increase.

On a regular basis, the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) will forward to
Chief Officers, schedules of assets covered by insurance. Chief Officers must
examine the schedules and ensure that the details of those assets are
correctly recorded and that the scope and level of insurance cover are
adequate, and consistent with the Authority’s corporate insurance
arrangements.

To provide the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) with any information
that he/she needs and in the timescale that he or she sets, to enable him
or her to manage the Authority’s insurances effectively.

To consult with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) and the Head of
Legal on the terms of any indemnity that the Authority is requested to give.

To ensure that officers, or anyone covered by the Authority’s insurances,
do not admit liability or make any offer to pay compensation that may
prejudice cover under the council’s insurance policy and the assessment of
liability in respect of any insurance claim.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

Why is this Important?

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

The Authority is a large, complex organisation which requires internal
controls to manage and monitor progress towards strategic objectives.

The Authority has statutory obligations and, therefore, requires internal
controls to identify, meet and monitor compliance with these obligations.

The Authority faces a wide range of financial, administrative and
commercial risks, both from internal and external factors, which threaten
the achievement of its objectives. Internal controls are necessary to
manage these risks.

The system of internal controls is established in order to provide
measurable achievement of:

o efficient and effective operations;

o reliable financial information and reporting;
e compliance with laws and regulations;

e risk management.

Page 282

81|D



Key Controls

4.24 The key controls are:

key controls should be reviewed on a regular basis and the Authority
should make a formal statement annually to the Audit Committee to
the effect that it is satisfied that the systems of internal control are
operating effectively [Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Report];

managerial control systems, including defining policies, setting
objectives and plans, monitoring financial and other performance and
taking appropriate anticipatory and remedial action. The key objective
of these systems is to promote ownership of the control environment
by defining roles and responsibilities;

financial and operational control systems and procedures, which
include physical safeguards for assets, segregation of duties,
authorisation and approval procedures and information systems;

an effective internal audit function that is properly resourced. It should
operate in accordance with the principles contained in the Auditing
Practices Board’s auditing guideline Guidance for Internal Auditors, the
Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards and with any other statutory
obligations and regulations; and

an effective Audit Committee which meets on a regular basis to
consider internal control and auditing matters.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

4.25

To assist the Authority to put in place an appropriate control environment
and effective internal controls which provide reasonable assurance of
effective and efficient operations, financial stewardship, probity and
compliance with laws and regulations.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.26 To establish sound arrangements, consistent with guidance given by the

4.27

Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), or the Chief Internal Auditor, for
planning, appraising, authorising, and controlling their operations, in order
to achieve:

e continuous improvement;

e economy;

o efficiency;

o effectiveness;

e the proper use of resources;

¢ the achievement of objectives; and
¢ the management of risks.

To review existing controls in the light of changes affecting the Authority
and to establish and implement new ones in line with guidance from the
Chief Internal Auditor. Chief Officers should also be responsible for
removing controls that are unnecessary or not cost or risk effective, for
example, because of duplication.

Page 283

82| D



4.28

To ensure staff have a clear understanding of the consequences of lack of
control.

INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL AUDIT

Internal Audit

Why is this Important?

4.29

4.30

The requirement for an internal audit function for local authorities is
implied by Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires
that authorities ‘make arrangements for the proper administration of their
financial affairs’. The Accounts and Audit Regulations (Wales) 2005, more
specifically, require that a ‘local government body shall maintain an
adequate and effective system of internal audit of its accounting records
and of its systems of internal control in accordance with the proper internal
audit practices’.

Internal audit is an independent and objective assurance and consulting
activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It
helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic,
disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk
management, control and governance processes. It examines, evaluates
and reports on the adequacy of internal control as a contribution to the
proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources.

Key Controls

431

The key controls for internal audit are:
e thatitisindependent in its planning and operation;

« the Chief Internal Auditor has direct access to the Chief Executive and
the Leader of the Council, all levels of management and directly to
elected members;

e internal auditors comply with the Public Sector Internal Auditing
Standards;

e that it reports to the Audit Committee.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

4.32

4.33

4.34

To maintain a continuous and independent internal audit of the Authority's
accounting, financial and other operations of the Authority.

To ensure that all employees carrying out auditing duties comply with the
current Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards and that they are
competent to perform the responsibilities that they are assigned.

To make arrangements for there to be undertaken a cyclical review of all
financial systems throughout the Authority and to determine the
appropriate level of audit coverage.

Page 284

83| D



4.35

4.36

4.37

4.38

4.39

To ensure that internal auditors have the authority to:

e access authority premises at reasonable times, subject to the Chief
Internal Auditor being satisfied as to any risk to health and safety;

e access all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control
systems;

e receive any information and explanation considered necessary
concerning any matter under consideration;

¢ require any employee of the Authority to account for cash, stores or
any other authority asset under his or her control;

e access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when
required;

e review, appraise and report on the adequacy and application of
financial and other controls, and on the protection of the Authority’s
property and assets against loss due to fraud or wasteful practices.

To consider the strategic and annual audit plans prepared by the Chief
Internal Auditor, which take account of the characteristics and relative risks
of the activities involved, before the plan is endorsed by the Audit
Committee.

To ensure that the Chief Internal Auditor has the right to report
independently to the Council, the Audit Committee or an appropriate
committee, in his/her own name.

To ensure that the Chief Internal Auditor provides an annual opinion on the
Council’s internal control environment as part of his / her annual report.

To ensure the Chief Internal Auditor reports regularly to the Audit
Committee on the adequacy of the internal control environment operated
by the Authority.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.40

4.41

4.42

4.43

4.44

To ensure that internal auditors are given access at all reasonable times to
premises, personnel, documents and assets that the auditors consider
necessary for the purposes of their work.

To ensure that auditors are provided with any information and
explanations that they seek in the course of their work.

To consider and respond promptly to recommendations contained in audit
reports.

To ensure that any agreed actions arising from audit recommendations are
carried out in a timely and efficient fashion.

To ensure that new systems for maintaining financial records, or records of
assets, or changes to such systems, are discussed with and agreed by the
Chief Internal Auditor prior to implementation.

Page 285

84| D



External Audit

Why is this Important?

4.45

4.46

4.47

4.48

Under section 13 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004, the Auditor General
for Wales is the external auditor of each local authority in Wales. (Under
transitional provisions of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2013, an auditor
appointed by the Auditor General continues to be the auditor of a local
authority until the termination of his/her appointment.) The external
auditor has rights of access to all documents and information, which he or
she considers necessary to carry out his/her statutory functions.

The duties of the external auditor are set out in the Public Audit (Wales) Act
2004. The auditor must be satisfied that the authority’s accounts give a true
and fair view, are prepared in accordance with statute and proper practice.
The auditor must also be satisfied that the authority has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources.

In addition to the audit of the accounts, the Auditor General has duties
under the 2004 Act to undertake improvement studies of local authorities
and powers to undertake other studies regarding the provision of services.
The Auditor General also has duties to undertake improvement
assessments, improvement planning audits and special inspections under
the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

The External Auditors attend all the meetings of the Authority’s Audit
Committee.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

4.49
4.50

4.51

To ensure there is effective liaison between external and internal audit.

To ensure good quality audit working papers are provided in readiness for
external audit to undertake any planned work.

To work with the external auditor and advise the full Council, Cabinet and
Chief Officers on their responsibilities in relation to external audit.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.52

4.53

4.54

4.55

To ensure that external auditors are given access at all reasonable times to
premises, personnel, documents and assets, which the external auditors
consider necessary for the purposes of their work.

To ensure that all records and systems are up to date and available for
inspection.

To ensure that all employees have proper regard to the guidance issued by
the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) in connection with any external
audits, and any reports of the external auditor.

To consider and respond promptly to recommendations contained in audit
reports.

Page 286

85| D



4.56

To ensure that any agreed actions arising from audit recommendations are
carried out in a timely and efficient fashion.

PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

Why is it this Important?

4.57

4.58

4.59

The Authority will not tolerate fraud and corruption in the administration
of its responsibilities, whether from inside or outside the Authority.

The Authority’s expectation of propriety and accountability is that
members and staff at all levels will lead by example in ensuring adherence
to legal requirements, rules, procedures and practices.

The Authority also expects that individuals and organisations (e.g.
suppliers, contractors, service providers) with whom it comes into contact
will act towards the Authority with integrity and without thought or actions
involving fraud and corruption.

Key Controls

4.60

The key controls regarding the prevention of financial irregularities are
that:

¢ the Authority has an effective Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Strategy
and maintains a culture that will not tolerate fraud or corruption;

o all members and staff act with integrity and lead by example;

e senior managers are required to deal swiftly and firmly with those who
defraud or attempt to defraud the Authority or who are corrupt;

e high standards of conduct are promoted,;

o the maintenance of a register of interests in which any hospitality or
gifts accepted must be recorded;

e whistle blowing procedures are in place and operate effectively;

o legislation, including the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998, is adhered
to; and

e matters relating to fraud and corruption are reported promptly to the
Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

4.61
4.62

4.63

To develop and maintain an Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Strategy.

To assist the Authority to put in place an appropriate control environment
and effective internal controls which provide reasonable assurance of
effective and efficient operations, financial stewardship, probity and
compliance with laws and regulations.

To ensure that all suspected financial irregularities are reported to the Chief
Internal Auditor. The Chief Internal Auditor shall take steps as he/she
considers necessary by way of investigation, in liaison with service area
management where appropriate, and in line with the Authority’s Anti-

Page 287

86| D



Fraud and Corruption Strategy. Where sufficient evidence exists to believe
that a criminal offence may have been committed, the matter will be
referred in conjunction with the Head of Finance to the police.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.64

4.65

4.66

4.67

4.68

4.69

4.70

To review existing controls in the light of changes affecting the Authority
and to establish and maintain new controls where appropriate.

To immediately notify the Chief Internal Auditor whenever any matter
arises which involves, or is thought to involve, a breach of security, theft,
or irregularities concerning cash, stores or other property of the Authority,
or any suspected irregularity in the exercise of the functions of the
Authority.

To liaise with the Chief Internal Auditor in relation to the investigation of
any suspected irregularities within their service area, in line with the
Authority’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy.

Where sufficient evidence exists to believe that a criminal offence may
have been committed by a member of staff, to discuss with the Head of
Finance and the Chief Internal Auditor; a joint decision will be taken to refer
the matter to the Police.

To instigate the Authority’s disciplinary and suspension procedures where
the outcome of an investigation indicates improper behaviour by a member
of staff.

To ensure that employees comply with Council guidance regarding the
acceptance of hospitality, gifts and other benefits.

To ensure their staff are aware of and comply with the Employee Code of
Conduct and responsibilities under the Whistleblowing Policy are brought
to their attention.

SECURITY OF ASSETS

Why is this Important?

4.71

4.72

4.73

The Authority holds assets in the form of property, vehicles, equipment,
furniture and other items worth many millions of pounds. It is important
that assets are safeguarded and used efficiently in service delivery, and that
there are arrangements for the security of both assets and information
required for service operations. An up to date asset register is a
prerequisite for proper fixed asset accounting and sound asset
management.

Obsolete, non-repairable or unnecessary assets should be disposed of in
accordance with these regulations and the Contract Procedure Rules of the
Authority.

Misuse of computer resources can seriously affect the business interests of
the Authority.

Page 288

87| D



4.74 Intellectual property is a generic term meaning non-physical product that
is the product of original thought. It includes inventions, literary and artistic
works, symbols, names, images, and designs. If these are created by an
employee or consultant during the course of employment, then, as a
general rule, they belong to the employer. Various Acts of Parliament cover
different types of intellectual property. Certain activities undertaken within
the Authority may give rise to items that may be patentable, for example,
software development.

Key Controls

4.75 The key controls for the security of resources such as land, buildings,
vehicles, plant, machinery, furniture equipment, software and information

are:

resources are used only for the purposes of the Authority and are
properly accounted for;

resources are available for use when required;

resources no longer required are disposed of in accordance with the
law and the regulations of the Authority so as to maximise benefits;

an asset register is maintained for the Authority - assets are recorded
when they are acquired by the Authority and this record is updated as
changes occur with respect to the location and condition of the asset;

assets for disposal are identified and disposed of at the most
appropriate time, and only when it is in the best interests of the
Authority, and best price is obtained, bearing in mind other factors,
such as environmental issues. For items estimated to be of the value of
£10,000, disposal should be by competitive tender or public auction;

approval for the disposal of assets, stocks and equipment up to the
value of £5,000 must be sought from the Head of Services; if the value
of disposal is likely to exceed £5,000 then approval must be given by
the Head of Service in conjunction with the Head of Finance.

procedures should protect staff involved in the disposal of assets from
accusations of personal gain;

all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to safeguarding
the Authority’s assets and information, including the requirements of
the Data Protection Act, Freedom of Information Act and software
copyright legislation;

all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to safeguarding
the security of the Authority’s computer systems, including
maintaining restricted access to the information held on them and
compliance with the Authority’s Information Governance policies;

In the event that the Authority decides to become involved in the
commercial exploitation of inventions, the matter should proceed in
accordance with any approved intellectual property procedures.

Page 289

88| D



Security of Assets — Land and Buildings

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

4.76

4.77

4.78

4.79

To maintain a terrier of all properties owned by the Authority and an asset
register for all ‘material’ fixed assets, in accordance with good practice.

To ensure that assets are valued in accordance with the relevant codes of
practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom.

To determine arrangements for the acquisition and disposal of land and
buildings.

To advise on the financial implications of any purchase, sale or holding of
property on the Authority’s behalf.

Responsibilities of the Head of Legal

4.80

To ensure the safe custody of all title deeds under arrangements agreed
with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.81

4.82

4.83

To make arrangements to ensure the proper security of all the Authority’s
buildings.

To consult with the Chief Internal Auditor in any case where security is
thought to need improvement or where it is considered that special
security arrangements may be needed.

To ensure there are procedures in place to review the condition of physical
assets used in delivery of services e.g. undertake regular impairment
review.

Security of Assets - Vehicles, Furniture and Equipment

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

4.84

4.85

4.86

To issue guidance to service areas on the maintenance of inventories and
the disposal of assets.

To ensure appropriate accounting entries are made to include all material
assets and to remove the value of disposed assets from the Authority’s
records and to include the sale proceeds if appropriate.

To agree procedures for the disposal of lost property.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.87

To ensure the proper security and safe custody of all vehicles, equipment
and furniture, belonging to or under the control of the Authority, and shall

Page 290

89| D



make contingency plans for the continuity of service in the event of disaster
or system failure.

4.88 To maintain inventories of furniture, equipment, vehicles and plant,
including items leased by the Authority. This shall be kept up to date and
shall be in a form approved by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)
and in accordance with the Authority’s guidance. Chief Officers shall make
arrangements to ensure that inventories shall include for each item,
information relating to date of purchase, cost, location and any technical
features, which might affect its value or usefulness.

4.89 To make arrangements to ensure that an annual, independent, check of all
items on the inventory is carried out, in order to verify location, review, and
condition and to take action in relation to surpluses or deficiencies,
annotating the inventory accordingly. Attractive and portable items such as
computers and cameras shall be identified with security markings as
belonging to the Authority.

490 To ensure that the Authority's property shall not be removed from its
ordinary location otherwise than in accordance with the ordinary course of
the Authority's business except in accordance with specific directions
issued by the Head of Service concerned or used otherwise than for the
Authority's purposes. A record should be kept of all authorised removals.

491 Toensure that no Authority asset is subject to personal use by an employee
without proper authorisation from the Head of Service.

4.92 To make arrangements to ensure that any disposal of any vehicle, furniture,
fittings, equipment, plant and machinery is in accordance with the
Authority’s procedure for disposals.

493 Before disposal to check if the asset is subject to leasing arrangements. If
the asset is leased, disposal must be in accordance with the terms of the
lease.

494 To ensure that income received for the disposal of an asset is properly
banked and coded.

495 If an item is lost, stolen or disposed of, this must be recorded against the
entry in the inventory and reported to the Head of Service.

496 To notify the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) of the purchase or
disposal of any material asset, to enable the asset register to be updated.

4,97 Any property left on Council premises and regarded as lost must be
disposed of in accordance with procedures agreed with the Section 151
Officer (Head of Finance).

Security of Assets - Stocks and Stores (including products)
Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)
498 Toissue guidance to service areas on the maintenance of stock and stores.

4,99 To approve the write off of stock and stores in accordance with the Scheme
of Delegations within the Constitution.
90 | D

Page 291



4.100

To ensure that appropriate accounting entries are made in relation to stock
balances and write offs.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.101

4.102

4.103

4.104

4.105

To make arrangements for the recording of and the care and safe custody
of the stocks and stores held by their service area.

To make arrangements to ensure stocks are maintained at reasonable
levels and are subject to a regular independent physical check, at least
annually. Each Head of Service must make arrangements for discrepancies
to be investigated and pursued to a satisfactory conclusion.

To advise the Chief Internal Auditor immediately of any significant
discrepancy in stocks.

To approve the write off of stock and stores up to the value of £5,000 in
accordance with the Scheme of Delegations.

To provide the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) with such information
as he/she requires in relation to stores for accounting and costing purposes.

Security of Assets — Cash

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

4.106
4.107

4.108
4.109

To issue guidance to service areas on cash handling.

To agree, in consultation with the appropriate Head of Service, the
maximum limits for cash holdings.

To approve the write off of stolen cash, not covered by insurance.

To authorise the depositing of unofficial funds or valuables in a safe.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.110

4111

4.112

4.113

4.114

4.115

To agree with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), the maximum
limits for cash holdings and to ensure that these limits shall not be
exceeded without his /her permission.

To ensure that cash holdings are kept to a minimum, and do not exceed the
insurance limit for that safe/cashbox.

To ensure that cash handling is carried out in line with the Authority’s
guidance.

To notify the Chief Internal Auditor and the Principal Insurance Officer of
cash lost or stolen immediately. Stolen cash, which is not covered by
insurance, can only be written-off with the agreement of the Section 151
Officer (Head of Finance).

To ensure that under no circumstances are personal cheques cashed out of
monies held on behalf of the Authority.

To ensure that a schedule is kept of the officers who hold keys to safes and
similar receptacles.

Page 292

91| D



4.116

4.117

To ensure that the keys to safes and similar receptacles are held securely
at all times. Arrangements shall be made for the nomination (from amongst
employees) of key holders and substitute key holders who must be
available in the absence of the principal key holder(s). The loss of any such
keys must be reported by the key holder, or nominated substitute, to the
relevant Head of Service forthwith, who shall take appropriate steps to
protect the interests of the Authority.

To ensure that safe key holders do not accept unofficial funds or valuables
for depositing in the safe unless authorised by the Section 151 Officer (Head
of Finance). In such circumstances, it must be made clear by the key holder
to the depositor, that the Authority is not to be held liable for any loss, and
the key holder must obtain an acknowledgment to that effect before
accepting the deposit.

Security of Assets - Information and Communication Technology

Responsibilities of ICT Board /SRS

4.118
4.119

4.120

4121

To maintain a central inventory of technology equipment.

The development and integrity of the Authority’s voice and data network
infrastructure.

To approve all additions and alterations to the Authority’s voice and data
network.

To issue detailed guidance, in conjunction with Chief Officers, to all
employees who are responsible for and/or use computer equipment on
their responsibilities within the Authority’s IT Security Policy.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.122

4.123

4.124

4.125

To ensure that all equipment connected to the Authority’s voice and data
network infrastructure meets the standards identified by the ICT Board /
SRS. Any requirement to add or make alterations to this network must be
approved by the ICT Board / SRS.

To ensure that the provisions of the Authority’s IT Security Policy and other
ICT policies are applied to all employees of the Authority, as appropriate to
their use of information technology.

To make arrangements to implement and monitor the procedures
contained in the Authority’s IT Security Policy. All employees must be
familiar with, and comply with, the principals of the Data Protection
Legislation, the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, the Computer
Misuse Act 1990, and any other legislation or Authority policy which may
apply to all employees at any time.

To agree, in advance, with the ICT Board / SRS, a requirement to use
specialist IT goods and services that might not meet the standards
identified by the ICT Board / SRS, but are necessary to perform particular
business activities. The Head of Service will be responsible for ensuring that

Page 293

92| D



such acquisitions do not compromise their corporate, financial and legal
obligations, as defined by the Authority.

4.126 To ensure that all employees are aware that misuse of technology and

4.127

associated systems can seriously affect the business interest of the
authority. Such misuse or any breach of security policy will result in
disciplinary action being taken.

To ensure that all employees are aware that they have a personal
responsibility with regard to the protection and confidentiality of
information in accordance with the Authority’s Information Security Policy,
whether held in manual or computerised records. Information may be
sensitive or privileged, or may possess some intrinsic value, and its
disclosure or loss could result in a cost to the Authority in some way.

Security of Assets - Intellectual Property

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

4.128

To develop and disseminate good practice.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.129

4.130

To ensure that controls are in place to ensure that employees do not carry
out private work during periods when they are working for the Authority
and that employees are aware of an employer’s rights with regard to
intellectual property.

To make officers aware that, if, at any time during their employment, an
officer makes or discovers or participates in the making or discovery of any
intellectual property relating to or capable of being used by the Authority,
the officer must provide full details of the intellectual property to the
relevant Head of Service or relevant Chief Officer.

Security of Assets — Clients’ Private Property

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.131

4.132

The Chief Officer for Social Care & Health and any other Head of Service
affected, shall take all necessary steps to prevent or mitigate loss or
damage of a client's (being a person other than the Council) moveable
property, where responsibility lies within the National Assistance Act 1948
and shall arrange for an itemised inventory in each case to be prepared in
the presence of two officers, in a form prescribed by the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance).

All valuables such as jewellery, watches and other small articles of a similar
nature and documents of title shall be deposited with the Chief Officer for
Social Care & Health and any other Head of Service affected, for safe
custody. Any loss of property shall be reported to the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance), without delay.

Page 294

93 | D



4.133

Where the Council acts as an Appointeeship for any of the Council’s service
users the procedures will be determined by the Chief Officer for Social Care
& Health.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND TRUST FUNDS

Why is this Important?

4.134

Many millions of pounds pass through the Authority’s bank accounts each
year. It is vital that the Authority’s money is managed in a secure and
controlled way. Surplus funds are invested by the Authority with external
organisations, and it is essential that risk is spread evenly, and that
investments are placed with reputable organisations.

Key Controls

4.135

4.136

Compliance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice and the
Authority’s Treasury Management Policy Statement and Strategy. This
provides assurances that the Authority’s money is properly managed in a
way that balances risk with return, but with the overriding consideration
being given to the security of the Authority’s capital sum.

All payments out of the Authority > £50,000 should be made via BACS or
CHAPS.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

4.137

4.138

4.139

4.140

4.141

4.142

4.143

To prepare a Treasury Management Policy and Annual Report in
accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice.

To maintain prudential indicators in accordance with the Prudential Code
of Capital Finance for Local Authorities.

To arrange the borrowing and investments of the authority in such a
manner as to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management in Local Government, which has been adopted by the
Authority.

To set an investment strategy in accordance with WAG investment
guidance.

To ensure that all investments of money under its control shall be made in
the name of the Authority or in the name of nominees approved by the
Cabinet or the Council within their respective responsibilities: bearer
securities shall be excepted from this rule.

To hold all securities the property of, or in the name of the Authority, or its
nominees, or otherwise as the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) may
specifically direct.

To ensure that all borrowings shall be effected in the name of the Authority.

Page 295

94 | D



4.144

4.145

4.146

4.147

4.148

To be the Authority's Registrar of loan instruments and to maintain records
of all borrowings of money by the Authority.

To report on the Treasury Management practices of the Authority in
accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice.

To hold all Trust Fund securities etc., where Members or employees act as
Trustees by virtue of their official position, unless the deed otherwise
provides; or as otherwise directed by the Chief Cabinet.

To arrange, where funds are held on behalf of third parties, for their secure
administration, and to maintain records of all transactions.

To ensure that trust funds are operated within any relevant legislation and
the specific requirements for each trust.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

4.149

To notify the Assistant Section 151 Officer (Assistant Head of Finance -
Accountancy) of planned monetary receipts or payments in excess of £0.5
million at an early stage.

Page 296

95 | D



SECTION 5 - FINANCIAL SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES

GENERAL

. General

. Income

. Banking

. Ordering and Paying for Work, Goods and Services
o Imprest Accounts

. Payment to Employees and Members

. Internal Charges

o Taxation

Why are Financial Systems and Procedures Important?

51 Service Areas have many systems and procedures relating to the control of
the Authority’s assets, including purchasing, costing and management
systems. It is important that systems and procedures are sound and well
administered to ensure financial stewardship and control to enable
effective decision making. All financial systems and procedures should
contain controls to ensure that transactions are properly processed and
errors detected promptly.

5.2 The Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) has a statutory responsibility to
ensure that the Authority’s financial systems are sound and must be
notified, in advance, of any new developments or changes.

Key Controls

5.3 The key controls for systems and procedures are:

basic data exists to enable the Authority’s objectives, targets, budgets
and plans to be formulated;

performance is communicated to the appropriate managers on an
accurate, complete and timely basis;

early warning is provided of deviations from target, plans and budgets
that require management attention;

operating systems and procedures are secure;

data is backed up on a regular basis.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

5.4 To make arrangements for the proper administration of the Authority’s
financial affairs, including to:

issue advice, guidance and procedures for officers and others acting on
the Authority’s behalf;

Page 297

96 | D



e determine the accounting systems, form of accounts and supporting
financial records;

e establish arrangements for audit of the Authority’s financial affairs;

¢ to determine the accounting procedures, records and controls for any
new financial systems to be introduced; and

e to approve in advance any changes to be made to existing financial
systems.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

5.10

5.11

5.12
5.13

5.14

To consult with and gain the approval of the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance) before changing any existing system or introducing new systems.

To ensure that accounting records are properly maintained and held
securely.

To ensure that supporting vouchers and documents with financial
implications are retained and not destroyed, except in accordance with
arrangements approved by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

To ensure that a complete audit trail, allowing financial transactions to be
traced from the accounting records to the original document, and vice
versa, is maintained.

To incorporate appropriate controls to ensure that, where relevant:

o all input is genuine, complete, accurate, timely and not previously
processed;

e all processing is carried out in an accurate, complete and timely
manner;

e output from the system is complete, accurate and timely;
o datais backed up on a regular basis.

To ensure that the organisational structure provides an appropriate
segregation of duties to provide adequate internal controls and to minimise
the risk of error, fraud or other malpractice.

To ensure there is a documented and tested disaster recovery plan to allow
information system processing to resume quickly in the event of an
interruption.

To ensure that systems are documented and staff adequately trained.

To establish a scheme of service area authorisations identifying officers to
act upon his or her behalf in respect of placing orders, use of procurement
cards, payments and income collection, including variations, and showing
the limits of their authority.

To ensure that effective contingency arrangements, including back-up
procedures, exist for computer systems. Wherever possible, back-up
information should be securely retained in a fireproof location, preferably
off site or at an alternative location within the building.

Page 298

97 | D



5.15

5.16

5.17

5.18

To ensure that, where appropriate, computer systems are registered in
accordance with data protection legislation and that staff are aware of their
responsibilities under the legislation.

To ensure that the Council’s information security standards and internet
security policy are complied with.

To ensure that computer equipment and software are protected from loss
and damage through theft, vandalism, etc.

To comply with the copyright, designs and patents legislation and, in
particular, to ensure that:

¢ only software legally acquired and installed by the Authority’s IT
management body is used on its computers;

o staff are aware of legislative provisions;

¢ in developing systems, due regard is given to the issue of intellectual
property rights.

INCOME

Why is this Important?

5.19

Income can be a vulnerable asset, and effective income collection systems
are necessary to ensure that all income due is identified, collected,
receipted and banked properly. It is preferable to obtain income in advance
of supplying goods or services as this improves the Authority’s cash flow
and also avoids the time and cost of administering debts.

Key Controls

5.20

The key controls for income are:

¢ all income due to the Authority is identified and charged correctly, in
accordance with an approved charging policy, which is regularly
reviewed;

e allincome is collected from the correct person, at the right time, using
the correct procedures and the appropriate stationery;

o all money received by an officer on behalf of the Authority is properly
recorded and promptly banked;

o the responsibility for cash collection should be separated from that for
identifying the amount due, and that for reconciling the amount due
to the amount received;

o effective action is taken to pursue non-payment within defined
timescales;

o formal approval for debt write-off is obtained;

e appropriate write-off action is taken within defined timescales;

Page 299

98 | D



e appropriate and timely accounting adjustments are made following
write-off action;

o all appropriate income documents are retained and stored for the
defined period in accordance with guidance issued by the Section 151
Officer (Head of Finance);

¢ money collected and deposited is reconciled to the bank account by a
person who is not involved in the collection or banking process.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

5.21

5.22

5.23

5.24

5.25

5.26

5.27

To agree arrangements for the collection of all income due to the Authority,
and to approve the procedures, systems and documentation for its
collection. To raise awareness and ensure compliance with the Council’s
Sundry Debtors Policy and the Debtors Policy for Social Care & Health.
To ensure that all electronic monies are properly received, assigned and
reconciled.
To approve the writing off of all irrecoverable debts as follows:
Up to £5,000 and any bankruptcies Revenues Manager
Finance Manager for SCH for
specific SCH Debts
Between £5,000 and £10,000 Section 151 Officer
Over £10,000 Section 151 Officer and Cabinet
Member for Finance
To use debt recovery procedures to collect any income due to the Authority
which has not been paid within specified time limits.
To ensure that appropriate accounting adjustments are made following any
write-off action.
To advise the Head of Legal of debts that have remained unpaid with a view
to the institution of legal proceedings in appropriate cases.
To ensure that any sum due to the Authority shall only be discharged by

payment, credit note or write off.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

5.28

To consult with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) before any
proposal to introduce or revise scales of charges for services is submitted
to the Cabinet or the Council as the case may be.

Page 300

99 | D



5.29

5.30

5.31

5.32

5.33

5.34

5.35

5.36

5.37

5.38

5.39

5.40

541

5.42

5.43

To ensure that all such charges are reviewed at least once a year in
consultation with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

To ensure that no agreements are put in place (legal or otherwise) that
preclude the Council from reviewing its charges on an annual basis.

To ensure that new charges are promptly implemented following
appropriate approval.

To ensure that where possible, income is received in advance of the service
being provided.

To ensure that all income due, is promptly collected, correctly receipted,
reconciled, accounted for and promptly banked.

To ensure that income collected and deposited is reconciled to the ledger
on a regular basis.

To ensure that there is clear separation of duties within income procedures
to ensure that adequate controls are in place.

To ensure that all income is correctly coded to the appropriate financial
code.

To maintain such particulars in connection with work done, goods supplied
or services rendered and of all other amounts due, to record correctly all
sums due to the Authority and to ensure the prompt rendering of accounts
for the recovery of income due.

To notify the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) promptly in writing of
all money due to the Authority, and of contracts, leases and other
agreements and arrangements entered into, which involve the receipt of
money by the Authority.

To designate employees to receive monies due and to make arrangements
to ensure that appropriate records are maintained.

To make arrangements to ensure that employees responsible for receiving
income are issued with written instructions on cash handling and till
operation procedures and that such employees have signed to
acknowledge that instructions have been received and understood prior to
commencing such duties.

To ensure that all employees use official receipts or tickets for all income
received on behalf of the Authority and ensure that all chargeable VAT is
accounted for. To seek approval from the Chief Internal Auditor for
alternative receipting arrangements, where it is considered inappropriate
to issue an official receipt or ticket, in advance of implementing such
arrangements.

To ensure that all official receipt forms, books, tickets and other such items
are ordered and supplied to service areas by the Chief Internal Auditor or
under arrangements approved by him/her.

To ensure that all financial controlled stationery is securely held and
accounted for at all times.

Page 301

100 | D



5.44

5.45

5.46

5.47

5.48

5.49

5.50

5.51

5.52

5.53

5.54

To ensure that the opening of incoming mail where money is being handled,
is undertaken by at least two responsible officers designated for that
purpose. In exceptional circumstances where this is considered impractical
alternative arrangements must have the approval of the relevant Head of
Service, and the relevant Head of Service will arrange for the Chief Internal
Auditor to be advised accordingly.

To ensure that upon opening of incoming mail, all income is immediately
recorded by the employee concerned either by way of receipt, remittance
record or by another means, approved by the Chief Internal Auditor.

To ensure that all cheques received in the incoming mail are immediately
stamped upon opening by the relevant employee, in preparation for
banking.

To ensure that keys entrusted to employees are held securely at all times
and are kept under their personal control. To ensure that employees
understand their responsibilities as key holders, and of insurance
requirements.

To ensure that income held by the Authority is not used to cash personal
cheques or make personal loans or other payments.

To establish proper accountability wherever money is being handled. To
ensure that every transfer of the Authority’s money from one employee to
another is evidenced in the records of the service area concerned. This may
be by way of an official receipt being issued by the receiving employee, or
if not, a record shall be maintained detailing the amount transferred, the
date and the signature of both employees.

To ensure that when income is due to the Authority and the payment is not
to be made at the time, all amounts due are claimed on official invoices or
by arrangements approved by the Chief Internal Auditor. Instructions for
the cancellation or reduction of invoices for income must be authorised by
the appropriate Head of Service or such member of staff specifically
designated by him/her for that purpose.

To make every reasonable effort to recover a debt before write off is
considered. Once a debt is judged irrecoverable, write off procedures must
commence promptly and adhere to the requirements of the relevant part
of the scheme of delegations. Chief Officers must make arrangements in
their respective service areas to ensure that correct procedures, for writing
off debts, as prescribed by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), have
been adhered to and that adequate documentation exists for each case.

To ensure that credit notes to replace a debt are only raised to correct a
factual inaccuracy or administrative error in the calculation and/or billing
of the original debt.

To ensure that proper procedures are followed for checking and
authorisation for write off, prior to submission to the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance) for approval.

To seek to achieve payment by direct debit or standing orders in situations
where regular payments are due to the Authority.

Page 302

101 | D



5.55 To authorise an adjustment to the accounts, in consultation with the
Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), if a mistake has been made in raising
an invoice.

5.56 To consult the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) about any proposal to
arrange to accept payments by credit cards, debit cards, switch cards,
internet, or similar means.

5.57 To notify the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) of outstanding income
(accruals) relating to the previous financial year as soon as possible after
31st March in line with the timetable determined by the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance).

5.58 To notify the Assistant Section 151 Officer (Assistant Head of Finance -
Accountancy) of planned monetary receipts in excess of £0.5 million.

BANKING

Why is this Important?

5.59 Many millions of pounds pass through the Authority’s bank accounts each
year. It is vital that proper procedures are in place to ensure that the
Authority’s banking arrangements are secure and controlled.

Key Controls

5.60 All banking arrangements are operated in accordance with approved
procedures.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)
5.61 To make or approve all arrangements with the Authority’s bankers.
5.62 To open and operate such bank accounts as are considered necessary.

5.63 To ensure that all bank accounts operated by or on behalf of the Authority
shall bear an official title and in no circumstances shall an account be
opened in the name of an individual.

5.64 To approve the use of any direct debit/standing order on the Authority’s
accounts.

5.65 Toarrange the reconciliation of the main bank account with the Authority's
cash accounts.

5.66 To ensure that all cheques, excluding those drawn on authorised imprest
accounts, are ordered only on his/her authority.

5.67 To make proper arrangements for the safe custody of cheques.

5.68 To ensure that cheques on the Authority's main bank accounts shall bear
the facsimile signature of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) or be
signed by him/her or another officer authorised to do so.

Page 303

102 | D



5.69

5.70
5.71

5.72

Request for payments by alternative methods must first be approved by
the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) or any officers delegated by him
/ her.

Personal cheques of Councillors or employees are not to be cashed.

To ensure that proper procedures are followed for receiving income
through touch tone telephone banking systems and via the internet.

To ensure that bank accounts do not become overdrawn.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

5.73

5.74

5.75

5.76

5.77

5.78

To ensure that all income collected is promptly banked. This is particularly
important where large sums are involved that impact on the Authority’s
cash flow.

To ensure that all income received by an officer, on behalf of the Authority,
is paid in direct to the Authority's bank, or transmitted directly to any other
body or person entitled thereto. No deduction may be made from any
money held, save to the extent that the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance) may specifically authorise

To ensure that, in accordance with the relevant Accounts and Audit
Regulations, each employee who banks money, enters on the paying in slip,
a reference to the related debt (such as the receipt number or the number
or the name of the debtor) and indicate its place of origin on the reverse of
each cheque.

To ensure that all income received on behalf of the Authority is properly
safeguarded from the time it is received until the time that it is banked (e.g.
kept in a safe or locked receptacle — subject to guidance available from
Internal Audit).

To ensure that in the transport of money by any employee for banking, or
other purpose, that employee and his or her supervisor have due regard for
the safety of employees (including the employee transporting such money),
and for the proper security of cash. The Head of Service shall ensure
arrangements are made which incorporate the necessary safeguards.

To ensure that payments made through the Council’s bank account are
properly authorised, correctly calculated, valid and in accordance with
Council’s procurement and payment procedures.

ORDERING AND PAYING FOR WORK, GOODS AND SERVICES

Why is this Important?

5.79

Public money should be spent with demonstrable probity and in
accordance with the Authority’s policies. Local authorities have a statutory
duty to achieve best value in part through economy and efficiency. The
Authority’s procedures should help to ensure that services obtain value for
money from their purchasing arrangements. These procedures should be
read in conjunction with the Authority’s Contract Procedure Rules.

Page 304

103 | D



Key Controls

5.80 The key controls for ordering and paying for work, goods and services are:

all orders shall be in a form approved by the Section 151 Officer (Head
of Finance);

official orders will be raised for all work, goods or services to be
supplied to the Authority, except for supplies of utilities, periodic
payments, procurement card or petty cash purchases or other
exceptions specified by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance);

all goods, works and services are ordered only by appropriate persons
and are correctly recorded;

all goods and services shall be ordered in accordance with the
Authority’s Contract Procedure Rules, unless they are purchased from
sources within the Authority;

goods, works and services received are checked to ensure they are in
accordance with the order;

payments are not made unless goods, works or services have been
received by the Authority to the authorised price, quantity and quality
standards, subject to tolerance levels set by the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance);

all payments are made to the correct person/supplier based on the
supply of sufficiently detailed documentation, for the authorised
amount and are properly recorded, regardless of the payment method;

all officers and members are required to declare any links or personal
interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers and/or
contractors if they are engaged in contractual or purchasing decisions
on behalf of the Authority;

all appropriate evidence of the transaction and payment documents
are retained and stored for the defined period, in accordance with
guidance issued by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance);

all expenditure is accurately recorded against the right budget, any
exceptions are corrected and VAT is accurately against the correct VAT
code; and

in addition, the use of e-commerce and electronic purchasing /
invoicing requires that processes are in place to maintain the security
and integrity of data for transacting business electronically.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) - Procurement

5.81

5.82

To produce Contract Procedure Rules and provide service areas with
guidance relating to contracting and tendering arrangements.

To publish data on a monthly basis showing details of the Authority’s
procurement activity, including the use of procurement cards, in

Page 305

104 | D



accordance with the Council’s requirements for openness and
transparency.

Procurement Cards

5.83

5.84

5.85

5.86

To produce and maintain a Policy for the use of procurement cards (also
known as purchasing cards).

To consider, on an exceptional basis, business cases for the non-standard
use of procurement cards where service areas can demonstrate that such
use is in the best interests of the Authority.

To arrange payment of all confirmed and authorised procurement card
transactions on a monthly basis.

To report any instances of non-compliance with Procurement Card Policy
identified to the relevant Heads of Service and Chief Officers for their
investigation.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service - Procurement

5.87

5.88

5.89

5.90

5.91

5.92

To ensure that all employees comply with the Authority’s Contract
Procedure Rules.

To ensure that the service area obtains best value from purchases by taking
appropriate steps to obtain competitive prices for goods and services of the
appropriate quality, with regard to the best practice guidelines issued by
the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), which are in line with best value
principles and contained in the Authority’s Contract Procedure Rules.

To make arrangements to ensure that every employee declares any links or
personal interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers and/or
contractors if they are engaged in contractual or purchasing decisions on
behalf of the Authority, in accordance with the Employee Code of Conduct.
Any employee declaring such an interest or having such an interest will not
participate in (or act so as to influence or appear to influence) any decisions
relating to the matter in which they have such an interest. All Councillors
involved in contractual or purchasing decisions on behalf of the Authority
will declare any interests and act in accordance with the Members’ Code of
Conduct.

To ensure that officers within their service areas will not make any personal
or private use of the benefits of any Authority contracts. For the avoidance
of doubt, nothing in this paragraph will preclude an employee from taking
advantage of Council wide schemes, which have been approved by the
Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

To ensure that all IT purchases conform to a standard identified by the Head
of ICT. Exceptional purchases, outside of these standards, shall be agreed
in advance with the Head of ICT, through the ICT Programme Board.

To ensure that no financial systems are purchased without the prior
agreement of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

Page 306

105 | D



Procurement Cards

5.93

5.94

5.95

5.96

5.97

5.98

5.99

5.100

To ensure all employees comply with the terms of the Authority’s
Procurement Card Policy.

To ensure the necessary separation of duties required by the Procurement
Card Policyis in place in respect of all cards in use within their service areas.

To authorise all applications for new Procurement Cards from prospective
cardholders within their service areas.

To approve any variations to the standard credit limits in place for
procurement cards within their service areas. Current standard limits are
£250 per transaction and cumulatively £5,000 per card per calendar month.

To ensure that all procurement cardholders within their service areas
complete the mandatory personal data form.

To update the Head of Finance promptly with details of all changes in
procurement cardholders, lost and/or damaged procurement cards and
any declined transactions.

To ensure cardholders and card administrators confirm the accuracy and
completeness of monthly procurement card transactions promptly in
accordance with the relevant Policy.

To investigate promptly all instances of non-compliance with the
Procurement Card Policy referred by the Head of Finance.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) - Ordering

5.101

5.102

5.103
5.104

To approve the format of official orders and arrangements for placing
orders under Purchase Order Processing (POP) System.

To approve the format and use of emergency order books and to order,
control and issue these to exempted service areas.

To approve all exceptions to the use of official orders.

To approve any amendments to the arrangements for the use of debit,
credit and procurement cards.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

General

5.105

5.106

To ensure that official orders are raised through the POP system for all
works, goods and services supplied to the Authority except for internal
services, periodical payments (e.g. utility payments), procurement card or
petty cash purchases, and for such other exceptions as the Section 151
Officer (Head of Finance) may approve.

To determine purchase order approval levels within each service area.

Page 307

106 | D



5.107 In cases of urgency, a verbal order may be issued, using an order number
from a valid emergency order book and with a clearly labelled confirmation
order sent out as soon as possible thereafter.

5.108 To ensure that employees do not use official orders to obtain goods or
services for their private use.

5.109 To ensure that each order conforms to the directions of the Authority with
respect to any policy on central purchasing, computer purchasing,
standardisation, quality and sustainability as may from time to time be
adopted by the Authority. Chief Officers shall make arrangements to ensure
that all purchases comply with any legal or health and safety requirements.

5.110 To ensure that debit, credit and procurement cards are only used under
arrangements approved by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) and
in particular the Authority’s Procurement Card Policy.

5.111 To make arrangements to ensure that loans, leasing or rental arrangements
are not entered into or exited early without prior agreement from the
Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance). This is because of the potential
impact on the authority’s borrowing powers, to protect the authority
against entering into unapproved credit arrangements and to ensure that
value for money is being obtained.

5.112 After due consideration, to arrange for nominations for officers for the
roles of requisitioner and approver. Note that the POP system will allow a
requisitioner to fulfil the approver role, but will prevent an officer from
approving their own requisition.

5.113 To maintain an up to date list of requisitioners, approvers/substitutes
within their service area. No officer shall process or approve an order, or
purport to do so, unless he/she is duly authorised for that purpose.

5.114 To ensure that all requisitions used are authorised by a nominated
‘approver’ with a financial approval limit greater than or equal to the value
of the requisition and to ensure that the requisition’s data is retained within
the POP system.

5.115 Where a POP requisition is forwarded for approval to any other officer (e.g.
in the case of absence of the usual approver), this officer must also be a
nominated approver with a financial approval limit greater than or equal to
the value of the requisition.

5.116 To ensure that the requisitioner enters the following details on the official
order within the POP system:

o afull description of the item required;

e an accurate price, where appropriate, as quoted by catalogue or
supplier;

¢ the required quantity;

e an appropriate product category (account code will be generated);

e cost centre and sub code;

¢ the correct VAT suffix code; and

o the delivery address;

107 | D
Page 308



5.117 To ensure that, prior to approving a requisition on POP, the approving

officer checks that:-
¢ all relevant details have been entered and are correct;
¢ there is adequate provision in the budget;
e the items are appropriate for the purpose intended;

Emergency Orders

5.118 To make arrangements to ensure the control and safe custody of all

5.119

emergency order books.

To ensure that emergency order books are only used for cases of genuine
emergency and for those POP exempt service areas as formally approved
by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service - Goods Received

5.120

5.121

5.122

To make arrangements to ensure that goods, services and works are
checked on receipt to verify that they are in accordance with the order. This
check shall, where possible, be carried out by a different officer from the
officer who approved the order. The officer carrying out the check shall
make appropriate entries in inventories or stores records.

To ensure that goods (or services) received details are entered promptly
onto the POP system by the requisitioner or approver. This should be prior
to receipt of the invoice.

To ensure that budget holders regularly review any open orders for their
cost centres and ensure that they are processed or closed (as appropriate)
promptly.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) - Payment

5.123

5.124

5.125

To arrange for officers to be nominated as Payment Officers and a list of
these maintained on POP and kept up to date.

To make payments on behalf of the Authority with the exception of
disbursements from petty cash imprests and from subsidiary bank accounts
which have been authorised by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).
The normal method of payment of money due from the Authority shall be
by cheque, BACS, CHAPS or other instrument drawn on the Authority's bank
account. The use of direct debit/standing order requires the prior
agreement of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

To make safe and efficient arrangements for all payments. All cheques shall
be despatched by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) direct to the
recipient and not returned to the originating service. In the exceptional
circumstances when cheques do need to be returned to a service area for
despatch with associated documents, this must be approved in advance by

Page 309

108 | D



the relevant Operational Manager, and the cheque must not be passed to
the initiating officer.

5.126 To ensure that payments made to a sub-contractors in the construction
industry, are made in accordance with the Construction Industry Scheme,
and the Authority’s procedures.

5.127 To make payments to contractors on an approved certificate, which must
include details of the value of work, retention money, amounts previously
certified and amounts now certified. These payments are to be made to
contractors using authenticated receipts raised by service areas.

5.128 To provide advice on making payments by the most economical means.
5.129 To set tolerance levels for cost and quantity variations.
5.130 To agree any exceptions to payment through the POP system.

5.131 To approve all arrangements for supplier invoices. These relate to
payments which do not have an associated order, such as utility payments.

5.132 To approve the format of General Claim for Payment forms.

5.133 To periodically check that General Claim for Payment forms and supplier
invoices have been certified for payment by an authorised signatory.

5.134 To consider General Claim for Payment forms and supplier invoices to the
extent that he/she considers necessary, to make such enquiries and to
receive such information and explanation as he/she may reasonably
require.

5.135 To monitor the levels of non-order purchases and report any concerns to
Chief Officers and Heads of Service for investigation.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service — Payment

General
To make arrangements for the submission of accounts for payment in accordance with
arrangements made by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

5.136 To ensure that payment is made only against a valid invoice or General
Claim for Payment, not on statements of account. In exceptional
circumstances, payment may be made against a photocopy or faxed invoice
but only where the relevant service manager has confirmed that the
original invoice has been lost and that he/she has satisfied him/herself that
the invoice has not previously been paid.

5.137 To notify the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) at 1% April, or as
required, of all outstanding expenditure relating to the previous financial
year, and to comply with any instruction issued in connection with the year-
end accounting arrangements (accruals).

5.138 To ensure that the POP is used for all payments; and that any exceptions
have been agreed previously by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

5.139 To ensure that there is a segregation of duties between the officers
requisitioning, approving and inputting invoices for payment. Any
109 | D

Page 310



5.140

5.141

5.142

5.143

exceptions to this require the prior approval of the Chief Officer and an
officer nominated by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

To ensure that invoices are input to the system without delay, in the
manner specified by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance). Sufficient
time should be allowed to enable payments to be made within 30 days of
receipt of the invoice.

To ensure that invoices that do not meet the set tolerance levels are
promptly dealt with. Where there is no match to an order and/or a delivery
note, to ensure that further approval as required is given by a nominated
approver/substitute.

To ensure that invoices are not processed until the inputting officer is
satisfied that delivery details have been entered.

To ensure that all invoices input for payment are filed and stored securely
in the manner prescribed by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

General Claims for Payment

5.144

5.145

5.146

To ensure that all General Claims for Payment are completed on a form
approved by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance). These must not be
used in place of any invoice, demand, fee note or other written request for
payment received from a creditor, and all relevant supporting
documentation must be attached to support the payment.

To ensure that a General Claim for Payment is completed by a designated
officer and then passed to an authorised signatory for certification.

To ensure that before a General Claim for Payment is authorised, the
authorising officer undertakes the following checks:-

o the payment is properly the liability of the Authority;
o the work, goods or services to which the account relates have been
received, carried out, examined and approved as to the quality and

guantity (where appropriate);

¢ the prices, extensions, calculations, trade discounts, other allowances,
credits and tax are correct;

¢ the expenditure has been properly coded to the relevant service area;
¢ expenditure is within budget;

¢ where a payment includes VAT, in accordance with HM Revenue and
Customs Regulations:-

> the invoice is a tax invoice with the relevant Company VAT number;

Page 311

110 | D



5.147

5.148

> for construction industry payments, an authenticated receipt will be
obtained; and

> for payments made in advance of services/goods being received, a
tax receipt will be obtained.

To ensure that payment in advance of the receipt of goods or services is
only made where it is essential in order to secure the particular supply
required or where a beneficial discount would otherwise be lost. This
should be done in conjunction with the Legal Section to ensure an
indemnity order is maintained.

To ensure that duly certified General Claims for Payment and direct
payment invoices are passed without delay to the Section 151 Officer (Head
of Finance).

Supplier Invoices (Non-Order Invoices)

5.149

5.150

5.151

Any invoices received in departments with no responsibility for invoice
entry to the Agresso system should be forwarded immediately to the
central Creditor Payments Team.

On receipt of e-mail notification of non-order invoices for approval, the
relevant officer (who will in all cases be an authorised POP approver) should
access the Agresso Webpage to review promptly the invoice awaiting
approval. Approving officers should also check the system regularly.

To ensure that before a Supplier invoice is authorised, the authorising
officer undertakes the following checks:-

e the payment is properly the liability of the Authority; all invoices
should be made out to Monmouthshire County Council;

¢ the work, goods or services to which the account relates have been
received, carried out, examined and approved as to the quality and

guantity (where appropriate);

¢ the prices, extensions, calculations, trade discounts, other allowances,
credits and tax are correct;

o the expenditure has been properly coded to the relevant service area;
o expenditure is within budget;

e where a payment includes VAT, in accordance with HM Revenue and
Customs Regulations:-

> the invoice is a tax invoice with the relevant Company VAT
number;

Page 312

111 | D



» for construction industry payments, an authenticated receipt will
be obtained; and

> for payments made in advance of services/goods being received,
a tax receipt will be obtained.

5.152 To ensure that authorising officers promptly reject any invoices containing
an error or discrepancy, or which do not relate to the cost centre shown. In
all cases the officer should a suitable explanation for rejection in the
comments box on screen to enable further action to be taken by central
Creditor Payments team.

5.153 To note that the use of supplier invoices will be routinely monitored for
evidence of breach of the Financial Procedure Rules relating to the
requirement for the use of POP orders and to investigate any concerns over
non-compliance referred by the Head of Finance.

IMPREST ACCOUNTS
Why is this Important?

5.154 Imprest Accounts are used for minor items of expenditure. It is important
that such accounts are properly managed, and that all expenditure is valid
and correctly incurred.

Key Controls

5.155 The key controls for the operation of Imprest Accounts are:-

e all Imprest Accounts should be operated in accordance with guidance
issued by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance);

e regular reconciliations between the imprest sum advanced and
imprest records are undertaken.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

5.156 Where he/she considers it appropriate to open an account with the
Authority’s bankers for use by the imprest holder (bank imprest) or
alternatively to advance a cash sum (petty cash imprest).

5.157 To determine the imprest level.

5.158 To periodically review the arrangements for the safe custody and control
of imprest accounts.

5.159 To reimburse imprest holders as often as necessary to restore the imprests
and to keep a record of such advances.

5.160 To provide guidance on how imprest accounts are to be operated and how
records are to be kept of payments and reimbursements.

Page 313

112 | D



Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

5.161

5.162

5.163

5.164

5.165

To ensure that all imprest accounts are maintained in accordance with the
Authority’s procedures.

To maintain a list of officers in their service areas who are authorised to
hold imprest accounts.

To notify the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) when an imprest holder
leaves the service area and to ensure that the imprest advanced is
accounted for to the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), unless
responsibility for the imprest is transferred to a different officer, in which
case the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) should be notified of the
new account holder.

To agree with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) the procedure for
reimbursing expenditure imprest accounts.

To ensure that officers:

e donot, under any circumstances, allow personal cheques to be cashed,
or personal loans to be made, from monies held in an imprest account;

e obtain and retain a receipt to substantiate each payment from the
imprest, which should be attached to a voucher and authorised.
Particular care shall be taken by the employee to obtain a VAT invoice
when this tax is charged;

e restrict the amount of each separate payment to such limit as may be
prescribed from time to time by the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance);

e maintain records and operate the account in accordance with the
Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) instructions;

¢ maintain the safe custody of imprest cash by keeping it securely locked
away preferably in a safe; guidance on this matter can be obtained
from the Chief Internal Auditor;

e produce, upon demand, to the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) or
his/her representative cash and/or vouchers to the total of the
imprest;

e record transactions promptly;

e when requested, give to the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) a
certificate as to the state of his/her imprest advance;

e where an imprest is operated through a bank account, ensure that the
account remains in credit, and that the procedures set out under
banking arrangements in the Financial Procedure Rules are followed. It
shall be a standing instruction to the Authority’s bankers that the
amount of any overdrawn balance on an imprest holder's account shall
be reported forthwith to the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance);

Page 314

113 | D



do not make salaries or wages payments to employees from an imprest
account; No payment must be made to sub-contractors for building
work unless authorised by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance);

reconcile and balance the account to the total of the sum advanced, at
least monthly, with a copy of the reconciliation sheet signed and
retained by the imprest holder. Periodic checks shall be made by a
senior officer to ensure that this is being properly carried out;

on leaving the employment of the Authority, or otherwise ceasing to
be entitled to hold an imprest advance, account to the relevant Head
of Service for the amount advanced.

PAYMENTS TO EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS

Why is this Important?

5.166 Staff costs are the largest item of expenditure for most local authority
services. It is, therefore, important that payments are accurate, timely,
made only where they are due for services to the Authority and that
payments accord with individuals’ conditions of employment. It is also
important that all payments are accurately and completely recorded and
accounted for, and that Members’ allowances are authorised in accordance
with the scheme approved by full Council.

Key Controls
5.167 The key controls for payments to officers and Members are:

proper authorisation procedures are in place, and that there is
adherence to corporate timetables in relation to starters, leavers,
variations and enhancements, and that payments are made based on
timesheets or claims where appropriate;

names on the payroll are checked at regular intervals to verify accuracy
and completeness;

frequent reconciliation of payroll expenditure against approved
budgets;

all appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the
defined period, in accordance with guidance issued by the Section 151
Officer (Head of Finance);

all expenditure, including VAT, is accurately recorded against the right
service area;

HM Revenue and Customs Regulations are complied with.

Responsibilities of the Head of Commercial and People Development
5.168 To arrange, control and make accurate and timely payment of:

salaries and wages;

tax and national insurance;

car mileage, travel, subsistence and other incidental
allowances/expenses.

Page 315

114 | D



5.169

5.170

5.171

5.172

5.173

5.174

5.175

5.176

To approve, in consultation with the appropriate Head of Service, the form
of all timesheets, overtime forms, car mileage and travel and subsistence
claims, and any other payroll related records.

To maintain an up to date list of all officers authorised to approve
timesheets, overtime forms, car mileage and travel and subsistence claims,
and all other payroll related records.

To check periodically that all officer claims for salaries, wages, overtime,
travel, subsistence and other allowances/expenses are correctly certified
by an authorised signatory before payment is made. This also includes
electronic certification via MyView.

To maintain all necessary personal records concerning pay, pension,
national insurance contributions and income tax and make all relevant
payments on behalf of both employees and the Authority to the
appropriate Government agencies.

To provide advice and encouragement to secure payment of salaries and
wages by the most economical means.

To issue guidance to service areas on the retention of payroll records. All
payroll records relating to Income Tax and National Insurance are to be
retained for six years plus the current year, to satisfy the requirements of
the Taxes Management Act. Records relating to pensions should be
retained for six years following the cessation of any liability.

Where staff have access to the Authority's computerised payroll system,
names of all officers authorised to do so shall be retained and kept up to
date. Each officer shall have a password that must be confidential and not
divulged to any person in any circumstances (in accordance with the
Authority’s IT Security Policy).

To ensure that staff outside of the Employee Services Section do not have
update access to the personnel screens on the Authority’s personnel and
payroll system without approval.

Responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer to the Council

5.177

To make arrangements for paying Members’ allowances, travel, and
subsistence upon receiving the prescribed form, duly completed and
authorised. All claims will be examined and checked for reasonableness
with respect to the amounts claimed. A record of authorised signatories
shall be retained and kept up to date.

Responsibilities of the People Services Manager

5.178

To ensure that the appointment of officers is made in accordance with the
Procedure Rules of the Council and the approved establishments, grades
and rates of pay.

Page 316

115 | D



5.179

5.180

5.181

5.182

To approve the format of all records relating to the notification of
appointments, terminations, sickness, special leave and any other
personnel matter.

To maintain all necessary records relating to the appointment, termination
and all other personnel matters.

To require on a quarterly basis from each staffing budget holder,
confirmation of the accuracy of all employees recorded within the budget
holder’s area of responsibility.

Where Employee Services staff have access to the Authority's
computerised personnel system, names of all officers authorised to do so
shall be retained and kept up to date. Each employee shall have a password
that must be confidential and not divulged to any person in any
circumstances (in accordance with the Authority’s IT Security Policy).

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

5.183

5.184

5.185

5.186

5.187

To furnish the Head of Commercial and People Development with all
documents that are required to arrange payment by the due date and any
documentation required for pension, income tax and national insurance
purposes.

To ensure appointments are made in accordance with the regulations of
the Authority and approved establishments, grades and scale of pay and
that adequate budget provision is available.

To ensure that time sheets, overtime forms or other payroll related records
are in a form prescribed or approved by the Head of Commercial and
People Development. All such records shall be appropriately certified in
manuscript, by an authorised signatory.

To make arrangements to ensure that the People Services Manager and the
Head of Commercial and People Development as appropriate, are notified
promptly, and in the approved format, of all matters affecting the
remuneration of officers within their service area, and in particular:

e appointments, resignations, dismissals, suspensions, secondments and
transfers;
¢ absences from duty for sickness or other reasons apart from approved
leave;
e changes in remuneration, other than normal increments and pay
awards and agreements of general application; and
¢ information necessary to maintain records of service for pension,
income tax, national insurance and the like.
To ensure that adequate and effective systems and procedures are
operated, so that:
e payments are only authorised to bona fide employees;
e payments are only made where there is a valid entitlement;
e conditions and contracts of employment are correctly applied;
o employees’ details listed on the payroll are checked at regular intervals
to verify accuracy and completeness;

Page 317

116 | D



5.188

5.189

5.190

5.191

5.192

e the same person does not both complete and authorise a timesheet,
overtime form or other claim for payment;

e persons involved in the different processes of completing and
authorising a timesheet, overtime form or other claim for payment are
clearly identifiable on the relevant document;

¢ adequate supporting records are maintained to back up summary
timesheet entries, completed by an individual on behalf of a group of
employees. The supporting records must show the start and finish
times of each employee each day, and should be signed by the
employee concerned; and

¢ no employee may certify or authorise a payment or other benefit to
himself/herself or any document which would lead to a payment or
other benefit to himself/herself.

To ensure that the service area maintains and reviews periodically a list of
officers approved to authorise timesheets, overtime forms and other
payroll related records together with specimen signatures, and to ensure
that only authorised officers authorise payments. A copy of the list should
be sent to the Head of Commercial and People Development.

To ensure that the service area reviews the establishment as required by
the People Services Manager on a quarterly basis and confirms the accuracy
of the report.

To ensure that payroll transactions are processed only through the payroll
system. "Cash in hand" and other non PAYE payments are not permitted.
Chief Officers shall give careful consideration to the employment status of
individuals employed on a self-employed, consultant or subcontract basis.
The HM Revenue and Customs applies a tight definition for employee
status, and in cases of doubt, advice shall be sought from the Head of
Commercial and People Development.

To ensure that all claims for the payment of car mileage, travel and
subsistence, and incidental expenses are submitted promptly by officers in
the approved format each month.

To arrange for the correct certification of claims for car mileage, travel and
subsistence, and incidental expenses. Certification by the Head of Service
or an officer authorised by him/her shall be taken to mean that the
certifying officer is satisfied that the journeys were authorised, the
expenses properly and necessarily incurred in connection with the
Authority’s business, the most cost effective route and means of transport
was used and that the allowances claimed are properly payable by the
Authority. The names of officers authorised by Chief Officers to approve
such records shall be retained in each service area, together with specimen
signatures and this shall be amended on the occasion of any change. The
accuracy of the information contained in a claim shall be the responsibility
of the employee concerned. Due consideration should be given to tax
implications and that the Head of Commercial and People Development is
informed where appropriate.

Page 318

117 | D



5.193

5.194

5.195

To ensure that claims for travel, subsistence and other allowances are paid
through the payroll system wherever possible to ensure the correct
treatment for Tax and National Insurance purposes. Imprest accounts
should only be used to process minor payments, where there are no tax
implications.

To ensure that the Head of Commercial and People Development is notified
of the details of any employee benefits in kind, to enable full and complete
reporting within the income tax self-assessment system.

To ensure that all appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored
for the defined period in accordance with guidance issued by the Head of
Commercial and People Development.

Responsibilities of Elected Members and Co-opted Members of Council
Committees

5.196

To submit claims for travel or subsistence allowances on the prescribed
form duly completed. All claims shall be submitted promptly, The accuracy
of the information contained in a claim shall be the responsibility of the
Member or co-opted Member concerned.

INTERNAL CHARGES

Why is this Important?

5.197

5.198

5.199

Service Areas often undertake work for other service areas. The charge for
such work should be recovered by way of a journal; only in exceptional
circumstances should an internal debtor invoice be raised.

It is important that the basis of charge is agreed between the client and
provider, and the financial transaction is accurately recorded in the
Council’s accounts.

The use of journals will cover Service Level Agreements, reallocation of
costs and charges that are considered inappropriate for the Internal
Trading Solution. The Internal Trading Solution will be used for those
services where it is considered to be cost effective.

Key Controls

5.200

The key controls for internal charges are:

e all income and expenditure arising from an internal recharging
relationship is correctly recorded and accounted for in a robust
manner;

e each charging activity will have a clear basis on which it will be
recharged;

e each charging activity will include the cost of the provision of the
service plus an appropriate level of overhead;

Page 319

118 | D



¢ no significant surplus should be made by the provider at the expense
of the internal customer unless there are contrary policies in place as
approved by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

o all providers ensure that all internal customers are provided with the
information reasonably required to accompany the journal charge;

¢ all charges must be challenged within an appropriate timescale (two
months from being informed of charge). The provider must ensure all
challenges are considered and where appropriate resolution is made
by clarifying query or amending the charge made by journal.

¢ there will be an arbitration process to clear disputes promptly.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

5.201 Toissue guidelines and procedures on the administration of the Authority’s
internal charging systems.

5.202 To ensure internal charging processes are efficient and effective and
represent the best interests of the Authority as a whole.

5.203 To arbitrate on outstanding disputed charges where the client and supplier
service area fail to reach agreement.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

5.204 To comply with guidelines and procedures issued by the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance) on the administration of the internal charging systems.

TAXATION

Why is this Important?

5.205 Like all organisations, the Authority is responsible for ensuring its tax affairs
are in order. Tax issues are often very complex and the penalties for
incorrectly accounting for tax can be severe. It is, therefore, very important
for all officers to be aware of their role.

Key Controls
5.206 The key controls for taxation are:
e budget holders are provided with relevant information and kept up to
date on tax issues;
e budget holders are instructed on required record keeping;
e all taxable transactions are identified, properly carried out and
accounted for within stipulated timescales;
e records are maintained in accordance with instructions;
e returns are made to the appropriate authorities within the stipulated
timescale.

Page 320



Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

5.207

5.208

5.209

5.210

To complete all HM Revenue and Customs returns regarding Pay As You
Earn (PAYE).

To complete VAT returns and to supply other information as specified by
HM Revenue and Customs.

To provide details to the HM Revenue and Customs of deductions made
under the Construction Industry Tax Deduction Scheme.

To advise Chief Officers, in the light of guidance issued by appropriate
bodies and relevant legislation as it applies, on all taxation issues that affect
the Authority.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

5.211

5.212

5.213

5.214
5.215

5.216

5.217

To ensure that where VAT is accounted for in respect of a payment, in
accordance with HM Revenue and Customs regulations, the following
conditions are satisfied:-

e the paymentrelatesto a supply of goods or services to Monmouthshire
Council or to some other body covered by the Council’s VAT
registration;

e unless otherwise authorised, a VAT invoice (or receipt) is held in
respect of the payment;

e where a payment is made to a contractor in the construction industry
on the authority of an architect’s certificate, an authenticated receipt
is obtained as soon as possible;

o the VAT identified on the VAT invoice is identified and coded correctly;

e that VAT invoices are processed expeditiously and are not unduly
delayed.

To ensure that VAT is accounted for, in the correct tax period, on all supplies
of goods and services made by the Council that are subject to VAT.

To ensure that a VAT invoice (or receipt) is issued upon request by any
person to whom taxable supplies of goods or services have been made by
the Council, showing the VAT charged.

To ensure that all VAT invoices are raised and processed expeditiously.

To ensure that documents identifying VAT transactions, including proof of
payment and banking records, are retained for the period specified by HM
Revenue and Customs.

To ensure that, where construction and maintenance works are
undertaken, the contractor fulfils the necessary construction industry tax
deduction requirements.

To ensure that all persons employed by the Authority are added to the
Authority’s payroll and that tax is deducted from any payments, except
where the individuals are bona fide self-employed or are employed by a
recognised staff agency.

Page 321

120 | D



5.218 To follow any guidance on taxation issued by the Section 151 Officer (Head
of Finance).

5.219 To ensure that arrangements are in place for all relevant staff to be
informed about the correct VAT treatment of all transactions and of
changes to this as notified by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance).

121 | D
Page 322



SECTION 6 - EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS

Covers Partnerships, External Funding, Work for third parties, Local
Authority Companies, Trust Funds

. Partnerships
. External Funding

o Work for Third Parties

PARTNERSHIPS

Why is this Important?

6.1 Partnerships play a key role in delivering community strategies
and in helping to promote and improve the well-being of the area.
Local authorities are working in partnership with others — Aneurin
Bevan LHB, Heddlu Gwent Police, public agencies, private
companies, community groups and voluntary organisations. Local
authorities still deliver some services, but their distinctive
leadership role is to bring together the contributions of the various
stakeholders. They therefore need to deliver a shared vision of

services based on user wishes.

6.2 Local authorities will mobilise investment, bid for funds, champion
the needs of their areas and harness the energies of local people
and community organisations. Local authorities will be measured

by what they achieve in partnership with others.

6.3 Individual Cabinet Members are responsible for approving the
contractual arrangements for any work for third parties or
external bodies where the contract value exceeds £250,000.

6.4  The default position is that any external arrangements will be
subject to the Council’s financial regulations, unless specific

approval has been granted by Cabinet to do otherwise.

General

6.5 The main reasons for entering into a partnership are to share
risk, to access new resources, to provide new and better ways of

delivering services and to forge new relationships.

6.6 A partner is defined as either:

e an organisation (private or public) undertaking, part funding

or participating as a beneficiary in a project, or

e a body whose nature or status give it a right or obligation to

support the project.

6.7 Partners have common responsibilities:

Page 323

122 | D



to be willing to take on a role in the broader programme
appropriate to the skills and resources of the partner
organisation;

to acknowledge that the best interest of the partnership is
more important than the best interest of each participating
group;

to acknowledge that the partnerships require a level of
flexibility which may require non-compliance with the
Authority’s Financial and Contract Procedure Rules. Where
this arises it should be formally approved by Cabinet;

to act in good faith at all times and in the best interests of the
partnership’s aims and objectives;

to be open about any conflict of interests that might arise;

to encourage joint working and promote the sharing of
information, resources and skills between public, private and
community sectors;

to hold confidentially any information received as a result of
partnership activities or duties that is of a confidential or
commercially sensitive nature;

to act wherever possible as ambassadors for the project.

Key Controls
6.8 The key controls for the Authority’s partners are:

to be aware of their responsibilities under the Authority’s
Financial and Contract Procedure Rules and to consider the
appropriateness of each control to the partnership and any
external funding guidance received;

to ensure that processes are put in place which ensure that
the partnership is effective in carrying out its duties in the
required timely manner.

to ensure that risk management processes are in place to
identify and assess and mitigate all known risks without
affecting the ability of the partnership to effectively function;
to ensure that project appraisal processes and a strategic
business case is in place to assess the viability of the project
in terms of resources, staffing and expertise;

to ensure that there is a sound legal vehicle in place prior to
any project commencing;

to ensure that there are robust arrangements for decision
making and that budgets agreed by partners are lawful;

to ensure clear accountability where the partnership uses
grant income as a source of funding;

to agree and accept formally the roles and responsibilities of
each of the partners involved in the project before the project
commences; and

Page 324

123 | D



e to communicate regularly with other partners throughout the
project so that problems can be identified and shared to
achieve their successful resolution.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

6.9

6.10

6.11

To advise on the use of effective and waiving of ineffective
controls within the partnership in order to ensure that resources
are not wasted.
To advise, as appropriate, on the key elements of funding a
project, including:

e a scheme appraisal for financial viability in both the current

and future years;

e risk appraisal and management;

e resourcing, including taxation issues;

e audit, security and control requirements; and

e carry-forward arrangements.
To ensure that the accounting arrangements are satisfactory.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

To consult with the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance), as
necessary, on a scheme’s appraisal for financial viability in both
the current and future years.

To ensure that risk management processes are in place to identify,
assess and mitigate all known risks without affecting the ability of
the partnership to effectively function.

To ensure that such agreements and arrangements do not impact
adversely upon the services provided either by the Authority or
the partnership.

To ensure that all agreements and arrangements are properly
documented.

To provide appropriate information to the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance) to enable a note to be entered into the
Authority’s statement of accounts concerning material items.

EXTERNAL FUNDING

Why is this Important?

6.17

External funding is potentially a very important source of income,
but funding conditions need to be carefully considered to ensure
that they are compatible with the aims and objectives of
authorities. Local authorities are increasingly encouraged to
provide seamless service delivery through working closely with
other agencies and private service providers. Funds from external
agencies provide additional resources to enable the Authority to
deliver services to the local community. However, in some

Page 325

124 | D



instances, although the scope for external funding has increased,
such funding is linked to tight specifications and may not be
flexible enough to link to the Authority’s overall plan.

Key Controls

6.18

The key controls for external funding are:

e to ensure that key conditions of funding and any statutory
requirements are complied with and that the responsibilities
of the accountable body are clearly understood;

e to ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities
approved in the policy framework by the full Council;

e toensure that any match-funding requirements are given due
consideration prior to entering into long-term agreements
and that future capital and revenue budgets reflect these
requirements.

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)

6.19

6.20

6.21
6.22

To ensure that all funding notified by external bodies is received
and properly recorded in the Authority’s accounts and budgets

To ensure that the match-funding requirements are considered
prior to entering into the agreements and that future capital and
revenue budgets reflect these requirements.

To ensure that audit requirements are met.

Where he or she is specifically responsible for submitting grant
claims, to ensure that all claims for funds are made by the due
date.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service

6.23

6.24

6.25
6.26

To ensure that all checks are carried out to make certain that
funding instructions associated in a bid for external funding are
taken into account.

To maintain adequate supporting documentation to enable claims
for funding to be maximised.

To ensure that all claims for funds are made by the due date.

To ensure that the project progresses in accordance with the
agreed project plan and that all expenditure is properly incurred
and recorded.

WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES

Why is this Important?

6.27

Current legislation enables the Authority to provide a range of
services to other bodies. Such work may enable a unit to maintain

Page 326

125 | D



economies of scale and existing expertise. Arrangements should
be in place to ensure that any risks associated with this work is
minimised and that such work is within the Authority’s legal
powers.

Key Controls
6.28 The key controls for working with third parties are:
e to ensure that proposals are costed properly in accordance
with guidance provided by the Section 151 Officer (Head of
Finance); and
e to ensure that contracts are drawn up using guidance
provided by the Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance) and
that the formal approvals process is adhered to.

Responsibilities of Section 151 Officer (Head of Finance)
6.29 To issue guidance with regard to the financial aspects of third
party contracts.

Responsibilities of Chief Officers and Heads of Service
6.30 To ensure that appropriate insurance arrangements are made.
6.31 To ensure that the Authority is not put at risk from any bad debts.

6.32 To ensure that, wherever practicable, payment is received in
advance of the delivery of the service.

6.33 To ensure that the department/unit has the appropriate expertise
to undertake the contract.

6.34 To ensure that such contracts do not impact adversely upon the
services provided for the Authority.

6.35 To ensure that all contracts are properly documented.

6.36 To provide appropriate information to the Section 151 Officer
(Head of Finance) to enable a note to be entered into the
statement of accounts.

Page 327

126 | D



CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES

PREFACE

A corporate view of procurement issues should be considered in that
whole-life costs and establishment of longer-term objectives to secure
overall best value should be considered rather than short-term savings.

These Contract Procedure Rules therefore link with the Council’s
Procurement Strategy and the Council’s Buyers’ Guide.

The best authorities recognise the critical contribution that procurement
makes to the quality of the services delivered to their communities and
that it must be seen in the context of the Council’s overall objectives.

Contract Procedure Rules are the link between the documented
Procurement Strategy, detailed codes of practice, and operational
procedures. Therefore, it is envisaged that authorities will ensure that
their rules are supported by a detailed Buyers’ Guide and standard
documents, preferably on their intranets, to steer the systems and
procedures that are established at departmental level.

Page 328

127 | D



CONTENTS

A BRIEF GUIDE TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES (CPR’s)

SECTION 1: SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES

1 BASIC PRINCIPLES

2 OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES

3 EXEMPTIONS, COLLABORATIVE AND E PROCUREMENT ARRANGEMENTS

4 RELEVANT CONTRACTS

SECTION 2: COMMON REQUIREMENTS

5 STEPS PRIOR TO PURCHASE

6. RECORDS

7. ADVERTISING, APPROVED LISTS AND FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS

SECTION 3: CONDUCTING PURCHASE AND DISPOSAL

8. COMPETITION REQUIREMENTS FOR PURCHASE, DISPOSAL AND
PARTNERSHIP  ARRANGEMENTS

9. PRE-TENDER MARKET RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION

10. STANDARDS AND AWARD CRITERIA

11. INVITATIONS TO TENDER/QUOTATIONS

12. SHORTLISTING

13. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS

14. POST TENDER CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES

15. EVALUATION, AWARD OF CONTRACT, AND DEBRIEFING ~ SUPPLIERS /
PROVIDERS

SECTION 4: CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES

16. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

17 BONDS AND PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES

18. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION

19. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

SECTION 5: CONTRACT MANAGEMENT

20. MANAGING CONTRACTS

21. RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING

22. CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW

DEFINITIONS APPENDIX

FURTHER ADVICE AVAILABLE FROM:

Strategic Procurement Unit: procurement@monmouthshire.gov.uk
Internal Audit: internalaudit@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Page 329

128 | D



A BRIEF GUIDE TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES (CPR’s)

These contract procedure rules (issued in accordance with section 135 of
the 1972 Local Government Act) are intended to promote good
purchasing practice and public accountability.

Whilst ensuring a safeguard for those officers who have responsibility for
spending the public purse, following the rules is the best defence against
allegations that a purchase has been made incorrectly or fraudulently.

Officers responsible for purchasing or disposal must comply with these
contract procedure rules. They lay down minimum requirements and a
more thorough procedure may be appropriate for a particular contract.
(For example, if CPR’s would normally require that quotes be obtained, it
might be appropriate in particular circumstances to seek additional
quotations in writing or tender submissions. Equally, it may not always
be appropriate to make use of an exemption under Rule 3 (even if one
might apply or be granted).

These rules are mandatory. Failure to comply with these contract
procedure rules could lead to disciplinary action.

For the purposes of these rules, where there is a requirement for
communication to be in writing, this shall be deemed to include e-mail
and fax transmissions as well as hard copy.

e Follow the rules if you purchase goods or services or order works.

e Take all necessary legal, financial, procurement and professional
advice.

e Declare any personal financial interest in a contract and then
withdraw. Corruption is a criminal offence.

e Appraise the purchasing need.

e Check with Strategic Procurement Unit whether there is an existing
Corporate or Collaborative Contract which you can make use of
before undergoing a competitive process.

e For contracts greater than £25K allow at least four weeks for
submission of bids, excluding EU tendering exercises which have
specific timescales (not to be submitted by fax or e-mail). Please
refer to the Buyers’ Guide.

e Keep bids confidential.

e Complete a written contract.

Page 330

129 | D



An official order should always be raised using the purchase order
process (POP) unless an exemption has been approved by the Chief
Finance Officer.

Identify a contract manager with responsibility for ensuring the
contract delivers as intended.

Keep records of dealings with suppliers.

For contracts greater than £25K assess each contract afterwards to
see how well it met the purchasing need and Value for Money
requirements.

Page 331

130 | D



SECTION 1:

SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES
1.1 BASIC PRINCIPLES

1.11 All purchasing and disposal procedures must:

e demonstrate Value for Money for public money spent
e be consistent with the highest standards of integrity

e ensure fairness in allocating public contracts

e comply with all legal requirements

e ensure that non-commercial considerations do not influence any
contracting decision

e support the Council’s corporate and departmental aims and policies

e comply with the principles of the Council’s Corporate Procurement
Strategy

e be planned with adequate timescales (e.g. officers need to be
aware of extended timescales where EU procurement rules apply).

e be advertised through Buy for Wales and/or recognised advertising
portals e.g. Constructionline

[Please refer to the Strategic Procurement Unit for advice]

1.12 Consideration must be given to applying the most economically
advantageous tender (MEAT) criteria when awarding contracts. The
lowest price may not always be the only criteria for awarding the
contract; other criteria could be quality, ability to undertake the work in
a given timescale, references, [for further examples refer to the Strategic
Procurement Unit] and this must be predetermined prior to advertising
the tender or inviting quotes.

1.13 Where contract values are likely to be just below these contract
procedure rules thresholds [CPR 8] officers should apply the conditions of
the higher threshold. [Often an officer guestimate determines which
threshold applies and quotes may come in well above that figure.] The
total value of the contract must be considered.

1.14 Officers need to consider the procurement of goods, services and

works well in advance and be aware of specific timescales to meet
deadlines, in particular where EU procurement rules apply.

Page 332

131 | D



1.15 The volume, frequency and standardisation of the goods or services
required should also be considered; better value may be obtained if a
longer term contract is applied rather than a number of individual
purchases of the same item.

1.2 In-house Providers

1.2.1 In accordance with these Contract Procedure Rules, in house service
providers must be used. Where an in-house service provider has declined
the opportunity to provide goods, works, or services, any subsequent
procurement from an external supplier/provider must comply with these
Contract Procedure Rules.

1.2.2 Subject to the requirements of the Local Government Planning and
Land Act 1980, the Local Government Acts 1988 and 1999 and all
subsequent amendments, all official tenders (where an in-house service
provider is tendering) with the exception of those items tendered on the
basis of a schedule of rates, should be returned to, and opened by, the
Monitoring Officer or an officer nominated by him. Where such tenders
exceed EU thresholds they should be returned to, and opened by, the
Monitoring Officer or an officer nominated by him in consultation with
the appropriate Cabinet Member.

1.2.3 Where the in-house service provider has declined the provision of
the goods, works or services, Officers must comply with the principles of
these Contract Procedure Rules and demonstrate value for money.

1.2.4. For the avoidance of doubt, the following in-house service
providers are included

= Building Hygiene and Cleaning Services

= Energy Management Services

= |CT Support

= Landscape and Grounds Maintenance Services

= Property Services including New Build, Refurbishments, and
Maintenance

= Refuse Collection and Waste Management Services

= Legal Services

= Procurement Services

= Health & Safety Support

= School Meals and Catering

= Photocopying

= Corporate Training

Nothing in these Contract Procedure Rules shall prevent in-house service
providers from employing sub-contractors to undertake relevant

Page 333

132 | D



contracts awarded to them provided that this shall only apply when
permanent or temporary staff are not available or it is otherwise more
economically effective to do so.

2. OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES

2.1 Officers

2.1.1 Officers responsible for purchasing or disposal must comply with
these Contract Procedure Rules, Financial Regulations, the Employee
Code of Conduct and with all UK and European Union legal requirements.
Officers must ensure that any agents, consultants and contractual
partners acting on their behalf also comply.

2.1.2 Officers must:
e have regard to the guidance in the Buyers’ Guide

e check whether a suitable contract (corporate or collaborative)
exists before seeking to let another contract; where a suitable
contract (corporate or collaborative) exists, this must be used
unless there is a valid reason not to [Please refer to the Strategic
Procurement Unit for advice]

e keep the records required by Rule 6

e take all necessary legal, financial and procurement advice

2.1.3 When any employee either of the Council or of a service provider
may be affected by any transfer arrangement, Officers must ensure that
the Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of Employment) (TUPE) issues are
considered and obtain legal & Strategic Procurement Unit advice before
proceeding with inviting Tenders or quotations.

2.2 Chief Officers
2.2.1 Chief Officers must:
e ensure that their staff comply with Rule 2.1
e keep registers of:
- contracts completed by signature, rather than by the Council’s seal
(see Rule 16.3) and arrange their safekeeping on Council premises

for the duration of the contract plus six years.

- exemptions recorded under Rule 3.2.

Page 334

133 | D



3. EXEMPTIONS, COLLABORATIVE AND E-PROCUREMENT
ARRANGEMENTS

3.1 In exceptional circumstances, a Chief Officer may waive any
requirements within these Contract Procedure Rules, provided that, the
contract is not likely to exceed £25K. Where the value is likely to exceed
£25K the Chief Finance Officer and the relevant Cabinet member will
need to approve the waiver. A waiver is different from an exemption,
please refer to the buyers’ guide for this distinction.

3.2 Subjectto 3.3 and 3.4 below where EU thresholds apply no exemption
can be granted.

3.3 Where an exemption is necessary because of an unforeseeable
emergency involving immediate risk to persons, property or serious
disruption to Council services, the Officer and the Chief Officer may jointly
approve the exemption but they must prepare a report for the relevant
Cabinet Member [Portfolio Holder] to support the action taken.

3.4 Other exemptions include:

e Specialist provider
e Auctions / works of art / artists
e In house service providers see CPR 1.2
e 1textension of existing contract, providing that there is a provision
to extend in the existing contract
e Collaboration / Partnership e.g. an existing contract

3.5 All exemptions, and the reasons for them, must be recorded by
requesting a proforma from internal audit. Exemptions can be approved
as follows:

e >f5k, < £25k Head of Service (e.g. only one supplier)

e >f25k, < £75k Chief Officer

e >f75k.< EU thresholds Chief Finance Officer and relevant Cabinet
Member

3.6 All exemptions must be reported to the Chief Internal Auditor. The
Audit and Accounts Select Committee will monitor the use of all
exemptions; exemptions will be reported 6 monthly to the Audit and
Accounts Select Committee.

3.7 In order to secure Value for Money, the Council may enter into
collaborative procurement arrangements. The Officer must consult the
Chief Finance Officer and the Strategic Procurement Unit where the
purchase is to be made using collaborative procurement arrangements
with another local authority, government department, statutory

Page 335

134 | D



undertaker or public service purchasing consortium. [The Strategic
Procurement Unit holds an updated register of all available collaborative
contracts]

3.8 All purchases made via a local authority purchasing and distribution
consortium are deemed to comply with these contract procedure rules
and no exemption is required. However, purchases above the relevant
EU Threshold must be let under the EU Procedure, unless the consortium
has satisfied this requirement already by letting their contract in
accordance with the EU Procedures on behalf of the Council and other
consortium members.

3.9 Any contracts entered into through collaboration with other local
authorities or other public bodies, where a competitive process has been
followed that complies with the contract procedure rules of the lead
organisation, will be deemed to comply with these contract procedure
rules and no exemption is required (e.g. Welsh Purchasing Consortium,
Value Wales). However, advice must be sought from the Strategic
Procurement Unit before such contracts are let. Where Monmouthshire
County Council is the lead authority then these contract procedure rules

will apply.

3.10 The use of e-procurement technology does not negate the
requirement to comply with all elements of these contract procurement
rules, particularly those relating to competition and Value for Money.

4, RELEVANT CONTRACTS

4.1 All relevant contracts must comply with these contract procedure
rules. A relevant contract is any arrangement made by, or on behalf of,
the Council (including schools) for the carrying out of works or the supply
of goods, materials or services. These include arrangement for:

e The supply or disposal of goods
e The hire, rental or lease of goods or equipment

e The delivery of services, including (but not limited to) those related
to:

- the recruitment of agency staff
- property transactions
- financial and consultancy services

- the commissioning of building/engineering works

Page 336

135 | D



4.2

- EU categories Part A, and Part B Goods and Services please refer to
the buyers’ guide for information

Relevant Contracts do not include:

e Contracts of employment which make an individual a direct
employee of the Council, or

e Agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land
(for which Financial Regulations shall apply).

SECTION 2:
COMMON REQUIREMENTS
5.STEPS PRIOR TO PURCHASE

5.1 The Officer must appraise the purchase, in a manner commensurate
with its complexity and value, and taking into account any guidance in the
Buyers’ Guide by:

e Taking into account the requirements from any relevant service
review.

e Appraising the need for the expenditure, its priority and availability
of budget.

e Ensure that officers are aware of the additional costs of over
specifying their needs.

e Defining the objectives of the purchase assessing the risks
associated with the purchase and how to manage them.

e Consider whether the procurement is ethical (Refer to the Buyers’
Guide )

e Considering what procurement method is most likely to achieve the
purchasing objectives, including internal or external sourcing,
partnering, and collaborate procurement arrangements with
another local authority, government department, statutory
undertaker or public service purchasing consortium.

e Consider whether the procurement is socially, economically and
environmentally sustainable for all purchases over £25K. Please
refer to the Buyers’ Guide.

e Consulting users as appropriate about the proposed procurement
method, contract standards and performance and user satisfaction
monitoring

Page 337

136 | D



e Drafting the terms and conditions that are to apply to the proposed
contracts which must accompany all purchases that exceed £25K.

and by confirming that:

There is an approved budget for the proposed expenditure and the
purchase accords with the approved policy framework and scheme of
delegation as set out in the Constitution

6. RECORDS

6.1 Where the Total Value exceeds £5K but is less than £25K the following
records must be kept:

e invitations to quote and quotations (proforma available within the
Buyers’ Guide)

e arecord:

- of any exemptions and the reasons for them
- of the reason if the lowest price is not accepted

e written records of communications with the successful contractor or
an electronic record if a written record of the transaction would
normally not be produced.

6.2 Where the Total Value exceeds £25K the Officer must record:
e The method for obtaining bids (see rule 8.1)
e Any contracting decision and the reasons for it
e Any exemption under Rule 3 together with the reasons for it
e The award criteria in descending order of importance
e Tender documents sent to and received from suppliers/providers

e Pre-tender market research

e Post-tender clarification (where permitted) (to include minutes of
meetings and outcomes)

e The contract documents
e Post-contract evaluation and monitoring

e Communications with suppliers/providers and with the successful
contractor throughout the period of the contract.

137 | D
Page 338



6.3 Records required by this rule must be kept for six years after the end
of the contract. However, written documents which relate to
unsuccessful tenderers may be microfilmed or electronically scanned or
stored by some other suitable method after 12 months from award of
contract, provided there is no dispute about the award.

6.4 For EU grants the relevant terms and conditions must be adhered to.
7. ADVERTISING, APPROVED LISTS AND FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS
7.1 Identifying and Assessing Potential Suppliers / providers

7.1.1 Officers shall ensure that, where proposed contracts, irrespective of
their Total Value, might be of interest to potential suppliers/providers
located in other member states of the EU, a sufficiently accessible
advertisement is published. Generally, the greater the interest of the
contract to potential bidders from other member states, the wider the
coverage of the advertisement should be. Examples of where such
advertisements may be placed include:

e Buy4Wales (www.buy4wales.co.uk), and;

e The Council’s website

e Portal websites specifically created for contract advertisements
(e.g. Construction Line /Construction Health And Safety)

e National official journals

e The Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU)/Tenders
Electronic Daily (TED) (even if there is no requirement with the
EU Procedure) and

(please refer to the Strategic Procurement Unit for advice)

7.1.2  Officers are responsible for ensuring that all suppliers /
providers for a relevant contract are suitably assessed. The assessment
process shall establish that the potential suppliers / providers have
sound:

e Economic and financial standing

e Technical ability and capacity to fulfil the requirements of the
Council

7.1.3 This shall be achieved in respect of proposed contracts that are
expected to exceed £25k by selecting firms from:

e Approved lists of providers, maintained by the Council or on its
behalf, and compiled following responses to a public

Page 339

138 | D



7.2

7.2.1

7.2.2

7.2.3

7.2.4

7.2.5

advertisement, (e.g. Constructionline) or

e Shortlists assessed from expressions of interest in a particular
contract submitted in response to a public advertisement.

e Public advertisements issued in respect of Rule 7.1.1 above shall
reflect the potential degree of interest from suppliers / providers
located within other member states of the EU

Approved Lists (contact the Strategic Procurement Unit)

Approved Lists should be used where recurrent transactions of a similar
type are likely but where such transactions need to be priced individually
and cannot easily be aggregated and priced in a single tendering exercise.
Approved Lists cannot be used where the EU Procedure applies.

Officers may only compile approved lists in consultation with Strategic
Procurement Unit.

No person may be entered on an Approved List until there has been an
adequate investigation into both their financial and their technical ability
to perform the contract, unless such matters will be investigated each
time bids are invited from that list.

Approved Lists must be drawn up after an advertisement inviting
applications for inclusion on the list. The advertisement must be placed
to secure the widest publicity among relevant suppliers throughout all
member states of the EU. Persons may be entered on a list between the
initial advertisement and re-advertisement provided the requirements of
Rule 7.2.3 are met.

The list and Shortlisting criteria must be reviewed at least annually and
re-advertised at least every three years. On re-advertisement, a copy of
the advertisement must be sent to each person on the list, inviting them
to reapply. Review means:

e The reassessment of the financial and technical ability and
performance of those suppliers/providers on the list.

e The deletion of those suppliers/providers no longer qualified,
with a written record kept justifying the deletion. Head of Service must
approve any deletions from the approved list.

7.2.6 All approved lists shall be maintained in an open, fair and
transparent manner and be open to public inspection.

7.2.7 Aregister of pre-qualified contractors and Consultants maintained
by or on behalf of central government (e.g. Construction line) will be
deemed to be an Approved List for the purpose of these contract

Page 340

139 | D



procedure rules and shall not be subject to the requirements of Rules
7.2.2.to 7.2.6 inclusive.

7.3 Framework Agreements

7.3.1 The term of a Framework Agreement must not exceed four years and,
while an agreement may be entered into with one provider, where an
agreement is concluded with several organisations, there must be at least
three in number.

7.3.2 Contracts based on Framework Agreements may be awarded by either:

e Applying the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement (where
such terms are sufficiently precise to cover the particular call-off)
without reopening competition, or

e Where the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement are not
precise enough or complete for the particular call-off, by holding a mini
competition in accordance with the following procedure:

- inviting the organisations within with the Framework Agreement
that are capable of executing the subject of the contract to submit
written offers.

- Fixing a time limit which is sufficiently long enough to allow offers
for each specific contract to be submitted by nominated providers
within the framework agreement, taking into account factors such
as the complexity of the subject of the contract.

- Awarding each contract to the provider who has submitted the best
offer on the basis of the Award Criteria set out in the specifications
of the original Framework Agreement, and tailored criteria set out
in the mini competition.

(Please refer to the Strategic Procurement Unit for advice)

Page 341

140 | D



SECTION 3:
CONDUCTING PURCHASE AND DISPOSAL

8. COMPETITION REQUIREMENTS FOR PURCHASE, DISPOSAL AND
PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS.

8.1 The Officer must calculate the Total Value of the contract.

8.2 The following procedures apply where there are no other procedures
which take precedence. Other procedures may include agency
agreements with government. If in doubt Officers must seek the advice
of the Chief Finance Officer/Strategic Procurement Unit.

8.3 Purchasing — Competition Requirements

8.3.1 Where the Total Value for a purchase is within the values in the first
column below, the Award Procedure in the second column must be
followed. Shortlisting shall be done by the persons specified in the third

column.

Total Value

Award Procedure

Shortlisting

Minimum
number of
bids invited

Up to £1K

Demonstrate that
good value has
been achieved

Officer

No
requirement

£1K - £5K

One written
quotation

Officer

Demonstrate
value for
money

£5K - £25K

Three written
guotations. Value
for money needs
to be
demonstrated,
Advertisement
through relevant
trade
journal/portal
and/or buy4wales

Officer and
Line
Manager

Three

£25,001 - EU
Threshold *

Goods &
Services and
works <€1m

Invitation to
Tender by
advertisement,
through relevant
trade
journal/portal
and/or buy4wales

Officer, Line
Manager

Three

£25,001 - EU

Invitation to

Officer, Line

Page 342

141 | D



Threshold * Tender by Manager and [Three
>f1m works advertisement, Head of
only through relevant Service (or
trade delegated
journal/portal officer)
and/or buy4wales
Above EU EU Procedure or, Consultthe  [Consult the
Threshold where this does Strategic Strategic
not apply. Seek Procurement [Procurement
legal and/or Unit — see Unit — see
procurement rule 8.1.4 rule 8.1.4
advice

* see Buyers’ Guide

Strategic Procurement Unit to be made aware of all contracts over
£25K

8.3.2 Where it can be demonstrated that there are insufficient suitable
qualified suppliers/providers to meet the competition requirement, all
suitably qualified suppliers must be invited.

8.3.3 An officer must not enter into separate contracts nor select a
method of calculating the Total Value in order to minimise the application
of these contract procedure rules. Total contract is the life of the contract
not broken down per financial year. Contracts must not be disaggregated.
(Contact Strategic Procurement Unit)

8.3.4 When the EU procedure is required, the officer shall consult the
Strategic Procurement Unit to determine the method of conducting the
purchase.

8.4 Assets for Disposal Excluding Land

8.4.1 Assets for disposal must be sent to public auction except where
better Value for Money is likely to be obtained by inviting Quotations and
Tenders. (These may be invited by advertising on the Council’s intranet
site). In the latter event, the method of disposal of surplus or obsolete
stocks/stores or assets other than land must be formally agreed as
indicated below -

>£100, <£5K Head of Service
>f5K Chief Finance Officer

Buy4wales is the portal where suppliers sell the goods and services, not
where we can dispose of assets.

Page 343

142 | D



8.5 Collaborative and Partnership Arrangements

8.5.1 Collaborative and partnership arrangements are subject to all UK
and EU procurement legislation and must follow these contract
procedure rules. If in doubt, officers must seek the advice of the Strategic
Procurement Unit and Head of Legal Services.

8.6 The Appointment of Consultants to Provide Services

8.6.1 Consultant architects, engineers, surveyors and other professional
consultants shall be selected and commissions awarded in accordance
with the procedures detailed within these contract procedure rules and

as outlined below.

Total Value

Award Procedure

Shortlisting

No of bids
invited

Up to £5K

One oral quotation
(confirmed in writing
where the Total
Value exceeds £1K)

Officer

Demonstra
te value
for money

£5K - £25K

Three written
quotations. Value
for money needs to
be demonstrated,
Advertisement
through relevant
trade journal/portal
and/or buy4wales as
appropriate

Officer and Line
Manager

Three

£25,001-
£100K

Three written
guotations
Advertisement
through relevant
trade journal and/or
buy4wales as
appropriate

Officer and Line
Manager

Three

£100,001-EU
Threshold

Invitation to Tender
by advertisement/
shortlist to at least
three and no more
than six suppliers /
providers

Officer, Line
manager and
Chief Finance
Officer

Three

Above EU
Threshold

EU Procedure or,
where this does not

Consult the
Head of Legal

Consult
the Head

Page 344

143 | D



apply, Invitation to Services — see of Legal

Tender by rule 8.1.4 Services —
advertisement/ see rule
shortlist to at least 8.1.4

four and no more
than six candidates

8.6.2 Consultants shall follow the agreement of a brief that adequately
describes the scope of the services to be provided and shall be subject to
completion of a formal letter or contract of appointment.

8.6.3 Records of consultancy appointments shall be maintained in
accordance with Rule 6.

8.6.4 Consultants shall be required to provide evidence of, and maintain
professional indemnity insurance policies to the satisfaction of the
relevant Head of Service for the periods specified in the respective
agreement.

9. PRE-TENDER MARKET RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION
9.1 The Officer responsible for the purchase:

e May consult potential suppliers prior to the issue of the Invitation to
Tender in general terms about the nature, level and standard of the
supply, contract packaging and other relevant matters, provided
this does not prejudice any potential candidate, but

e Must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation of an
Invitation to Tender or Quotation from anyone who may have a
commercial interest in them (except during an EU competitive
dialogue process) and must not prejudice the equal treatment of all
potential suppliers / providers or distort competition, and should
seek advice from the Strategic Procurement Unit.

10. STANDARDS AND AWARD CRITERIA

10.1 The Officer must ascertain what are the relevant British, European
or international standards which apply to the subject matter of the
contract. The Officer must include those standards (or their European
equivalent) which are necessary to properly describe the required quality.
The Strategic Procurement Unit must be consulted if it is proposed to use
standards other than European standards.

10.2 The Officer must pre-define Award Criteria that are appropriate to
the purchase and designed to secure an outcome giving Value for Money
for the Council. Consideration [in the first instance] must be given to
applying the Most Economically Advantageous Tender (MEAT) when

Page 345

144 | D



setting award criteria
The basic criteria shall be:
e Highest price if payment is to be received, or

e >f5k ‘most economically advantageous tender’ (MEAT) where
considerations other than price also apply (>£5k represents total
aggregated contract value)

e If the last criterion is adopted, it must be further defined by
reference to sub-criteria which may refer only to relevant
considerations. These may include price, service, quality of goods,
running costs, technical merit, previous experience, delivery date,
cost effectiveness, quality, relevant environmental considerations,
aesthetic and functional characteristics (including security and
control features), safety, after-sales services, technical assistance
and any other relevant matters. Sustainability and equality must be
one of the selected criteria when adopting (MEAT) to award
contracts.

(Refer to Strategic Procurement Unit for advice).

11. INVITATIONS TO TENDER/QUOTATIONS

11.1 The invitation to tender shall state that no tender will be considered
unless it is received by the date and time stipulated in the invitation to
tender. No tender delivered in contravention of this clause shall be
considered.

11.2 All invitations to tender shall include the following:

(a) A specification that describes the Council’s fit for purpose
requirements.

(b) A requirement for tenderers to declare that the tender content,
price or any other figure or particulars concerning the tender have not
been disclosed by the tenderer to any other party (except where such
a disclosure is made in confidence for a necessary purpose).

(c) A requirement for tenderers to complete fully and sign all tender
documents including a form of tender and certificates relating to
canvassing and non-collusion.

(d) Notification that tenders are submitted to the Council on the basis
that they are compiled at the tenderer’s expense.

(e) A description of the Award Procedure and, unless defined in a prior
advertisement, a definition of the Award Criteria in measurable terms

Page 346

145 | D



and if possible in descending order of importance.

(f) Notification that no tender will be considered unless it is enclosed
in a sealed envelope or container which bears the word ‘Tender’
followed by the subject to which it relates, but no other name or mark
indicating the sender. (tender label template within Buyers’ Guide).

(g) A stipulation that any tenders submitted by fax or other electronic
means shall not be considered, unless an approved electronic
tendering process has been agreed up front by the Strategic
Procurement Unit, and communicated in the tender advertisement.

(h)  The method by which any arithmetical errors discovered in the
submitted tenders is to be dealt with. In particular, whether the
overall price prevails over the rates in the tender or vice versa.

(i) Dispute Resolution Clause — clause which stipulates how disputes
will be resolved. (Refer to Strategic Procurement Unit for advice)

(j) Terms of payment — when and how payment is to be made.
(k) Delivery — When, where and how delivery is to be made.

(I) Acceptance — Awarded contracts are a mere intent to engage,
acceptance will take place by way of official transaction i.e. MCC
purchase order, the purchase order must make reference to the
awarded contract. This procedure must be expressed in all contract
terms and conditions. Contact Strategic Procurement Unit for advice.

(m) Law — Need to identify the law under which the contract will be
govern i.e. English Law.

11.3 All invitations to tender or quotations must specify the goods, service
or works that are required, together with the terms and conditions of
contract that will apply (see rule 16).

11.4 The Invitation to Tender or Quotation must state that the Council is not
bound to accept any Quotation or Tender.

11.5 All suppliers / providers invited to tender or quote must be issued with
the same information at the same time and subject to the same
conditions. Any supplementary information must be given on the same
basis.

11.6 All awarded tenders need to be followed by a purchase order to confirm
commitment to the contract.

12. SHORTLISTING

12.1 Any shortlisting must have regard to the financial, technical and

Page 347

146 | D



13.5

13.6

sustainability standards relevant to the contract and the Award Criteria.
Special rules apply in respect of the EU Procedure. Contact Strategic
Procurement Unit for advice.

12.2 The officers responsible for shortlisting are specified in rule 8.1.1.
13. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS

13.1 Suppliers / providers must be given an adequate period in which to
prepare and submit a proper quotation or tender consistent with the
complexity of the contract requirement. Normally at least four weeks
should be allowed for submission of tenders. The EU Procedure lays
down specific time periods (see guidance in the Buyers’ Guide or contact
the Strategic Procurement Unit).

13.2 All tenders must be returned to the Monitoring Officer.

13.3 Tendersreceived by fax or other electronic means (e.g. e-mail) must
be rejected, unless they have been sought in accordance with an
electronic tendering system approved by the Chief Finance Officer and
Strategic Procurement Unit.

13.4 The Monitoring Officer shall be responsible for the safekeeping of
tenders until the appointed time of opening. Each tender must be:

e Suitably recorded so as to subsequently verify the date and precise
time it was received

e Adequately protected immediately on receipt to guard against
amendment of its contents.

e Recorded immediately on receipt in the tender record log.

The Monitoring Officer must ensure that all tenders are opened at the
same time when the period for their submission has ended. Tenders
must be opened in the presence of two officers representing the
Monitoring Officer or an officer nominated by him/her. Should the
process of accepting tenders be compromised please contact Head of
Legal Services. The relevant Cabinet Member should be present for all
tenders opened above EU thresholds.

Upon opening, a summary of the main terms of each tender (i.e.
significant issues that are unique to each tender submission and were not
stated in the tender invitation documents such as tender sum,
construction period etc.) must be recorded in the tender record log. The
summary must be initialled by or on behalf of the Monitoring Officer.

Page 348

147 | D



14.1

14.2

14.3

14.4

15.1

15.2

15.3

14. POST TENDER CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES
(With the exception of the EU competitive dialogue)

Providing clarification of an invitation to tender to potential or actual
suppliers / providers or seeking clarification of a tender, whether in
writing or by way of a meeting, is permitted. However, discussions with
tenderers after submission of a tender and before the award of a contract
with a view to obtaining adjustments in price, delivery or content (i.e.
post-tender clarifications) must be the exception rather than the rule. In
particular, they must not be conducted in an EU Procedure where this
might distort competition, especially with regard to price.

If post-tender clarifications are necessary after a single—stage tender or
after the second stage of a two stage tender, then such clarifications shall
only be undertaken with the tenderer who is identified as having
submitted the best tender and after all unsuccessful suppliers / providers
have been informed. During clarifications tendered rates and prices shall
only be adjusted in respect of a corresponding adjustment in the scope of
guantity included in the tender documents. Officers appointed by the
Chief Officer to carry out post-tender clarifications should ensure that
there are recorded minutes of all clarification meetings and that both
parties agree actions in writing.

Post tender clarification must only be conducted in association with the

Strategic Procurement Unit. Clarifications must be conducted by a team
of at least two officers, one of whom must be from the Strategic
Procurement Unit.

Where post tender clarification results in a fundamental change to the
specification (or contract terms) the contract must not be awarded but
re-tendered.

15. EVALUATION, AWARD OF CONTRACT, AND DEBRIEFING SUPPLIERS
/ PROVIDERS

Apart from the debriefing required or permitted by these contract
procedure rules, the confidentiality of quotations, tenders and the
identity of suppliers / providers must be preserved at all times and
information about one candidate’s response must not be given to
another candidate.

Contracts must be evaluated and awarded in accordance with the
award criteria as set out in the initial tender documentation. During this
process, officers shall ensure that submitted tender prices are
compared with any pre-tender estimates and that any discrepancies are
examined and resolved satisfactorily.

The arithmetic in compliant tenders must be checked. If arithmetical

Page 349

148 | D



15.4

15.5

15.6

15.7

15.8

15.9

errors are found they should be notified to the tenderer, who should be
requested to confirm or withdraw their tender. Alternatively, if the
rates in the tender, rather than the overall price, were stated within the
tender invitation as being dominant, an amended tender price may be
requested to accord with the rates given by the tenderer.

Officers may accept quotations and tenders received in respect of
proposed contracts, provided they have been sought and evaluated fully
in accordance with these contract procedure rules.

For all above EU threshold contracts, officers must ensure that a period
of at least 10 days is given for unsuccessful suppliers/providers to
potentially challenge the decision, before the contract can be awarded.
If the decision is challenged, officers shall not award the contract and
shall immediately seek advice from the Head of Legal Services and the
Strategic Procurement Unit.

For all contracts over £25K, all unsuccessful suppliers/providers may
request and be given the opportunity of a debriefing. Such practice
should include the name of the successful supplier/provider, but not the
contract price. Where three or more bids have been received the range
of evaluated scores should be disclosed.

A Contract Award Notice must be sent to OJEU for all contracts that are
subject to the provisions of the Public Procurement Directives, as well
as those contracts for the provision of Part B services where the value
exceeds the OJEU threshold. The Contract Award Notice shall be sent to
OJEU no later than 48 days after the award or conclusion of the contract.

No information, other than the following, should be given without
taking the advice of the Head of Legal Services, and the Strategic
Procurement Unit.

e How the award criteria were applied
e The result of the criteria application

e The names of suppliers / providers where there were three or
more suppliers / providers

If a candidate requests in writing the reasons for a contracting decision,
the officer must give the reasons in writing within 15 days of the request.
If requested, the officer may also give the debriefing information at rule
15.6 above to suppliers / providers who were deselected in a pre-tender
shortlisting process.

15.10 The officer with responsibility for awarding the contract above the EU

threshold should then inform Strategic Procurement Unit of the a)
contract title b) duration c) total contract value d) nationality of successful

Page 350

149 | D



tender and e) identify which tendering procedure was used i.e. open,
restricted, competitive dialogue or negotiated.

150 | D
Page 351



16.

SECTION 4:

CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES
CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

16.1 Contracts

16.1.1 All contracts that exceed £25K shall be in writing. (Contact
Strategic Procurement Unit for notification of the contract).

16.1.2 All relevant purchases, irrespective of value, [as a minimum] shall
clearly specify:

e Whatis to be supplied (i.e. the works, materials, services)

e Quality and quantity of works, materials, services to be supplied
e The provisions for payment (i.e. the price to be paid and when)
e Thetime, or times, within which the contract is to be performed
e The provisions for the Council to terminate the contract.

The Council’s Terms and Conditions issued must be used
wherever possible (or made reference to on the Council’s official
order form).

In addition, every relevant contract of purchase over £25K must
also state clearly as a minimum:

e That the contractor may not assign or sub-contract without prior
written consent

e Any insurance requirements

e Health and safety requirements

e Dispute Resolution / Ombudsman requirements
e Data protection requirements, if relevant

e That charter standards are to be met if relevant
e Race relations requirements

e Environmental and Ethical Policy

e Disability Discrimination Act requirements

Page 352

151 | D



e Freedom of Information Act requirements

e Where agents are used to let contracts, that agents must comply
with the Council’s contract procedure rules

e A right of access to relevant documentation and records of the
contractor for monitoring and audit purposes if relevant.

16.2 Contract Formalities

16.2.1 Agreements shall be completed as follows:

Total Value Method of Completion By
Up to £25K Signature/authorisation Line manager (see
rule 16.2.3)

£25,001 to £75K |Signature/authorisation Supervising officer
(see rule 16.2.3)

Above £75K Sealing See rule 16.3

16.2.2 All contracts must be concluded formally in writing, and sealed where
appropriate. A completed official purchase order must be provided
before the supply, service or construction begins, indicating a reference
to the awarded contract, except in exceptional circumstances, and then
only with the written consent of the Monitoring Officer or Head of Legal
Services. An award letter is insufficient.

16.2.3 The officer responsible for securing signature of the contract must ensure
that the person signing for the other contracting party has authority to
bind it.

16.3 Sealing
16.3.1 A contract must be sealed where:

e The Council may wish to enforce the contract more than six years
after its end

e The price paid or received under the contract is a nominal price and
does not reflect the value of the goods or services.

e There is any doubt about the authority of the person signing for the
other contracting party, or

e The total value exceeds £75K

16.3.2 Where contracts are completed by each side adding their formal seal, the
Council’s seal will be witnessed by a Member and the Head of Legal
Services or some other person authorised by him or her.

Page 353

152 | D



16.3.3 Every Council sealing will be consecutively numbered, recorded and

signed by the person witnessing the seal. The seal must not be affixed
without the authority of the Cabinet, a Committee, a Portfolio Holder or
the Monitoring Officer acting under delegated powers.

16.3.4 It is recognised that the sealing of a contract may prolong

17.

17.1

17.2

18.

18.1

18.2

commencement and execution of supply, service, or works and
therefore recommend that this procedure is planned in the
procurement timetable. If however sealing prior to supply, service and
works proves impractical, the official purchase order [making reference
to the contract] will suffice until the procedure has been completed.

BONDS AND PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES

The officer must consult the Chief Finance Officer about whether a
parent company guarantee is necessary when a candidate is a subsidiary
of a parent company and:

e The total contract value exceeds £250,000 or
e Award is based on evaluation of the parent company or
e There is some concern about the stability of the candidate

The officer must consult the Chief Finance Officer about whether a bond
is needed:

e Where the total contract value exceeds £1,000,000 or

e Where it is proposed to make stage or other payments in
advance of receiving the whole of the subject matter of the
contract and there is concern about the stability of the
candidate.

PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION

The officer must comply with the Council’s code of conduct for
employees and must not invite or accept any gift or reward in respect
of the award or performance of any contract. It will be for the officer to
prove that anything received was not received corruptly. High
standards of conduct are obligatory. Corrupt behaviour will lead to
investigation under the council’s disciplinary procedures and possible
dismissal and is a crime under the statutes referred to in Rule 18.2
below.

The following clause must be included in every written Council
contract:

The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss if the

Page 354

153 | D



contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the contractor’s behalf do
any of the following things:

(a) offer, give or agree to give to anyone any inducement or reward in
respect of this or any other Council contract or

(b) commit an offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 or
1916 or section 117 (2) of the Local Government Act 1972 or

(c) commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council contract
whether alone or in conjunction with Council members, contractors or
employees.

Any clause limiting the contractor’s liability shall not apply to this clause.
19. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

19.1 If it comes to the knowledge of a member or an employee of the
Council that a contract in which he or she has a pecuniary interest has
been or is proposed to be entered into by the Council, he or she shall
immediately give written notice to the Chief Executive and immediately
withdraw from any involvement with that contract process. The Chief
Executive shall report such declarations to the appropriate committee.

19.2 Such written notice is required irrespective of whether the pecuniary
interest is direct or indirect. Anindirect pecuniary interest is distinct from
a direct pecuniary interest in as much as it is not a contract to which the
member or employee is directly a party.

19.3 A shareholding in a body not exceeding a total nominal value of £1K
or 1% of the nominal value of the issued share capital (whichever is the
less) is not a pecuniary interest for the purposes of these Contract
Procedure Rules.

19.4 The Chief Executive shall maintain a record of all declarations of
interest notified by members and officers.

Page 355

154 | D



SECTION 5:
CONTRACT MANAGEMENT
20. MANAGING CONTRACTS

20.1 Heads of service in sponsoring departments are to name contract
managers for all new contracts. All contracts must have a named
Council contract manager for the entirety of the contract.

20.2  Contract managers must follow these Contract Procedure Rules and the
Council’s Buyers’ Guide.

21. RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING

21.1 A procurement risk/sourcing assessment must be prepared for all
procurements with a potential value over the EU Threshold. Provision
for resources for the management of the contract, for its entirety, must
be identified in the risk/sourcing assessment.

22. CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW

22.1 All contracts which have a value higher than the EU Threshold limits, or
which are high risk, are to be subject to monthly formal review with the
contractor. The review may be conducted quarterly if permitted by the
Head of Service.

22.2 For all contracts with a value higher than the EU Threshold limits, or
which are high risk, an annual report must be submitted to the Head of
Service.

22.3 During the life of the contract, the officer must monitor in respect of
e Performance and relevant key performance indicators
e Compliance with specification and contract
e Cost
e Any value for money requirements
e User satisfaction and risk management

22.4 A summary report should be submitted to the relevant Cabinet Member
for contracts awarded over £1m on an annual basis based on the
assessment that the purchasing need and the contract objectives (as
determined in accordance with Rule 5.2) were met by the contract. This
should be done normally when the contract is completed. Where the
contract is to be re-let, a provisional report should also be available early
enough to inform the approach to re-letting of the subsequent contract.

155 | D
Page 356



DEFINITIONS

APPENDIX

Agent

A person or organisation acting on behalf
of the Council or on behalf of another
organisation

Approved List

Alist drawn up in accordance with Rule 7.2

Award Criteria

The criteria by which the successful
quotation or tender is to be selected (see
further rules 10 and 11.2¢e)

Award Procedure

The procedure for awarding a contract as
specified in Rules 8,10 and 15

Best Value

The duty, which Part 1 of the Local
Government Act 1999 places on local
authorities to  secure  continuous
improvement in the way in which
functions are exercised, having regard to a
combination of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness as implemented by the
Council. This terminology has now in many
instances been superseded by Value for
Money.

Bond

An insurance policy: if the contractor does
not do what it has promised under a
contract with the Council, the Council can
claim from the insurer the sum of money
specified in the bond (often 10% of the
contract value). A bond is intended to
protect the Council against a level of cost
arising from the contractor’s failure.

Cabinet

The Council’s Cabinet as defined in the
constitution.

Chief Finance
Officer

The Director of Finance, Chief Officer RER
or such other officer as may be designated
Chief Finance Officer by the Council

Page 357

156 | D



Chief Officer

The officers defined as such in the
constitution

Code of Conduct

For employees: The code regulating
conduct of officers incorporated in all
contracts of employment and the Council’s
Constitution

For members: the code of conduct for the
time being adopted by the Council under
s51 Local Government Act 2000

Committee

A committee which has power to make
decisions for the Council, for example a
joint committee with another local
authority, but not an overview and
scrutiny committee.

Constitution

The constitutional document approved by
the Council which:

e Allocates powers and responsibility
within the Council and between it and
others

o Delegates authority to act to the
Cabinet, committees, portfolio holders
and officers

e Regulates the behaviour of individuals
and groups through rules of procedure,
codes and protocols.

Consultant

Someone employed for a specific length of
time to work to a defined project brief with
clear outcomes to be delivered, who brings
specialist skills or knowledge to the role,
and where the Council has no ready access
to employees with the skills, experience or
capacity to undertake the work.

Contracting
Decision

Any of the following decisions:

Composition of approved lists

Withdrawal of invitation to tender

Whom to invite to submit a quotation or
tender

Shortlisting

Award of contract

Page 358

157 | D



Any decisions to terminate a contract

Corporate A contract let or endorsed by the Strategic

Contract Procurement Unit to support the Council’s
aim of achieving Value for Money

CPR’s Contract Procedure Rules

Monitoring Officer

As defined in the constitution

EU Procedure

The procedure required by the EU where
the total value exceeds the EU Threshold

EU Threshold

The contract value at which the EU public
procurement directives apply

Financial
Regulations

The financial regulations outlining officer
responsibilities for financial matters
issued by the Chief Finance Officer in
accordance with the constitution.

Framework
Agreement

An agreement between one or more
authorities and one or more economic
operators, the purpose of which is to
establish the terms governing contracts to
be awarded during a given period, in
particular with regard to price and, where
appropriate, the quantity envisaged.

Government
Procurement
Agreement

The successor agreement to the General
Agreement on Trade and Tariffs. The main
signatories other than those in the
European economic area are the USA,
Canada, Japan, Israel, South Korea,
Switzerland, Norway, Aruba, Hong Kong,
China, Liechtenstein and Singapore.

Head of Legal
Services

As identified in the constitution

High Risk

A high-risk purchase is one which presents
the potential for substantial exposure on
the Council’s part should it fail or go
wrong.

High Value

A high value purchase is where the value
exceeds the EU Threshold values

Page 359

158 | D



Invitation to
tender

Invitations to tender documents in the
form required by these contract
procedure rules

Key Decision

Decisions that are defined as key decisions
in the constitution

Line Manager

The officer’s immediate superior or the
officer designated by the Chief Officer to
exercise the role reserved to the line
manager by these contract procedure
rules

Nominates
Suppliers and Sub-
Contractors

Those persons specified in a main contract
for the discharge of any part of that
contract.

Non-commercial
considerations

(a) The terms and conditions of
employment by contractors of their
workers or the composition of, the
arrangements for the promotion, transfer
or training of or the other opportunities
afforded to, their workforces (“workforce
matters”)

(b) Whether the terms on which
contractors contract with their sub-
contractors constitute, in the case of
contracts with individuals, contracts for
the provision by them as self-employed
persons of their services only.

(c) Any involvement of the business
activities or interests of contractors with
irrelevant fields of government policy.

(d) The conduct of contractors or workers
in industrial disputes between them or any
involvement of the business activities of
contractors in industrial disputes between
other persons (industrial disputes).

(e) The country or territory of origin of
supplies to, or the location in any country
or territory of the business activities or
interests of, contractors.

(f) Any political, industrial or sectarian
affiliations or interests of contractors or
their directors, partners or employees

Page 360

159 | D



(g) Financial support or lack of financial
support by contractors for any institution
to or from which the Council gives or
withholds support

(h) Use or non-use by contractors of
technical or professional services provided
by the Council under the Building Act 1984
or the Building (Scotland) Act 1959.

Workforce matters and industrial disputes,
as defined in paragraphs (a) and (d) cease
to be non-commercial considerations to
the extent necessary or expedient to
comply with Best Value; or where there is
a transfer of staff to which the transfer of
undertakings (Protection of Employment)
Regulations 1981 (TUPE) may apply

Officer

The officer designated by the Chief Officer
to deal with the contract in question

Parent Company
Guarantee

A contract which binds the parent of a
subsidiary company as follows: if the
subsidiary company fails to do what it has
promised under a contract with the
Council, the Council can require the parent
company to do so instead.

Portfolio Holder

A member of the Cabinet to whom
political responsibility is allocated in
respect of specified functions

Priority Services

Those services required to be tendered as
defined in the EU public procurement
directives

Procurement
Strategy

The document setting out the Council’s
approach to procurement and key
priorities for the next few years.

Buyers’ Guide

The suite of guidance documents,
together with a number of standard
documents and forms, which supports the
implementation of these contract
procedure rules. The guide is available on
the Council’s intranet

Page 361

160 | D



Quotations

A quotation of price and any other
relevant matter (without the formal issue
of an invitation to tender)

Relevant Contract

Contracts to which these contract
procedure rules apply (see Rule 4)

Shortlisting The process of selecting suppliers /
providers who are to be invited to quote
or bid or to proceed to final evaluation

Strategic The Council’s central procurement unit

Procurement Unit

charged with providing strategic direction
and advice to secure value for money in
the Council’s procurement activities.

Supervising
Officer

The line manager’s immediate superior.

Supplier/Provider

Any person who asks or is invited to
submit a quotation or tender

Tender

A supplier’'s / provider's proposal
submitted in response to an invitation to
tender

Tender record log

The log kept by the Monitoring Officer to
record details of tenders (see Rule 13.5)

Total Value

The whole of the value or estimated value
(in money or equivalent value) for single
purchase or disposal calculated as follows:

(a) where the contract is for a fixed period,
by taking the total price to be paid or
which might be paid during the whole of
the period

(b) where the purchase involves recurrent
transactions for the same type of item, by
aggregating the value of those
transactions in the coming 12 months

(c) where the contract is for an uncertain
duration, by multiplying the monthly
payment by 48

(d) for feasibility studies, the value of the
scheme or contracts which may be
awarded as a result

(e) for nominated suppliers and sub-

Page 362

161 | D



contractors, the total value shall be the
value of that part of the main contract to
be fulfilled by the nominated supplier or
sub-contractor

TUPE Transfer of
undertakings
(protecting of
employment)
Regulations 2006
(S1 2006 No. 246)

Subject to certain conditions, these
regulations apply where responsibility for
the delivery of works or services for the
Council is transferred from one
organisation (e.g. private contractor, local
authority in-house team) to another (e.g.
following a contracting out or competitive
tendering process) and where the
individuals involved in carrying out the
work are transferred to the new employer.
These regulations seek to protect the
rights of employees in such transfers,
enabling them to enjoy the same terms
and conditions, with continuity of
employment, as existed with their former
employer. Broadly, TUPE regulations
ensure that the rights of employees are
transferred along with the business.

Value for Money

Value for money is not the lowest possible
price; it combines goods or services that
fully meet your needs, with the level of
quality required, delivery at the time you
need it, and at an appropriate price.

Page 363

162 | D



OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES

1. Recruitment and appointment
1.01 Declarations

(i) The Council has drawn up procedures which include a requirement
that any candidate for an appointment as an Officer must state in
writing whether they have any relationship with any councillor or
Officer of the Council.

(ii) No candidate so related to a councillor or an officer will be
appointed without the authority of the relevant chief officer or an
officer nominated by him/her.

1.02 Seeking support for appointment.

(i)  The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or
indirectly seeks the support of any councillor for any appointment with
the Council. The content of this paragraph will be included in any
recruitment information.

(ii)  No councillor will seek support for any person for any
appointment with the Council.

2. Recruitment and remuneration of Chief Officers

2.01 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer, within the
meaning of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations
2006 [as amended], and the proposed remuneration of the post is
£100,000 or more per annum, or it is otherwise not proposed that the
appointment be made exclusively from among their existing Officers, the
Council will:

(a) draw up a statement specifying:

(i) the duties of the officer concerned; and
(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be
appointed;

(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised publicly in such a
way as is likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified
to apply for it (unless the proposed appointment is for a period of 12
months or less); and

(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned above
to be sent to any person on request.

Page 364

163 | D



2.02 Where a post has been advertised as provided in 2.01 above, the
Council must:-

(a) interview all qualified applicants for the post, or

(b) select a short list of such qualified applicants and interview those
included on the short list.

2.03 Where no qualified person has applied, or if the Council decides to
re-advertise the appointment, the Council may make further
arrangements for advertisement in accordance with 2.01 (b) above.

2.04 Any decision to determine or vary the remuneration of Chief Officers
(or those to be appointed as Chief Officers) must be made by full Council.

3. Appointment of Head of Paid Service

The full council will make the appointment of the Head of Paid Service
following the recommendation of a short list for such an appointment by
a committee of the Council. That committee must include at least one
member of the executive but must not comprise a majority of members
of the executive.

4. Appointment of Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers

The full Council will appoint statutory chief officers. A committee of the
Council will appoint non-statutory chief officers and deputy chief officers.
That committee must include at least one member of the executive but
must not comprise a majority of members of the executive.

[Note: this provision reflects the rules made in Assembly regulations. It
means that elected members will appoint Directors, Heads of Service and
Area Managers only.]

Save for the appointment of the Head of Paid Service, the steps in 2.02
and 2.03 may be undertaken by a committee, sub-committee or chief
officer.

5. Other appointments
(a) Officers other than those in (4) above. Appointment of these
officers (other than assistants to political groups) is the responsibility

of the Head of Paid Service or his/her nominee, and may not be made
by councillors.

Page 365

164 | D



(b) Assistants to political groups. Appointment of an assistant to a
political group shall be made in accordance with the wishes of that
political group.

6. Disciplinary action - Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer,
Monitoring Officer, Head of Democratic Services

(a) No disciplinary action (other than action to which paragraph (b)
applies) in respect of the head of the authority's paid service (unless
the head of the authority's paid service is also a council manager of the
relevant authority), its monitoring officer, its chief finance officer or its
Head of Democratic Services may be taken by the relevant authority,
or by a committee, a sub-committee, a joint committee on which the
relevant authority is represented or any other person acting on behalf
of the relevant authority, other than in accordance with a
recommendation in a report made by a designated independent
person under regulation 9 of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders)
(Wales) Regulations 2006 [as amended] (investigation of alleged
misconduct). The detailed rules appear in paragraph 7 below.

(b) The action to which this paragraph applies is suspension of the
officer for the purpose of investigating the alleged misconduct
occasioning the action; provided such suspension is on full pay and
terminates no later than the expiry of two months beginning on the
day on which the suspension takes effect.

7. Investigation of alleged misconduct - Head of Paid Service, Chief
Finance Officer, Monitoring Officer, Head of Democratic Services

7.01 Subject to paragraph 7.11, where, it appears to the council that an
allegation of misconduct which may lead to disciplinary action has been
made against—

(a) the head of the authority's paid service;

(b) its monitoring officer; or

(c) its chief finance officer; or

(d) its head of democratic services,

("the relevant officer"), as the case may be,

the council must appoint a committee ("an investigation committee")
to consider the alleged misconduct.

165 | D
Page 366



7.02 The investigation committee must:
(a) consist of a minimum of 3 members of the relevant authority;

(b) be politically balanced in accordance with section 15 of the 1989
Act; and must, within 1 month of its appointment, consider the
allegation of misconduct and decide whether it should be further
investigated.

7.03 For the purpose of considering the allegation of misconduct, the
investigation committee:

(a) may make such enquiries of the relevant officer or any other person
it considers appropriate;

(b) may request the relevant officer or any other person it considers
appropriate to provide it with such information, explanation or

documents as it considers necessary within a specified time limit; and

(c) may receive written or oral representations from the relevant
officer or any other person it considers appropriate.

7.04 Where it appears to the investigation committee that an allegation
of misconduct by the relevant officer should be further investigated, it
must appoint a person ("the designated independent person")
7.05 The designated independent person who is appointed—
(a) must be such person as may be agreed between the relevant
authority and the relevant officer within 1 month of the date on which
the requirement to appoint the designated independent person arose;

or

(b) where there is no such agreement, must be such person as is
nominated for the purpose by the Welsh Ministers.

7.06 The designated independent person—
(a) may direct—

(i) that the relevant authority terminates any suspension of the
relevant officer;

(ii) that any such suspension is to continue after the expiry of the
period referred to in paragraph 6 above;

Page 367

166 | D



(iii) that the terms on which any such suspension has taken place
are to be varied in accordance with the direction; or

(iv) that no steps (whether by the relevant authority or any
committee, sub- committee or officer acting on behalf of the
relevant authority) by way of disciplinary action or further
disciplinary action against the relevant officer, other than steps
taken in the presence, or with the agreement, of the designated
independent person, are to be taken before a report is made under
sub-paragraph (d);

(b) may inspect any documents relating to the conduct of the relevant
officer which are in the possession of the relevant authority, or which
the relevant authority has power to authorise the designated
independent person to inspect;

(c) may require any member or member of staff of the relevant
authority to answer questions concerning the conduct of the relevant
officer;

(d) must make a report to the relevant authority—

(i) stating an opinion as to whether (and, if so, the extent to which)
the evidence obtained supports any allegation of misconduct
against the relevant officer; and

(ii) recommending any disciplinary action which appears
appropriate for the relevant authority to take against the relevant
officer, and

(e) must no later than the time at which the report is made under sub-
paragraph (d); send a copy of the report to the relevant officer.

7.07 Subject to paragraph 7.08, the relevant officer and relevant
authority must, after consulting the designated independent person,
attempt to agree a timetable within which the designated independent
person is to undertake the investigation.

7.08 Where there is no agreement under paragraph 7.07, the designated
independent person must set a timetable as that person considers
appropriate within which the investigation is to be undertaken.

7.09 The relevant authority must consider the report prepared by the

independent person under paragraph 7.06 (d) above within 1 month of
receipt of that report.

Page 368

167 | D



7.10 A relevant authority must pay reasonable remuneration to a
designated independent person appointed by the investigation
committee and any costs incurred by, or in connection with, the
discharge of functions under this regulation.

7.11 These rules do not apply in the case of a Head of Paid Service who is
also the Council Manager. For the purposes of these rules, any officer
who was a relevant officer at the time of the alleged misconduct or
when the reason for the proposed dismissal occurred (but is no longer
so), shall be regarded as a relevant officer.

7.12 A disciplinary committee of the Council (excluding those persons
who served on the investigation committee) will consider the report
under para. 7.09 above along with representations from the officer
against whom allegations are made, in accordance with the Council’s
detailed disciplinary procedures. An appeal will lie to the full Council from
the decision of this committee, except in the case of the Head of Paid
Service (in which case the Council will consider an appeal, or approve the
recommendation of the committee if no appeal is made).

8. Other Officers

8.01 Appointment and dismissal of Officers below Chief Officer is the
responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or his nominee, and may not be
undertaken by councillors.

8.02 Councillors will not be involved in disciplinary action against any
Officer below Chief Officer except where such involvement is necessary
for any investigation or inquiry into alleged misconduct or where the
Council’s disciplinary, capability and related procedures, as adopted from
time to time, allow a right of appeal to Members.

9. Definitions

(References to “the 1989 Act” are to the Local Government and Housing
Act 1989)

“Head of Paid Service” means the officer designated as the authority’s
Head of Paid Service under s.4 of the 1989 Act.

“Statutory Chief Officer” means:-

(a) the Chief Education Officer or Director of Education appointed
under s.532 of the Education Act 1996;

(b) the Director of Social Services appointed under s.6 of the Local
Authority Social Services Act 1970;

Page 369

168 | D



(c) the officer having responsibility for the purposes of s.151 of the
Local Government Act 1972, s.73 of the Local Government Act 1985
and s.112 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.

“Non-Statutory Chief Officer” means:-
(a) a person for whom the Head of Paid Service is directly responsible;
(b) a person who as respects all or most of the duties of the post is
required to report directly or is directly accountable to the Head of the
authority’s Paid Service (except for secretarial, clerical and support
staff);
(c) any person who as respects all or most of the duties of the post is
required to report directly or is directly accountable to the local
authority themselves or any committee or sub-committee of the
authority.
“Deputy Chief Officer” means a person who as respects all or most of the
duties of the post is required to report directly or is directly accountable
to one or more of the statutory or non-statutory chief officers (except for
secretarial, clerical and support staff).
“Chief Finance Officer” or “s.151 Officer” means the officer appointed
for the purposes of s.151 of the Local Government Act 1972, s.73 of the
Local Government Act 1985 or s.112 of the Local Government Finance Act

1988.

“Monitoring Officer” means the officer designated under s.5 (1) of the
1989 Act.

“Head of Democratic Services” means the officer appointed under s.8 of
the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011

“Chief Officer” means:-
(a) the Head of Paid Service;
(b) the Monitoring Officer;
(c) the Head of Democracy
(c) a statutory Chief Officer;

(d) a non-statutory Chief Officer.

Page 370

169 | D



“Disciplinary action” means:-

In relation to a member of staff of a relevant authority any action
occasioned by alleged misconduct which, if proved, would, according to
the usual practice of the authority, be recorded on the member of staff's
personal file, and includes any proposal for dismissal of a member of staff
for any reason other than redundancy, permanent ill-health or infirmity
of mind or body, but does not include failure to renew a contract of
employment for a fixed term unless the relevant authority has
undertaken to renew such a contract;

Page 371

170 | D



PART 5 — CODES AND PROTOCOLS (E)

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CODE OF CONDUCT FOR
MEMBERS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS

PART 1
INTERPRETATION

1.—(1) In this code —

"Co-opted member", in relation to a relevant authority, means a person who is not a
member of the authority but who —

(a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or
(b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint
sub-committee of the authority, and who is entitled to vote on any question which
falls to be decided at any meeting of that committee or subcommittee;

"Meeting" means any meeting —
(a) of the relevant authority,
(b) of any executive or board of the relevant authority,
(c) of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the
relevant authority or of any such committee, sub-committee, joint committee or
joint sub-committee of any executive or board of the authority, or
(d) where members or officers of the relevant authority are present other than a
meeting of a political group constituted in accordance with regulation 8 of the Local

Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990,

and includes circumstances in which a member of an executive or board or an officer
acting alone exercises a function of an authority;

"Member" includes, unless the context requires otherwise, a co-opted member;

“Registered society” means a society, other than a society registered as a credit union,
which is —

(a) a registered society within the meaning given by section 1(1) of the Co-operative
and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014; or

Page 372



(b) a society registered or deemed to be registered under the Industrial and
Provident Societies Act (Northern Ireland) 1969;

“Register of members’ interests” means the register established and maintained under
section 81 of the Local Government Act 2000;

"Relevant authority" means—
(a) a county council,
(b) a county borough council,
(c) a community council,

(d) a fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme under section 2 of the Fire
and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of that Act applies,

(e) a National Park authority established under section 63 of the Environment Act
1995;

"You" means you as a member or co-opted member of a relevant authority; and

"Your authority" means the relevant authority of which you are a member or co-opted
member.

(2) In relation to a community council—

(a) “Proper officer” means an officer of that council within the meaning of section
270(3) of the Local Government Act 1972; and

(b) “standards committee” means the standards committee of the county or county

borough council which has functions in relation to the community council for which
it is responsible under section 56(1) and (2) of the Local Government Act 2000.

PART 2
GENERAL PROVISIONS
2.—(1) Save where paragraph 3(a) applies, you must observe this code of conduct —
(a) whenever you conduct the business, or are present at a meeting, of your authority;

(b) whenever you act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting in the role of
member to which you were elected or appointed;

(c) whenever you act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting as a
representative of your authority; or

Page 373



(d) at all times and in any capacity, in respect of conduct identified in paragraphs 6(1) (a)
and 7.

(2) You should read this code together with the general principles prescribed under section
49(2) of the Local Government Act 2000 in relation to Wales.

3. Where you are elected, appointed or nominated by your authority to serve —

(a) on another relevant authority, or any other body, which includes a Local Health Board
you must, when acting for that other authority or body, comply with the code of conduct
of that other authority or body; or

(b) on any other body which does not have a code relating to the conduct of its members,
you must, when acting for that other body, comply with this code of conduct, except and
insofar as it conflicts with any other lawful obligations to which that other body may be
subject.

4. You must —
(a) carry out your duties and responsibilities with due regard to the principle that there
should be equality of opportunity for all people, regardless of their gender, race,
disability, sexual orientation, age or religion;
(b) show respect and consideration for others;

(c) not use bullying behaviour or harass any person; and

(d) not do anything which compromises, or which is likely to compromise, the impartiality
of those who work for, or on behalf of, your authority.

5. You must not —

(a) disclose confidential information or information which should reasonably be regarded
as being of a confidential nature, without the express consent of a person authorised to
give such consent, or unless required by law to do so;

(b) prevent any person from gaining access to information to which that person is
entitled by law.

6.—(1) You must —

(a) not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing
your office or authority into disrepute;

(b) report, whether through your authority's confidential reporting procedure or direct to
the proper authority, any conduct by another member or anyone who works for, or on
3|E

Page 374



behalf of, your authority which you reasonably believe involves or is likely to involve
criminal behaviour (which for the purposes of this paragraph does not include offences
or behaviour capable of punishment by way of a fixed penalty);

(c) report to your authority's monitoring officer any conduct by another member which
you reasonably believe breaches this code of conduct;

(d) not make vexatious, malicious or frivolous complaints against other members or
anyone who works for, or on behalf of, your authority.

(2) You must comply with any request of your authority's monitoring officer, or the Public
Services Ombudsman for Wales, in connection with an investigation conducted in
accordance with their respective statutory powers.
7. You must not —
(a) in your official capacity or otherwise, use or attempt to use your position improperly
to confer on or secure for yourself, or any other person, an advantage or create or avoid

for yourself, or any other person, a disadvantage;

(b) use, or authorise others to use, the resources of your authority —
(i) imprudently;

(i) in breach of your authority's requirements;
(iii) unlawfully;
(iv) other than in a manner which is calculated to facilitate, or to be conducive to,
the discharge of the functions of the authority or of the office to which you have
been elected or appointed;
(v) improperly for political purposes; or
(vi) improperly for private purposes.
8. You must —
(a) when participating in meetings or reaching decisions regarding the business of your
authority, do so on the basis of the merits of the circumstances involved and in the public
interest having regard to any relevant advice provided by your authority's officers, in
particular by —
(i) the authority's head of paid service;

(ii) the authority's chief finance officer;

(iii) the authority's monitoring officer;

Page 375



(iv) the authority's chief legal officer (who should be consulted when there is any
doubt as to the authority's power to act, as to whether the action proposed lies
within the policy framework agreed by the authority or where the legal
consequences of action or failure to act by the authority might have important
repercussions);

(b) give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory requirements and any
reasonable additional requirements imposed by your authority.

9. You must —

(a) observe the law and your authority's rules governing the claiming of expenses and
allowances in connection with your duties as a member;

(b) avoid accepting from anyone gifts, hospitality (other than official hospitality, such as a
civic reception or a working lunch duly authorised by your authority), material benefits or
services for yourself or any person which might place you, or reasonably appear to place
you, under an improper obligation.

PART 3
INTERESTS

Personal Interests

10.—(1) You must in all matters consider whether you have a personal interest, and
whether this code of conduct requires you to disclose that interest.

(2) You must regard yourself as having a personal interest in any business of your authority
if —
(a) it relates to, or is likely to affect —
(i) any employment or business carried on by you;

(ii) any person who employs or has appointed you, any firm in which you are a
partner or any company for which you are a remunerated director;

(iii) any person, other than your authority, who has made a payment to you in
respect of your election or any expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties
as a member;

(iv) any corporate body which has a place of business or land in your authority's area,
and in which you have a beneficial interest in a class of securities of that body that
exceeds the nominal value of £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body;

(v) any contract for goods, services or works made between your authority and you
or a firm in which you are a partner, a company of which you are a remunerated
director, or a body of the description specified in sub-paragraph (iv) above;

5|E

Page 376



(vi) any land in which you have a beneficial interest and which is in the area of your
authority;

(vii) any land where the landlord is your authority and the tenant is a firm in which
you are a partner, a company of which you are a remunerated director, or a body of

the description specified in subparagraph (iv) above;

(viii) any body to which you have been elected, appointed or nominated by your
authority;

(ix) any —
(aa) public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature;

(bb) company, registered society, charity, or body directed to charitable
purposes;

(cc) body whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or
policy;

(dd) trade union or professional association; or

(ee) private club, society or association operating within your authority's
area,

in which you have membership or hold a position of general control or management;

(x) any land in your authority's area in which you have a licence (alone or jointly with
others) to occupy for 28 days or longer;

[Note: subparagraph (b) is omitted.]
(c) a decision upon it might reasonably be regarded as affecting —

(i) your well-being or financial position, or that of a person with whom you live, or
any person with whom you have a close personal association;

(ii) any employment or business carried on by persons as described in 10(2) (c) (i);

(iii) any person who employs or has appointed such persons described in 10(2) (c)(i),
any firm in which they are a partner, or any company of which they are directors;

(iv) any corporate body in which persons as described in 10(2) (c) (i) have a beneficial
interest in a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £5,000; or

(v) any body listed in paragraphs 10(2)(a)(ix)(aa) to (ee) in which persons described in
10(2)(c)(i) hold a position of general control or management,
6|E

Page 377



to a greater extent than the majority of—

(aa) in the case of an authority with electoral divisions or wards, other council tax
payers, rate payers or inhabitants of the electoral division or ward, as the case may
be, affected by the decision; or

(bb) in all other cases, other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the
authority's area.

Disclosure of Personal Interests

11.—(1) Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you
attend a meeting at which that business is considered, you must disclose orally to that
meeting the existence and nature of that interest before or at the commencement of that
consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent.

(2) Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you make —

(a) written representations (whether by letter, facsimile or some other form of electronic
communication) to a member or officer of your authority regarding that business, you
should include details of that interest in the written communication; or

(b) oral representations (whether in person or some form of electronic communication)
to a member or officer of your authority you should disclose the interest at the
commencement of such representations, or when it becomes apparent to you that you
have such an interest, and confirm the representation and interest in writing within 14
days of the representation.

(3) Subject to paragraph 14(1) (b) below, where you have a personal interest in any business
of your authority and you have made a decision in exercising a function of an executive or
board, you must in relation to that business ensure that any written statement of that
decision records the existence and nature of your interest.

(4) You must, in respect of a personal interest not previously disclosed, before or
immediately after the close of a meeting where the disclosure is made pursuant to sub-
paragraph 11(1), give written notification to your authority in accordance with any
requirements identified by your authority's monitoring officer, or in relation to a community
council, your authority’s proper officer from time to time but, as a minimum containing —

(a) details of the personal interest;
(b) details of the business to which the personal interest relates; and
(c) your signature.
(5) Where you have agreement from your monitoring officer that the information relating to

your personal interest is sensitive information, pursuant to paragraph 16(1), your
7|E

Page 378



obligations under this paragraph 11 to disclose such information, whether orally or in
writing, are to be replaced with an obligation to disclose the existence of a personal interest
and to confirm that your monitoring officer has agreed that the nature of such personal
interest is sensitive information.

(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (4), a personal interest will only be deemed to have
been previously disclosed if written notification has been provided in accordance with this
code since the last date on which you were elected, appointed or nominated as a member
of your authority.

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), where no written notice is provided in
accordance with that paragraph you will be deemed as not to have declared a personal
interest in accordance with this code.

Prejudicial Interests

12.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) below, where you have a personal interest in any
business of your authority you also have a prejudicial interest in that business if the interest
is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest.

(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), you will not be regarded as having a prejudicial interest in
any business where that business—

(a) relates to —
(i) another relevant authority of which you are also a member;

(ii) another public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature in which
you hold a position of general control or management;

(iii) a body to which you have been elected, appointed or nominated by your
authority;

(iv) your role as a school governor (where not appointed or nominated by your
authority) unless it relates particularly to the school of which you are a governor;

(v) your role as a member of a Local Health Board where you have not been
appointed or nominated by your authority;

(b) relates to —

(i) the housing functions of your authority where you hold a tenancy or lease with
your authority, provided that you do not have arrears of rent with your authority of
more than two months, and provided that those functions do not relate particularly
to your tenancy or lease;

8|E

Page 379



(ii) the functions of your authority in respect of school meals, transport and
travelling expenses, where you are a guardian, parent, grandparent or have parental
responsibility (as defined in section 3 of the Children Act 1989) of a child in full time
education, unless it relates particularly to the school which that child attends;

(iii) the functions of your authority in respect of statutory sick pay under Part Xl of
the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992, where you are in receipt of,
or are entitled to the receipt of such pay from your authority;

(iv) the functions of your authority in respect of an allowance or payment made in
accordance with the provisions of Part 8 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure
2011, or an allowance or pension provided under section 18 of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989;

(c) your role as a community councillor in relation to a grant, loan or other form of
financial assistance made by your community council to community or voluntary
organisations up to a maximum of £500.

(3) The exemptions in subparagraph (2) (a) do not apply where the business relates to the
determination of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees

13. You also have a prejudicial interest in any business before an overview and scrutiny
committee of your authority (or of a sub-committee of such a committee) where—

(a) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or action
taken by your authority's executive, board or another of your authority's committees,
sub-committees, joint committees or joint subcommittees; and

(b) at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a member of the
executive, board, committee, sub-committee, joint-committee or joint sub-committee
mentioned in sub-paragraph (a) and you were present when that decision was made or
action was taken.

Participation in Relation to Disclosed Interests
14.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2), (2A), (3) and (4), where you have a prejudicial
interest in any business of your authority you must, unless you have obtained a dispensation

from your authority's standards committee —

(a) withdraw from the room, chamber or place where a meeting considering the business
is being held—

(i) where sub-paragraph (2) applies, immediately after the period for making
representations, answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business has

9|E
Page 380



ended and in any event before further consideration of the business begins, whether
or not the public are allowed to remain in attendance for such consideration; or

(ii) in any other case, whenever it becomes apparent that that business is being
considered at that meeting;

(b) not exercise executive or board functions in relation to that business;
(c) not seek to influence a decision about that business;

(d) not make any written representations (whether by letter, facsimile or some other
form of electronic communication) in relation to that business; and

(e) not make any oral representations (whether in person or some form of electronic
communication) in respect of that business or immediately cease to make such oral
representations when the prejudicial interest becomes apparent.

(2) Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your authority you may attend a
meeting but only for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving
evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are also allowed to attend the
meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise.

(2A) Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your authority you may submit
written representations to a meeting relating to that business, provided that the public are
allowed to attend the meeting for the purpose of making representations, answering
questions or giving evidence relating to the business, whether under statutory right or
otherwise.

(2B) When submitting written representations under sub-paragraph (2A) you must comply
with any procedure that your authority may adopt for the submission of such
representations.

(3) Sub-paragraph (1) does not prevent you attending and participating in a meeting if —

(a) you are required to attend a meeting of an overview or scrutiny committee, by such
committee exercising its statutory powers; or

(b) you have the benefit of a dispensation provided that you —
(i) state at the meeting that you are relying on the dispensation; and

(ii) before or immediately after the close of the meeting give written notification to
your authority containing —

(aa) details of the prejudicial interest;

(bb) details of the business to which the prejudicial interest relates;
10 | E

Page 381



(cc) details of, and the date on which, the dispensation was granted; and
(dd) your signature.

(4) Where you have a prejudicial interest and are making written or oral representations to
your authority in reliance upon a dispensation, you must provide details of the dispensation
within any such written or oral representation and, in the latter case, provide written
notification to your authority within 14 days of making the representation.

PART 4
THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS

Registration of Personal Interests
15.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), you must, within 28 days of—

(a) your authority's code of conduct being adopted or the mandatory provisions of this
model code being applied to your authority; or

(b) your election or appointment to office (if that is later),

register your personal interests, where they fall within a category mentioned in
paragraph 10(2) (a), in your authority's register of members’ interests by providing
written notification to your authority's monitoring officer.

(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), you must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new
personal interest falling within a category mentioned in paragraph 10(2) (a), register that
new personal interest in your authority’s register of members’ interests by providing written
notification to your authority’s monitoring officer.

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), you must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change
to a registered personal interest falling within a category mentioned in paragraph 10(2) (a),
register that change in your authority’s register of members’ interests by providing written
notification to your authority's monitoring officer, or in the case of a community council to
your authority’s proper officer.

(4) Sub-paragraphs (1), (2) and (3) do not apply to sensitive information determined in
accordance with paragraph 16(1).

(5) Sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) do not apply if you are a member of a relevant authority
which is a community council when you act in your capacity as a member of such an
authority.

11 | E
Page 382



(6) You must, when disclosing a personal interest in accordance with paragraph 11 for the
first time, register that personal interest in your authority’s register of members’ interests
by providing written notification to your authority’s monitoring officer, or in the case of a

community council to your authority’s proper officer.

Sensitive information

16.—(1) Where you consider that the information relating to any of your personal interests
is sensitive information, and your authority's monitoring officer agrees, you need not
include that information when registering that interest, or, as the case may be, a change to
the interest under paragraph 15.

(2) You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of circumstances which
means that information excluded under sub-paragraph (1) is no longer sensitive
information, notify your authority's monitoring officer, or in relation to a community
council, your authority’s proper officer asking that the information be included in your
authority's register of members' interests.

(3) In this code, "sensitive information" means (i) information whose availability for
inspection by the public creates, or is likely to create, a serious risk that you or a person who
lives with you may be subjected to violence or intimidation or (ii) information, the disclosure
of which would or could place you in breach of a legally or professionally enforceable duty
of confidence.

Registration of Gifts and Hospitality

17. You must, within 28 days of receiving any gift, hospitality, material benefit or advantage
above a value specified in a resolution of your authority, provide written notification to your
authority's monitoring officer, or in relation to a community council, to your authority’s
proper officer of the existence and nature of that gift, hospitality, material benefit or
advantage.

Monmouthshire County Council adopted this revised version of the Code of Conduct at its
Annual Meeting on 12t May 2016.

12 | E
Page 383



CODE OF CONDUCT FOR EMPLOYEES

The Code of Conduct (Qualifying Local Government Employees) (Wales)
Order 2001 incorporates the following code into every contract of
employment for qualifying employees.

General Principles

1. The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from
all qualifying employees of relevant authorities. The role of such
employees is to serve their employing authority in providing advice,
implementing its policies, and delivering services to the local community.
In performing their duties, they must act with integrity, honesty,
impartiality and objectivity.

Accountability

2. Qualifying employees of relevant authorities work for their employing
authority and serve the whole of that authority. They are accountable to,
and owe a duty to that authority. They must act in accordance with the
principles set out in this Code, recognising the duty of all public sector
employees to discharge public functions reasonably and according to the
law.

Political Neutrality

3. Qualifying employees of relevant authorities, whether or not
politically restricted, must follow every lawfully expressed policy of the
authority and must not allow their own personal or political opinions to
interfere with their work. Where qualifying employees are politically
restricted (by reason of the post they hold, the nature of the work they
do, or the salary they are paid), they must comply with any statutory
restrictions on their political activities.

Relations with members, the public and other employees

4. Mutual respect between qualifying employees and members is
essential to good local government, and working relationships should be
kept on a professional basis.

5. Qualifying employees of relevant authorities should deal with the
public, members and other employees sympathetically, efficiently, and
without bias.

Equality

6. Qualifying employees of relevant authorities must comply with
policies relating to equality issues, as agreed by the authority, in addition
to the requirements of the law.

Page 384

13 | E



Stewardship

7. Qualifying employees of relevant authorities must ensure that they
use public funds entrusted to them in a responsible and lawful manner,
and must not utilise property, vehicles or other facilities of the authority
for personal use unless authorised to do so.

Personal Interests

8. Whilst qualifying employees' private lives are their own concern, they
must not allow their private interests to conflict with their public duty.
They must not misuse their official position or information acquired in the
course of their employment to further their private interests, or the
interests of others. In particular, they must comply with:

(1) any rules of their relevant authority on the registration and
declaration by employees of financial and non - financial interests,

(2) any rules of their relevant authority on the declaration by employees
of hospitality or gifts offered to or received by them, from any person or
organisation doing or seeking to do business, or otherwise benefiting or
seeking to benefit from a relationship with the authority. Qualifying
employees must not accept benefits from a third party unless authorised
to do so by their relevant authority.

Whistleblowing

9. In the event that a qualifying employee becomes aware of activities
which that employee believes to be illegal, improper, unethical or
otherwise inconsistent with this Code, the employee should report the
matter, acting in accordance with the employee’s rights under the Public
Interest Disclosure Act 1998, and with the relevant authority’s
confidential reporting procedure, or any other procedure designed for
this purpose.

Treatment of Information

10. Openness in the dissemination of information and decision making
should be the norm in relevant authorities. However, certain information
may be confidential or sensitive and therefore not appropriate for a wide
audience. Where confidentiality is necessary to protect the privacy or
other rights of individuals or bodies, information should not be released
to anyone other than a member, relevant authority employee or other
person who is entitled to receive it, or needs to have access to it for the
proper discharge of their functions. Nothing in this Code can be taken as
overriding existing statutory or common law obligations to keep certain
information confidential, or to divulge certain information.

Page 385

14 | E



Appointment of Staff

11. Qualifying employees of relevant authorities involved in the
recruitment and appointment of staff must ensure that appointments are
made on the basis of merit. In order to avoid any possible accusation of
bias, such employees must not be involved in any appointment, or any
other decisions relating to discipline, promotion or pay and conditions for
any other employee, or prospective employee, to whom they are related,
or with whom they have a close personal relationship outside work.

Investigations by Monitoring Officers

12. Where a monitoring officer is undertaking an investigation in
accordance with regulations made under section 73(1) of the Local
Government Act 2000 a qualifying employee must comply with any
requirement made by that monitoring officer in connection with such an
investigation.

To the extent that its provisions do not conflict with the foregoing
statutory code, the Council has adopted (after appropriate
consultation) the following Code of Conduct for Employees.

Introduction

The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all
employees who work for local government. This Code of Conduct is based
on the recommendations of the Committee on the Standards of Conduct
in Public Life. It applies to employees’ conduct both within the council and
when dealing with other organisations as a representative of the council.
The principles detailed below are the basic ones governing all council
employees.

The Code does not affect an employee’s rights and responsibilities under
the law; its purpose is to provide clear and helpful advice but all
employees must comply with the Code.

This Policy should be read in conjunction with the council’s Whistle
Blowing procedure, the Dignity at Work policy and the Social Media
Policy. This allows employees to disclose any wrong doing on the part of
any employee or Councillor under The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998.
A breach of this Code may give rise to disciplinary action, which will be
taken in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Procedure.

Page 386

15 | E



The Code incorporates “The Seven Principles of Public Life”
Selflessness

Employees shouldn’t take decisions which will result in any financial or
other benefit to themselves, their family, or their friends. Decisions
should be based solely on the Council’s best interests.

Integrity

Employees shouldn’t place themselves under any financial or other
obligation to an individual or an organisation which might influence them
in their work with the Council.

Objectivity

Any decisions that employees take in the course of their work, including
making appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals
for rewards or benefits must be based solely on merit.

Accountability

Employees are accountable to the council as their employer. The council,
in turn, is accountable to the public.

Openness

Employees should be as open as possible in all the decisions and actions
that they take. They should give reasons for their decisions and shouldn’t
restrict information unless this is clearly required by council policy or by
the law.

Honesty

Employees have a duty to declare any private interests, which might
affect their work with the council.

Leadership

Employees in a leadership or managerial position should promote and
support these principles by their leadership and example.

Standards

The aim of this code is to apply standards for all Monmouthshire County
Council employees on the understanding that the citizens of
Monmouthshire are entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct
and where it is part of their duties, to provide appropriate advice to
Councillors and fellow employees with impartiality.

Employees will be expected to bring any deficiency in the provision of
service or any impropriety or breach of procedure which would have a

Page 387

16 | E



detrimental impact on the Council to the attention of the appropriate
level of management.

The standards laid down in this Code are considered to be fundamental
to the reputation of the Council. Any uncertainty about the meaning of
this code is not accepted as a reason for failing to comply with it. If
employees are in doubt they should seek advice from a Chief Officer.

Social Media

It's your own personal choice whether or not you participate in any kind
of social media activity in your own time — the views and opinions that
you express are your own. However, as a council employee you should be
aware that any information which you post about Monmouthshire
County Council cannot be kept entirely separate from your working life.

What you say openly online can be accessed around the world within
seconds, it might be shared or re-published elsewhere (online or in print)
and it will continue to be available for all to see in the future. You must
be willing to take personal responsibility for anything that you say online.

The council would expect staff to make a distinction between their own
views and those where they represent their employer. It may be
appropriate to add a disclaimer to your personal blog or social media
profile to make it clear that your personal accounts are your own — for
example: “These views are my own not my employers”.

Think about what capacity you're speaking in, particularly if you are
commenting about Monmouthshire County Council. Make sure you avoid
misunderstandings about whether you’re speaking as part of your work
or not. Seek further advice if you’re unsure.

Check your online privacy settings so that you understand who can see
the information you publish and who can view your personal information.

Respect privacy and confidentiality — make sure you don’t publish any
information that should be kept private.

Stay safe — don’t give out personal details such as your address or phone
number.

Make sure that you’re familiar with the council’s policy about personal
use of electronic communications in the workplace.

Page 388

17 | E



Relationships
The Local Community and Service Users

Employees should always remember the responsibilities to the citizens
they serve and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial service delivery
to all groups and individuals within that community.

Councillors

Employees are responsible to the Council through its senior managers
and leaders. For some, their role is to give advice to councillors and senior
managers and all are there to carry out the Council’s work. Mutual
respect between employees and councillors is essential to good local
government. Close personal familiarity between employees and
individual councillors can damage the relationship and prove
embarrassing to other employees and councillors and should therefore
be treated with caution.

Contractors

All relationships of a business or private nature with external contractors,
or potential contractors, should be made known to the appropriate
manager. Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit, by
competition against other tenders, and no favour should be shown to
businesses run by, for example, friends, partners or relatives in the
tendering process. No part of the local community should be
discriminated against. At all times the requirements of the Councils
Contract Standing Orders must be applied.

Employees should let their Chief Officer know if they appoint or supervise
contractors with whom they have a current or previous relationship in a
private or domestic capacity.

All members of the public, citizens, customers, colleagues and Elected
Members should be dealt with fairly, equitably, with dignity and respect
in line with the principles of the Equality Act 2010 and the policies of the
Council.

Appointment and Employment

All appointments will be made on merit. It is unlawful for an employee
to make an appointment which was based on anything other than the
ability of the candidate to undertake the duties of the post.

In order to avoid any possible accusation of bias, employees should not
be involved in an appointment where they are related to an applicant, or
have a close personal relationship outside work with him or her.

Page 389

18 | E



Similarly, employees should not be involved in decisions relating to
discipline promotion or pay for any employee who is a relative, partner,
etc.

Canvassing of members or Employees of the Council

Candidates will be disqualified if they canvass members or employees of
the council directly or indirectly in connection with any appointment
within the Council. Employees can give a written reference of a
candidate’s suitability for appointment, but they can’t solicit for them or
recommend them for appointment or promotion.

Politically Restricted Posts (PoRPs)

The effect of including a local authority employee on the list of 'politically
restricted posts' is to prevent that individual from having any active
political role either in or outside the workplace. Politically restricted post
holders will automatically be disqualified from

e Standing for or holding elected office
e Acting as an election agent or sub agent

e Being an officer of a political party or of any branch of such a party
or a member of any committee or sub-committee of such a party

e (Canvassing on behalf of a political party or on behalf of a person
who is, or proposes to be, a candidate for election

e Speaking to the public at large or to a section of the public with the
apparent intention of affecting public support for a political party.

These restrictions are incorporated as terms in the employee's contract
of employment.

Politically restricted posts fall into two broad categories: specified posts
and sensitive posts.

Specified posts:
e Head of the Paid Service (Chief Executive)
e Statutory Chief Officers, Chief Finance officer (section 151 officer)

e Non-statutory Chief Officers (officers reporting to the Chief
Executive)

e  Deputy Chief Officers (officers reporting to a Chief Officer)

e The Monitoring Officer

19 | E
Page 390



e  Officers exercising delegated powers, i.e. persons whose posts are
for the time being specified by the authority.

Sensitive posts:

A sensitive post is one which meets one or both of the following duties-
related criteria:

e Giving advice on a regular basis to the Council, to any committee or
sub-committee of the Council or to any joint committee on which
the Council is represented; or where the Council operates executive
arrangements, to the executive of the authority; to any committee
of that executive; or to any member of that executive who is also a
member of the authority

e Speaking on behalf of the authority on a regular basis to journalists
or broadcasters.

Teachers and Head Teachers are exempt from political restrictions and
are not regarded as holding 'PoRPs' whatever their role.

Political Neutrality

Employees work for the Council as a whole, including Elected Members
and must ensure that the individual rights of all members are respected.

If employees are required to advise political groups, they must do so in a
way which does not compromise their political neutrality.

Employees, whether or not politically restricted, must follow every lawful
expressed policy of the authority and must not allow their own personal
or political opinions to interfere with their work.

Outside Commitments

Employees on Band G and above will need to obtain written consent from
their Chief Officer prior to taking on any outside employment. All
employees should be clear about their contractual obligations and should
not take outside employment which could conflict with the authority's
interests or use Council premises or equipment for other than Council
business.

Personal interests

Employees must declare in writing to their Chief Officer any financial or
non-financial interests which could conflict with the Council’s interests. A
copy of this declaration should be sent to the Chief Executive.

Employees should tell their Chief Officer if they are a member of any
organisation that isn’t open to the public without formal membership and

Page 391

20 | E



commitment or allegiance and which has secrecy about rules or
membership or conduct.

Disclosure of Information

The Council’s decision making process must be transparent and open. The
Council must provide the public with clear and accessible information
about how it operates. It must also ensure that there is an effective
complaints procedure in place for the public to use when things go wrong.

The Council is committed to ensuring that all data collected, held or
obtained under its control is dealt with in an ethical and legally
responsible manner. Failure to do so would jeopardise the credibility of
the council and may cause the council to breach disclosure legislation.

The Council’s policy is that information will be made open and available.
There are exceptions to this principle of openness where confidentiality
is involved. Information may be withheld if, for example, it would
compromise a right of personal or commercial confidentiality. This
doesn’t apply where there is a legal duty to provide information.
Employees must not break the law in this area.

In particular, information mustn’t be supplied about employees to any
person outside the Council unless the consent of the employee is
obtained first. This won’t apply where there is a statutory duty to provide
information, e.g. HMRC, DWP etc. or in the process of prevention or
detection of fraud, as detailed below. If there is any doubt employees
should raise the matter with their line manager.

Breaches of confidentiality will constitute a breach of this code which
could result in disciplinary action, including dismissal. Under the Data
Protection Act 1998, breaches of confidentiality can lead in certain
circumstances, to legal proceedings against employees as individuals.

In order to ensure a co-ordinated approach to the Council's external
relations, requests for information from the media should be dealt with
by the Communications Manager or an employee authorised by a Chief
Officer.

If in any doubt as to whether to divulge information to anyone the
relevant line manager should be consulted.

Separation of roles during Tendering

Employeesinvolved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors
should be clear on the separation of client and contractor roles within the
Council. Senior employees who have both a client and contractor
responsibility must be aware of the need for accountability and openness

Page 392

21| E



and must exercise fairness and impartiality when dealing with all
customers, suppliers, other contractors and sub-contractors.

Employees who are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs
for either internal or external contractors should not disclose that
information to any unauthorised party or organisation.

Employees contemplating a management buyout or similar arrangement
should, as soon as they have formed a definite intent, inform their Chief
Officer and withdraw from the contract awarding processes.

Employees should ensure that no favour is shown to current or recent
former employees or their partners, close relatives or associates in
awarding contracts to businesses run by them or employing them in a
senior or relevant managerial capacity.

Bribery and Corruption

Under the Bribery Act 2010 employees must be aware that it is a serious
criminal offence to;

e Bribe a person to induce or reward them to perform a relevant
function improperly

e Request, accept or receive a bribe as a reward for performing a
relevant function improperly

e Use a bribe to influence a foreign official to gain a business
advantage.

Surveillance

There may be circumstances that warrant the authority to carry out
covert surveillance. This will only be in situations where all other
investigative options have been exhausted.

Use of Financial Resources

Employees must ensure that they use public funds entrusted to them in
a responsible and lawful manner. They should strive to ensure value for
money to the local community and to avoid legal challenge to the
authority.

Hospitality

Employees should only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine
need to impart information or represent the local authority in the
community. Offers to attend purely social or sporting functions should
be accepted only when these are part of the life of the community or

Page 393

22 |E



where the authority should be seen to be represented. They should be
properly authorised by Chief Officers and recorded.

People making the offer of hospitality should be courteously but firmly
declined and they should be informed of the procedures and standards
operating within the authority.

Employees should not accept significant personal gifts from contractors
and outside suppliers, although insignificant items of token value such as
pens, diaries, etc. are acceptable.

When receiving authorised hospitality, employees should be particularly
sensitive as to its timing in relation to decisions which the authority may
be taking affecting those providing the hospitality.

Sponsorship - Giving and Receiving

Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is seeking to sponsor
a Council activity, whether by invitation, tender, negotiation or
voluntarily, the basic conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or
hospitality apply. Particular care must be taken when dealing with
contractors or potential contractors.

Where the authority wishes to sponsor an event or service an employee
nor any partner, spouse or relative must benefit from the sponsorship in
a direct way without there being full disclosure to their Chief Officer of
their interest. Similarly, where the authority through sponsorship, grant
aid, financial or other means, gives support in the community, employees
should ensure that impartial advice is given and that there is no conflict
of interest involved.

The Council and the citizens of Monmouthshire expect the highest
standards of conduct from all employees, therefore we encourage
employees and others with serious concerns about any aspect of the
Council’s work to come forward and voice those concerns. You can do this
through the Whistle Blowing policy if you want. Remember that if you fail
to inform us it may result in disciplinary action being taken against you
for failing to tell us.

Page 394

23 | E



WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

INTRODUCTION - What is Whistleblowing?

In this policy ‘Whistleblowing’” means the reporting by employees of suspected misconduct,
illegal acts or failure to act within the Council or School.

Monmouthshire County Council and School Governing Bodies expect the highest standards
of conduct from all employees, and encourage employees and others with serious concerns
about any aspect of the Council / School’s work to come forward and voice those concerns
in a safe environment. This policy enables employees to raise concerns at an early stage and
in the correct way.

If you are considering raising a concern you should read this policy first. It explains:

e The types of issues/disclosures that can be raised

e How the person raising a concern will be protected from victimisation and
harassment

e How to raise a concern

e What the Council/School will do

Whistleblowing is defined as:

‘The disclosure by an employee or professional of confidential information which relates
to some danger, fraud or other illegal or unethical conduct connected with the work place,
be it of the employer or his/her fellow employees’ (Public Concern at Work Guidelines
1997).

Statutory protection for employees who whistle blow is provided by the Public Interest
Disclosure Act 1998 (“PIDA”). The PIDA protects employees against victimisation if they
make a protected disclosure within the meaning of the PIDA and speak out about concerns
around conduct or practice within the Council/ school which is potentially illegal, corrupt,
improper, unsafe and unethical or which amounts to malpractice.

AIM AND SCOPE OF POLICY

The Council / School Governing Body is committed to achieving the highest possible
standards of service and the highest possible ethical standards in public life and in all of its
practices and will treat whistleblowing as a serious matter. In line with the Councils/
Governing Body’s commitment to openness, probity and accountability, employees are
encouraged to raise concerns which will be taken seriously, investigated and appropriate
action taken in response.

In its application, this policy seeks to ensure that there is no discrimination against
employees either directly or indirectly on grounds prohibited by the Equality Act 2010 which
covers age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and

24 | E
Page 395



maternity, race, religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation This policy is inclusive of
partners of the opposite or same sex.

The policy is designed to ensure that you raise your concerns about wrongdoing or
malpractice within the Council/ School without fear of victimisation, subsequent
discrimination, disadvantage or dismissal.

The policy aims to:

Encourage you to feel confident in raising serious concerns at the earliest
opportunity and to question and act upon concerns about practice

Provide avenues for you to raise those concerns and receive feedback on any action
taken

Ensure that you receive a response to your concerns and that you are aware of how
to pursue them if you are not satisfied

Provide reassurance that you will be protected from possible reprisals or
victimisation if you have made disclosure in good faith and within the meaning of the
PIDA.

TYPES OF ISSUES/DISCLOSURES THAT CAN BE RAISED

In legislation, the types of disclosure include the following:

a) That a crime has been committed, is being committed, or is likely to be committed

b) That a person has failed, is failing, or is likely to fail to comply with any legal obligation
to which they are subject,

c) That a miscarriage of justice has occurred, is occurring, or is likely to occur

d) That the health & safety of an individual has been, is being, or is likely to be endangered

e) That the environment has been, is being, or is likely to be damaged

f) That information tending to show any of (a) to (e) above has been concealed or is likely
to be deliberately concealed

In addition to the above, and as further examples, this policy also covers whistleblowing
relating to alleged:

unlawful conduct

miscarriages of justice in the conduct of statutory or other processes

failure to comply with a statutory or legal obligation

potential maladministration, misconduct or malpractice

health and safety issues including risks to the public as well as risks to pupils and
members of staff

action that has caused or is likely to cause danger to the environment

abuse of authority

25| E
Page 396



e unauthorised use of public or other funds, fraud, bribery or corruption

e breaches of financial regulations or policies

e mistreatment of any person

e action that has caused or is likely to cause physical danger to any person or risk
serious damage to Council or School property

e sexual, physical or emotional abuse of members of staff, service users, or pupils

e unfair discrimination or favouritism

e behaviour which is discriminatory towards someone with a protected characteristic
under the Equality Act 2010.

e racist incidents or acts, or racial harassment or intimidation

e attempt to prevent disclosure of any of the issues listed

RELEVANT LEGISLATION
The Council recognises its responsibilities under the following legislation:

e The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998

e The Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013

e Employment Rights Act 1999

e The Equality Act 2010

e The Bribery Act 2010

e The Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992

The policy should be read in conjunction with the Councils:

e Codes of Conduct for both employees and County Councillors
e Disciplinary Policy

e Equality Policy

e Grievance Policy

e Guide to Volunteering

If an employee is the subject of disciplinary or redundancy procedures they will not be
halted as result of whistleblowing.

POLICY SCOPE

This policy is intended to enable those who become aware of wrongdoing in the
Council/School affecting some other person or service, to report their concerns at the
earliest opportunity so that they can be properly investigated. The Whistleblowing Policy is
not intended to replace existing procedures:

e If your concern relates to your own treatment as an employee, you should raise it
under the existing grievance or harassment procedures.

26 | E
Page 397



e If aclient has a concern about services provided to him/her, it should be raised as a
complaint to the Council (Tel: 01633 644 644).

e Complaints of misconduct by County Councillors are dealt with under a separate
procedure. For further information please contact the Council’s Monitoring Officer.
Tel: 01633 644 644.

e Complaints about school matters are dealt with under a separate procedure called
the School’s Complaints Policy and should be addressed to the Chair of Governors.

WHO CAN RAISE A CONCERN UNDER THIS POLICY?
The policy applies to all:

e Employees of Monmouthshire County Council

e Employees of contractors working for the Council/School.

e Those providing services under a contract or other agreement with the
Council/School

e Voluntary workers working with the Council/School

SAFEGUARDING WHISTLEBLOWERS — OUR ASSURANCES TO YOU

The Chief Executive is committed to this policy. If you raise a genuine concern under this
policy you will not be at risk of losing your job, or suffer any form of retribution,
victimisation or detriment as a result. It won’t matter if you are mistaken provided you
genuinely believe that you are acting in the public interest. Of course we cannot extend this
assurance to an individual who maliciously raises a matter they know to be untrue.

YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS

This policy has been written to take account of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998
(PIDA) which protects workers making disclosures about certain matters of concern, when
those disclosures are made in accordance with the Act’s provisions and in the public
interest. The Act makes it unlawful for the Council/School Governing Body to dismiss
anyone or allow them to be victimised on the basis that they have made an appropriate
lawful disclosure in accordance with the Act.

HARASSMENT AND VICTIMISATION

The Council / School Governing Body is committed to good practice and high standards and
to being supportive of you as an employee/worker.

The Council/School Governing Body recognises that the decision to report a concern can be
a difficult one to make. If you honestly and reasonably believe what you are saying is true,
you should have nothing to fear because you will be doing your duty to your employer, your
colleagues and those for whom you are providing a service.

The Council/School Governing Body will not tolerate any harassment or victimisation of a
whistle-blower (including informal pressures) and will take appropriate action to protect you

27 | E
Page 398



when you raise a concern in accordance with the PIDA provisions, and will treat such
harassment and victimisation as a serious disciplinary offence or in the case of contractors, a
breach of contract.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Whilst a qualifying disclosure is expected to have substance, it is not expected that the
employee raising the disclosure will need to prove it is true. It is the responsibility of the
Designated Officer.

All disclosures will be treated in confidence and every effort will be made not to reveal your
identity if that is your wish, unless disclosure is required by law.

In some circumstances, for example in disciplinary processes, it may not be possible to take
action as a result of your disclosure without your help, so you may be asked to come
forward as a witness. If you agree to this, you will be offered advice and support.

The Council / School Governing Body will not place employees under pressure to give their
name and will give due consideration to proceeding with investigating the concern on the
basis of an anonymous allegation.

ANONYMOUS ALLEGATIONS

This policy encourages you to put your name to your allegation whenever possible -
anonymous concerns are much less powerful and it will be much more difficult to provide
feedback to you. Nonetheless anonymous concerns will be considered under this
whistleblowing policy especially concerns raised relating to the welfare of children or
vulnerable adults. In relation to determining whether an anonymous allegation will be taken
forward the Council / School Governing Body will take the following factors into account:

e the seriousness of the issue raised

e the credibility of the concern

e the likelihood of confirming the allegation from attributable sources, and obtaining
information provided.

The provisions of the Data Protection Act 1998 must be observed during the process,
particularly in disclosure, use and processing of personal information.

UNTRUE ALLEGATIONS

If an allegation is made which it is believed to be in the public interest but it is not confirmed
by further enquiry or by an investigation, no action will be taken against the person who
raised the initial concern. If, however, the enquiry/investigation shows that untrue concerns
were malicious and/or vexatious or made frivolously or made for personal gain, then the
Council / School Governing Body will consider taking appropriate action which could include
disciplinary action.

28 | E
Page 399



SUPPORT FOR YOU

The Council/School Governing Body have a duty of care to their employees. Support for the
individuals involved in this process is key to fulfilling this duty. Any concern that is raised will
be taken seriously.

For those individuals who raise concerns and for those individuals who may have concerns
raised about them, the Council/ School Governing Body will do all it can to help you
throughout the process. Support for employees will include the offer of access to welfare
counselling and medical advice and support. Individuals will be advised to contact their
Trade Union representative, or a work place colleague (not involved in the area of work to
which the concern relates) for additional support. Individuals will also be offered an
additional point of contact for support during the process.

Any meetings that may be required as part of the process can be arranged away from the
workplace if necessary and individuals have the right to be accompanied by their trade
union representative or work based colleague.

Unless there are legal reasons why this cannot be done, you and the person against whom
allegations are made will be kept informed of the progress and outcome of any investigation
by the Designated Officer.

HOW TO RAISE A CONCERN

Who to raise the concern with:

CONCERN RELATES TO: REPORT TO (who becomes the Designated
Officer)

General concern / Member of staff/ Line Manager/Head-teacher

colleague/Volunteer

Line Manager Head of Service / Head teacher

Head of Service / Head teacher Chief Officer / Chair of Governors

Chief Officer Chief Executive (Tel: 01633 644 644)

Chair of Governors Vice Chair of Governors

Chief Executive Leader of the Council (Tel: 01633 644 644)

29 | E
Page 400



Whole Governing Body Chief Officer, Children & Young People (Tel:
01633 644 644)

County Councillor Monitoring Officer (Tel: 01633 644 644)
Malpractice about child/children in a Chief Officer, Social Care & Health (Tel:
school* 01633 644 644)

Malpractice about an adult(s) at risk* Chief Officer, Social Care & Health (Tel:

01633 644 644)

*If you feel that your concern has not been adequately addressed or if you think it will not
be adequately addressed you should raise your concern with the Chief Officer, Social Care &
Health as a whistleblowing concern.

If your concern is a safeguarding concern about a child or adult at risk (rather than about
potential malpractice), this should be reported to Monmouthshire Children’s Services or
Adult Services respectively via normal Child Protection /Protection of Vulnerable Adults
(POVA) processes. Tel: 01633 644 644.

PROCEDURE FOR MAKING A WHISTLEBLOWING ALLEGATION
If possible the concern should be put in writing for the avoidance of doubt. It should set out:

e the background and history of the concern;
e give names, dates and places where possible,
e an explanation of the reason for the concerns.

If you feel unable to put the matter in writing you can still raise your concern verbally. Also if
you feel that you cannot express your concerns with the Council / School Governing Body,
you can also ask your Trade Union representative or work based colleague to raise the
matter on your behalf and/or to support you in raising the concern. The above table
provides a guide to whom a concern can be raised with - advice and support on this can be
sought from People Services HR (01633 644644), the Monmouthshire Legal department
(01633 644 064) or your Trade Union representative.

If the concern needs to have Police or other statutory authority involvement, the
whistleblowing process will be halted until the statutory authorities have completed their
investigations and confirmed that it is appropriate to continue with the whistleblowing
process. This must take place even if the statutory authorities take the decision not to
pursue a criminal investigation.

30 | E
Page 401



Normally, the person who the concern is raised with, or reported to, becomes the
Designated Officer. The Designated Officer is responsible for making initial enquiries about
the matter and for keeping all parties informed of progress and advising of the outcome. It
may be necessary for the Council/ School Governing Body to appoint a person other than
the person to whom the allegation or concern was raised with/reported to.

WHAT THE COUNCIL/SCHOOL GOVERNING BODY WILL DO

A key principle for the Council/School Governing Body will be the public interest. In order to
be fair to all employees, initial enquiries will be made by the Designated Officer / person
appointed to decide whether an investigation is appropriate and if so what form it should
take.

The concern raised may require the following:

e enquiry internally in the Council / School

e need to be passed to the Police if it relates to alleged criminal activity

e need to be passed to Internal Audit, if the complaint is about financial management
or financial propriety

e need to be referred through established child protection/POVA procedures

At this stage concerns / allegations are neither considered founded or unfounded
pending the investigation if deemed necessary.

TIMESCALES

The Designated Officer or person appointed by the Council / School Governing Body to look
into whistleblowing allegation will normally provide a written acknowledgement to you
within 5 working days (except in the case of anonymous allegations):

e acknowledging the concern has been received

e indicating how it is proposed to deal with the matter

e giving an estimate of how long it will take to provide a final response

e advising of the support available whilst matters are looked into

e telling you whether further investigations will take place and if not, why not

The Designated Officer or person appointed will write to you and the individual against
whom the concern has been raised to acknowledge receipt and to indicate that the
procedures have been commenced.

Depending on the nature of the allegation / concern, provision of a final response may take
longer than 5 working days. If this is the case, the Designated Officer or person appointed
will notify all individuals in writing providing an indication when the enquiry will be
completed.

Where possible, enquiries will be completed within 10-15 working days from the date of
receipt of the initial written response from the Designated Officer/person appointed

31| E
Page 402



If the enquiry extends beyond the timescales above all individuals concerned will be notified
in writing by the Designated Officer or person appointed, providing an indication when the
enquiry will be completed.

The Designated Officer /person appointed might investigate the concerns raised themselves
or the Designated Officer might appoint an independent investigator to do so. As part of this
process, the person who investigates the concerns raised will:

e Look into the concern - seeking evidence and interviewing witnesses as necessary.

e Maintain confidentiality wherever possible (but there is not a 100% guarantee that
the whistle-blower can remain anonymous).

e If appropriate, refer the matter to Audit, if the complaint is about financial
management or financial propriety in schools

e If appropriate, for concerns of criminal behaviour refer the matter to the Police.

e If appropriate, for concerns of child protection or vulnerable adults, refer the matter
through the established child protection/POVA procedures.

The amount of contact time between you and the Designated Officer or person appointed
to consider and/or investigate the issues will depend on the nature of the matters raised,
the potential difficulties involved and the clarity of your information. It is likely that you will
be interviewed to ensure that your disclosure is fully understood.

Any meeting with you can be arranged away from the workplace, if needs be, and a trade
union representative or work based colleague may accompany you for support. You need to
be assured that your disclosure has been properly addressed. Unless there are legal reasons
why this cannot be done, you will be kept informed of the progress and outcome of any
investigation.

Following completion of the enquiry/investigation process, the Designated Officer or
independent investigator will make a written report normally within 5 working days. This
report will contain findings and make recommendations for the Designated Officer (if an
independent investigator has been appointed) or the appropriate committee of the School
Governing Body to consider

The report will not contain your name as the whistle-blower, unless you have expressly
stated that you wish to be named.

On conclusion of any investigation, you and the person against whom the allegation is
made, will be told the outcome of the investigation and what action has been
done/proposed. If no action is to be taken, the reason for this will be explained. In addition,
matters raised as part of the investigation may:

1. Be referred to the Police
2. Be referred to the External Auditor
3. Form the subject of an independent inquiry

32| E
Page 403



4.

5.

Be referred to an alternative policy (e.g., Disciplinary Policy or Grievance Policy)

Some concerns may be resolved as an agreed action without the need for
investigation

HOW THE MATTER CAN BE TAKEN FURTHER

This policy is intended to provide you with a route within the Council/School to raise
concerns. However, if you do not wish to raise concerns internally or if the concern has not
been dealt with satisfactorily, the following are possible contact points. If you take the
matter outside the Council/ School, you should ensure that you do not disclose confidential
information unless that disclosure is privileged and relevant to the concern raised. Anyone
proposing external disclosure should seek independent legal advice or contact the Public
Concern at Work organisation.

External Contacts regarding whistleblowing:

GOV.UK website: www.gov.uk/whistleblowing

ACAS: Call 0300 123 1100

Citizen’s Advice. Website: www.citizensadvice.org.uk

Public Concern at Work, www.pcaw.org.uk. https://twitter.com/WhistleUK.
https://www.facebook.com/publicconcernatwork, Tel: 020 7404 6609

Education Workforce Council www.ewc.wales. Tel: 02920 460099

Care and Social Services Inspector for Wales www.cssiw.org.uk. Tel: 0300 7900 126
The Auditor for Wales: https://www.wao.gov.uk/whistleblowing Tel: 02920 320500
Children's Commissioner for www.childcomwales.org.uk. Tel: 0808 801 1000

The Office of the Information Commissioner: https://www.ico.gov.uk. Tel: 02920
678400

The Police

Your local councillor or AMs or MPs

Health & Safety Executive

REVIEW OF THE POLICY

The effectiveness of the policy will be monitored in the following ways:

The policy will be the responsibility of the Head of People, in conjunction with the
Monitoring Officer and Internal Audit, to review ensuring legal compliance and best
practice
The Monitoring Officer will be responsible for reporting on whistleblowing incidents
and number of cases will be reported annually by the Monitoring Officer. The report
will include a summary of the concerns raised, to which directorate /school they
related. The report will not include any employee names.
Periodic internal audits of the effectiveness of the whistleblowing arrangements will
be undertaken, including
0 Record of the number and types of concerns and the outcome of
investigations
33| E

Page 404



0 Feedback from individuals who have used the arrangements including staff
awareness, trust and confidence in the arrangements

0 Any complaints of victimisation

0 Any complaints of failures to maintain confidentiality

0 Any relevant litigation
The outcomes from the monitoring of the policy will be reported to Senior Leadership Team

(SLT) and People Board.

34 | E
Page 405



SCRUTINY AND EXECUTIVE PROTOCOL

The Scrutiny and Executive protocol is a guide for elected Members and
other parties outlining the interface between Scrutiny and the Executive
and the procedural elements that underpin the relationship. Further
information on Scrutiny will be provided in the Scrutiny handbook (under
development). The protocol draws on the relevant sections of the
Constitution of Monmouthshire County Council, which can be found on
the Council’s website at www.monmouthshire.gov.uk

Monmouthshire’s Scrutiny Arrangements

Scrutiny will act as a ‘critical friend’ to the Cabinet and other decision
makers in order to promote better services, policies and decisions.
Through their work, Scrutiny and Cabinet will agree to operate within the
values of the Council: Openness, Teamwork, Flexibility and Fairness. In
compliance with S21 Local Government Act 2000 and Paragraphs 8 and 9
of Schedule 1 to the Act, Select Committees will;

e Consider reports and make recommendations to inform and advise
the Cabinet or Council or other decision-making bodies on
improvements to policies and service delivery.

e Hold the Cabinet to account for decisions, performance, risk
management and budget management.

e Enable the public to engage in the work of the Council by holding
public meetings to inquire into matters of local concern.

Monmouthshire has four Select Committees, each with distinct terms of
reference, which are detailed in Article 6 of the Constitution:

= Children and Young People’s Select Committee
= Adults Select Committee

= Economy and Development Select Committee
= Strong Communities Select Committee

General Roles
Within their terms of reference Select Committees will:
1. Review and/ or scrutinise

(a) decisions or actions taken,

(b) policies or processes in connection with the discharge of any of
the Council’s functions;

Page 406

35| E



Make reports and / or recommendations to the Council meeting and
/or the Cabinet on the discharge of any of the Council’s functions;
Consider any matter affecting the area or its inhabitants and make
recommendations to any decision making body as appropriate.

Specific Functions

Select Committees may:

10.

11.

Assist the Council in reviewing service delivery and performance
through in-depth analysis;

Review and scrutinise the decisions made by and the performance of
the Cabinet and / or Committees and / or other Constitutional Bodies
and the Council and / or any Chief Officers both in relation to
individual decisions and over time;

Review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to
its policy objectives, performance targets and / or particular service
areas

Conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis
of service or policy issues and possible options;

Consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance
community participation in the development of policy or the
improvement of services;

Question Members of the Cabinet and / or Committees and / or other
Constitutional bodies and appropriate Officers about their proposed
policies, decisions and performance

Make recommendations to the Cabinet and / or appropriate
Committee and / or other constitutional bodies and / or Council
arising from the outcome of the Scrutiny process;

Review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the
area and invite reports from them by requesting them to address the
Scrutiny Board and local people about their activities and
performance;

Question and gather evidence from any person outside of the
Authority (with their consent).

Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the review of its budget and
policies by in-depth analysis of policy issues;

Liaise with other external organisations operating in the area,
whether national, regional or local, to ensure that collaborative
working enhances the interests of local people;

Setting the Work Programme

At the beginning of the Scrutiny year (September), each Select Committee
will agree an outline work programme for the year in consultation with
the relevant senior Officers and take into account the views of the public
and of partner agencies. Topics suggested for Scrutiny should be

Page 407

36| E



considered in line with the Scrutiny work programme topic selection
criteria, the aim being to identify significant topics that will address a
significant concern, will deliver a specific outcome and will add value to
the work of the Council.

The most recent version of the Select Committee work programme will
be reported to each Select Committee meeting to enable the Committee
to review its content and include new items and to define the
arrangements required for the next meeting. The updated Scrutiny
Forward Work Programme will be presented by the Select Committee
Chairs to meetings of the Council’s Co-ordinating Board for the purpose
of ensuring the clarity of topics being scrutinised and to avoid potential
duplication in efforts. All Scrutiny work programmes will be made
publicly available.

Setting the Agenda

Individual agenda items, other than standing items, are to be determined
in the first instance by the work programme that is agreed by the relevant
Select Committee. The Select Committees agree their work programmes
and the decisions to consider additional items or defer planned are made
at the discretion of the chair in consultation with the Scrutiny Manager.

The purpose of Scrutiny is to add value to the work of the Council. For
this reason any items ‘to note’ i.e. that do not require a specific response
from the Select Committee will be emailed to the Select Committee
Members ‘For Information’, instead of being included on the agenda.

Evidence Gathering

Select Committees are entitled to gather evidence in connection with any
review or inquiry they undertake as part of their agreed work plan. The
Select Committee shall adopt methods of gathering evidence to inform
their deliberations. These include, but are not limited to, task and finish
groups, holding enquiries, going on site visits, conducting public surveys,
holding public meetings, commissioning research, hearing from witnesses
and appointing advisors and assessors. The knowledge of Councillors is
also a valuable source of evidence and should be considered as part of
each review / inquiry.

Select Committees shall be entitled to pay the reasonable fees and/or
expenses of any individual or organisation assisting it, with the exception
of Officers or Members of the Authority. Evidence gathering activity
should not duplicate any other similar activity being undertaken by the
authority or by other local agencies.

Page 408

37 | E



Attendance at Select Committees

A large part of evidence gathering will be through witnesses invited to
give account directly to the Select Committee. Cabinet Members and
Officers will not be expected to attend all Select Committee meetings,
however, Select Committees are entitled under s21 of the Local
Government Act 2000 to require any Member of the Executive or any
Senior Officer to attend before it to give account for any matter within
their responsibility or remit, particularly relating to:

= any particular decision

= the extent to which the actions have been taken to implement
Council policy

= their performance

and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. Where in
exceptional circumstances, the Member or Officer is unable to attend on
the required date; the Select Committee shall in consultation with the
Member or Officer arrange an alternative date for attendance.

When a Select Committee wishes to invite a Cabinet Member, Officer or
another individual to a meeting, it will:

= Offer a minimum notice of 2 weeks

= (Clearly outline the reason that the individual has been requested to
attend and the likely areas upon which they are be expected to
answer questions

= |dentify whether any papers are required to be produced

Where individuals are required to attend before the Select Committee, as
in the case of Officers or Members, the Chair shall ensure that those
assisting the Select Committee by giving evidence are treated with
courtesy and respect. A witness guide is currently being developed which
will outline what to expect when attending a Select Committee.

Witnesses contributing evidence to Select Committees will be provided
with feedback and whether further information is required as part of the
Scrutiny.

Select Committee Meeting Procedure

Robust Scrutiny depends on effective questioning which relies on

effective preparation. The meetings of Select Committees will operate as
follows:

Page 409

38| E



1. Main agenda items will be identified at the previous meeting in line
with the agreed work programme. At this point potential witnesses
and broad themes should be considered.

2. Prior to the meeting all Select Committee Members should be
engaged in raising and discussing possible questions by email. The
chair and vice chair of the Committee will facilitate this process.

3. A pre-meeting for all Select Committee Members will be held for 15
minutes immediately before the Select Committee meeting. The
purpose is to ensure that Members are fully prepared for the Select
Committee meeting and that the questioning strategy is clear.

4. During the Select Committee meeting, the chair will be responsible
for ensuring that questioning is effective and that the Select
Committee achieves its objective.

5. Officers are invited to attend for their item and shall not be expected
to remain at the meeting unless agreed with the Chair.

6. Atthe close of the meeting, witnesses will be asked to leave to enable
Select Committee Members to discuss their conclusions any
recommendations arising from the meeting. These conclusions and
recommendations will be reported to the relevant Cabinet
Member(s) in the form of a Chairs’ Letter. The session should also be
used to review the effectiveness of the meeting and identify ways
that future meetings could be improved.

Attending Call-in Meetings
The following arrangements apply to Call-in meetings:

e The Committee will invite the relevant Cabinet Member and/or
Officer i.e. (the decision-taker) and any other Senior Officers the
Committee considers appropriate to the meeting.

¢ In line with the Call-in Mechanism outlined in the constitution, the
Committee is required to meet within 15 working days of the
publication of the decision.

e The Committee will endeavour to offer appropriate notice to
witnesses required to attend and will as far as possible ensure the
scheduling of the Call-in meeting facilitates their attendance.

¢ Ininviting Officers to attend, the relevant Chief Officer responsible
will be consulted as a matter of courtesy.

e Scrutiny Committees welcome the views of additional Officers,
however, to ensure consistency, transparency and openness, such
Officers should indicate in advance of the agenda despatch (i.e. 3
working days prior to the meeting) that they wish to attend, with
reasons for their attendance.

e Additional Officers should advise the Scrutiny Manager that they
wish to attend, which will be discussed and agreed with the Chair

39 | E
Page 410



of the Select Committee. It is the discretion of the Committee to
allow such Officers to take part in the meeting.

Responding to Scrutiny’s Recommendations
Chairs Letters

Select Committees will agree outcomes of their meetings and detail the
conclusions and any recommendations arising from any Select
Committee meeting. The Select Committee may recommend
amendments to a strategy or policy at their meeting and the Cabinet
Member or Officer may accept the amendments at the meeting, which
will be formally minuted.

The Chair may also formally raise concerns via a Chairs Letter directed to
the relevant Cabinet Member(s) in person after the meeting has closed.
In this instance, the Cabinet Member should respond in writing to the
Select Committee within one month indicating whether the
recommendation needs to be referred and what action (if any) they
intend to take.

Task and Finish Group Inquiries

Select Committees may undertake an in-depth review, which will
normally take a number of months and be conducted according to an
agreed scoping report, the findings being shared publicly in a findings
report.

Select Committees will abide by the following principles when conducting
in-depth reviews or Task and Finish Group inquiries:

¢ Involve the Cabinet Member at the commencement / early stages
of a review to inform them of the terms of reference of the Task
and Finish Group and the lines of inquiry that will be pursued.

e Additional opportunities to involve the Cabinet Member
throughout the review if felt appropriate.

e Recommendations will follow logically from conclusions which will
be clearly evidenced by reference to the findings of the review.
Recommendations should not reflect unsupported personal
opinion or political views. At this stage advice will be sought from
the relevant Officers about the legal and financial implications of
draft recommendations.

e When a review is nearing completion, invite the Cabinet Member

Page 411

40 | E



to a meeting to discuss preliminary findings and if the Select
Committee feels appropriate, test the viability of recommendations
they wish to make.

e When a Scrutiny report has been agreed by Members of the Task
and Finish Group, convene meeting with Cabinet Member to
discuss the report’s key findings and recommendations prior to the
report being discussed at a public meeting (i.e. Select Committee).

If a Select Committee cannot agree on one single final report to the
Executive then up to one minority report may be prepared and submitted
for consideration with the majority report.

Once a Select Committee report has been agreed by the appropriate
Select Committee, it will be submitted to the relevant Cabinet Member
and published on the Council’s website.

The report will then be scheduled in the Cabinet Forward Planner to be
presented to a meeting of Cabinet within six weeks of it being agreed by
the Select Committee.

The Chair of the relevant Select Committee will present the Report and
accompanying recommendations to Cabinet. The relevant Cabinet
Member will receive the Report on behalf of Cabinet but will not be
required to respond to each of the recommendations individually at
Cabinet.

Cabinet will be requested to “receive the report and consider the key
findings and recommendations, responding to the relevant Select
Committee within a 3 month period as to whether they accept (in part)
or reject (in part) the Committee’s recommendations together with
rationale and actions that will be taken”.

The Cabinet Member is responsible for:

e Meeting with Officers once they have received the Scrutiny report
to draft a response to the Select Committee based upon the Cabinet
Response Template (detailed in Appendix A).

e After agreeing a draft response with Officers, reporting the draft
response to the Cabinet for adoption.

e Forwarding the Cabinet response to the Select Committee

(following adoption by the Cabinet) and attending a Select
Committee to discuss their response.

Page 412

41| E



Select Committees will be responsible for monitoring progress against the
recommendations and ensuring the return of the Cabinet Member to the
Select Committee within a defined timescale.

Appendix A

XYZ Task and Finish Group — Cabinet Response

Scrutiny’s
Recommendation

Accept (plus
Action)

Partially Accept
(plus Rationale
and Action)

Reject (plus
Rationale)

R1)

R2)

R3)

R4)

R5)

R6)

Page 413

42 | E



R7)

Page 414
